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    “And when He had opened the fifth seal, I saw under the altar the souls of them that were slain for the Word of God, and for the testimony which they held. And they cried with a loud voice, saying, “How long, O Lord, holy and true, dost Thou not judge and avenge our blood on them that dwell on the earth?” And white robes were given unto every one of them, and it was said unto them that they should rest yet for a little while, until it was fulfilled that their fellow servants and brethren were killed, as they had been.” 
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 Cartwright’s Cavaliers - 1 
 
      
 
    Jim Cartwright took another long draw on the cigarette he held between gloved fingers as he watched the C-130 bank and line up on the runway. He held the smoke for a long four count and blew it out through his nose, cherishing the taste and rush of nicotine. The aircraft had the black iron cross with white flanks of the Balkenkreuz for the Republic of Germany. It hadn’t been that long ago that his grandfather had been shooting Germans, and his father had spent a lifetime in the U.S. military preparing for war, most of it in West Germany. Now they were allies.  
 
    “You suck on that cancer stick any harder it’s gonna turn inside out.” Jim glanced mulishly at his XO. “You trying to smoke enough to make up for when you’re home and the old lady won’t let you smoke?”  
 
    “Piss off, Ted,” Jim said. The other man laughed, then adjusted his tie. Jim smoked the cigarette down to the filter and dropped it in the slush at his feet. The snow had a brownish tinge to it. Sand. It was in everything in Kandahar.  
 
    “I hate Afghanistan,” Ted said, as if echoing his boss’s feelings. Jim nodded. Nearby, a pair of MRAPs, Mine Resistant Ambush Protected trucks, waited. These were MaxxPro trucks, not nearly as big as the Cougar 6x6 variant that was so sought after by contractors. Jim had four on order, but production was delayed again. Ever since the bomb killed the Saudi crown prince last month, the entire Middle East was a hornets’ nest just waiting for the stick to get jammed into it. As the landing gear came down on the C-130, he couldn’t help but think the Germans liked poking things with sticks. 
 
    He watched Kandahar Mountain to the northwest as the aircraft finished its approach, and he stopped himself from hoping he’d see a streaking rocket trail. Until the plane landed, the occupants weren’t his responsibility. A pair of German Eurofighter Typhoons were flying combat air patrol, or CAP, so Jim doubted the muzzies would get any bright ideas. Most of the really crazy ones had already served as target practice for their snipers. 
 
    The plane’s wheels squealed as they touched down, and he turned to the MRAPs and made a swirling motion over his head. There was a roar and a belch of black smoke as the two vehicles came to life. He walked toward the nearest one, Ted close on his heels. Not far, a trio of Vietnam-era surplus M-113 armored combat vehicles sat, the red/green/black Afghan triangle painted on their sides. They stayed where they were. Perimeter security was their job, Jim’s was transport. 
 
    The back door popped open as he approached, and one of his security team dressed in tan camo held the huge door open as Jim climbed the steps. Ted went to the other MRAP. Inside his, Jim found his three-man personal team ready. Alex sat just behind the driver’s hatch, laptop open and watching the screen. Nina was up in the cupola with both hands on the big Ma-deuce .50 caliber machine gun, eyes scanning for threats. Jake, the door gunner, pulled the door closed once Jim was clear. 
 
    “Let’s roll!” Alex barked to the driver without looking away from his screen. He was currently controlling four drones—two orbiting the airfield, one tailing the taxiing C-130, and the final one above the MRAPs. During his time with the U.S. Air Force, Alex had spearheaded the next-generation drone program that was only now beginning to be deployed. Truth be told, the Pentagon probably wouldn’t appreciate some of the tech Alex had integrated into Jim’s company.  
 
    When the transport plane braked to a stop in the parking area, Jim’s MaxxPro was already backing up under the tail, even before the ramp began to drop. As the ramp lowered, four German KSK, Kommando Spezialkräfte, moved to the end and rode the ramp downward. They all wore state-of-the-art battlegear, reticles over one eye and weapons ready.  
 
    “Wow,” Jake said when he saw their weapons. Jim glanced through the armored windows. The two on the end of the ramp carried Heckler and Koch MP7s, the two at the rear HK 417s by the same manufacturer. “These KSK guys are going full Blitzkrieg.” 
 
    “Ease up on them,” Jim warned. “They’re not happy with the arrangement.” 
 
    “Since when are the Krauts happy about anything?” Nina asked from her gunner position. Like the heavy machinegun in the other truck, she had hers pointed outward, away from the transport. It was mostly for show, anyway. If there was anything out there dangerous enough to need the big .50, Alex would have seen it long ago. The short blonde looked ready for action. Of course, she was always ready. 
 
    The ramp hit the ground and the four KSK men spread out to make an armed and armored shield. They looked every which way, eyes sharp, taking in every detail. Jim waited. Finally the closest rapped on the door, which Jake popped on cue. The soldier on the ground had a lantern jaw and almost no neck. He looked up inside, taking in every face he saw. Jim smiled and held out his Government issued credentials for him to examine.  
 
    “Herr Cartwright?” he asked.  
 
    “Ja, das bin ich,” Jim said with a nod.  
 
    “Sehr gut,” the soldier said with his own nod, then spoke through the throat mike taped there.  
 
    “Wir sind klar, um fortzufahren.” A second later, a solitary woman walked briskly down the ramp. Jake prepared to offer her a hand up, but she didn’t look like she wanted it. Jim approved; so many people like that preferred to be coddled. Instead, the woman grabbed the handle to the side of the door and hoisted herself in. Jim held out his hand in greeting.  
 
    “Chancellor Weidel, on behalf of Cartwright’s International, welcome to Afghanistan.” She took the hand and shook it firmly as the men outside buttoned her in and moved to board the other MRAP. 
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
 
      
 
    The MRAP rumbled across the runway and toward the highway. These had been retrofitted with air ride, and it still felt like rolling down a hill in an old-fashioned metal wagon. Of course, the roads looked like the surface of the moon. The drivers knew to not dodge the craters, because the people who left mines would take advantage of the tendency to dodge craters. While the MaxxPro could take almost any mine up to an anti-tank type, it would likely be disabled, and that left them open for ambush while trying to switch to their backup. Alex’s drones swept ahead, scanning for just that possibility.  
 
    “I wanted to thank you for making yourself available on such short notice,” the German Chancellor said.  
 
    “Think nothing of it,” Jim replied. “I was over in Damascus and had the assets.”  
 
    “Damascus,” she said, her face darkening slightly. Despite his family’s dislike for the Germans, Jim liked working with them. They were real fighters, once you got them going. Discovering that undetonated nuclear weapon in Stuttgart two years ago had gotten them involved in a big way. That was a good thing, because after the Lyon bomb, France was out of it, and Britain was dealing with the results of their own imported Jihad. “Angela Merkel gave you high praise.” 
 
    “Did she?” Jim asked, piling on the charm. She smiled back amiably. CI had done some embassy security contracts before Merkel was ousted after Stuttgart, though nothing since. The phone call from Alice Weidel’s aide caught him a bit off guard. Still, he’d probably pissed off a couple of other customers to high tail it over here. “Can I ask why you’re here?”  
 
    “You can,” she said and used her politician’s smile. In other words; you can ask, but I won’t answer you. Jim grinned and shrugged. While they’d waited for the Luftwaffe plane to arrive, two others had come in and dropped off similar packages. One Lear Global Ace with Japanese tail numbers, the other a seemingly innocuous Gulfstream III that happened to have a pair of F-35 Lightnings flying CAP. Alex caught a couple frames of the Gulfstream’s occupant before he climbed into a huge armored SUV. It was hard to miss the head of comb-over blond hair. Something big was afoot.  
 
    The drive up from the airport was 35 miles, for most of which they couldn’t exceed 30 miles per hour. Jim had his team on high alert. The area had been pretty quiet the last six months, according to the advance intel reports he’d been sent by the German people. But a total of three hours had elapsed between the Japanese Prime minister’s arrival and the German Chancellor’s. He chewed his lip as they trundled along. One big arrival would have been better; now the whole region knew something was up.  
 
    “Contact,” Alex said as they passed the mountain.  
 
    Damn it, Jim thought, right where I expected it to be. He’d tried to get a couple helicopters for this transfer, but they weren’t available. And here he was plodding along in two trucks the size of North Dakota. He might as well have painted “Shoot me” on the side in red spray paint. “What do you have?” Jim asked.  
 
    “Looks like a dozen locals pushing goats down from the hill. Only goat herders don’t have suspicious tall pointy things over their backs, poorly disguised with a blanket.” 
 
    “RPGs,” Jake said.  
 
    “What do you say, boss?” Nina asked from the roof. She still had her turret pointed forward, per SOP. Jim slipped past the Chancellor, who was alert but didn’t appear concerned, and leaned over Alex’s shoulder. The video from the drone was good enough to have been a movie shot from Hollywood. Either those guys had fishing poles under those blankets or they were rocket launchers. Shit, he thought, shit, shit, shit.  
 
    “We have a bit of a situation,” Jim said to the Chancellor.  
 
    “Well, deal with it, Herr Cartwright.” Jim was taken aback.  
 
    “Excuse me?”  
 
    “Herr Cartwright, I can assure you I am not some mountain lily that will wilt away at the thought of killing people who would kill me.” He started to say something but she continued, “I give you my authorization to use deadly force.” Jim touched the neck control of his concealed mic.  
 
    “Phoenix two, this is Phoenix actual.” 
 
    “Go ahead, boss,” Nick said from the other MRAP.  
 
    “You tracking the hostiles?” 
 
    “Affirmative.” 
 
    “Engage, I repeat, engage.”  
 
    “Yes boss.” 
 
    “Fuck yeah,” Nina laughed. The powered assist motor on the turret whined as it spun. The Chancellor leaned forward against her three-point seatbelt as far as she could, put her elbows on her knees, and covered her ears with her hands a second before the big .50 caliber roared to life.  
 
    Chug, chug, chug, the gun thundered, and brass rattled down the side of the MRAP to hit the ground. Even with the advanced electronic hearing protectors, the sound was deafening. The Chancellor bore it with a stoic manner that impressed Jim even more.  
 
    “Get some!” Nina laughed, having the time of her life. She’d been a heavy weapons expert with the Coast Guard, then the U.S. Navy, until she’d lit up a go-fast boat that made a run at her destroyer. She’d done the right thing—the boat was full of explosives—but she’d done it without orders. Her CO went to the mat and got her an honorable discharge, then he’d put her in touch with Jim for a good job after that was over.  
 
    Spang, spang! the MRAP’s hull rang as heavy rounds bounced off.  
 
    “They’ve got a PPM up the hill,” Alex said. Another round bounced off of Nina’s armored shield.  
 
    “You want some of this?” she screamed.  
 
    “He’s got good cover, want me to deal with it?” Alex asked. Jim made a face, already writing off the ordinance from his bottom line before he spoke.  
 
    “Do it.” The drone cut loose with a pair of Hydra 70 air-to-ground missiles.  
 
    “Three thousand each,” Jim mumbled as Alex gave a little chuckle. The detonation of the missiles’ M229 warheads—with 17 pounds of high explosive—was quite audible, even over the thumping M-2 machine gun. Jim leaned over and slapped Nina’s leg.  
 
    “What?”  
 
    “Five bucks a round,” he said, “quit wasting ammo.” She looked back out and realized there was nothing left to shoot at.  
 
    “Right,” she said, and the turret pivoted back forward. The vehicles continued on, leaving behind chewed up freedom fighters, and several dozen very dead goats.  
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
 
      
 
    The personnel of Cartwright’s International were drinking, smoking, and having a good time. The bar was frequented by contractors visiting Kandahar, so it had alcohol and tobacco, something that wouldn’t go over well outside the “Green Zone.” Still, they knew that just like a stop light, green could go to red at a moment’s notice. Everyone was armed with a variety of handguns, rifles, and other modes of lethality. Jim nursed his beer and tapped away on a tablet.  
 
    “Why the long face, boss?” his XO asked, sitting down without asking.  
 
    “P&L Ted,” Jim said. “It’s getting hard to get those fucking Hydras.” He mumbled something about three thousand and tapped more data into the spreadsheet. How had the crazy navy gun bunny gone through 180 rounds that fast? $900 was entered into another line.  
 
    “We made money, right?”  
 
    “If they don’t get in a fight and tear the place up,” Jim said, tilting his head toward a group of his people. They were chugging beer and molesting an ancient pinball machine. On that note, he glanced around to see who else was there. Only a few other contractors, the ones who’d brought the Japanese Prime Minister in. The U.S. President’s people would be Secret Service. They didn’t mix with the help. He was more worried about the German KSK making an appearance. They were angry drunks, and Jake was known for letting his kung-fu off the hook in such situations. The former Marine had been discharged after 6 months in Leavenworth for beating the shit out of four Army SOCOM boys who’d been grabbing ass without asking permission at a Houston nightclub.  
 
    “You worry too much,” Ted said. “You still amaze me.” 
 
    “How’s that?” Jim asked, going for a tug on his beer but finding it empty. He got the waiter’s attention for another. One of the things he didn’t like about the middle east; all the bars only employed men.  
 
    “West Point, top of your class. Made Captain in less than 5 years, then resigned your commission.” 
 
    “Got bored,” Jim said as the beer arrived. Ted grunted.  
 
    “Went to college and got a degree in geology. Took a few million your old man left you and went into oil and gas exploration. Had a dozen successes in places no one else thought there was oil. Company was worth over $100 million in five years. Sold the company.” 
 
    “Got bored,” Jim said again, taking a deep drink.  
 
    “Took that money and invested it with Elo Cologne, helped develop the Raptor Eight booster. Doubled your money in five years, cashed out.” 
 
    “Bored,” Jim said, not watching his partner.  
 
    “Disappeared for four years into the libraries of Europe. When you came back, you sank most of your money into buying and refitting an old NOAA research ship. Headed for the Caribbean where you found three lost treasure ships in less than a year, netting a cool $2 billion dollars. Dropped that a year ago; no, don’t say it, ‘Got bored.’” 
 
    “Sort of,” Jim said. “I also ran out of positive leads. I found all those through research, and there’s not many of those ships left around. I’ll have to remember to send a thank you note to Cortez’s descendants.”  
 
    “Some of them were probably just trying to kill you. So now you’re a billionaire, the world’s at your fingertips, and what do you do? You buy a piece of shit military contractor-slash-personal protection outfit, spend millions bringing it up to date, then just bump around the last six months doing crap like this.” Jim finished the beer and shrugged.  
 
    “Yeah, okay. You got a point?”  
 
    “Yeah, I do,” Ted said, leaning closer. “You’ve got the talent here for a top notch covert ops unit, but you haven’t taken any of those jobs. I’m not military; I was NSA, after all. I figured at first, it’s because maybe you don’t like wet work. Well, today tells me that ain’t the case. And you’re counting dollars. You haven’t spent 10% of your net worth on this company.” 
 
    “Nine point two,” Jim said, jabbing his finger to make in invisible decimal point. 
 
    “Right, but you’re counting every dime, like you know something’s going to happen.” Jim just looked at him. “So, what’s about to pop? Something has to be about to happen.” 
 
    “You know what?” Jim asked. Ted leaned forward. “I haven’t a clue.” 
 
    “Fuck,” Ted cursed and got up to leave.  
 
    “But I’ll tell you this much,” Jim said, giving his XO a wink. “You’re right, something is going to happen. My instincts have never been wrong.” Ted shook his head in bemused anger and walked off. Jim examined his empty beer bottle, beads of condensation dripping down the side. “Not yet, anyway.”  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
 
      
 
    


 
   
  
 

 Cartwright’s Cavaliers - 2 
 
      
 
    As quickly as the powerful had arrived, they were all gone. Jim barely had two days to sit around and absorb the ambience of Kandahar, jewel of the butt crack of Afghanistan, before he was shuttling the Prime Minister back to the airport. None of the local jihadi seemed interested in a rematch, so the plane took off without incident. It seemed the KSK had brought along a deck of cards, too, because they never made an appearance in the green zone.  
 
    “Why the sudden departure?” Ted wondered as the plane roared into the early morning sky.  
 
    “I haven’t the slightest idea,” Jim said, pulling out a cigarette and lighting it. He’d refrained around the Prime Minister. It was widely known she didn’t approve. The sound of idling turbojets made him glance at the giant, ancient hangar. Its doors were open, and one of Cartwright’s International’s three Russian surplus IL-76s was taxiing out. The big, squat transport was the company’s workhorse, large enough to move any of their manpower and equipment. It also had enough range to reach anywhere in the world with only one refueling. Jim had bought them shortly after taking over and renaming the company.  
 
    “I always want to whistle the old Soviet anthem when I see those things,” Jake said as he walked up. Both the MaxxPros were idling a short distance away, already refueled and ready to go. His entire 20-man team lounged around the MRAPs, shooting the shit and telling lies. Nina looked to be telling the story of how she greased the goat herders for the 11th time.  
 
    “Yeah, they get the job done,” Jim replied. “How are the men?” he asked Jake. He wore sergeants’ stripes, and was a senior NCO in the organization. The men liked and trusted him. Many still weren’t too sure about their new owner/commander.  
 
    “They’re bored,” Jake admitted. “That bit of action took the edge off, but not by much.” 
 
    “Nina seems to have enjoyed it,” Ted said, giving his boss a poke in the ego. He knew Jim was chagrinned about the cost of the little engagement.  
 
    “I’m sure she did,” Jim agreed. Over by the MRAPs, Nina was miming her arms as a machinegun, jerking it around as she hosed down enemies. Ted winked at Jake, who only just managed to not laugh.  
 
    The huge IL-76 came to a stop and the rear doors split to allow the ramp to drop. Their loadmaster came out and started gesturing to load the MRAPs. Jim grabbed up his personal weapon and duffel and walked toward the descending ramp to get on before the trucks.  
 
    The interior of the fuselage was divided into two sections, the big open rear area for cargo, and the front passenger section. In its current configuration, the IL-76 could carry 50 personnel and both the MRAPs. The big armored trucks were a tight fit at 8.5 feet wide and 10 feet tall. Observing the MRAPs being loaded into the 11x11 foot interior space was like watching a snake eat a lunch box. They had to detach the machine guns on the roof for the vehicle to fit.  
 
    Up front, Jim took his padded ‘boss seat,’ as Ted called it, and logged into the ruggedized laptop there. The IL-76 had a fuselage-mounted satellite link and maintained an internet connection in almost all of the countries in the world. He was deep into spreadsheets and work proposals an hour later as the turbines spun back up, and the plane taxied for takeoff.  
 
    “Hey boss,” Alex called. He had a little alcove in what was once the plane’s engineering seat before it was upgraded, right behind the cockpit.  
 
    “Yeah,” Jim said, “I’m reading a contract.” 
 
    “You better look at this.”  
 
    “It can wait, kid.” Ted unbuckled and moved forward. Jim glanced out the window by his seat. Taxiway markers were still going slowly by; they had a few minutes before takeoff.  
 
    “Holy fuck,” Ted said.  
 
    “I know, right?” Alex replied. Jake slid by next. Alex’s little compartment was getting really crowded.  
 
    “Takeoff in two,” the pilot called.  
 
    “Damn it,” Jim said. “Sit down before Slim comes back here and kicks all our asses.” 
 
    “You better see this, Boss,” Ted said.  
 
    “Oh, for Christ’s sake,” Jim said, giving up. He wedged himself into the press of bodies and peered at Alex’s monitor. He blinked and shook his head. “What the hell, this a science fiction movie?”  
 
    “No,” Alex said, “you haven’t checked the news feeds, have you?”  
 
    The screen showed a YouTube video. It was set on a barge floating in a river, with a craft of some sort squatting on it. The craft was unlike any ship Jim had ever seen, long and sleek like an SR-71, but with fewer atmospheric control surfaces. The skin gleamed silver in the sunlight. The image zoomed in to a boarding ramp. Two people were walking across the barge toward the ramp. The view moved to a close-up of the ramp just as a pair of huge insects walked down it. They looked like praying mantises. Only, praying mantises didn’t have armor, helmets, and guns.  
 
    “Better buy stock in Raid,” Jake laughed, his amused tone falling flat.  
 
    “Is this real?” Jim asked.  
 
    “It’s on every news feed,” Alex said. “It happened about nine hours ago.” He gave a shrug. “Internet here in The Stan sucks balls. I didn’t get it until I uplinked from the plane.” Jim grunted as the video went on. 
 
    The two Human dignitaries waited a respectful distance for a minute, then another figure appeared on the ramp. This one looked like a big bipedal owl. The resemblance was uncanny, from the short legs to the big wide head and large black eyes. Only owls didn’t have hands, which the being held across its body as it trundled down the ramp. A few seconds later it stood before the two Humans, and they all exchanged bows.  
 
    “The First Contact with Aliens,” a banner on the video proclaimed.  
 
    “We’re cleared for takeoff,” the pilot, Slim, called from the cockpit, the annoyance clear in his voice. Jim was momentarily stuck, unable to decide what to do. Aliens, like in the movies?  
 
    “Everyone take a seat,” Jim said. Jake and Ted both complained. “I said sit down,” he snapped, going back to his own seat. Even Ted shot him a slightly annoyed look, but did as he was told. “Get us into the air,” Jim yelled to Slim as he buckled in. 
 
    “Taking off,” the pilot said, and the four PS-90 turbofans screamed. Fully loaded, the IL-76 used most of the runway to claw into the air, while word of what was on the internet spread like lightning. The men of Cartwright’s International were all using handheld devices and laptops to access the plane’s WiFi and see for themselves. As soon as they were up and out of missile range, several unbuckled and raced forward to look at the footage on Alex’s better screen. Now he had footage of the owl-like alien, apparently known as a Buma, as it was talking to the UN General assembly. Jim had found pictures from a telescope showing an object under construction in space at a location known as the L-5 point. He had to look that up too. The Buma, named Shinalra, was talking about a “Galactic Union” and inviting Earth to participate.  
 
    “Thousands of races,” Jim mumbled. “Screw Star Trek!” He laughed to himself; it sounded more like Star Wars. He imagined some grand galactic senate with a Human sitting in a chair arguing for more taxes for Human welfare. God help us all. 
 
    “There you go,” Ted said. Jim looked up, and his XO was pointing at the monitor. The alien representative was there, its little beak moving as surprisingly understandable English came from a little box around its neck.  
 
    “—the residents who live on your world will benefit greatly from citizenship in the Galactic Union. As a representative of the Trade Guild, I offer greetings.”  
 
    “What do you mean, there I go?” Jim asked.  
 
    “Remember our talk in the bar? You said yourself you didn’t know why you bought the company.” The older man pointed at the Buma, still talking though now muted. “Well, there you go.”  
 
    “I didn’t do it to study ET,” Jim said. “He can phone home, or go home for that matter, I don’t care.” Ted shook his head and pointed at Jim’s screen before speaking.  
 
    “Mark my words,” he said with the air of somber importance, “this is a game changer.” Jim gave a derisive snort, but deep down he had the feeling Ted was correct.  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
 
      
 
    


 
   
  
 

 Cartwright’s Cavaliers - 3 
 
      
 
    Jim stood outside his Houston office, trying to stay back from the driving rain as he sucked at his cigarette in a morose manner. His wife managed the office, so the only way he could catch the occasional smoke was to sneak out with the excuse of getting coffee.  
 
    “You’re going out in this?” she asked, gesturing at the rain pounding against the 14th story glass. The remnants of tropical storm Abdul was spending its wrath on south Texas before looping back to Louisiana.  
 
    “I like Starbucks,” he admitted. The real problem was that during his trip to Afghanistan, he’d gotten a lot of smoking in, and now he was going through almost a pack a day again. “Fuck,” he grumbled as a wind gust between the buildings blew his hat off and sent it sailing toward the clouds. “Fuck my life.”  
 
    “Where’s your coffee?” Lisa asked as he slogged back into the office. Jim stopped and looked down at his hand, feeling like a complete moron.  
 
    “Oh, I drank it on the way back.”  
 
    “It’s 90 degrees out there,” she said, shaking her head. He shrugged, doffed his rain coat onto the rack by the door, and headed for his office. The smell of the copy machines and a dozen deodorants mixed with the wet smells he’d just brought in as his shoes squelched with each step. His underwear was wet.  
 
    “You really need to quit smoking,” Ted said as he went by the XO’s office.  
 
    “You really need to mind your own fucking business,” Jim snarled. The former marine laughed loud and hard. “God-damned leatherneck.”  
 
    “Semper fi, boss!”  
 
    “Hooah,” he replied without any energy. Jim dropped into his expensive leather chair, feeling water squirt up his back from his sodden pants. The spreadsheet on his computer hadn’t changed with an infusion of nicotine. He had a company of elite soldiers sitting around doing jack shit. Ever since the terrorist attack at the UN, and the aliens turning Iran into glass, the entire planet had been as quiet as he’d seen it in his lifetime. Almost six months of crazy quiet. Oh, sure, the Arabs were losing their shit. When weren’t they? But they were just making noise. Since the MinSha mercs had landed about 50 of their soldiers around the periphery of the worst damage and slaughtered anyone who so much as held a butter knife up to them, there hadn’t been a single terrorist incident on the planet. The war hawk conservatives in the U.S. were having a big ‘told ya so’ moment, and maybe they even deserved it.  
 
    The fact was, the damned aliens looked like they were bad for business. Even the U.S. Government, which was always good for a million here or there, was curtailing all spending for the moment. And his overhead wasn’t small. Oh, sure, he was flush enough to spend the next 400 years without significant income. That didn’t excuse the fact he wasn’t making money.  
 
    On top of the financial issue, he’d been bothered by what Ted had said back in Kandahar. He’d gone from venture to venture his entire life without ever realizing why. It was just something he’d gotten used to, especially because each new interest led to ever increasing fortunes. Until now. He had a list of potential clients he’d been going through, looking for a gig. After drying off a bit, Jim picked up where he’d left off.  
 
    By late in the afternoon he was all out of contacts. Nobody had any jobs to offer. He caught himself on the internet looking at business opportunities, and that pissed him off. He went to Drudge out of frustration, trying to distract from the annoying situation he found himself in.  
 
    “Hey, Boss.” Jim looked up to find Ted standing in his doorway.  
 
    “What’s up?”  
 
    “I have something you might be interested in.” He came in and handed Jim a small stack of papers.  
 
    “What’s this?”  
 
    “Details from a friend.” Jim started reading. After a minute he looked up in surprise.  
 
    “Is this for real?” 
 
    “Yes,” Ted said. “Take a look at some of those figures.” Jim read again, then he looked back up, his eyes wide.  
 
    “Does that say…” 
 
    “Yeah, millions.”  
 
    “What are these Union credits trading for?”  
 
    “There isn’t a direct exchange, at least not yet.” Ted looked down at a notebook he was holding. “I have figures from 45,000 to 66,000.” 
 
    “Dollars?!” 
 
    “Yeah, dollars.” Jim looked down again, and Ted laughed. “Yes, that’s 45 billion U.S. dollars per Union million.” 
 
    “The smallest contract here is 5 million credits.”  
 
    “And I understand they can be negotiated,” Ted added. Jim continued to read.  
 
    “What do these missions mean?” Jim asked. “Some seem more obvious than others. Heavy assault, light assault, static defense, sure. But highguard? And what the hell is industrial retribution?” 
 
    “I don’t have a clue,” Ted laughed. He set an SD card on the desk. “My friend also sent this.” Jim picked it up and looked. A common SD card, one terabyte inside. He slipped it into his laptop. It was almost completely full of files downloaded from something called the GalNet.  
 
    “Mercenary Law,” Jim read. “Is this about that presentation from General Thales?”  
 
    “It is,” Ted admitted. The presentation from now-ambassador Thales had seemed like so much political garbage. Working for the aliens who attacked Iran didn’t seem like a plan. Of course, at the time, he hadn’t realize the amount of money involved. He was about to call his XO an idiot for wasting his time, then stopped.  
 
    “Ted, where does that friend of yours work?”  
 
    “He’s Top with 3/5 out of Pendleton.” 
 
    “Dark Horse,” Jim said. Ted nodded. “I knew their CO from a joint operation gig I did just before I resigned.”  
 
    “He was my company commander when I was back in 3rd Assault.”  
 
    “Why does he have this?” Jim asked, suspicious.  
 
    “Because the government wants in on the action. They’re sending a dozen units off on contracts. The quiet after the Iran deal has freed up a lot of firepower. They’re sending Army, Marines, and even a Navy unit. The Joint Chiefs are making noise about this balancing the budget.”  
 
    “How much research have they done on what they’ll be facing?” Jim asked.  
 
    “Top said they’re reviewing satellite footage of the praying mantises in Iran. He says they’re nothing special.” 
 
    “Nothing special,” Jim laughed. “The aliens took 3 casualties, from what I hear. And took down thousands of Mujahedeen. I saw a cell phone video where five aliens jumped on an old Russian T-72 and peeled the crew out of it like prawns. I didn’t see a video of a single alien casualty. Their armor stops heavy weapons. Heavy fucking weapons.” He turned to his computer and a minute later had a YouTube video with millions of hits. “Here, watch this.” 
 
    On the video a gun crew was manning a Russian KShKM 12.7 mm machinegun. It was mounted in the back of a Toyota pickup truck. You could hear the soldiers talking among themselves for a moment then someone yelled, “Adhhab!” a voice yelled. “Go!” The truck lurched out from around the corner to where there were three of the alien MinSha in their complicated body armor. They were going through a crashed truck, curiously examining the contents and showing each other items. The KShKM opened fire with its distinctive “Cha-cha-cha” rate of fire. The gunner was good, and he worked it across the entire group. There were bright sparks, and one of the aliens tumbled away. The gunner and his crew started cheering, “Allahu akbar!” over and over.  
 
    An instant later the MinSha popped up behind the truck, and there were a few flashes of brilliant light. A single scream followed, and the camera fell to the ground and rolled over to stop on the pavement. A moment later an alien’s armored foot went by.  
 
    “Saeidni, saeidni.” Help me, help me, someone called. There were a series of snapping whines, and the voice went silent.  
 
    “Did you see that?” Jim asked, then backed up the video. He froze it just before the aliens started to take fire and advanced it one frame at a time. Over the next minute hit after hit was visible. One huge round could clearly be seen bouncing off an alien’s helmet. “Jesus Christ, Ted, did you see that?”  
 
    “Yup,” the other man agreed.  
 
    “And you’re still interested?” 
 
    “Yup.” Jim grumbled and looked back at the papers. One contract caught his eye. “Commercial Security–5.5 million.” A security contract worth a quarter of a trillion dollars. He put the paper down and narrowed his eyes in thought.  
 
    “Uh huh,” Ted said.  
 
    “What?” 
 
    “I know you, Boss; you’re starting to think.” Jim glared at him. “You know why I don’t think it’s crazy? In 1979, the Soviet Union invaded Afghanistan, which had arguably the technology equivalent of 1940. By 1989, one of the most technologically advanced nations in the world gave up and left. They’d suffered 15,000 casualties and had 53,000 wounded. They’d also lost 450 aircraft and 147 tanks!” 
 
    “Yeah,” Jim conceded. “And the Mujahedeen had lost about 100,000.”  
 
    “True. But by the end, the Afghans were inflicting more casualties than they were suffering. They learned. What if we learn before?”  
 
    “The U.S. military is acting on this?”  
 
    “They’re sure their superior training will win the day,” Ted said. “The brass considers the alien mercs just that, part-time posers.” 
 
    “All this Union has is mercs,” Jim mumbled; “there aren’t any militaries. They won’t be posers.” Jim thought again for a few minutes while Ted waited patiently. “If I were to be interested in one of these contracts—” he said, looking up and seeing the huge grin on his XO’s face, “—not that I’m saying I am, but if I were—how would I go about getting it?”  
 
    “There will be a bidding process in three weeks. I don’t have all the details yet.”  
 
    “Okay,” he said. “Let’s take a trip.” Jim got up and headed for the door. His wife heard him and looked up from her computer.  
 
    “Where are you going, dear?” his wife, Lisa, asked.  
 
    “Iran.”  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
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    Even with the 7,600 km range of the Ilyushin IL-76, it took two hops for Jim to reach the Persian Gulf. They landed in Lisbon, Portugal for a day. It was there Jim had the idea he hoped would get them into Iran. He brought out the Cartwright’s International charge card and bought 20 tons of relief aid in the form of water, MREs, and medical supplies.  
 
    “Going into the aid business?” Ted asked as the trucks started to arrive.  
 
    “Goodies for the natives,” Jim said as he checked items off his order.  
 
    “I can’t believe we’re going back to the fucking sandbox,” Nina complained as she grudgingly helped the loadmaster stow pallets.  
 
    “You’re just pissed the boss wouldn’t let you take a ma-deuce!” Jake laughed. She patted a big hardcase.  
 
    “I got my Barrett,” she said, “which is better than that poodle-shooter you like.” Jake’s eyes narrowed. He had two of his beloved H&K MP-5s in a case by his seat. His were in .40 caliber, but the 9mm variant was often referred to as a poodle-shooter due to the 9mm’s notoriously poor stopping ability.  
 
    “Any response from the Iranian State Department?” Jim asked Alex.  
 
    “No sir,” Alex replied. “Emails aren’t bouncing, but with Tehran glowing in the dark, I think the lights are on in DC but nobodies home.”  
 
    “All this shit is going to play hell with the plane’s performance,” Slim complained. He stood in the cockpit door, cowboy hat pushed back, looking distastefully at the pallets being secured.  
 
    “Just make sure we’re gassed and ready to lift off,” Jim told him. The Texan nodded in acknowledgement. Jim had a hard time imagining him flying F-18 Hornets, even though he hadn’t flown a fighter in 25 years.  
 
    Two hours later, the Ilyushin taxied down the runway and took off into the afternoon sky. Six hours later they were over the Persian Gulf, and Jim was yelling into the radio.  
 
    “What do you mean we can’t land? I’ve got 20 tons of humanitarian aid, and you have starving people!” The person responding was using heavily-accented English.  
 
    “It does not matter what you have, American. You may not land in the Islamic Republic of Iran without clearance.” 
 
    “And who the fuck do I get that from when Tehran is glowing in the dark?” As soon as it was out of his mouth he regretted it.  
 
    “Any attempt to land will result in your plane being shot down. You are denied landing.”  
 
    “Fuck!” Jim yelled, throwing the headset onto the little desk. 
 
    “Told ya,” Slim said. The plane was on autopilot, and he was half turned around in the cracked and faded chair, watching as the owner of Cartwright’s International got madder and madder. Ted caught the copilot passing Slim a $50 below Jim’s view. “Y’all better decide where you want to go, because we’re getting down to bingo fuel, and this crate glides about like a Chevy Nova without its doors.”  
 
    Jim picked up a map from the navigator’s desk and eyed it, running his finger along their course. He grabbed the radio again and dialed a frequency.  
 
    “I’ve got a friend,” he said as a traffic controller came on. He spoke for a few minutes and eventually got the person he wanted. Luck was with him this time. “We can land in Dubai,” he said. Slim nodded, spoke to the copilot, and the plane made a turn to the south. Thirty minutes later they were taxiing down the runway. In the distance, huge A-380 aircraft and other luxury jets lined the terminals.  
 
    Jim ended up spending almost a week in the United Arab Emirates while his legal department dealt with what remained of Iran’s diplomatic apparatus. All the while, he complained and fumed.  
 
    “We’re a registered military contractor with the U.S. Government,” Ted reminded him. “Did you just expect them to let us land?” Jim glared at him. “Even with a plane full of hastily-bought bribes?”  
 
    Finally, they were back in the air for the two-hour flight across the Gulf of Oman. As they approached the shore, the horizon took on a hazy look. Most of Jim’s team crowded behind the cockpit to look out the plane’s wide cockpit window.  
 
    “The fires have been burning for six months,” Slim said. As they got closer, some of the smoke plumes resolved into individual funeral pyres. He pointed to a few. “Bandar-e-Jask, Poshti, Gurdim,” he said. “Chabahar is the only area they left mostly intact.” 
 
    “Then they landed troops,” Ted said. Slim nodded. A minute later a solitary F-14 pulled up alongside. Iran’s green, white, and red emblem was clearly visible on its tail.  
 
    “This is the Iranian Air force. American aircraft, identify yourself,” came the voice over the cockpit PA.  
 
    “Iranian Air Force aircraft,” Slim said into his headset, “this is N-3339, private U.S. aircraft licensed to Cartwright’s International, arriving with civilian aid.”  
 
    “Do you have landing permission?”  
 
    “Yes,” Slim said and slowly read the numbers off a form Jim had.  
 
    “American craft N-3339, do not deviate from your flight path while I verify this information.”  
 
    “I wonder how many of those they have left?” the copilot asked, gesturing toward the F-14 with her chin.  
 
    “One?” Slim said. The flight crew chuckled at the dark humor.  
 
    “American aircraft, your landing right is approved. Follow me to land at Konarak. Any deviation or attempt to land elsewhere, and I will shoot you down.”  
 
    “Friendly,” Jim said.  
 
    “Understood,” Slim replied simply and turned the transmit off. “Okay, Boss, now what?” 
 
    “Now land.” He said. I’ll make the rest up as we go, he thought.  
 
    The Konarak airport didn’t look much better than the rest of Iran. Many of the buildings were gutted wrecks. Jim spotted two CH-47 Chinook helicopters ruined on the ground. One looked like it had flown into the tarmac; the other appeared to have been cut in half with some kind of weapon.  
 
    “Fuck, look at that,” Nina said, pointing at the latter helicopter.  
 
    “Laser, I bet,” Alex said.  
 
    “They didn’t have a chance,” Jim agreed.  
 
    The runway wasn’t in bad shape; the plane only bumped a few times over repaired potholes. As they reached the end and turned onto the taxiway, a pair of big army trucks pulled alongside to escort them. Both had KShKM machine guns mounted on the roof, with gunners sitting behind them holding their handles. They didn’t point the weapons at the Ilyushin, but it wouldn’t have taken a half second to change that.  
 
    They were directed to taxi to one of the few remaining hangars, where Slim set the brake and shut down the engines.  
 
    “There you go,” he told Jim. “Hope y’all got a plan.” 
 
    “I will by the time I need one,” Jim said.  
 
    “Better work fast,” Ted said, gesturing outside. The military trucks were disgorging hundreds of men who were, quite literally, surrounding the plane in a ring of armed soldiers. “Iranian Guard,” he said, “I figured they’d all be toast.”  
 
    “Drop the ramp,” Jim ordered. “All weapons locked in the armory. Nothing more than a knife, understand me?” He looked directly at Nina when he said the last. She scowled but nodded in understanding. Jim headed to the back of the plane where the hydraulic motors were whining, and the ramp was slowly going down. Outside stood a man in dress uniform, ramrod straight, with two more men standing behind him, one to either side. Further back was an entire squad of men, all holding battle rifles at port arms. He looked the reception, took a breath, and began walking down the ramp.  
 
    The people waiting there for him came to even stiffer attention. Jim summoned his best West Point training and marched up to the man in the lead. On his shoulder boards were three suns, which he remembered was the Iranian rank of Colonel. Then he realized just how short the guy was. He couldn’t be 5’ 4” tall! Jim’s 6’ 2” nearly towered over the colonel, and yet the man didn’t seem intimidated by it in the least.  
 
    “Colonel Kuru Shirazi,” the man said, bringing his right hand up in a salute. Jim let a little of his breath out.  
 
    “Colonel,” Jim said and returned the salute. “Captain Jim Cartwright, U.S. Army, retired, now commander of Cartwright’s International.” 
 
    “Welcome to the Islamic Republic of Iran, Captain,” Kuru said, dropping the salute at the same instant Jim did. He glanced past Jim to Ted.  
 
    “This is Gunnery Sergeant Theodore Oxnard, U.S. Marine Corps, retired, my XO.” Kuru nodded to Ted, who nodded back. Jim knew Ted was probably having a bad case of deja vu, being in Iran of all places. A long time ago the man had fought in Iraq against Iranian insurgents.  
 
    “And this is Second Colonel Farrokh Jahandar, my XO, and Captain Samir Rajavi.” Both men saluted smartly, though perhaps with a bit less aplomb.  
 
    “Pleasure,” Jim said as he returned their salutes.  
 
    “Now, Captain Cartwright, perhaps you can tell me what you are doing in Iran?” 
 
    “We’re bringing aid,” Jim said and gestured to the nearly full plane. 
 
    “Were that so, Captain, you could simply have left it at the international aid staging center area in Muscat. Surely you noticed Oman as you flew over.”  
 
    Jim considered his options, just as he’d been doing the entire week he’d spent getting here. Bluffing was one option, though something told him Colonel Shirazi would not be an easy one to bluff. He could try intimidation, but there again, the Arabs were not the easiest to intimidate, especially when you weren’t doing so from a position of power. He could also try bribery. Looking around the remnants of the Konarak airport said that throwing money at the man probably wouldn’t work. Most Iranians were unhappy with America at least partly for their wealth, and that they perceived the wealth came at the Arab world’s expense. That only left one viable option.  
 
    “We came to find out how you killed the MinSha soldiers.” Ted openly gawked at Jim as Colonel Shirazi regarded his opposite with an unchanged curiosity.  
 
    “Indeed?” 
 
    “Yes. All anyone seems to have seen is the aliens kicking your asses all over the country.” Shirazi stiffened, ever so slightly. “I’ve spent the last week watching every single minute of video I could find on the ground fighting. Forget the air battle or armor; they walked over those with lightning speed.” 
 
    “Indeed,” Shirazi agreed with a growl.  
 
    “I mean the small unit action. From what I saw, you did everything you could with what you had; mostly out-of-date U.S. hardware dating back before the revolution and antiquated Soviet shit. Every single video shows you out-matched and swept aside.” Shirazi’s gaze was laser intense now, but Jim bulled ahead, his course set. “And still, you held this airbase, and you inflicted casualties.”  
 
    “And why are you looking for this information?” the colonel asked.  
 
    “Because we’re considering taking one of the mercenary contracts, and unlike the other American outfits, we don’t think the aliens will be a walkover just because they aren’t a regular military unit.”  
 
    “That is very intelligent of you,” the colonel said with a nod. Jim stood in the Iranian heat and felt the sweat rolling down his back. He hated wet underwear. Eventually the colonel spoke again. “While this plan is admirable, I fail to see what it does for me.” 
 
    “Don’t you want to see someone get a little payback?” 
 
    “I care not who else might hurt the aliens.” Jim frowned a little. “I want to be the one to hurt them.”  
 
    Ah, Jim thought, that makes sense. Revenge has always been a well-developed Middle Eastern instinct. “I’ll tell you what, Colonel Shirazi. Give me and my men access to your people who fought, show us any recordings you have, and we’ll share our conclusions with you.” 
 
    “And the supplies,” Shirazi said, nodding toward the loaded plane. “Since you brought them this far, it would be a shame to have to carry them all the way back home again.” 
 
    “Of course,” Jim said, bowing. 
 
    “Come out of the heat, my new American friend, and let’s have some tea while we discuss this further.” Jim grinned. He had his foot in the door.  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
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    “You didn’t tell him everything.” Jim looked up at Ted as the older man dropped into the seat next to him. He passed his boss a cup of coffee, which was gratefully accepted. Ten hours before his next cigarette. The Ilyushin IL-76 was winging its way back west; the Iranian F-14 had peeled off and left them over international waters 30 minutes ago, and Jim finally breathed a sigh of relief.  
 
    “Of course I didn’t,” Jim admitted, “and he didn’t tell me everything either.” He sipped the potent brew, smacking his lips as the strong flavor washed over his tongue and savoring the rich aroma. Colonel Shirazi had gifted them with 100 lbs. of prime Turkish coffee. Jim, in turn, had given the Iranian a presentation pistol from his collection, a Magnum Research Desert Eagle in .50 AE. Sure, it was a bit of a gag gift, giving the Iranian Republican Guard commander an Israeli pistol, but the colonel seemed genuinely pleased. Jim had given him a case of 1,000 rounds with it. That cartridge was hard to find, and, without the gun, he had no use for it himself. “Besides, what difference does it make? It’s not like the MinSha are going to invade again.” 
 
    The colonel had refused to give Jim copies of any of their media and only audio records of his troops’ accounts. So Alex had followed them around with several nearly invisible cameras on himself, recording everything. It was all an interesting study in desperation. The Iranians didn’t hold anything back. They threw Colonel Shirazi’s troops at the MinSha with wonton abandon. He did a remarkable job of coordinating them; unfortunately, the militia didn’t do as good a job of coordinating with the army. The scene he’d seen with the crew on the technical was just one of those instances. There were many more. 
 
    What had ended up working was two things. A fire team got behind enemy lines and fired a thermobaric RPG round into a squad of 6, hitting one of the aliens in the back. The explosion killed two, and possibly wounded another. The Iranian fire team was wiped out, but the attack had been filmed from an apartment window several blocks away. The other success was a suicide bomber who detonated his bomb while an alien was examining him, thinking he was dead.  
 
    “The colonel didn’t like your explanation,” Ted pointed out. Jim shrugged. “Asymmetrical warfare apparently isn’t something the bug-eyed-monsters have practiced.” Jim held out a tablet computer on which some of the alien’s warfare writers were displayed. “Where the fuck did you get that?”  
 
    “General Thales.” 
 
    “You mean Ambassador Thales,” Ted corrected. 
 
    “Yeah, him. These are files on how the Mercenary Guild operates and what function it serves in the Galactic Union. No surprise the aliens don’t go in for asymmetrical warfare, we’re not fighting armies. Merc units aren’t very large, and don’t cover multiple theater doctrine. If an assault force needs to hold after success, a defensive contract is issued, and a specialist shows up. If they need to attack from space, an orbital drop merc unit is used. They don’t have armies. Nobody does, it’s too expensive. Easier to hire mercs.” 
 
    “Why did he send you all that?” 
 
    “He sent it to me when I said we were going to bid on a contract.” Ted looked at him, a grin spreading on his face.  
 
    “No shit?” 
 
    “No shit,” Jim agreed. “I think we might be able to play them at their own game. If we’re smart and don’t get in over our heads, that is.” He looked back at the files and slowly shook his head. “You know what?”  
 
    “What?” 
 
    “If the regular army units going for contracts don’t read this, there’s going to be a really high body count, and they’re going to be ours.”  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
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    “You have got to be kidding me,” Jim said as he walked out of the terminal building to see the alien shuttle squatting in the Houston sun. A pair of alien lizards was using a truck with huge placards reading “Hydrogen—EXPLOSIVE” all over it to refuel the shuttle. What he hoped was just steam spurted out of several places.  
 
    “You didn’t think they were going to shoot us to orbit in a Soyuz, did you?” Ted looked entirely too at ease as he walked next to his boss, overnight bag swinging from his shoulder like he was catching a quick flight to Miami. They were only going a few hundred miles—a few hundred miles straight up.  
 
    “Of course not,” Jim said, trying to sound calmer than he was. “Besides, the Russians bought a couple shuttles just like that.” 
 
    “Ah been waitin’ to fly in one a’ those alien ships for months now,” Slim said, bringing up the rear. Jim had elected to bring him because he wanted someone along who’d been to space, and Slim had flown around the moon twice for SpaceX. “I wonder if the pilot’ll let me take the stick for a bit?”  
 
    At the boarding ramp, an Air Force major was checking IDs against a list. He looked each of them over carefully. After the incident in the UN, all security around the aliens was extra tight. No one else wanted their country turned into Trinitite.  
 
    Inside, an alien that looked a little like a humanoid rat checked their IDs again. When it spoke, a pendant it was wearing on its elaborate clothing spoke in clear, unaccented English.  
 
    “Take whatever seat you wish, and welcome on behalf of the Mercenary Guild.” 
 
    “Veetanho,” Ted said, “they’re pretty heavy hitters in the guild.” Jim nodded. A huge snail was stuck to the wall next to the entranceway. It had a slate, one of the alien computer tablets, held in a pseudopod, and was examining the display with three eyes on stalks. It smelled like…well, like a snail.  
 
    “Where’s the pilot?” Slim asked the Veetanho. 
 
    “He’s the pilot,” the alien said, pointing to the snail. One of the three eyes turned to regard the new arrivals.  
 
    “Can I help you?” it asked in identical English. Slim opened and closed his mouth several times, looking like a particularly big large-mouthed bass. He finally closed his mouth long enough to think of something to say. 
 
    “Y’all mind if I come up to the cockpit after takeoff?” All three eyes turned to regard the Human. Can a snail look amused? Jim wondered. “Ah’ve flown in space before,” Slim said. Jim didn’t think he’d ever heard the man sound defensive before.  
 
    “Have you now?” the alien replied.  
 
    “Yep, to orbit a dozen times and around the moon twice.” 
 
    “That far. Wow. Well, you are certainly qualified to see the cockpit.” Yes, Jim was sure that was amusement. “There is a little blue light above this door,” the alien said, extruding a pod which pointed. Slim nodded. “When it flashes, you may unbuckle and come up to the cockpit. Do not take too much time. We will only have a quarter of your hours in zero gravity before docking.”  
 
    “I don’t think I’ve ever seen him puff up like that before,” Ted said after they’d taken seats. The accommodations weren’t perfect for Human anatomy but were surprisingly comfortable. There were connection points in a number of places that allowed the restraints to be disengaged and moved as necessary, and the seat itself was comprised of 4 moveable sections. Jim and the others stowed their minimal travel bags in an overhead compartment that locked much more securely than any airplane’s would.  
 
    “Be sure your restraints are snug,” a voice said over the intercom. It was impossible to know who was speaking. Jim looked around and saw about 20 more people seated in the shuttle. It was at least half full. He tried to imagine how cheap it must be to operate a ship if you could fly to orbit with only half a load.  
 
    “We have clearance from your space command, prepare for takeoff.” The cabin was filled with a rapidly growing buzz that changed to a scream and then to a roar. The ship rocked slightly, then they were going up like a helicopter.  
 
    “Well this isn’t too bad,” Jim said.  
 
    “Better hold that thought,” Slim suggested.  
 
    After a minute of going up, the entire ship tilted back so that the occupants were looking straight up.  
 
    “Oh shit,” Jim said a second before a horrendous roar and dreadful acceleration pushed them all back into their padded seats.  
 
    “I apologize for our Bakulu pilot,” someone said over the PA, “they are particularly G tolerant and figure everyone else is as well. The good news is we’ll be in orbit that much faster.” Jim gritted his teeth and felt the skin on his face stretch taut. He could have sworn someone was crying for their momma, but all he could hear was Slim’s roaring laughter and a hearty, “Yeeee-haw.” Ted was just bearing it.  
 
    The roaring engines quickly reduced in volume so the only sound was transmitted through the hull as they rocketed from the atmosphere and into low orbit. The thrust began to fall off to less than one-g a short time later, then it dropped off entirely. Jim’s stomach threatened to come out of his mouth.  
 
    “Son of a bitch,” Jim huffed.  
 
    “Yeah!” Slim said, not realized Jim’s mood. “Hell of a ride.” The little blue light flashed over the cockpit. “Oh, hey, I gotta go talk to the pilot!” Slim unbuckled and soared free, grabbed a seatback, and launched himself toward the front of the shuttle. The Veetanho who’d greeted them went sailing by in the opposite direction. Its whiskery face was screwed up in disgust and retching sounds were coming from somewhere aft.  
 
    “Damn it,” Jim said, continuing to swallow and feeling sicker by the minute. He reached into a pocket, took out one of the patches Slim had given him, peeled off the back, and slapped it on the underside of his left arm.  
 
    “Close your eyes,” Ted suggested, “it helps.” 
 
    “How the hell are you so fine?” Jim asked, closing his eyes as he’d been told.  
 
    “My friend, after you’ve jumped out of enough air planes, this ain’t so bad. At least the ground’s not rushing up to splatter you.”  
 
    Jim grunted. He was afraid for a minute he wouldn’t win the race against the sausage and eggs Lisa had fixed him, but then the drug finally started to kick in. He felt a little light-headed, but his stomach also stopped doing pushups. He gave a little sigh.  
 
    “Drugs working?” Ted asked. 
 
    “Yeah,” Jim said. Ted nodded in understanding. There was the sound of someone being violently ill again, and the Veetanho sailed by for a second time. The time passed quickly, and Slim came back.  
 
    “Docking in 5 minutes,” he said, flipping gracefully into his seat. Jim didn’t think someone as stocky as Slim had any right being that graceful. The pilot always reminded him of Major Kong from Dr. Strangelove, down to the cowboy hat, which he continued to wear in space.  
 
    “Have fun talking with Escargot?” Ted asked.  
 
    Slim gave him a dirty look. “Bob? He’s a nice guy. Oh, he quizzed me a bit on how ships worked, and once he realized I had flown in space, he was nicer.” 
 
    “Bob?” Jim asked. “That big snail is named Bob?” 
 
    “I don’t know, he just kinda seems like a Bob to me. They’re not very impressed with our tech. There’s another ship in orbit just above the ISS. Bob said it’s a Jeha vessel. They stopped by to take pictures, like visiting a zoo, I guess.”  
 
    “Assholes,” Ted said. “What’s a Jeha?”  
 
    “Bob said they’re four-foot-long millipedes.”  
 
    “Fuck me,” Jim mumbled, reaching for some aspirin. When the docking came, it was so smooth even Slim didn’t notice.  
 
    “We have docked with GS Ghistel. You may disembark. Assistants will be inside to help you.”  
 
    It was a bit disorganized as everyone began to unbuckle and move toward the hatch. The range of skill ranged from several others just as fluid and practiced as Slim, through Jim’s somewhat bumbling moves, to one man who unbuckled and shot straight up to hit the ceiling, knocking himself unconscious. Slim was laughing and shaking his head all the way out the hatch.  
 
    In the other ship, a line of Veetanho were waiting for them, each holding a tablet and comparing what they saw to the people disembarking. As soon as Jim floated into view, one of them came forward.  
 
    “You are Jim Cartwright?” the alien’s translator spoke.  
 
    “Bingo,” he said. The alien cocked its head. “I mean, yes, I’m Cartwright, and these are my aides.”  
 
    “Very good. Do you need any medical assistance after the flight?”  
 
    “No, we’re fine.”  
 
    “Excellent. Please follow me.” The being grabbed the nearest handhold and pulled itself down the hall. Jim, Ted, and Slim quickly followed. They moved down two hallways, and up a tube. Through an open pressure door they came to a cylindrical room that was rotating. A tube exited on both sides. Their guide floated in and caught one of the rungs, gesturing for them to follow. Slim made the jump fine, while he and the alien helped Jim and Ted arrive. Once they were all there, it pointed at the rungs embedded in the wall. “Use these, they are a ladder. Be sure your head is pointed that way,” it said and pointed, “then proceed downward. You will feel gravity after a few rungs, and it will steadily increase.” 
 
    “A gravity deck,” Slim said. The alien nodded.  
 
    “Yes, this ship is often used for these types of functions, so it is equipped with a gravity deck. We’ve set it for ½ of your normal gravity, and hope that will be comfortable.” 
 
    “I’m sure it will be fine,” Jim said. Slim was already heading down, so he followed his pilot. Just as the alien said, he quickly felt himself getting heavier. There was a little sideways motion too as he was slowly accelerated during his descent, but after a bit, that was largely gone. When he felt his feet hit a floor, the gravity felt great. He looked around the space, a large open room shaped like a football with windows on all sides, and took a few steps. It was like being a kid; he had a real spring in his step. Ted joined them, and then their alien escort. “Will you stay with us during contract talks?”  
 
    “Yes. I have been assigned to you.” The alien gestured to a green- and blue-striped piece of fabric tied around its neck like a kerchief. “You can recognize me by this.” Jim glanced around, and sure enough, the other Veetanho wore different colored kerchiefs.  
 
    “I can’t keep calling you alien,” Jim pointed out. 
 
    “You could if you wanted, but it is also kind of you to realize it is rude.” The other bowed its head. “My name is Freet.” 
 
    “Pleased to meet you, Freet,” Jim said and offered his hand. Then he realized the aliens might not share that greeting. He turned out to be worrying about nothing; it took his hand immediately. Freet’s hand was half his size, but the grip was surprisingly strong. “Don’t take this the wrong way, but do you have sexes?”  
 
    Freet grinned, and Jim wondered if that was a mirthful smile or a threat display. “Yes, we do. All the Veetanho you will see here are females. Our males do not participate in mercenary activities.” 
 
    “We are all males,” Jim pointed out.  
 
    “I am aware of your race’s physiology, and did not detect any mammary glands on you or your comrades. Your stature is also more muscular. I realize that is not 100% indicative, but your dossier also states your sex.” Jim nodded; that made sense. “You will find a table with treats to your race’s appeal over there,” she gestured. “I am going to log your presence in with the Guild Master and will return shortly.”  
 
    “I wonder how fast this has to spin?” Ted asked.  
 
    “Go look and count,” Slim said, pointing to the pointy end of the deck. There the Earth was spinning around over and over. “Looks like about 3 RPM. That means these decks are extendable. Good solution.”  
 
    Jim was only half-listening to his men banter, the other half was taking everything in—how the room was laid out, how many Humans there were, and whether he recognized any of them. Almost right away he recognized a fellow contractor, who operated out of Puerto Rico. Then he saw a group of U.S. Marine officers, sticking together and looking surly. He saw at least a dozen nations’ uniforms, including French, German, Russian, and Canadian. Then he spotted people wearing Mexican and Brazilian uniforms, too.  
 
    “Welcome to space, my American friend.” Jim laughed and shook his head as he turned to look down and see Colonel Kuru Shirazi, who managed to make the Veetanho look tall. Then he noticed Kuru wasn’t wearing the Iranian uniform anymore. His was different, and it had a unit patch that looked a little like a sphinx.  
 
    “Thank you,” he said and offered his hand. Kuru considered it for a moment, then took it. “What is Asbaran Solutions?”  
 
    “The name of the mercenary unit I have formed with our new country. It has…historical significance to both me and my countrymen.” New country? Jim thought. He’d been so busy with preparation for this contract negotiation session that he’d failed to keep up with the news.  
 
    “Nice uniform. I wish you luck in the negotiations, and hope we won’t be enemies.” 
 
    “There isn’t much chance of that,” Kuru said with a predatory look at one of the Veetanho going by. “Although I have nothing against killing Americans, we’re here to kill aliens.” Jim nodded and took his leave. He could understand why the man felt the way he did, but was afraid that going into the mercenary business with that sort of attitude wouldn’t end well.  
 
    He wandered over to the snacks and helped himself to some cheese and crackers. It was all laid out well, and Jim guessed a caterer on Earth had probably put it together. It seemed unlikely space rats would pick the right food. He made pleasantries with a pair of French Foreign Legion captains he’d met in Haifa a couple years ago, then gawked when a display screen appeared in the center of the room above the refreshments—a three-dimensional screen viewable from any angle.  
 
    “Welcome, mercenaries from Earth,” it said in a dozen languages.  
 
    “Gentle beings,” a translated voice spoke. “If you will please move to the outside by the windows, we are about to begin.” Their handlers appeared and began moving everyone to the bulkheads by the windows. Jim caught a glimpse of Colonel Shirazi and his XO being gently redirected by their Veetanho. Kuru looked at the alien like it was a particularly mangy dog which had somehow gotten into the kitchen during dinner. “Thank you. Now, please, welcome Guild Master Cheshk of Veetanho.”  
 
    Cheshk was obviously a quite old Veetanho. Instead of the dark grey and brown fur the others of her kind possessed, she was mostly light grey to nearly white. Jim guessed it only made sense that the leader within an organization such as a galaxy-wide mercenary guild would be well seasoned.  
 
    “Welcome, Humans, to your first contract bids,” Cheshk said. “You’ve all read the briefings provided prior to being accepted as bidders on the 149 contracts selected for your race’s first entry. You may realize that many of these contracts are below prime. You must understand your race is unproven, and this is the natural result of that fact.” Several of the serious SOCOM types in the room snorted. Jim heard that, but he also realized at the same moment that Cheshk was speaking English!  
 
    “Please be observant of the potential pay outs,” she continued, “as well as the requirements. Your briefings explained that contracts can be incredibly complicated, and I strongly advise you to have a Guild-trained intermediary review it before signing. If you cancel a contract after it is signed, you will not only lose your guild rating for five years, but you will lose your bond as well.” Jim swallowed at that. The bond had only been 1,000 galactic credits. However, at over 45,000 USD to GCs, the bond had cost him a cool $45 million. “The bidding is now open.” She gestured at the holographic display, and it began to fill with contracts.  
 
    “Here we go,” Ted said. Jim nodded and started reading.  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
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    “Jim?” 
 
    “Yes, sweetie?” Jim looked up from the pair of alien slates he was using. One of them was equipped with a 3D projector, referred to as a Tri-V. His wife, Lisa, was standing in the office door yawning.  
 
    “It’s after 3:00; are you coming to bed soon?” He looked at the display of an alien vehicle floating above his desk, slowly rotating. Lisa seemed completely immune to the aliens’ amazing technology, except for the translator he’d bought her for roughly $400,000. Alex had programmed it with every Human dialect he could find, and now she had a universal translator. Well, at least close. She’d loved Star Trek, and she could relate to that. Now his lovely wife was spending her days wandering around Houston malls with her society friends, eavesdropping on conversations.  
 
    “Sure,” he said and yawned. She came over and grabbed his hand, trying gamely to tug him out of his chair. He managed to touch the ‘suspend’ button on both slates before she succeeded, powering them down. She wasn’t letting him sneak back into the office of their Kingwood estate either, and stood in the doorway while he brushed his teeth and slipped into pajamas. Then she walked him to bed and turned the light off. She surprised him by slipping a hand inside his pajamas and teasing him erect.  
 
    “It’s not Saturday night,” he chuckled.  
 
    “Shhh,” she said as she slipped off her nightgown and began kissing him passionately.  
 
    Sometime later he lay awake staring up at the ceiling. Even after making love, he couldn’t entirely shut his mind off. His mind was awhirl with dollars, Union Credit conversion rates, sales figures, and Tables of Organization and Equipment, or TO&E, for his outfit. He kept playing the last few days over and over in his mind. 
 
    Cartwright’s Cavaliers he thought, and smiled. Somehow calling it Cartwright’s International hadn’t made sense for a contractor that went to other worlds. He’d seen some of the interesting names other units were calling themselves and decided in mid-negotiation that his company needed a little panache. His Guild rep, Freet, made a face when Jim asked to change names, but did it anyway.  
 
    “Cavaliers, eh?” One of his old associates from the U.S. Navy SEALs laughed when he saw it. “You going on a crusade to the stars?”  
 
    “And calling your outfit Battlefrog is more eloquent?” Jim shot back, to a chorus of hoots from a bunch of Marines nearby. Jim thought Cartwright’s Cavaliers flowed off the tongue, and his people liked it as well.  
 
    “As long as you don’t think we’re going charging in on horses,” Ted reminded him at the negotiations.  
 
    He’d spent nine hours on the ship in negotiations with 250 other Humans. It was an eye-opening experience, to say the least. A total of 126 companies registered to bid for contracts. The Mercenary Guild allowed the basic retainer to be paid in eight local currencies; Rubles, Yen, Euros, British Pounds, Saudi Riyals, Swiss Francs, Canadian Dollars, and U.S. Dollars. The last, bitcoins, surprised almost everyone, but Guild Master Cheshk seemed to really like them, for some reason.  
 
    As the bidding began, the first surprise the Humans got was that their low bids wouldn’t necessarily win a contract. The companies needed to give proposed strengths along with their bids. Complicated computer programs evaluated their company’s weight based on the number of personnel, how they were equipped, and battle records. The elite fighting forces were outraged to discover that their battle records amounted to little more than those of the contractors. In other words, nearly zero.  
 
    “Your race has been awarded a combat effectiveness rating of 29,” Freet informed Jim as dozens of people yelled in the relatively small gravity deck.  
 
    “Twenty-nine out of one hundred?” Jim asked. That data wasn’t in the briefings he’d been given. Freet shook her head.  
 
    “No, Commander. Twenty-nine out of 500.”  
 
    “Ouch.” Freet shrugged, an action he hadn’t expected from the alien rat.  
 
    “Such is the nature of these things,” she said. “Proof provides its own success.”  
 
    He ended up pursing a contract titled, “Industrial Retention.” It involved relieving another merc company that was defending an industrial facility on a world 10,000 light years away. The contract that originally bid at 6.2 million ended up at 4.8 million. He negotiated a 10% combat bonus, and a 25% retention bonus. The latter meant if he could hold the objective for 6 months, he got a bonus on top of the total. A sweet add-on, according to Freet.  
 
    “And there is no limit to the combat action bonus,” she pointed out. Jim had noticed that as well, and that it wasn’t necessarily a good thing. Sure, great bonus potential, but it also spoke of ongoing danger the entire time the contract was in place. He lost a little ground in negotiating commercial transport both ways, something he’d noticed wasn’t usually included in the contracts. He dearly hoped the other companies took that into account.  
 
    When he rode the shuttle back to Houston, exactly 100 companies had accepted contracts. Perhaps a fortuitous number. The remainder had failed to reach an agreement they liked, or believed they could afford to risk. It was sometime in the wee hours of the morning when he was finally beginning to fall asleep that Lisa suddenly spoke. He hadn’t realized she was awake. 
 
    “Jim?” 
 
    “Yes, honey?” 
 
    “Do you really have to go to outer space?” He turned to look at her, only her profile visible in the nearly dark room. He didn’t need to see her in the light. He’d long ago memorized every inch of her face.  
 
    “I don’t need to, no,” he admitted.  
 
    “Then why are you going?” 
 
    Jim thought about it for a moment. His net worth was north of $2 billion. He wasn’t hurting for money. He hadn’t been hurting since his first venture worked out. It wasn’t money that kept him pursuing new challenges, new ventures, new things. It was an inner feeling that he was meant for something great. He’d never told anyone that…not even Lisa. 
 
    “I think it’s amazing opportunity,” he said finally. She was quiet as long as he’d been before speaking again.  
 
    “I’ve never tried to stop you from doing anything,” she said, “and I never will. But please, be careful?”  
 
    “I will, don’t worry.” She drifted off to sleep. He did too, but a while later. Even as he told her not to worry, he was beginning to worry, himself.  
 
      
 
    * * * 
 
      
 
    “So why are we getting investors?” Ted wondered. It contained a list of nine investors interested in putting money into Cartwright’s Cavaliers, which would arrive shortly. “I thought you were a billionaire.” 
 
    “I am,” he said, “and my entire net worth would come to less than a hundred thousand galactic credits.”  
 
    “Damn,” Ted said, examining the list. “That’s why you have about 50 billion in investment lined up here?” 
 
    “Yep,” Jim said, “and all in precious metals and rare Earth elements.” Ted looked at the list again. “The aliens don’t normally take money.”  
 
    “Sokolov Pogranichnyy Konstern?”  
 
    “Russian mining company,” Jim said with a grunt. “They’ve had a lot of success in mining Terbium.” Ted looked at him sideways. “Rare Earths again.”  
 
    “What’s with the aliens and rare earths?”  
 
    “A lot can’t be mined in space, and they’re rare on more than Earth.” Ted shrugged and started looking at the other list Jim had shown him that morning in Houston. He’d also been playing with the alien slate which had a Tri-V projector. It still sat on Jim’s desk, a strange sort of armored vehicle rotating in space above it.  
 
    “Do they know you’re taking all their money and buying those with it?” he asked, pointing at the vehicle.  
 
    “Not really their business.”  
 
      
 
    * * * 
 
      
 
    “Good friends,” Jim said to the group of 14 assembled men and women a short time later. Ted was off to the side watching; he’d never seen a room full of billionaires and their handlers. For that matter, he’d never met one until he’d gone to work for Jim Cartwright. “Welcome to the headquarters of Cartwright’s Cavaliers.” There was kind applause. Jim smiled hugely, his eyes running around the room and making contact with each one of them. Ted smiled. His boss was in his element. Jim nodded to him, and Ted took the box he was holding around the room, giving each investor an alien manufactured slate.  
 
    The machine looked shiny and new. Ted knew better. They’d been sent to a company that polished, cleaned, and fussed over every inch of the machines until it looked like they’d been made the same day. The truth was they were hundreds of years old—maybe a thousand—and had been bought as surplus from one of the tramp traders, which had begun to show up on Earth after it became a probationary member of the Galactic Union. Jim explained to Ted that their capacity was close to the bottom of what the alien-made machines were capable. “Kind of like a kid’s tablet computer,” he said with a laugh. However, Ted saw the appreciative nods of the wealthy investors. It was clear that a lot of them hadn’t bought one for themselves yet, or hadn’t gotten their hands on one this pretty. Sure, even an average slate had more power than an IBM super computer, but these were pathetic super computers.  
 
    “The alien slates my XO is passing out are gifts to you, from Cartwright’s Cavaliers, no obligations attached.” Everyone’s eyes got wide as they examined the pristine computers. Even buying old slates, it was a $60 million investment by Jim. He was playing high stakes poker. “You’ve all read the prospectus, or you wouldn’t be here,” Jim said. “Now, if you will touch that little blue glowing spot on the tablet…” Everyone did, and the tablet came alive with a highly rendered dollar sign. It quickly morphed into a Euro, then into a Yen, and so on. More nods around the room. After it had gone through all the currencies represented in the room, the symbol of the mercenary guild appeared; a triangular symbol with a sword on one side, a laser weapon on the other, coming together at the top point, and a red diamond in the middle with the words “Power” over the sword, “Service” over the rifle, and “Profit” under the diamond. “Here is what we’re going to do together…” 
 
      
 
    * * * 
 
      
 
    “Pleasure to be involved,” Grigori Pestov gushed a little while later, his Russian accent thick. “I think you’re going to make SPK a lot of money!”  
 
    “And we’re glad to have you aboard,” Jim said with an equally huge smile. Grigori gave a little bow and turned to leave. Ted closed the doors, turned to his boss, and broke into a belly laugh. Jim’s eyes narrowed. “What the hell?” Ted struggled to talk while laughing.  
 
    “You…played…them!” he roared. 
 
    “I gave them a bargain,” Jim replied. Ted dropped into a chair and let his laughter play out.  
 
    “You sold them 25 percent of your net profit, in exchange for an investment of $49 billion dollars!” 
 
    “Even if we never fire a shot, and fail to get the completion bonus, our gross will be $250 billion. They’ll see $62 billion back.”  
 
    “Exactly!” Ted said. “And they went all in for it!” Jim gave a sheepish grin and shrugged. “You could sell a ketchup popsicle to a woman wearing white gloves.”  
 
    Jim snorted and started laughing. “It’s actually a little better than you think.” Ted raised an eyebrow in question. “I had a lot more investors interested. I picked the ones I invited today by the commodities they offered. Those commodities have a higher exchange rate than the average. In short, the goods are worth $49 billion to them, but it’s worth closer to $100 billion to the aliens!” First Ted gawked, then he roared with laughter.  
 
      
 
    * * * 
 
      
 
    Compared to the process of preparing the investors’ prospectus, meeting with them, and coordinating the logistics of the rare Earths’ delivery, the process of purchasing alien ordinance was easy. The first ship arrived 48 hours after Jim cut the deal, landing at the Houston Starport. All of the combat personnel of Cartwright’s Cavaliers were on hand as the big fat transport opened its bay and lowered a strange looking armored vehicle.  
 
    “What the fuck is that?” Jake asked. As with all the combat contingent of the Cavaliers, Jim had rearranged the rank structure of the combat specialists. Jake, a former Marine corporal, looked decidedly uncomfortable with a lieutenant’s bar on his shoulder.  
 
    “That,” Jim said, “is a Chakook hovertank.” Jake’s jaw hung down. The man had been a close combat instructor in the Marines, and a tanker. The Chakook was low and wide, all slanted angles and control fins. He had to be thinking of the U.S. Navy’s LCAC, or landing craft air cushion. They were huge affairs used to move M1 Abrams tanks from amphibious assault craft to the shore during invasions.  
 
    “Did you say ‘hover tank’?” Jake asked.  
 
    “Yup!” Jim replied. The crane set the tank down, and a trio of Cartwright’s technicians ran over to clamber up onto it. The vehicle was painted in a mottled black, brown, and green camo pattern which was heavily chipped and dinged. The armor had been repaired in numerous places. An alien that looked like an upright-walking elephant trundled down the ramp. It waved with an arm that ended in stubby fingers, while a bifurcated trunk held its jacket closed. Even though the Houston temp was around eighty that afternoon, the Sumatozou looked chilly. 
 
    “I greet you, Jim Cartwright,” the alien said, his grunting language rendered into English by Jim’s translator.  
 
    “And I greet you, Fraskaton,” Jim said, and gave a little bow, which the alien reciprocated. “Did you bring all five?” 
 
    “I did,” he replied. “You have the payment?”  
 
    “We do,” Jim said and gestured to a series of three semi-tankers parked a short distance away. The alien rubbed his huge hands together.  
 
    “Excellent.” It gestured to a pair of reptilian elSha, who trotted over to meet the uncomfortable-looking truck drivers. Each carried a case that no doubt held instruments to test the quality of the tankers’ liquefied gadolinium. Jim’s own techs had already verified the rare Earth solution was of a higher quality than the Sumatozou merchant required.  
 
    “The tanks are a bit more worn than your communications suggested,” Jim said, gesturing as the crane began to retract into the ship. Meanwhile, more elSha were inside the tank with Jim’s people, working to bring the tanks alive.  
 
    “They are in good condition,” Fraskaton insisted.  
 
    “Good condition isn’t the same as nearly new, as you stated in the contract.”  
 
    “Well,” the Sumatozou mumbled, making strange gestures with its trunk, “my supplier delivered them as you see here.” Jim already knew what to expect. The images he’d been given in the message from Fraskaton were easily traced back to the GalNet entry on the Chakook class tanks, last manufactured by the Zuul 200 years ago. “It is a fine tank!” The green and brown stripes on the alien’s tan skinned face moved as its expression changed. Jim played a card. 
 
    “Well, not what we ordered.” He put a portable radio to his mouth. “Johnstone!” 
 
    “Sir,” response from his engineer in the tank replied.  
 
    “How’s it look in there?” 
 
    “Hard used,” the man replied. Jim nodded and turned to the Sumatozou. “You still think we’re paying 150,000 GCU each?”  
 
    “It is what we agreed!” he said, the translator carrying a tinge of anger.  
 
    “We agreed on new.” The alien said nothing. “Very well. Load them back up.”  
 
    “But…” the alien huffed, “but that is not reasonable.”  
 
    “As you say,” Jim said. “The deal is off.” He shook his head and turned to walk away. 
 
    “Wait!” Fraskaton yelled, following after him. “Please, wait. I understand your consternation. What would make the deal whole for you?” 
 
    “50,000 GCU.” 
 
    “What?” the Sumatozou roared in anger. “250,000 GCU for five of these wonderful tanks?”  
 
    “No,” Jim said, and the alien seemed to calm, “50,000 for all five.” The alien bellowed like a bull elephant preparing to charge. It was easily seven feet tall and probably three times the weight of Jim Cartwright, who was six foot, two inches tall—all muscular. It took a step toward Jim, puffed up and arms back. Jim didn’t budge an inch. The alien seemed to deflate slightly.  
 
    “I could, if I were to deprive my children of food for a month, go down to 125,000 GCU each.”  
 
    “20,000 GCU each,” Jim countered. The Sumatozou gesticulated and cried about hardships and poor profits, then offered 100,000 GCU each. Behind the alien, Ted grinned like a Cheshire Cat.  
 
      
 
    * * * 
 
      
 
    “You should have gone into used car sales,” Ted said as they watched Fraskaton supervise the loading of only two of the three tanker loads of gadolinium. Jim had a slight smile on his face. The tanks were fine for his uses, and he’d still paid more than if he’d had a ship and could have gone out to one of the mercenary worlds like Juplanaskaka. Still, getting the price down to 100,000 GCU each had saved him a cool $2 billion. It was better than he’d thought he could squeeze out of the alien trader. All the alien traders were showing up on Earth thinking Humans were wide-eyed babes. He planned to start ending that belief, and quickly. 
 
    The high-pitched whine from one of the tanks quickly rose to a scream. Jim looked over to where the five tanks sat and saw the armor skirting on one unfolding, then the vehicle rose from the ground. Once the skirt armor finished locking in place, the sound muffled to a whooshing roar. Two arms opened up on either side—unarmed missile pods—and a platform unfolded in the center rear. It held the tank’s main armament, a 20-megawatt laser. The tanks came with two pallets of guided missiles and magnetic accelerator cannons, or MACs, which could be swapped for the lasers in environments where the lasers wouldn’t function well. The MACs’ firepower rating was less than that of the laser, as well as their range, but they had a significantly higher rate of fire. Johnstone, the engineer, walked over to him, shaking his head.  
 
    “Got the first one running,” he said.  
 
    “I noticed,” Jim replied. “Loud.”  
 
    “Yeah, the sound baffling is worn out.”  
 
    “What about the rest?”  
 
    “One of them has yellow shit all over the controls. Guessing by the patched armor over the crew space, I’d say some aliens’ guts were splattered all over the cockpit.” Jake, who was standing nearby reading up on the Chakook’s specs from a slate, looked up in alarm.  
 
    “Besides that?”  
 
    “Well,” Johnstone went on, “there’s a laundry list of shit that doesn’t work.” He popped a stick of gum in his mouth. “Nothing we can’t fix. I have a couple of men working to figure out how old that F11 stuff is. The fusion reactor was showing nominal.” If anything, Jake looked more alarmed.  
 
    “Fusion?!” he blurted. “Like the bomb?”  
 
    “Fusion,” Johnstone agreed, “but not quite like the bomb.”  
 
    “Damn thing has RCS thrusters!” Slim was laughing nearby, examining one of the tanks. “More like a spaceship than a tank.”  
 
    “Why a hover tank?” Jake finally asked a few hours later as the last of the five Chakook lifted off the ground and hovered over to the transport trucks. “I looked at some of that technical data. They’ve got tracked and wheeled tanks. I don’t understand…why hover?” Jim listed a few points on his fingers.  
 
    “One, they can go in almost any terrain. Two, they’re fast. Three, these also carry up to 10 troopers. And four, they’re fusion-powered. Those chemical lasers on the non-fusion tanks have limited ammo. The cheapest fusion tracked tank was twice the price.”  
 
    “Might have been worth twice the money,” Johnstone said, and pointed to one of the tanks. “Those things are probably a couple hundred years old.”  
 
    “Hundred?” Jake asked. “A couple hundred years?” Johnstone shrugged. “We were shooting at each other with muskets 200 years ago!”  
 
    “Smooth bore muskets,” Jim agreed. “But if the South’d had fusion-powered hover tanks, things would have been a quite a bit different!” 
 
    The transport trucks had just pulled away with the tanks when a pair of black SUVs came racing up, almost skidding to a stop next to the Cartwright’s personnel. Four men jumped out of the cars and looked around in serious alarm, first at the spaceship, then at the transports just disappearing through one of the airfield’s gates.  
 
    One of them strode over to Jim’s group and spoke. “Who’s in charge here?” 
 
    “I am,” Jim said, “Commander, Cartwright’s Cavaliers.” The man pointed in the direction of the trucks that had just left.  
 
    “What was on those trucks? What did those aliens sell to you?” 
 
    “Oh, nothing much,” Jim said with a huge grin.  
 
    “What is that supposed to mean?” another of the men asked. “We’re from the Department of Defense.” 
 
    “I figured as much,” Jim said. For a time everyone just stared at each other. 
 
    “Well?” the leader of the DoD group asked. “The government wants to know what you bought.”  
 
    “Just some technology older than the musket,” Ted said. The government men, to the last, just scowled.  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
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    “Good luck, Cavaliers, and good hunting!” 
 
    “Thanks, Houston,” Jim said, and the shuttle lifted off the ground with a roar of its hydrogen powered engines.  
 
    “Here we go,” Ted said from the seat next to his boss.  
 
    “Yep,” Jim agreed. He hated the liftoff most of all. Two minutes of intense thrust followed by weightlessness was not enjoyable. He guessed he’d just have to get used to it. “All this technology, and they don’t have artificial gravity?” Ted chuckled. “I just thought it would be more like Star Trek.” Somewhere further back Alex was laughing. The company’s tech expert was enjoying this aspect of the job more than anyone else, except maybe Johnstone.  
 
    “Got a long way to go,” Ted reminded him, “like another 10,000 light years.” Jim whistled. Or tried to, but his G distorted lips wouldn’t cooperate.  
 
    Jim and his command staff were the last to transfer aboard the commercial transport Keesh, a Bakulu-class ship owned and crewed by Bakulu. He wished he’d thought to specify the race of the transport. Now he had to spend a month on a ship that smelled like seafood.  
 
    “I wonder what one tastes like in butter?” Ted asked. Jim made him promise to keep that kind of thought to himself. Twenty-four hours later, once the entire company was squared away onboard, the Keesh pulled out of orbit and headed for the stargate. After weeks of planning and incredible amounts of money spent, he welcomed getting away. Except for missing Lisa, of course. She’d been trying to act calm, but had largely failed. They’d said goodbye that morning as if he were just going to the office in downtown Houston and not halfway across the galaxy.  
 
    The cargo bays of the Keesh were as full as his accounts were empty. He’d spent all his investors’ money, and a good part of his own, equipping the company with arms, armor, and vehicles. As far as he knew, he was the only one of the 100 companies to make extensive use of alien technology. He didn’t know if he was being over-prepared, or the others were being under-prepared. In addition to the five hover tanks, he had three APCs, and four Apooca flyers, or quadcopters. He’d been given a line on those by Captain John Pike at The Avenging Angels, a company hired to do Combat Search and Rescue, or CSAR. He’d known John from his time in Fallujah. The Apoocas were like a V-22 Osprey with four props instead of two, and more weapons mounts. They’d come cheap. He’d wondered if John knew why they were so cheap. 
 
    The DoD eventually caught up with him. They had cell phone camera footage of trucks transporting his tanks through downtown Houston, and they were pissed. When the transport landed two days later with three Po’Kon class APCs, they were waiting. The government tried to impound the tracked transports because each had a 15mm MAC and two turreted machine guns. Jim had been forced to make a phone call to Ambassador Thales. In the end, he agreed to keep all the weapons he’d imported within startown limits. The world government was still in the process of defining the extra-territorial nature of a starport and its surrounding startown, but it was enough to keep the government happy.  
 
    Out of all the preparation, the cases of ammo in his office on the Keesh were the most interesting. Five thousand rounds chambered with flechettes of MinSha chiton. He had no idea if he’d have a reason to use it. After seeing how the aliens fought in countless hours of footage, he certainly hoped he didn’t.  
 
    “Stargate in 10 minutes,” Ted said, floating outside Jim’s office. It wasn’t a very big space, but he was the only non-crew who had one to himself.  
 
    “Right,” Jim said, “how are the men?” 
 
    “More than a few are drunk,” Ted admitted. He held out a squeeze bottle with some amber liquid in it. “Care for a snootfull?” Jim had heard plenty about the transition to hyperspace. It was like being destroyed and put back together. It was transcendent. It was orgasmic. Whatever it was, he wasn’t looking forward to it.  
 
    “Sure,” Jim said, and Ted floated it over to him. He caught it and gave a suck. The liquid was forced down by his now accustomed to zero-G muscles, and it burned all the way. “Smooth,” Jim said. “I’m not going to the bridge; the snails make me nervous.”  
 
    “Slim spends half his time tinkering on the Apoocas, and the rest nosing around the ship.” Jim knew the Texan was probably the only member of the Cavalier excited to find out they were traveling in a Bakulu ship. “I’d rather hang out with you, anyway.”  
 
    “Five minutes to transition,” a translated voice said over the PA system. Jim felt the warmth spreading from the whiskey.  
 
    “You’re welcome to stay, if I can have another hit of that contraband hooch.” Ted came in and pulled the corrugated door closed, handing over the bulb.  
 
    “You never issued an order against it. Besides, I know you have five cases of IPA stashed in the hold.” 
 
    “Spy,” Jim said when he could talk again. He looked at his friend for a moment. “Do you think this is a good idea?” 
 
    “What? Drinking before hyperspace? How the fuck should I know?” He took another sip. Jim laughed and shook his head. 
 
    “No, I mean the contract. A hundred companies of Human soldiers going off to fight and die for money.” Ted accepted the bulb back and took another drink. It was almost empty, and he offered the last back to Jim, who took it gratefully.  
 
    “I really can’t say,” Ted said. 
 
    “One minute to transition.”  
 
    “Humans have been fighting and dying for as long as we’ve been able to make these,” he said, making a fist. “Maybe even before.” He shrugged, grabbing Jim’s desk so the movement didn’t cause him to spin. “I only know that you have a lot of people on this ship who happily signed up for either the excitement, the glory, or the money.” 
 
    “Most are probably here for the money,” Jim said. Ted started to shrug, then nodded instead.  
 
    “You’re probably right.” 
 
    “Ten seconds.” Jim didn’t want to admit it, but for the first time in his life, he was scared he’d made a bad decision. He closed his eyes.  
 
    “Either way,” Ted said, “our futures are coming at us, face first.” 
 
    “Transition in three…two…one…” 
 
    It turned out, drinking before jumping into hyperspace wasn’t a very good idea.  
 
      
 
    * * * 
 
      
 
    “Ten thousand light years in two weeks,” Jim said, shaking his head. The bridge of the Keesh was a decidedly utilitarian affair. He had to admit it reminded him of a cruise ship bridge, with its high visibility and comfortable work stations, and wondered if warship bridges were like the CICs on ships back home. 
 
    “More like 170 hours per jump and a few days in between,” his host corrected him. The Bakulu captain was regarding him with a single eye while simultaneously conducting other tasks with the other two. Jim had learned in the intervening time that a lot of the crew possessed cybernetic implants, known as pinplants. They allowed instantaneous wireless access to computers, and in the case of some higher end modifications, even extra processor power in your own skull. Coupled with their ability to squirt air out of an orifice for propulsion, the Bakulu were more like spaceships themselves.  
 
    “I was just generalizing, Captain.” 
 
    “Ah,” the alien said, “I understand. Your Slim does this often.” Jim figured he’d know—Slim spent almost as much time with the Keesh’s crew as he had in the Apoocas, going over various systems and working with his new pilots. The former astronaut was a bit of a polymath among pilots—he could fly almost anything. In fact, it seemed a life goal of his to remove the word “almost” from that sentence. He’d said at dinner two days ago that he was pretty sure he could operate a starship now, if it wasn’t in an all blown up hurry, as he’d described it. Ted said it was just boasting, but Jim knew better. If Slim said he could do something, he could do it; you could damn well count on it.  
 
    “Is that the planet?” Jim asked, pointing out the window. The captain followed his gesture, then, being a typical Bakulu apparently, checked with his navigator.  
 
    “Yes, that is Tulip.” Jim unconsciously thought of the planet’s real name, T’T’Ksh’t Tuulu’p. As they were quickly discovering, the alien names for worlds were nearly unpronounceable. A few were unpronounceable, being a collection of heat impulses or raw binary data. After Jim had tried to pronounce the planet’s name a few times during their briefings, Alex started calling the planet Tulip. It was stupid, so naturally the name stuck. What surprised Jim was that after they all started using it, the damned translators picked up on it and rendered T’T’Ksh’t Tuulu’p into Tulip whenever it was mentioned. It apparently did the same the other direction for aliens. Handy feature, but Jim resolved to be careful about what he allowed his friends to name what. The planet Craphole could cause a diplomatic incident if it were translated to the wrong person, for the wrong reason. Just that morning he found his GalNet recording on a personal slate with the world referred to as Tulip. Yeah, very careful. He wondered if that would be updated on all Human computers. Jesus, Wikipedia nightmare times a million! 
 
    The planet was still a tiny green spot, but he thought it was a little bigger than when he’d first noticed. He did know there were no signs of trouble on the planet. Shortly after transitioning to normal space, the captain put him in contact with Hoona, the administrator of the opSha-owned corporation operating on the planet. They were happy to see the Cavaliers. He also spoke with Bok, the commander of the Jivool merc company he was relieving. That had been quick and mostly monosyllabic. The Jivool were seven foot tall bears with almost no legs, extra wide torsos, and retractable claws on the wrists. Those were evolutionary adaptations for digging, but they worked quite well to disembowel an opponent in hand to hand, their favorite way to fight. The meeting would probably be fun. 
 
    “We will be in orbit in four hours,” the captain told him. “You may begin final preparations to disembark.”  
 
    “Thank you, Captain. We’ll see you in six months for the ride home.” 
 
    “I hope so,” the captain said. Jim was three decks down before what the Bakulu captain had said began to sink in.  
 
      
 
    * * * 
 
      
 
    The first of the Keesh’s two huge shuttles flared and squatted onto the landing tarmac outside the chief industrial complex of Tulip. Two other big transports were sitting not too far away, wind swirling around their idling lifter engines. The Bakulu pilot equalized the pressure. 
 
    “Attention,” the pilot’s voice came over the PA. “Local atmosphere is being allowed aboard. Concentrations of chlorine are high. Take precautions.” 
 
    The door opened, and the boarding ramp lowered. Jim settled his breathing mask in place and was the first in line as the door slid aside. He intended to be the first to set foot on a contract world and the last to leave. 
 
    “What’s with those?” Ted wondered, pointing to the other ships as he stepped down behind Jim.  
 
    “Not a clue,” Jim admitted. A stream of personnel began coming down behind them. Even through the masks, they could smell the chlorine.  
 
    “This Tulip stinks,” Ted said.  
 
    Jim grunted. “Be damned sure everyone is wearing their masks,” Jim reminded him.  
 
    “Who would be crazy enough not to?” 
 
    “Just fucking check,” Jim said. Ted held up his hands in surrender and went to meet with the platoon sergeants. Jim walked around the side of the shuttle to verify the big loading doors were open, and he saw the first of the Po’Kon APCs was already clanking down the ramp. Robert Alison, his heavy equipment specialist, was watching the operation carefully. Jake had elected not to play with the ‘freaky alien tanks,’ as he called them, so he’d recruited Robert, who’d only recently left the Corps. Jake said Robert was a rare freak; a mechanic and a tank commander. Unlike the man who’d recruited him, Robert loved the alien hardware.  
 
    “Coming alright?” Jim asked the rather squat redheaded man. A bushy beard of a deeper shade of red poked out from under the breathing mask. 
 
    “Air tastes like a swimming pool.”  
 
    Jim nodded. “That it does. Get that mask snug, or you could wake up dead.” 
 
    “Yes, sir,” Robert said, and began fiddling with the straps. Jim turned when he heard a barking grunt. A seven-foot-tall bipedal bear in armor was striding toward him. A Jivool, the less surprised part of his brain provided the name of the race.  
 
    “You are commander?” his translator spoke.  
 
    “Yes, Jim Cartwright, Cartwright’s Cavaliers.” The Jivool grunted, looked at the second APC coming off the shuttle and spoke.  
 
    “We leave.” Jim took a step back.  
 
    “We were supposed to have a week to get settled.”  
 
    “Read contract, we leave.” The alien turned to stride toward the other ships, one of which was already rising into the smelly air. 
 
    “Son of a….Ted!”  
 
    By the time they found the clause, both Jivool transports were long gone. He’d already heard that the Jivool hired the Keesh via radio as soon as the Cavaliers landed. The clause stated that unloading in force constituted a relief by action. More than one armored vehicle was force.  
 
    “Bastards are slippery as snakes,” Slim said in the briefing that afternoon. They were in the barracks building provided by the opSha. It didn’t smell like chlorine, which was a blessing. It did, however, smell like wet bear, which wasn’t.  
 
    “We need to get some lawyers trained in Union law,” Jim said.  
 
    “Contract law is about all they got,” Alex said. Their resident computer guru had read more about the Union than anyone else in the company. Once he’d absorbed all the computer manuals on the Keesh, he turned to the GalNet and had read up on a variety of subject matter. How the Union worked as a government was one of his favorites. “Libertarian/anarchist/minimalist” was how he described it. “The guilds do most of what a normal government would do, including almost all regulations. They charge fees for licensing and oversight, and in exchange pass some of that along to the Union. That’s the limit of taxing. There are some fines and no Union prisons.” 
 
    “No prisons?” one of their miscreant operators laughed. “Sounds like a dream.”  
 
    “Yeah,” Alex affirmed, “no prisons. Most things in the Union that would get you tossed in jail on Earth will get you executed here. They have a lot of fines, and because everyone has a universal account access card genetically coded to them you can’t escape the fines.”  
 
    “Ayn Rand meets Aldous Huxley!” Nina laughed. She’d just come back from certifying the main armament on all the craft. She simply loved MACs.  
 
    “Regardless,” Jim spoke up, taking control of the meeting again, “we’re now on station. I want three rotating mounted watches. Planetary day is 25 and a half hours, so it won’t be too hard to adapt.” He looked at his platoon sergeants. “Work on discipline for donning masks as part of the routine.” He glanced at Ted. “We’ve already had two sick reports from chlorine exposure.” Ted looked rightfully abashed. “I’m more than a little suspicious of the previous garrison’s eagerness to exfil from a supposedly cushy assignment.”  
 
    Jim saw Hoona, the opSha representative waiting outside the staff room, dismissed everyone except Ted, and asked his XO to bring in the alien.  
 
    “I am pleased you have moved in so quickly!” the diminutive administrator said. Jim had to suppress a smile. The opSha looked like a large howler monkey, but with tiny little black eyes, huge cupped ears, and a pair of extra-long tails which were always in motion. He understood they were almost blind and moved about with bat-like ultrasonic echolocation. When they spoke, Jim only heard the translator.  
 
    “We are comfortable, Administrator Hoona,” Jim said with a little bow, common among aliens.  
 
    “If not for choking on bear stench,” Ted said, sotto voce. Jim shot him a glare, but Hoona seemed not to notice, smiling amiably to show a mouth full of pointy teeth. Jim spoke quickly, just in case. 
 
    “We flew over the facility on approach; it is magnificent.”  
 
    “This?” Hoona asked, and gestured out the window. “This is just a processing plant. We have ninety-two extraction plants on this continent, and more than a hundred thousand kilometers of pipeline feeding it!” Jim’s mouth dropped open. “The hydrocarbons and fossil chemicals on this world are particularly abundant and unpolluted. We’ve been scaling up production the last 50 years and have just about reached the limit of what we can support.” 
 
    “That’s amazing,” Jim admitted. “What controls the upper limit?”  
 
    “Oh, a number of things,” Hoona said, his little hands constantly in motion. “The atmosphere is hard on many of our off-the-shelf components. Not many races can work in that kind of environment for a long time, either. We’ve experimented with robotics, but the native fauna is aggressive toward mechanicals more so than biologicals. There’s a Union Science Guild outpost on the far side of the continent experimenting with that, actually.” Hoona gave an almost Human shrug. “If we could get the collateral losses down, we could scale up even further.”  
 
    “Collateral losses?” Jim asked.  
 
    “Yes, we continue to hemorrhage credits from pilferage. A few million liters here, a few million liters there.” The translator sighed. “It’s never the same thing, and never from the same location. By the time we get to the pipelines showing the loss, it’s been capped and the miscreants are long gone. Well, I am pleased you are on station, and I hope we don’t have to call you. We have impressive static defenses on the processing plant here, which is why no one has tried us, but we like to keep a company like yours on point. The only time we needed the Jivool was when several of those blasted therapods broke into a vehicle park and were too stupid to get out.” The translator laughed. “Their meat was succulent though.”  
 
    Hoona bowed again and turned to leave. 
 
    “Administrator?” Jim asked.  
 
    “Yes, commander?”  
 
    “Could I get a copy of the planet’s maps with data on the thefts, as well as all habitations?” 
 
    “The only habitations are our facilities.” 
 
    “You mentioned the science station?” Ted reminded him. 
 
    “Oh, of course.” The little simian’s brown knitted in concentration. “I have asked my assistant to send it to you.” Jim thanked him, and Hoona left.  
 
    “It looked like he was taking a shit there for a second.” 
 
    “Pinplants, I suspect,” Jim said, tapping his skull.  
 
    “Ugh.” Ted blanched. “You’ll never drill holes in my head!” They went into Jim’s office and interfaced with the computer. As promised, there was a message from Hoona’s office with a series of highly-detailed maps, which Jim merged with the ones he already had. With that, he was able to find the science station and look up the details on the station using the GalNet.  
 
    “Tulip Indigenous Flora and Fauna Research Station One,” Ted read off.  
 
    “It probably sounds better in some other language,” Jim said. “But it’s still an interesting name. 
 
    “Why?” 
 
    “Who would name a station “Number One,” if there wasn’t a number two?”  
 
    “Oh, good point.”  
 
    Jim eventually called Alex in to help sort out the data. It was all layered on the same map, and neither Jim nor Ted could figure out how to view it separately.  
 
    “The computer treats the layers as individual maps,” he said and showed them how to separate the layers. They both shook their heads as he quickly moved stuff around. “Once I get pinplants, I’ll be doing this stuff in my sleep.” Both men were looking at him in horror. “What?”  
 
    “Lieutenant Pinot,” Jim said, “if you go drilling holes in your brain, I’m not paying some doctor to sort you out.”  
 
    “Old people,” Alex muttered.  
 
    “What the fuck was that?” Ted asked with a growl.  
 
    “I said I’m happy to help.” He exited quickly. Once they were alone, the two men examined the data.  
 
    “Well, look at that,” Jim said and pointed at several points. 
 
    “That is indeed interesting,” Ted agreed. “What are we going to do?” 
 
    “For now? Nothing. Let’s see what happens once we get settled in.”  
 
    “You know those raids mean no retention bonus, right?” Ted asked.  
 
    “Yeah, that makes sense. Most of the contracts they offered Humans were shit. And that explains why the Jivool wanted to GTFO so quickly. Tired of not getting that bonus. So, let’s get settled, establish watches, and look like we’re kicking back for the ride.” 
 
    “Then what?”  
 
    “Then…we’ll see.”  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
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    Because the hydrogen-powered turbines in the Apoocas had difficulty with the atmosphere, their operations were limited, and the company engineer, Johnstone, struggled to get all four of the quadcopters modified for it. The Po’Kon APCs operated on similar hydrogen turbines, and they were likewise uncooperative.  
 
    While the engineers labored, the rest of the Cavaliers made themselves at home. They set up their barracks, got their new weapons out of storage, and started serious practice. There had been plenty of familiarization on the ship, but only limited range time. Now that they were planetside, Jim set about changing that.  
 
    “The Jivool didn’t even have a firing range,” Ted told him the first day. Jim got a bulldozer from Hoona on loan, and in an hour, had pushed up a berm. The range was open. Nobody was happier than Nina. She claimed the longer lanes for herself and the two other sniper-qualified troopers. Jim spent a little time getting used to the limited number of laser weapons he’d been able to buy, but mostly watched Nina play with her new toy.  
 
    “I think she’s in love,” Ted said. The former Coast Guardsman wasn’t much taller than an opSha at just over 5’2”—at least officially—and Nina had her dirty blonde hair tied back in a ponytail over her shoulder as she lay behind the most expensive portable weapon Jim had purchased.  
 
    “You getting it down?” Jim asked her. She glanced back at him and grinned.  
 
    “Watch this,” she said, and settled back behind the scope. She fiddled for a second and the gun gave a humming Snap! What looked like a plastic cartridge flew clear with a Ping, and she grinned back. Her spotter handed Jim the scope.  
 
    “How far is that?” he asked.  
 
    “Two kilometers.” The steel plate had a dozen holes in it, all either in the center or within an inch of the red circle painted in the center of the plate. One of those holes in the center was smoking.  
 
    “Fine shot,” he said. “How far out can you do that?” She looked at the optics and her face screwed up in concentration.  
 
    “In clear weather? Say 20 kilometers.” 
 
    “Fuck!” one of the men practicing nearby said.  
 
    “Keep up the good work,” Jim said, a predatory grin on his face. He met a few minutes later with the engineer. 
 
    “The high-pressure compressors aren’t working properly because of the chlorine content in the atmosphere,” Johnstone explained. He had one of the Apoocas’ engine compartments open with its components spread out on a table. Since Jim was only passingly familiar with how a turbine worked, the explanation didn’t do much for him.  
 
    “How long?”  
 
    Johnstone shared an animated conversation with his assistants. “A week?” 
 
    “You’ve got three days,” Jim said. On the evening of the third day, several very tired engineers stood watching as Slim sat in the pilot seat of the lead Apooca, Raptor 1, and spun up the craft’s pair of hydrogen turbines. The gunner’s seat, behind and to the left of his position, was empty. After a moment, he engaged the four blades until they were screaming at full power. It sat there for a minute, blades feathered while Slim examined the displays (which Johnstone had also modified from the original Krin configuration). He finally raised a thumb to the pair of ground controllers, who waved their wands in circles over their heads. Slim nodded, cowboy hat bobbing, and Raptor 1 rose smoothly into the air, nosed forward, and climbed away. A cheer went up from the assembled air crews.  
 
    He took the copter through a series of flight tests, adjusting the controls for the atmosphere and gravity. By the end of an hour he was doing flips and rolls that would make any normal helicopter pilot’s jaw drop off. He said it would suffice. 
 
    The Texan did the checkout flight on all four Apoocas himself. By the end he pronounced them sufficient.  
 
    “They’re smoking a little more than they did on Earth,” he told Johnstone who scribbled some notes.  
 
    “We’ll tinker a bit with the combustion timers,” Johnstone said.  
 
    “For now, let’s get going with the planned sweep. Put a full nine-man squad in each flight for combat effectiveness. Have Nina or one of her snipers in there too. Have a T-Rex and a ‘Dillo on standby.” Everyone chuckled. The hover tanks had been designated T-Rex from the beginning. It just seemed natural for the heavily armed Chakooks. The APCs were harder. A bunch of names were bantered around until Slim yelled at Chris Smith, one of the Po’Kon drivers who’d left his parked in front of a hanger.  
 
    “Get that damned Armadillo out of my taxi space!” The name had stuck.  
 
    Jim, Ted, and Alex had generated an extremely complicated flight path series for the Apoocas to fly. There would be one in the air at all times. Jim hoped none of them broke; all were critical to meeting the schedule.  
 
    The second week of patrols at the 2nd shift change, Raptor 2 rolled out of the hanger with Slim at the controls, and Jim met it in full battle rattle. Ted jogged up and eyed his friend.  
 
    “And just where do you think you’re going, sir?” 
 
    “Patrol,” Jim said, checking his sidearm.  
 
    “How do you think it looks for the company commander to be flying around on a routine patrol?” Ted asked. 
 
    “Like the commander isn’t someone who would tell others to do what he himself wasn’t willing to do.”  
 
    “Then I’m coming too.”  
 
    “Belay that,” Jim said. “You’re in command while I’m gone. We both don’t go into the field at the same time unless it’s a high mobility issue.” Ted wasn’t happy, but Jim was the boss, so he stayed and watched from the ground as his friend and employer took to the air.  
 
    “Decided to get wet?” Nina asked over her headset from her seat. She’d seen him getting dressed and had taken the flight, even though she’d already flown that morning.  
 
    “Figured it was time,” he said. Once they were airborne, the troopers started to button up the craft. “No,” he said. “Let’s leave the doors open.” They looked at him for a second, then shrugged. He’d heard they were closing up so they didn’t have to wear masks, which was part of why he’d decided to take a flight. A short time later, it started to rain, like it did several times a day. The troopers in the crew compartment looked at the deck with dark expressions, but no one said anything.  
 
    A spotter was clipped into a harness on the port side and another on the starboard. The flight looped out on its assigned flight pattern, on average 300 kilometers out from the production facility, then looped back from a different direction. It seemed wasteful and time consuming to the troopers. What it was, though, was thorough. As they approached the end of the outbound leg, Jim stood and relieved the port trooper.  
 
    “If you want, sir,” the man said and unclipped from the door so Jim could take his place. The man had been a U.S. Air Force helicopter door gunner, and wasn’t used to his CO doing the crap jobs. Jim stood in the doorway, rain splattering him as he used the computerized optic goggles to scan the ground. He hadn’t picked this flight to accompany at random. He’d had a hunch.  
 
    “Slim!” he called out a minute later. 
 
    “What’s up, boss?’ 
 
    “What grid reference are we?”  
 
    It was Slim’s gunner who responded. “Grid reference 10-Delta.” 
 
    “Uh huh,” Jim said, “Orbit starboard.”  
 
    “Nothing down there, sir,” the starboard observer said a little defensively. 
 
    “Coming around,” Slim said as the Apooca banked to starboard.  
 
    “Look there,” Jim said and pointed down. Several troopers leaned over to look, including Nina.  
 
    “That’s just one of them big dinosaurs,” the observer said.  
 
    “Yes, but really look at it.” Slim, hearing this, orbited the beast below, which took no notice of the craft several thousand feet above it.  
 
    “I don’t see anything,” the observer said. Nina had clipped a safety harness on and slid over on her belly so her huge weapon was half in, half out of the copter. She found the beast and looked at it for a long second, the barrel moving to follow it as their craft came around.  
 
    “Holy shit!” she suddenly exclaimed. “I don’t believe it.” 
 
    “What?” the other observer said. “You guys aren’t messing with me, are you?” 
 
    “No,” Jim said. “Look behind it.” 
 
    “Its tail is dragging in the undergrowth,” he said. 
 
    “Does even a dinosaur have a tail a mile long?”  
 
    “Wha—” he started, then moved the goggles several times. “I don’t believe it,” he said finally. 
 
    “That’s what I said,” Nina chided.  
 
    “You see it, Slim?”  
 
    “Yes sir. I can’t believe we missed it. Must have flown over that damn thing three times the last two days.” 
 
    “Four times,” Jim said, “but don’t worry about it. Can you backtrack?” 
 
    “Damn right I can,” the pilot said, “coming around, hang on.”  
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
 
      
 
    The Apooca’s wheels had just touched the tarmac when Jim jumped clear and trotted over to where his XO waited in a small ground car. As he walked, he looked around their bivouac area and saw all the tanks sitting at rest in various locations. He nodded. He climbed in the car, not surprised to see Jake, their close combat specialist, and one of his corporals there as well.  
 
    “Everything set?”  
 
    “Yes, sir,” Ted said as the doors closed, and the car sped away. “You know, there are a lot of ways this can go badly.” 
 
    “I don’t like being robbed,” Jim said through clenched jaws. His XO merely nodded as he drove. The drive only took a minute, then they were piling out at the administration building. Jim had been there once before, early on, when Administrator Hoona took him on a tour of the sprawling facility.  
 
    In the outer office, a pair of elSha were working on a huge Tri-V display of some machine, while a huge millipede held a slate and took notes. They’d seen a few of the Jeha around on Tulip. It wasn’t uncommon to find the Jeha on engineering projects. All the aliens looked up as the four Humans marched in.  
 
    “Hoona in there?” he asked the group.  
 
    “He is busy,” one of the elSha said, making a ‘go away’ gesture with its tail.  
 
    “Then he’s there,” Jim said and shoved the door open.  
 
    “Commander Cartwright!” Hoona jerked, and flipped a slate over on his desk so Jim wouldn’t see who or what was on it. “I’m afraid I’m very busy right now.”  
 
    “We found who’s stealing your chemicals and how.”  
 
    “That…is amazing.” The opSha didn’t sound amazed. If Jim was guessing correctly, based on their similar genomes, the little simian looked quite aggravated at this news. “What have you done about it?”  
 
    “Oh, as part of the loss prevention clause on our contract, we’re going to put a stop to it.” Jim noticed that the slate Hoona had flipped over wasn’t quite lying flat. He could see it was displaying a moving image.  
 
    “I see,” Hoona said. “And when are you going to do this?”  
 
    “We’ll be ready to push out in an hour. Just wanted to let you know.” He turned and headed out. The elSha and Jeha watched him and his men pass by. They weren’t yet back to the car when Jim’s headset squawked with Slim’s voice.  
 
    “Contacts! Multiple low flying craft from the east, coming in fast.” Jim keyed his mic.  
 
    “Cartwright Actual to all teams, here they come.”  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
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    The eight high-speed skimmers came in low and fast, each one attacking a static defense control unit with pinpoint accuracy before screaming around in a high-G turn to seek their next targets, the Human tanks. At the same time, three APCs burst from the tree line 500 yards from the perimeter fence and accelerated toward them.  
 
    “Hit the gas!” Jim yelled. “I didn’t expect a reaction this fast.” As Ted accelerated, Jim slipped on his helmet and vest which had been in the back seat. He could hear the scream of the fusion-powered turbines in the five Chakooks as they went from idle to drive almost instantly. Turrets swung and guns came alive.  
 
    “T-Rex 1 requesting permission to engage!” Alison called over the com net.  
 
    “Cleared to fire,” Jim responded instantly. Three of the five Chakooks had been fitted with the MAC option. Their guns thrummed, and the air was rent with hypersonic cracks as they sent five 2cm tungsten projectiles per second downrange. Unlike the tanks on Earth, these main weapons were nimble and fully computer-controlled. By the time the enemy skimmers had come about from their attack on the static defenses, the Chakook MACs had swept all eight from the sky.  
 
    One slammed into the tarmac and skidded along in a shower of sparks, crashing into Jim’s car. “Shit!” he screamed as the shredded skimmer tore the front third off the car and sent the rest spinning like a top. He didn’t remember much for the next few seconds.  
 
    “Boss, boss!” He opened his eyes to see Ted’s less than handsome face a few inches away. “Damn, I thought I’d lost you there for a second.” 
 
    “Hardly,” Jim growled. He realized he was lying on the tarmac amidst metal, debris, and blood. “Who’s hit?”  
 
    “Jake,” Ted said and gestured with his head. The former Marine’s body leaned against the rear of the car, a metal rod through his chest, his eyes staring.  
 
    “Shit,” Jim said as several bullets bounced off and punched through the car.  
 
    “Shit is right,” Ted said. “Those APCs let out a bunch of rat things.”  
 
    Jim slid toward one side of their cover and glanced around. Several hundred creatures that did look like rats were running toward the base structures. They bore a resemblance to the Veetanho, but were much smaller. They all wore simple uniforms, and each carried a rifle. None appeared timid about using them either. The air was alive with flying projectiles 
 
    “What are they?” Ted asked. Now that he was sure his boss was alive, he was handing out weapons from the passenger compartment. Jim took his rifle and checked the load.  
 
    “Pissed,” Jim suggested, leaning out to fire. “‘Dillo 2, you on their flank yet?”  
 
    “Almost there,” one of his APC drivers replied. Jim fired again, emptying his magazine and reducing their chance of being immediately overrun. Ted fired as well. Jim had enough time to look around and assess the situation. The three tanks had maneuvered behind the conveniently placed concrete blocks to be effectively hull down. They were firing into the advancing aliens, who were taking horrendous losses and didn’t seem to care at all.  
 
    “Jesus,” Jim said, watching the slaughter. The enemy had almost reached the main vehicle park. “‘Dillo 3, unass, unass. You are about to be overrun!” Inside the vehicle park, another of the APCs had been parked to provide backup. It popped open and the nine-man squad bailed out, immediately taking cover and laying down fire on the advancing enemy.  
 
    “‘Dillo 2, we are deploying, and I’m engaging.”  
 
    The three alien APCs had been using machine guns to engage the tanks, to little affect. One of them suddenly turned into a fireball, knocked out by the MAC on the Po’Kon. Jim could just see the squad from ‘Dillo 2 as they engaged the other two APCs with some good old American hardware, Javelin anti-tank missiles. The APCs responded quickly, spinning their guns around to fire at their attackers, but a second later both were hit and set ablaze. Their crew—more of the rats—tried to bail out and were dealt with by the Cavaliers’ troopers.  
 
    The aliens had numbers, but they were caught in the open and under withering fire. Jim kept expecting them to realize that and give up, or at least try to run. They didn’t. The machine gun on one of the tanks chewed up the last group just before it reached one of the barracks buildings, leaving the runways and tarmac a bloody slaughterhouse.  
 
    “Cease fire!” Jim called over the radio and stood to look around. He checked his rifle, an alien manufactured battle rifle which fired 11mm caseless rounds. He’d gone through one 100-round magazine, and 10 rounds from a second. He nodded in approval. “Squads report,” he ordered. They quickly called in. Counting Jake, they had seven dead and two injured.  
 
    “Too damned many,” Jim said.  
 
    “For that?” Ted asked, gesturing to the hundreds of dead aliens.  
 
    “If we had better armor, it would have been zero.”  
 
    “Raptor 1 calling Cartwright Actual.”  
 
    “Go ahead, Slim.”  
 
    “Just saw a flyer depart the administration complex. The main building is on fire.”  
 
    “Oh, shit,” Jim said. He’d had two of the Apoocas circling, just in case the attack was predominantly airborne. They hadn’t been looking for an attack on the facility management. He might have seriously misunderstood the situation. “Any Raptor got eyes on that flyer?”  
 
    “Raptor 4, I got him. He’s flying right into our AO.”  
 
    At least that makes sense, Jim thought. He keyed his mic. “All teams here at base, sweep for survivors. Take prisoners if they let you, dispatch them if not.” He’d read merc law; it was brutal and straightforward in regards to situations like this. He didn’t have to take their surrender if it wasn’t convenient. And what was convenient was pretty loosely defined. “Raptor 1, come on down and get me and my team. We’re going to see how this plays out.”  
 
      
 
    * * * 
 
      
 
    Jim didn’t like the jungles of Tulip. He’d come up in the era of desert warfare, and unlike his father, had never spent any time in this kind of environment. Buzzing insects that looked nothing like their Earth counterparts and skittering creatures just as alien didn’t help. The path was only two kilometers long, yet he was grateful when he emerged from the dense foliage onto an old, hard-packed road.  
 
    “Shouldn’t take them too long,” he said as he turned to the right and started walking. He swatted at a bug that looked more like a flying frog. It croaked indignantly at him as it flew away. He was just beginning to wonder how far he was going to get when a ground car came rushing around the corner of the road. “Okay,” he said, unclipping his rifle, “this is where it gets interesting.” He held it in both hands above his head, barrel facing to the left. The car skidded to a halt, and a dozen of the rat aliens piled out. He’d looked them up in the GalNet; they were called Aposo and were commonly used as shock troops. Fearless fighters, but not very imaginative, and with nearly zero initiative. He gritted his teeth as they surrounded him, pointing their weapons and yelling so quickly the translator was overwhelmed.  
 
    “Who—” “No move—” “Stop—” “Why you—” It was just a meaningless jumble. They were quite agitated. It reminded him of a group of ISIS fighters, and he found himself expecting one to yell Allahu akbar, or something. He spoke up loudly and clearly to be heard over their din.  
 
    “I am a merc commander. I request to parlay.” They all stopped and cocked their heads curiously. “Parlay. With your commander?” 
 
    “Parlay?” One said.  
 
    “No shit,” Jim replied. All their heads cocked in the other direction. Shit, it was like a pack of puppies. “Yes, parlay.” 
 
    “Parlay!” they all yelled and leaped in the air.  
 
    “Good lord,” he said, shaking his head, “I’ve been captured by a Smurf village.” One of them gestured at the rifle over his head, and he handed it to that one. It was difficult for the alien to handle it—the rifle was nearly as long as he was tall. Another pointed at the car with its rifle. “Okay,” he said and nodded. “Take me to your leader!” 
 
    “Parlay!” they cheered again and bundled him into the car. Inside, an elSha was behind the controls. It looked at him curiously.  
 
    “How are you doing?” Jim asked.  
 
    “Better than you will be,” the alien replied. When all the Aposo were aboard, the elSha spun the controls, and they went racing down the road back in the direction they’d come from.  
 
    The drive only took a minute before they slowed at a huge gate. A pair of massive lupine aliens regarded the car, huge teeth visible and armor covering much of their bodies. Besquith, Jim thought, instantly recognizing the merc race. This one he’d read about. That wasn’t good. One stuck his head in and regarded Jim.  
 
    “He parlay,” one of the Aposo said.  
 
    “Really?” the Besquith asked, sniffing Jim. “What is it?”  
 
    “Merc,” the Aposo replied. The Besquith seemed unconvinced. Finally, it backed up and gestured them through the gate. As they passed, Jim saw a sign written in alien script. He slid a slate from his pocket and held it up so one of the built in cameras could see it. The Aposo sitting near him watched, but didn’t say anything. The resident software of the slate translated the sign. Tulip Indigenous Flora and Fauna Research Station Two. Bingo, Jim thought.  
 
    The car drove through dozens of old, crumbling buildings, then past several modern-looking tank farms. The entire complex was covered with some kind of camouflage netting. It didn’t look like anything he’d seen, but he suspected it was high tech and screening the image from orbiting satellites. As they rounded a corner he saw the office building.  
 
    “It faces the north east,” he said.  
 
    “What you say?” one of the Aposo said.  
 
    “Nothing,” Jim said. “Just thinking to myself.” The Aposo regarded him curiously, as if it were saying ‘who would bother thinking?’ They pulled up to the office building where a squad of Besquith in armor were waiting. The guard at the gate must have called them.  
 
    “Merc?” one asked as the Aposo pushed him out.  
 
    “Yes, I’m Jim Cartwright, commander of Cartwright’s Cavaliers.” One of the Aposo handed Jim’s weapon to the Besquith who’d spoken, then it jumped back into the car and drove off.  
 
    “What race are you?” the alien asked.  
 
    “I am a Human,” Jim said. The Besquith’s furry eyebrows went up, and it took out a slate and typed. The slate beeped, and the alien growled. Next he held up the slate to take a picture of Jim. It beeped again.  
 
    “No Humans,” the alien said. 
 
    “Yeah, we’re kinda new at this.” It cocked its head. “Okay, we’re on our first contracts.” He slowly reached into a jacket pocket and held out his universal account access card, or UAAC. The alien touched his tablet to it, and the computer displayed data.  
 
    “You have a merc guild registration.” 
 
    “Like I said,” Jim replied, “I’m a merc commander. I want to parlay with your commander.” The alien looked at one of his cohorts who just shrugged. “You have my rifle,” he said. The alien looked at him then gestured with a claw. Another came over and swept over him with a wand. It made some beeping sounds. Finally, the other alien shook his head.  
 
    “Okay, we take you to commander.”  
 
    “About time,” Jim said, and the two led him into the building while the rest of their squad looked on with detached interest.  
 
    The building was obviously original. It matched the design he’d seen perfectly. The interior had the look of being reclaimed from the wilderness. Moss was everywhere, and it had the smell of rotting vegetable matter, with an undertone of wet dog. The lift was working well enough, and they rode it up. Jim grinned as it stopped on the 10th floor, all the way at the top. They nudged him out and across the hall. Two more Besquith guarded a doorway, but the guards opened it as they approached. Inside was the cleanest room he’d seen in the building. An ornate stone desk was centered in the middle of a picture window at least five meters across. Sitting behind that desk was another Besquith, who stood as he was led in. This one wasn’t wearing armor, though he had a belt around the waist with a holstered laser pistol. The alien’s long muzzle was slightly grey, and he had a necklace with a single dark red gem.  
 
    “You are the commander of the mercs at the processing center,” the alien said. It wasn’t a question.  
 
    “Jim Cartwright, commander of Cartwright’s Cavaliers.” The alien grunted and dropped a slate on its desk.  
 
    “You are Human, you say. A new merc race. That is quite uncommon.” It gestured vaguely at the endless jungle visible through his window. In the distance, Jim could just see a tiny hill poking out from the dense jungle. “I assume, since we have not heard back from them, that you wiped out the Aposo we sent?”  
 
    “You bet,” Jim said. “We took a few casualties, though.”  
 
    The Besquith gave a very Human sigh and shook his head. “You Humans must be nosy creatures,” he said; “you couldn’t leave well enough alone.” He pointed to the side, and Jim noticed for the first time that Administrator Hoona was sitting on a chair by one wall, out of the way. He appeared uninjured, though he was obviously agitated. “This incompetent fool couldn’t keep his mouth shut, either. When we saw your searches of the jungle, I assumed you might be onto this secret base.” 
 
    “Having someone remove the part of the other station’s name that said “One” might have helped,” Jim said. The Besquith considered for a second then gave a laugh that sent shivers up his spine.  
 
    “I see your point. After we wipe out your unit and replace this fool, we won’t be so foolish in the future.” 
 
    “Why not just take the installation and all the goods?”  
 
    “It is far too valuable to easily seize. The Wathayat Syndicate has a controlling interest and considerable resources. I only have a company here. It would be impossible to hold, especially since you’ve now killed most of my grunt firepower. However, the platoon I have left will be enough when we take your people by surprise.” 
 
    “That won’t happen,” Jim said.  
 
    “What? Of course, it will. We have their commander; they won’t know what to do.” 
 
    “Humans don’t operate that way,” Jim explained. “You don’t understand us. However, I understand you. Here’s what I’m going to do.” The Besquith sat back down and gave Jim an amused look. “You surrender your forces to me, and you get to live. How’s that sound?” The Besquith gawked for a moment, then began a huffing laugh that turned into a full on roaring belly laugh.  
 
    “You are a funny being!” it said after finally settling down. “I was going to eat you myself, but now I might have to take you as a pet. If you can keep me amused, that is.” 
 
    “There is no amusement in this situation,” Jim said. “You’ve got 10 seconds.” The leader looked to one of the guards who’d brought him in and lifted an eyebrow.  
 
    “We have his rifle.” Jim wasn’t wearing a sidearm.  
 
    “Five seconds.” Jim took a couple steps to one side, glancing at some of the old faded art on the wall. “Two seconds.” The Besquith grinned, showing huge white teeth and spread its massive arms wide.  
 
    “Time is up!” it roared. “What now, Human?” Jim turned, held his hand out making a gun with his index finger. He reached up and pulled his thumb back like he was cocking a pistol.  
 
    “Wrong answer,” he said. Pointing at the Besquith’s head, he pretended to fire. The top of the alien’s skull exploded in a fine red mist, and it slumped to the floor.  
 
    Hoona let out a strangled scream while the guards on either side of their leader’s desk looked between Jim and the corpse pumping blood onto the floor, and back again in utter shock. They both let out growling barks that Jim’s translator rendered into calls for help, and they both reached for their laser rifles.  
 
    “Ah, ah, ah!” Jim said and pointed his finger/gun at the one on the left, “I wouldn’t do that if I were you.” They both hesitated, uncertain. The other one made his move. Jim flipped his arm around and dropped his thumb. This time the Besquith’s entire head came apart and there was a cracking explosion from behind Jim somewhere. The two other guards came rushing in and Jim switched his aim back to the one on the left.  
 
    “NO!” it barked, dropping the weapon to fall onto its harness. Jim pointed right between its eyes.  
 
    “Tell them to drop their weapons,” he said. Jim could almost feel the other two aiming at his back. He reached up and cocked his thumb, like he had with the leader. “Now!” The alien’s eyes were as big as dinner plates. A second later, he heard two rifles clatter to the floor behind him. “Now yours,” he said to the one in front of him. “Unclip it, put it on the desk, and step away.” It did as instructed, and Jim stepped forward. He made a show of uncocking his thumb before picking up the rifle. He pointed it at the alien and gestured toward the door. He followed it, then kicked the other rifles toward one of the second ones shot. A gust of air through the nearly invisible hole in the glass ruffled his hair. “Handguns too,” he said.  
 
    After those hit the floor, he kicked them away and ordered them onto their knees. Fuck, they’re tall, Jim thought. Even on their knees they still came to his shoulders. He nodded and spoke. “How’s it look out there, Nina?”  
 
    “Floor’s clear,” she said into the tiny receiver in his ear canal. He nodded and walked carefully past the three survivors, keeping an eye on them as he moved to the lift. With a quick motion, he turned, aimed, and fired the laser rifle. The Besquith weren’t anatomically too different from Humans, only bigger. The gun was unwieldy, but essentially familiar. He managed to sever the lift cables with the second shot, and the cage dropped two floors before the safety engaged, and it screamed to a stop.  
 
    “Okay,” he said, “I’m isolated. Do it.”  
 
    The Apooca dropped screaming from high altitude, firing rockets at key defensive points just as two Chakook tanks burst from the woods firing, the Po’Kon APC right behind them. The Cavaliers attacked with everything they had.  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
 
      
 
    


 
   
  
 

 Cartwright’s Cavaliers - 11 
 
      
 
    Jim was working on the letter to a relative of the last dead Cavalier. He grabbed the bottle on his desk and took a drink, then sighed. He’d packed forty cases of excellent IPA into the transport ship, and made sure it was carefully packed away in the warehouse. Right where an Aposo grenade had landed. Sorting through the carnage yielded two cases, just enough for a small victory party.  
 
    “Plenty of Coke left,” he said, shaking his head. He’d never liked the stuff, but now, after five months of Coke or water, he was growing to enjoy it. He had to get his fix somewhere, since the explosion of beer had also finished off his cigarettes. There was a knock, and the door opened to admit his XO.  
 
    “Our relief just transitioned into the system,” Ted said. Jim nodded and saved the file. “They carried a message from the Mercenary Guild, too. The ransom offer is 1.5 million.” Jim laughed and shook his head.  
 
    “They don’t think we’re serious,” Jim said, and saved the messages onto a computer chip. He’d send them in a message too, in case something happened to them on the way home. He thought for a second, then shrugged. “Credit authorization code included in the message?” Ted handed him a slate, and he examined it, nodding. “Okay, take it.”  
 
    “They’d go for more, probably.”  
 
    “I agree,” Jim said, “but we need to get home.” He thought of the casualty list. He’d lost four more men on the assault against the Besquith. Even with Nina using that laser sniper rifle from the hilltop five miles away to push his bluff, thus making the ambush almost perfect, four more good men would not be flying home. “I’ve never lost half that many men before, for the army or as a contractor on Earth. These aliens are tough fuckers.”  
 
    “We expected they’d be good fighters. Hell, we saw it in Iran.” 
 
    “Yes, but it’s much worse than we expected. The hardware we have was the best I could afford. Billions and billions worth of it, and it’s crap compared to what these guys had.” 
 
    “We can get better stuff now,” Ted pointed out. Jim nodded vigorously.  
 
    “And we will,” he said. “There’s some place called a merc pit on the way home. Slim heard about it from the snails on the way here.” He gave Ted a wink. “We’ll make sure some of this money doesn’t make it home.” He’d considered what all the millions of credits the mercs would be bringing back would do to the world economy. The governments would tax some, of course. That would still leave billions. Trillions. Tens of trillions?  
 
    He thought about how he’d figured out where the base was, and his scouts had traced the flexible hoses being dragged by the dinosaurs. Pretty creative, the Besquith. Of course, Hoona was in on it, for a percentage. He just hadn’t known he was expendable. A couple extra million in bonuses for the Cavaliers had made sure Jim hadn’t sent a message to the guild about how the other companies were being set up. The opSha was rather grateful for being rescued after the Besquith he’d been employing decided they didn’t need him anymore. “Even with better guns, tanks, and stuff, we need protection for the troopers, the boots on the ground.” 
 
    “What do you have in mind?” Ted asked.  
 
    “I’m not sure,” Jim admitted, “but something will come to me.” The two mercs exchanged knowing grins.  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
 
      
 
    


 
   
  
 

 Avenging Angels - 1 
 
      
 
      
 
    Message Transmission – Lecata System Stargate 
 
    Public Encryption Key – Iota-7-7-8 
 
    Origination – Tolo Arm / Gresht Region / T’dan 5 Stargate  
 
    Destination – Tolo Arm / Gresht Region / Republic of Earth / United States / Virginia / Virginia Beach / Dianne Pike 
 
    Information Guild ID P-334-1333-M5-1 
 
    <Message retained in outbound buffer for 122 days prior to verification of previous courier being lost in transit> 
 
      
 
      
 
    Message Begins: 
 
    Dearest Dianne, 
 
    I’m told this message will reach you, so I wanted to let you know we survived our contract. Although our survival may seem like a pretty big deal, it really wasn’t much of an achievement. We were supposed to provide combat search and rescue for two companies of Russian paratroopers while they conducted a high-altitude night insertion with some high-tech galactic dropships they had bought. We found out later that they were state-of-the-art…about 300 years ago. 
 
    Needless to say, the Russians didn’t make it. Half their dropships were destroyed before they even got to the drop zone. The rest of them? I’ll just say they didn’t make it. The rest of the equipment the Russians bought was 100-year-old surplus crap, too. Most of the missiles they had to suppress the enemy radars didn’t work. It was awful to watch—all of them were killed on the way down. Not a single one made it to the planet. 
 
    It sucked for them, but was good for us—since the Russians were all dead, they didn’t need our services, and we didn’t get called in to evacuate anyone. It was a good thing for us, too! We found out later the equipment we had was crap, too. If we’d been called in, we’d have been wiped out just like the Russians. 
 
    The colonel was pissed, but when he re-read the bill of sale, the aliens that sold them to us hadn’t lied about them—we were just too naïve and didn’t ask the right questions.  
 
    That’s the other reason I’m sending this letter. Although the good news is I’m still alive, the bad news is I don’t know when I’ll be back. The colonel assumed that the MinSha who hired us as subcontractors would bring us back to Earth when the contract was up. We found out that, apparently, you shouldn’t assume anything with galactic contracts beyond what is written on the page. There are absolutely no implied warrantees or guarantees implicit to the agreement. The deal is what is written…and nothing else.  
 
    The MinSha collected the pay for contract fulfillment, paid us our fees, and dumped us at the closest merc pit. They didn’t even give us the Russians’ fees—they kept that for themselves! Since the Russians were wiped out, they got the fees as the prime contractor. The colonel’s pretty sure that was their plan all along—they expected both groups to get wiped out so they could keep all of the contract fulfillment fees. Even though the MinSha didn’t “win,” they never had to put themselves in harm’s way—they were just using us all along so that they could collect the fees! 
 
    The Russians screwed up their plans, though, by dying so fast, and the MinSha were pissed off that we didn’t die as expected, and they had to pay us! They tried not to, but the colonel found a merc guild mediator who ruled that we had completed our portion of the contract, and they had to pay us. I think they actually lost money on the contract. Serves them right. 
 
    In any event, they dumped us at this merc pit—I don’t even know where it is—and we’re going to have to find a new contract to get us home. If nothing else, though, we did get paid for our first contract, so we were able to upgrade our equipment. We’re now the proud owners of two MinSha Series 3 dropships. I’ll make sure I use mine to get me home to you as soon as I can. 
 
    We’re really happy to have the new ships. Based on the conversations I’ve had with some of the—admittedly few—Human mercenaries I’ve seen here, if we Humans learned nothing else when we came out here, it was not to take the aliens too lightly. I guess that’s pretty obvious in hindsight—don’t look down on the races that have space travel when you don’t—but I think nearly all of us fell prey to it, at least a little bit. I mean, we were part of a standing army from the most powerful nation on Earth, and we were just going out to fight some mercenaries, right? You would think regular army would kick the mercenary companies’ butts. Right? 
 
    Not so much. 
 
    What we forgot, and what is so painfully obvious now, is that the mercenary companies all fight for money. If they aren’t any good, they either get dead, fast, or they go out of business. Usually the former. Either way, the companies that are still in existence are the ones who have withstood the test of time—they are the ones that are well-led, well-disciplined, and well-armed. 
 
    We only had one of those qualities—we were as well-disciplined as the alien forces, but that’s where the similarities ended. Our leaders were good enough on Earth (they may even have been “great”), but they were unprepared for war in the stars. They didn’t do enough preparation to know and understand the enemy prior to engaging them, and then they weren’t able to keep up with the speed at which battles move here. 
 
    What was worse, though, was the difference in equipment. It’s not just that theirs is better—don’t get me wrong, it is—what’s worse is that most of them are naturally better armed and armored than us. We saw the Asbaran Solutions guys here last week, and this is something they said they knew all along. When the MinSha attacked their country, a lot of the bullets and shells the Iranians—now the New Persians, I guess—shot at the MinSha bounced off. And that was before they added on armor! Our bodies are awfully squishy in comparison. 
 
    And the teeth and claws some of those races have? I won’t get into them until I’m home safe and sound, but there is a race called the Besquith, and they all look like the wolf that ate grandma in Little Red Riding Hood. The colonel has said we won’t be fighting any of them, though, so you (thankfully) don’t have to worry about that. 
 
    That’s it for now—we just got recalled to the ship, so we probably have a new mission. Hopefully, this one will bring me back home to you! 
 
      
 
    I love you! 
 
      
 
    Captain John Pike,  
 
    Avenging Angels 
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
 
      
 
    


 
   
  
 

 Letter Home from Sandy - 1 
 
      
 
    Message Transmission – Lecata System Stargate 
 
    Public Encryption Key – Iota-7-7-8 
 
    Origination – Tolo Arm / Gresht Region / T’dan 5 Stargate  
 
    Destination – Tolo Arm / Gresht Region / Earth / Republic of Earth / United States / Georgia / Atlanta / Patricia Mize 
 
    Information Guild ID P-334-1333-M7-1 
 
      
 
      
 
    Dear Patricia, 
 
      
 
    I really wanted to send this before we left Earth, but it all happened so damned fast. I’m sure you’ve seen the nonstop news about the aliens and everything, especially since Iran got plastered (wow, what a show that was). But since we left in such a hurry, I just didn’t have the chance. I’m sorry, please explain to mom?  
 
    You know I haven’t been happy since I left the army. I miss the thrill. Sure, I admit it; I became a bit of an adrenaline junky. It’s hard not to! Between the thrill of being shot at, and the satisfaction of saving a soldier’s life, it’s better than any drug could be. At least that’s what I hear. When John Pike, someone I knew from the army, came to me and asked me to join the company he was a part of, I just couldn’t say no.  
 
    John’s colonel had formed the company with funding from his father’s estate. The colonel met with these aliens, elSha if I remember, and we bought six vehicles called Apoocas. They’re these super-advanced VTOLs that look like giant quadcopter drones! They’re majorly fast and maneuverable. We’re going on a contract to provide CSAR, you know, combat search and rescue! Just like I did back in The Stan. John said it pays like a million credits, and from what I saw on the internet, credits are trading for about $30,000 to one! Even after we pay back the money for startup, we’ll get like $10,000,000 each! The colonel’s calling the outfit the Avenging Angels.  
 
    Unfortunately, our first mission was a dud. The Russians we were supposed to support crashed and burned. Some of the best there were, and none made it to the planet. Ouch. I’m afraid of how the rest of Humanity is doing.  
 
    We got paid, and then dumped at a backwater planet (turns out no free ride home). The colonel got us another job, though, and while we’re here, I could send this message and even learn a little alien language. The transport was crewed by Cochkala (big badgers), and their language is pretty easy to pick up. The colonel thinks I’m nuts; he bought us all translators when he was getting the new ships. The alien captain mentioned Cartwright’s Cavaliers, that’s another Earth merc unit. He said they were fine. Good to hear someone else is okay. 
 
    Oh, one of our mechanics is dead too. He saw a huge purple bear and started singing the Barney song? Yeah, they’re called Oogar, and he’s dead now. Man, the galaxy sucks.  
 
    We’re on to the next contract soon. I was able to send a few hundred credits. It isn’t much for us, but I bet it will help there. Even after the banks take their share. Don’t worry, I’m fine and learning about alien medicine. You won’t believe what I’ll be able to do when we get back!  
 
    Gotta go, the boss wants to look at the new ships! 
 
      
 
    XXOO - Sandy 
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
 
      
 
    


 
   
  
 

 Asbaran Solutions - 1 
 
      
 
    “That’s probably the last of them, General,” Colonel Kuru Shirazi said, looking north through his binoculars along Shahid Rigi Boulevard. A group of 12 survivors staggered into the checkpoint five kilometers north of Chabahar in southeastern Iran. They looked like the walking dead, shambling along with only the personal belongings they could carry. “I don’t think many more will be coming.” 
 
    The soldiers at the checkpoint searched them for weapons and then waved them through. Shirazi didn’t think they could have put up much of a fight even if they wanted to—it looked like they’d been traveling for several days. They’d probably started south right after the MinSha nuclear attack that had wiped out most of the country. If they’d taken three days to arrive at the southern port city of Chabahar, they’d probably been fairly close to either the county capital of Nik Shahr to the north or the tiny fishing village of Goriyan to the west; anything further would have put them too close to the blasts at Iranshahr or Bandar-e-Jask. 
 
    “Muhammad is quoted as saying ‘Allah will bring the people out from the Fire and admit them into Paradise,’” Rastam Turhani replied. As Imam Jomeh, or Prayer Leader, he ran the town council that ruled Chabahar. “We may not be living in Paradise, but we can give them shelter and water. It is our duty.” 
 
    “Yes, Imam,” the colonel replied, as the imam jomeh turned and walked back to his car, having seen enough. His chauffeur put the car in gear, and it sped off to the south. 
 
    “Has the…other group…returned yet?” Brigadier General Ashkan Pahlavi asked.  
 
    The general seemed lost in thought, contemplating something in the overcast sky to the north, but Colonel Shirazi knew he was laser-focused on the question. “Yes, General,” he replied. “The Quds returned almost an hour ago. Their leader, Captain Khorram, seemed most pleased with their mission and its results.” He tried to keep the distaste from his tone, but was only partially successful. The Captain had several blood spots on his uniform; apparently, he had joined his men in carrying out the mission. 
 
    “You disagreed with the tasking?” the general asked. He had been the one who had ordered Shirazi to perform the mission—eliminating the few prominent Shiite clerics in Chabahar—in the first place. 
 
    “No, General,” Shirazi said after a few moments. “The country of Iran no longer exists as an entity. Although there may be pockets of survivors, the infrastructure to support our nation no longer exists. The only area left—Chabahar and the area to the east of us—will have to come together to act as one if we are to survive, and the Shiites would have caused dissent.” 
 
    Shirazi shrugged and then added. “It was necessary.” 
 
    “You are okay with it, then?” the general asked, pressing further. “I know you are a Persian.” Although the population of the area was mostly Baluch, who were Sunni Muslims, there was a relatively large minority, the Sistani Persians, who were usually Shiite. 
 
    “My family is Persian, yes,” Shirazi replied, “but I was raised as a Zoroastrian. The Sunni-Shiite divide isn’t a problem for me. I’m more worried about Truth and maintaining control of the area.” He shrugged again. “What I am most worried about, though, is what the Imam would say…or will say, when he finds out.” 
 
    “Imam Turhani?” The general laughed. “I doubt he will complain, as he is the person who suggested it. 
 
    Shirazi twitched back, his eyes opening wide. 
 
    The general chuckled again at his subordinate’s reaction. “Oh, yes, it was his request that we take care of that. ‘Inshallah,’ the imam said. ‘It is as God wills it. The Shiites have been found wanting and have been cast into His fires. From here forward, the Sunni will rule in Iran.’” 
 
    Shirazi looked back to the north. Although the mushroom clouds from the MinSha bombardment had cleared—dumping their poison on Pakistan and Afghanistan to the east—the area to the north of Chabahar wouldn’t be livable again for a while, and the people who hadn’t made it out by now would all probably die slow deaths from radiation. God’s fires, indeed. 
 
    “I must go inspect the eastern defenses,” the general said. “With Tehran in ashes, the Pakistanis may well try to take the rest of Balochistan from us.” The general raised a hand to stop the protest he saw coming from Shirazi. “Yes, I know they have their own issues with radiation poisoning they should be attending to; however, the opportunity to gobble up the rest of what was once Iran may be too tempting to them, and we need to ensure our defenses do not invite them to make the attempt.” 
 
    Colonel Shirazi nodded. “That makes sense, sir,” he said, smiling as the general turned to go. Although it hadn’t seemed so at the time, it was lucky that the general had come down from the regimental headquarters in Zahedan on an unannounced inspection tour of the units in the Chabahar area—a mechanized infantry battalion, a tank battalion, and a company of the army’s Qud special forces—the day prior to the MinSha attack.  
 
    If the general hadn’t been there, the colonel would have been the person left in charge when the Iranian military was decapitated. In the last three days, the general had been everywhere, raising morale and strengthening their defenses, which had left the myriad of search and rescue operations and the requirement to figure out the area’s logistics issues to Colonel Shirazi. Personally, he thought he’d gotten the short end of that stick, but the general’s presence had been very welcome, and they would need all of the help they could get over the next weeks and months as they tried to figure out what they were going to do without the rest of the country. 
 
    The general stopped halfway to his car and turned around. “Don’t forget,” he called, “there is a staff meeting tonight at 1800. Please have all your plans on PowerPoint so the imam can see them.” The general cast him a quick smile, then turned and left.  
 
    Although Kuru Shirazi generally believed that fire was holy, due to his Zoroastrian roots, he hoped there was a special place in hell for the person who had first created the computer program. It seemed like that was all the generals and above wanted to see anymore. ‘There must be a presentation to accompany your brief.’ Maybe it wasn’t so lucky the general hadn’t died in the MinSha attack, after all.  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
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    “Well that’s odd.” Airman Omid looked up from his radar scope in the control tower of Chabahar’s Konarak airfield. “I think we have a problem.” 
 
    “What have you done now?” Master Sergeant Basir asked, his voice a growl as he moved to stand next to the airman. Not only had the trainee been a notoriously slow learner, but every time he sat down at a console, the radar seemed to have...issues. They were never the same, and they always went away when the airman left, but while he was at the console...issues. That was why he’d been assigned the southeastern sector, watching out over the Gulf of Oman and into the Indian Ocean, rather than the chaotic area to the west around the Straits of Hormuz. Nothing ever happened to the southeast. 
 
    “I haven’t done anything,” Airman Omid replied in a whine. Of all of Omid’s traits, Basir hated the whine most of all. “I just have a weird contact, that’s all. It just popped up about 80 kilometers to the south, and it’s coming straight at us.” 
 
    “It must have been someone flying low to the water. Probably the Americans, trying to bait us or test our readiness.” Since the aliens had nuked the rest of the country, it seemed like everyone had been probing the Chabahar region. The military chain of command expected someone would assault them, or in some other way to try to take advantage of them, and tensions were high. “Still, we can’t not respond to the provocation. Launch the alert section of MiG-29s. and direct them to intercept.” 
 
    “That’s what’s weird,” Airman Omid replied. “I have it descending through 15,000 meters altitude, and the contact is going almost 3,500 kilometers an hour. It is faster than any plane I know. It will be here in just over a minute--before our aircraft can be airborne.” 
 
    “Three thousand kilometers an hour?” Basir asked. “And it just showed up at 15,000 meters? That’s no aircraft! That’s the aliens returning! Sound the alarm--we’re under attack!” Launch all aircraft!” 
 
      
 
    * * * 
 
      
 
    “Good evening, Imam Jomeh Turhani, General Pahlavi, city council, and staff,” Colonel Kuru Shirazi greeted the assembled rulers and administrators of the region. The general had commandeered the Venus Hotel as his headquarters, and the meeting was being held in the second floor dining room overlooking the Gulf of Oman. The hotel was close to Chabahar’s port and had easy access to all the major roads out of town, which made it excellent for command and control. It also had a great view of the ocean, which would have been appreciated…at any other time.  
 
    “Here is the current status,” Shirazi said, bring up the first slide with a mental grimace. “As you can see, we currently hold an area which is almost a perfect square of approximately 100 kilometers a side, or about 10,000 square kilometers. It goes from Konarak on the other side of Chabahar Bay east to the Pakistani border, and then north for just over 100 kilometers to the town of Pishin. Any travel further north exposes you to high level radiation—” 
 
    “Sir!” a junior soldier yelled, running into the room. 
 
    “What is it, Corporal?” Shirazi asked. He didn’t know if he was the ‘sir’ in question, but he was embarrassed one of his troops had interrupted the meeting. His tone indicated that very well. 
 
    “Sir!” the trooper exclaimed again, but he was now focused on Shirazi. “The aliens are attacking!” 
 
    “Who’s attacking?” Shirazi asked. “The Pakistanis?” The general had been correct— the Pakistanis were trying to take advantage of their weakness. 
 
    “No sir! It’s the aliens!” 
 
    “Who? The Americans?” Shirazi wouldn’t put it past the Great Satan to attack them while they were trying to put the country back together. 
 
    “No, sir, it’s the aliens. From outer space. Two spaceships just landed! One landed downtown and the other at the airfield! The aliens that bombed us have invaded and are destroying the city! The militia is already responding!” 
 
    “The Basiji are attacking the aliens? Without waiting for orders from me?” 
 
    “One of the alien spaceships landed near their headquarters. They didn’t ask permission; they immediately attacked to drive the infidels off our soil!” 
 
    Shirazi shook his head. That figured. The Basij commander was headstrong, and Shirazi had already had words with him once. If he had already attacked, a coordinated response was out of the question, but at least he could organize the regular army units into a cohesive fighting force.  
 
    He had two battalions of Revolutionary Guards’ mechanized infantry and two battalions of Revolutionary Guards’ tanks under his command, although many of them were stationed at the Pakistani border or conducting search and rescue operations up north. His one company of special forces was up north, too. Nothing could be done about it now—no one had foreseen the aliens landing in downtown Chabahar, nor had they ever planned for something similar. They’d have to make it up as they went along. 
 
    “Excuse me, Imam, General,” Shirazi said as he headed for the door. “Time to go show those aliens how we Iranians fight when they are on our soil.” 
 
      
 
    * * * 
 
      
 
    Basij Captain Aabir Ghazali glanced around the corner of the building. Four of the large blue and black aliens were coming up the street toward them, but had stopped 100 meters away to inspect a truck that had crashed into a storefront. It was Suleiman’s truck. His lieutenant had promised to run the aliens over; he had obviously never made it. He was supposed to wait while the forces were preparing their assault, but he had always been a bit gung-ho about proving himself. 
 
    As Ghazali watched, he realized the aliens’ chitin was blue; the black appeared to be some sort of armor they were wearing. It had a vaguely robotic appearance; could it be some sort of powered armor? He had heard they were trying to work out some sort of powered armor in Tehran, but had never had any success with it. Apparently, the aliens had. They also had some sort of weird alien rifle. It looked plastic—almost like a child’s toy—and didn’t have any visible magazine that projected from it like the older model AK-47s his troops used. It couldn’t hold many shots then. Excellent. 
 
    Ghazali turned and held up four fingers to the technical truck idling behind him. Based on the Somali model, a Russian KShKM 12.7 mm machine gun was mounted to the back of the Toyota pickup truck. The gunner and driver both nodded their understanding. He didn’t give the attack sign yet, though; they were waiting for the other two trucks so they could mount a coordinated assault. 
 
    The Captain snuck another glance around the corner. One of the aliens was pulling something from the passenger side of the crashed truck. The sunlight glinted off the circular object—one of the compact disks Suleiman was so proud of. Another of the aliens smashed in the driver’s window and began pulling Suleiman’s body from the truck. 
 
    The militiaman struggled in the alien’s grasp—he wasn’t dead! “No!” Captain Ghazali shouted. He couldn’t allow it. He wouldn’t allow it! “Adhhab!” he yelled to the gun crew. “Go! Go! Go!” 
 
    The driver over-revved the engine, and the truck fishtailed out and around the corner. As soon as the driver got the truck back under control, the gunner began firing at the aliens on full automatic, playing the stream of bullets back and forth across the truck and aliens. Suleiman was struck several times, and he spasmed and fell from the alien’s hands. Claws? Ghazali couldn’t tell. 
 
    Bullets whined and ricocheted off the truck and the enemy soldiers, sparking brightly as they hit metal. The alien closest to Ghazali fell, followed by one of the ones on the other side of the truck. The gunner started yelling, “Allahu akbar!” as he continued firing his weapon, and the driver accelerated toward the alien troops. 
 
    As soon as the bullet stream left the vicinity of the downed MinSha, the one behind the truck popped back up again, and the one in the street rolled to its belly. Both pointed their rifles at the truck, and a few flashes of light could be seen from them. The gunner screamed once as he fell over backward out of the truck to bounce once on the asphalt. He didn’t move again.  
 
    The truck careened out of control, and the alien trooper threw itself nimbly out of the way as the truck went past him to slam into Suleiman’s truck. “Saeidni,” the driver yelled, asking for help. He appeared pinned in the cab of the truck. “Saeidni!” One of the aliens skittered over to the truck and put its rifle into the window. The screaming stopped. 
 
    “No!” Ghazali yelled. He came around the corner and aimed his AK-47 at one of the aliens and pulled the trigger. He saw several flashes as his rounds sparked off the alien’s armor, and then another one from the alien’s rifle, which was pointed directly at him. 
 
      
 
    * * * 
 
      
 
    The airfield’s sirens began sounding, and men began scrambling to their aircraft. As the majority of the fighters were in underground bays, not everything was initially visible to the people in the tower, but the pulsing shriek of the alarm was unmistakable, especially after the alien assault three days prior. Only four of the aircraft from Chabahar had been able to launch in time to participate in the defense of the country; none of them had returned from the nuclear nightmare. 
 
    After the attack, the decision had been made to keep two aircraft in a permanent alert status, and those two began rolling toward the runway within seconds of hearing the siren’s banshee-like wail. 
 
    “The target just split!” Airmid Omid exclaimed. “There are now two targets inbound and both appear to be slowing! One appears to be heading for us; the other is heading for Chabahar!” 
 
    The fighters reached the runway and began to roll, afterburners blazing as they tried to claw their way to the sky. 
 
    “Look!” Omid screamed, standing and pointing to the south. 
 
    An enormous shadow passed over the tower. As the ship came into sight on the other side, Basir drew an involuntarily breath. The black tube was easily twice as long and twice as wide as one of the field’s fighters—no, it was bigger—and had a number of tubes sticking out from under its chin and on its sides. Underneath, there were at least six and maybe eight turbofans providing lift as it slowed. What the tubes were became more readily apparent as the tail of the craft went past the tower. There were two more of the tubes mounted on the back ramp, with aliens—the same praying mantis-looking aliens that had nuked his country—working them. The ends of the tubes flashed, and facilities around the airfield began exploding. 
 
    The chin tubes flashed, and the lead MiG-29 racing down the runway exploded in a ball of fire as its starboard motor detonated. The second fighter was shredded by the shrapnel of the first, and its pilot pulled back on the throttles, trying to stop the suddenly unflyable aircraft. Smoke pouring from the port motor, it went off the end of the runway and slammed into a sand dune. The chin tubes on the alien craft flashed again, and the second MiG joined its section-mate as an expanding ball of fire. 
 
    The giant alien craft set down on the ramp area and began disgorging its load of praying mantis-like beings. One of the aliens looked up as it skittered toward them and saw the men in the tower looking back down at it, their mouths agape. Without breaking stride, it pointed its rifle at them and fired. 
 
    “Down!” Basir yelled as he dove for the floor; Omid was half a second behind him as he hit the floor. When nothing else happened, Basir looked up—several 2.5 centimeter holes had been melted through the tower’s windows. 
 
    “By the seventh level of hell,” Basir swore. “That was close.” When Omid didn’t reply, he rolled back to look at the airman. A 2.5 centimeter hole went through his forehead and out the back of his head. 
 
    Basir looked around the tower. Everyone else had left their positions to cower under their stations. Even though Basir realized that was probably the wisest choice, he had to know what was going on, so he crawled to the wall and peeked out the window. 
 
    Everything was burning. In addition to the two MiG-29 fighters, it looked like several more aircraft had ventured out of their subterranean lairs, only to meet and be destroyed by the aliens before they could even get clear of their hangars.  
 
    Light flashed from the right—more of a sustained blast that came from the sky rather than the troopship—and Basir turned to find someone had started the H-47 Chinook helicopter on the maintenance pad. The light from above had cut the helicopter in half, and it fell apart as its rotors pulled it in two different directions. The pieces fell over, and the blades impacted the tarmac, showering the area in shrapnel. Its fuel poured out onto the pad, and another conflagration blossomed as it ignited, covering both pieces in flames. Another H-47 helicopter burned silently nearby, although Basir couldn’t tell what had set it ablaze. 
 
    “Yes!” he exclaimed as the first of the airfield’s tanks rolled from behind the easternmost hangar. 
 
    “What?” asked one of the troopers from under his console. 
 
    “The tanks have arrived!” Basir shouted over the scream of the siren. “They will take care of the infidels!” 
 
    Several of the air traffic controlmen slid from under their equipment and belly-crawled to the window to watch, but it was over before they got there. As the first tank cleared the corner of the building, smoke erupted from its gun barrel as it fired. 
 
    With a loud clang, the round hit the alien ship and ricocheted off. Before the tank could fire again, one of the aliens on the back ramp spun and fired at the tank, and the weapon on the side of the alien ship began flashing, too. Holes appeared in the tank, and then one of the enemy weapons hit something explosive inside the vehicle, and it detonated. The tank’s turret was blown off by the force of the explosion and landed next to the fiercely-burning tank. 
 
    The tanks that followed were all destroyed before they could fire a shot. 
 
    “What are they doing?” one of the technicians asked from the safety of his console. 
 
    “I don’t know,” Basir admitted. “They’re all carrying things back to their ship. It looks like…it looks like the videos they show from America where people are looting after they don’t get their way about something. These aliens are nothing more than petty criminals!” 
 
    “What are our forces doing?” the same technician asked. 
 
    “Dying mostly,” Basir replied. 
 
    The looting continued for another 30 minutes until, at some unheard signal, the aliens returned to their ship. They loaded back aboard, and it flew up into the air, guns winking. Basir couldn’t see anyone firing back at them; the aliens appeared to be committing acts of wanton destruction, just for the fun of it. 
 
    The ship started to move off, but then it turned back to point at the tower. Basir saw movement, and he watched in horror as a cover retracted on a large box mounted underneath the ship, revealing eight large caliber holes. Missiles leapt from three of them, obliterating the tower.  
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    Colonel Shirazi could tell he was headed in the right direction—everyone was fleeing toward him, with cars jostling each other and coming into his lane in their haste to escape. As he regained control of the vehicle after his third trip onto the sidewalk to avoid a head-on collision, the traffic cleared, and he began seeing his forces. 
 
    Unfortunately, they were running past him at nearly the same rate the civilians had. 
 
    “Where are you going?” he asked as a group of soldiers ran past. They were unarmed and didn’t stop to talk. 
 
    Shirazi went another block and saw the reason why the traffic had cleared—a massive accident completely blocked all four lanes of travel. To make matters worse, it looked like a platoon of tanks had subsequently run over the cars; the intersection wouldn’t be passable without a fleet of heavy-duty tow trucks. 
 
    Abandoning his car, he continued west. It rapidly became apparent that he needed to spend more time exercising and less time making presentations—he was winded within three blocks. 
 
    The sound of diesel engines reached him after another block, and he rounded a corner to find a platoon of T-72 tanks. The commander’s hatch was open on all four tanks, and four men stood in front of the lead tank. Based on the gesturing, they appeared to be arguing. 
 
    “What are you doing?” Shirazi asked as he jogged up. 
 
    The men turned on him, and one of them, a sergeant, started to yell at Shirazi, but then several of them recognized their regimental commander at the same time. 
 
    “Atten-hut!” a sergeant called, and they all came to attention. 
 
    “Who’s in charge here?” Shirazi asked, looking at each of them. One staff sergeant and three sergeants. 
 
    “I am,” said the staff sergeant. 
 
    “What is going on?” 
 
    “Well, we got the word that we were being invaded, so we manned the tanks the best we could. Both the lieutenant and the sergeant first class were unavailable, so I led the tanks here,” the staff sergeant explained, “however, when we got here, we couldn’t find anyone to tell us what to do, and we don’t have radio communications with base.” 
 
    “He was afraid,” the sergeant who had called ‘attention’ said. “We wanted to advance and engage the enemy, but he stopped us here.” 
 
    Shirazi’s eyes went back to the staff sergeant, and he raised an eyebrow. “Is that true? The town is under attack, and you stopped because you were afraid?” 
 
    “Absolutely not,” the staff sergeant replied. “I will kill him for saying so.” 
 
    “Later,” Shirazi replied. “Let’s deal with the aliens before we start killing each other. If you weren’t afraid, why did you stop?” 
 
    “I stopped because I didn’t have communications with headquarters, nor did I have infantry support. I judged that to charge blindly into battle with no information on the enemy and no support was unwise, so I stopped here to get communications with headquarters and organize a combined assault.” 
 
    Shirazi narrowed his eyes, but the man didn’t flinch. Caution, probably, rather than cowardice. Maybe. “What do you hear from headquarters?” 
 
    “Nothing, sir. You’re the first officer I’ve been able to find since we left the base. We had some infantry run past earlier, but they wouldn’t stop.” 
 
    “Okay,” Shirazi said, “here’s what we’re going to do. We’re going to move up until we make contact with the enemy. At that time, we will set up blocking positions while we try to get infantry support for an assault. If we can’t find any support, or it looks like the enemy is going to break out, we will attack.” 
 
    “Yes, sir!” the men chorused, happy to have some direction. 
 
    “Get back to your tanks, men, and let’s move out!” Shirazi followed the staff sergeant back to his tank.  
 
    “Did you want to take command of the tank?” the staff sergeant asked as the colonel climbed onboard.  
 
    “No, the tank is yours,” Shirazi replied. “I am going to ride with you until we get there.” 
 
    The man nodded and climbed into the commander’s hatch. Reaching in, he pulled out a headset. “Sorry, the cord won’t reach, but you’ll want this to protect your hearing.” 
 
    Shirazi saw he was right—even at idle, the tanks made a phenomenal amount of noise; he’d just been in too much of a hurry before to notice. They were a peripheral distraction until he put on the headset and noticed how loud they really were. 
 
    And then the motors powered up, the tanks rolled forward, and they got really loud. Shirazi stood on the top deck of the tank behind the turret and leaned up against it, hanging onto the mount for the machine gun. 
 
    He put his head next to the ear of the commander’s helmet. “Do you have comms with headquarters or anyone else yet?” he yelled. 
 
    The staff sergeant shook his head, and then said something into his intercom. After a pause, he put his head next to Shirazi’s ear and yelled, “Someone just reported they are at the port, so we are going there.” 
 
    Shirazi nodded, and the staff sergeant went back to concentrating on the mission. 
 
    They went around the corner at the next crossroad, and ran straight into a MinSha patrol. The tank commander immediately dropped down into the turret and slammed the hatch shut, which Shirazi took to be his cue to get the hell off the tank. He walked to the back edge of the deck and looked down—it was a four or five foot drop onto the asphalt, and the tank was still going 20 miles an hour. He dropped to the deck, hoping to slide off, but the tank stopped suddenly, then jerked forward, and the whiplash threw him off. He hit on his left ankle, and blinding white lances of pain shot through his leg as he collapsed to the pavement and rolled. 
 
    With a monstrous detonation, one of the tanks behind him blew up, and a wave of heat passed over him as shrapnel pinged off the storefront closest to him. 
 
    He came to a stop as two of the tanks fired their 125 mm main guns, and at least one of the tanks began firing its 7.62 mm coaxial machine gun. Another detonation indicated the loss of a second tank. 
 
    Something hit his hand, and he wrenched it back from the heat—it was a six-inch piece of metal from the tank that had fallen, spent, onto him. The shockwave from a third explosion rolled over him, and he realized he needed to get out of the street. Pulling himself to his hands and knees, he tried to stand up, but found his left ankle wasn’t working right, and pain like a thousand knives ran through his leg when he tried to use it. 
 
    Biting the inside of his cheek, he forced himself to run to the closest store and around the corner. The glass across the entire storefront had blown in, as it had throughout most of the buildings on the block. He made it to the corner and looked back to the scene of the battle. It wasn’t much of a battle—three of the four tanks were on fire, and several of the MinSha were on top of the tank he’d been riding on. One of the ones on the deck of the tank had somehow opened the hatch, and it reached in and pulled out the staff sergeant, just as easily as he could pull the meat out of a crab leg. 
 
    The staff sergeant screamed, and Shirazi could see a dark stain on the tanker’s shoulder—the alien had grabbed hold of him by shoving its claw through his shoulder to get a better grip on him. The man’s screams were piteous, and Shirazi drew his pistol and fired. The 9mm bullet hit the leg armor of the MinSha and ricocheted down the street. If the MinSha felt it, it didn’t give any indication. Shirazi fired two more times, and both bullets ricocheted off the alien. 
 
    The MinSha started ripping off the staff sergeant’s clothes, leaving bloody creases where its claws scraped down the tanker’s body. He screamed again and Shirazi couldn’t take it any longer—he put the next round through the tank driver’s head. 
 
    This finally got the MinSha’s attention. It threw the body of the staff sergeant over the side of the tank and turned to look at Shirazi. Seeing him at the corner, it pulled a large rifle from off its back and aimed at him. 
 
    Shirazi dove back around the corner, and was once again almost blinded by the pain in his ankle. He looked up to see it had started snowing. No, it wasn’t snow—whatever the alien had fired at him had pulverized a portion of the shop he was taking cover behind, and the plaster was raining down on him. A second hole appeared, lower, and the snowstorm of plaster became thicker. As a third hole appeared, he crab-walked backward before the alien fired any lower and hit him.  
 
    After backing 10 feet away from the corner, he waited, but no more shots came his way. He had to know what saw going on, so he pulled himself up and slid his way back to the corner, using the side of the wall to hold himself up.  
 
    He leaned slowly around the corner, and his eyes widened—it looked like the MinSha were stripping the tank for parts. They had reached into the tank as far as they could and had pulled out everything they could grab. Some things they’d look at before discarding, but others they just threw overboard as soon as they pulled them out. He could see all three bodies of the tank’s crew; they had probably been the first things removed. 
 
    He counted at least four aliens near the tanks and a couple more over by the shops on the far side of the street, which appeared to be looting the stores there. Really? These aliens had flown across the galaxy to loot the shops of Chabahar? Surely they had better things back home—why were they doing this? 
 
    He saw movement behind the aliens as they dropped off the tank and started heading in his direction. An RPG gunner came around the corner at the end of the next block, turned toward the MinSha, and fired. Shirazi, an infantryman when he was younger, had a split second to recognize the unconventional shape of the rocket before the gunner fired it toward him. 
 
    “Shit!” he yelled as the bottle-shaped thermobaric round streaked in his direction. A fuel-air explosive device, its warhead had a 33-foot lethal radius and produced the same effect as about 13 pounds of TNT. 
 
    He dove back around the corner again. Even outside the lethal radius, it still tried to suck the air out of him as it detonated, and then he felt the heat of the blast. As quickly as he could, he stood back up and looked. The rocket had worked—at least two of the aliens were down and not moving. At least he thought it was two, one had been in the center of the blast and had been torn to shreds. It looked like there were only enough pieces to make a second body, but some of it might have been vaporized in the blast. 
 
    The RPG gunner popped back out from around the corner with another thermobaric round attached to the launcher, just as one of the MinSha landed next to him. The alien struck out with its front limbs almost faster than Shirazi could see, and the man fell backward, blood flowing from several wounds to his chest and stomach. 
 
    Losing two of their comrades had appeared to make an impact on the others, though, as several of them came and picked up the body and the pieces of the dead MinSha, and they retreated back down the street.  
 
    The aliens passed the tanks and came to a body lying face-down in the middle of the road. Shirazi didn’t remember the body being there when he had arrived with the tanks, but figured it must have been someone from one of the tank crews or a victim of the MinSha predation prior to his arrival. 
 
    The body must have looked strange to the MinSha, too, because one of them deviated from its path to skitter over to it. It paused to look at the body, possibly trying to figure out where it had come from, and then it reached forward with a claw to flip it over. 
 
    As it did, the body moved—the man wasn’t dead! The MinSha jumped back and raised its rifle as the figure held up a handful of tiny pieces of metal and began laughing. The alien had time to shoot the man once before the grenades—at least four of them—detonated in a nearly-simultaneous explosion. The alien stepped back, unsteady on its feet, before collapsing to its knees. A number of streams of darker blue began to course down the alien’s body to drip to the ground. It was injured! The MinSha shuddered once and then fell over. It twitched twice and went still. 
 
    The rest of the MinSha retreated faster. Where before they had been looking into the shops as they passed for things to loot as they walked back toward their ship, now they began moving with a purpose, and their sole focus was on looking for what might harm them, not what they could steal.  
 
    One of the benefits of six legs was they had four legs they could walk on while still covering the road with their rifles. Shirazi tried to follow them, but he was quickly left behind as they put on a burst of speed his injured ankle couldn’t match. 
 
    They were almost a block and a half ahead of him when he heard someone yell, “Allahu akbar!” He looked down the street and saw someone jump off a second story roof to land on top of one of the MinSha. Mounting it like a bareback horse rider, the man—a Qud commando, based on his uniform—held onto it with his boots while his hand went to his chest. He leaned forward as he pulled out and away from his body, activating the charge on the explosive vest he wore. The C4 exploded in a massive detonation, and the MinSha dropped to the pavement like a marionette with its strings cut. 
 
    The remaining MinSha began to search the rooftops, aiming their rifles up to kill any further jumpers. Looking up to search the roofs, they didn’t see the second Qud commando run out from a fabric store until it was too late. One of the aliens swung its rifle at him, and might have stopped him, but the commando was a split-second faster, pulling the cord on his suicide vest. The MinSha was blown backward into a parked car and slumped to the ground, unmoving, a blue puddle forming around it. The rest of the MinSha took flight, quickly vanishing around a corner.  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
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    “Colonel Shirazi, you have a phone call from the airfield.” 
 
    Praise the Truth! Shirazi thought, looking up from his computer. It had been a week since the attack by the MinSha—seven days filled with recriminations for why they hadn’t been able to defend their country against the aliens more successfully, and nonstop planning on how to fight them more effectively the next time. Four hundred regular army personnel had attacked, resulting in 293 killed in action and 52 wounded. 217 of the paramilitary Basij had attacked—188 KIA, 29 wounded. There were also 185 civilian deaths and 326 wounded. The figures on damage to personal property from combat and looting were still coming in; they were staggering. Anything that would give him a break from the MinSha nightmare was exceedingly welcome. 
 
    “Colonel Shirazi,” he said, picking up the receiver. 
 
    “Hi sir, this is Sergeant First Class Kazem at the airfield, sir. We have an issue—there is an American aircraft requesting clearance to land. It says it’s an aid plane and is full of humanitarian aid supplies. Apparently, our embassy gave them clearance to approach, sir, although I don’t know why—the aircraft is registered to a company in America. What do you want me to do?” 
 
    “There must be a reason the embassy approved their flight. Intercept them and have them followed to the field. If they don’t land on their first pass, shoot them down. If they deviate from their flight path in any way, shoot them down. Do I make myself clear?” 
 
    “Yes, Colonel, very clear. If they do anything out of the ordinary, we are to shoot them down. We are launching the alert fighter right now to intercept them.” 
 
    “Very well. I will be right there. We will get to the bottom of this mystery and find out how they got approval to land here.” 
 
      
 
    * * * 
 
      
 
    Colonel Shirazi showed the ramp guards his identification and drove onto the airfield, stopping alongside the temporary tower facility that had been set up after the MinSha’s last visit to his country. 
 
     “The Americans are inbound now, Colonel,” an airman said, running up from the building. 
 
    Colonel Shirazi looked down the runway and picked up the approaching cargo plane as it neared touchdown. The large Ilyushin-76 aircraft landed on the field, like many Russian planes had in years past, bringing high-ranking Soviet and then Russian officers down to enjoy Chabahar’s beaches while nominally attending a ‘conference.’ The only conferences he had ever seen as a junior liaison officer were when four or five generals and their female ‘escorts’ all swam up to the pool bar simultaneously. 
 
    A pair of trucks with mounted machine guns met it at the end of the runway, with a third falling in behind the aircraft. The trucks escorted the aircraft to the tower, and the men in back kept their large machineguns trained on it at all times. The men in the trucks dismounted and circled the plane, rifles at the ready. 
 
    Colonel Shirazi turned to his subordinates. “Shall we?” He then proceeded onto the ramp and strode over to the aircraft as the loading ramp came down in the back. 
 
    Two men walked down the ramp. The leader was a tall man, who looked like the typical American cowboy. Shirazi pegged the second man as probably a senior enlisted trooper; he had the look of someone who was used to killing and would be a serious adversary. He would bear watching. Seeing Shirazi, the two men turned and walked toward him. As they approached, Shirazi realized how tall the American was—over six feet tall and almost a foot taller than he was. But the man was still an American, and not worthy of his respect. The two men stopped several paces away.  
 
    Still, he was the host, and certain rites had to be observed.  
 
    “Colonel Kuru Shirazi,” he said, saluting.  
 
    “Colonel,” the tall man said, returning the salute. “Captain Jim Cartwright, U.S. Army, retired, now commander of Cartwright’s International.” 
 
    “Welcome to the Islamic Republic of Iran, Captain,” Shirazi replied, dropping the salute. He looked pointedly at the killer behind Cartwright.  
 
    “This is Gunnery Sergeant Theodore Oxnard, U.S. Marine Corps, retired, my XO.”  
 
    Shirazi nodded to the Marine, giving him another appraising look, and he nodded back.  
 
    “This is Second Colonel Farrokh Jahandar, my XO,” Shirazi said, “and Captain Samir Rajavi.”  
 
    Both men saluted, although Shirazi could see the contempt they had for the Americans in their eyes.  
 
    Cartwright returned their salutes. “Pleasure.” It almost sounded like he meant it. 
 
    The proper forms having been followed, Shirazi got down to business. “Now, Captain Cartwright, perhaps you can tell me what you are doing in Iran.” 
 
    “We’re bringing aid,” the American said, gesturing to the plane. 
 
    “Were that so, Captain, you could simply have left it at the international aid staging center area in Muscat. Surely you noticed Oman as you flew over.”  
 
    The man paused, considering. Shirazi stifled a smile before it escaped onto his face. The American hadn’t flown halfway around the globe without thinking about what he intended to say once he got here, had he? Typical American, living only for the moment. 
 
    “We came to find out how you killed the MinSha soldiers,” the American finally said. 
 
    Colonel Shirazi’s eyebrows rose. The answer appeared honest and direct. How un-American. “Indeed?” he asked after looking into the American’s eyes to confirm his sincerity. 
 
    “Yes. All anyone seems to have seen is the aliens kicking your asses all over the peninsula.” Shirazi stiffened at the implied affront, even though he tried not to. “I’ve spent the last week watching every single minute of video I could find on the ground fighting. Forget the air battle or armor; they walked over those with lightning speed.” 
 
    “Indeed,” Shirazi repeated. All one had to do was look around the airfield; it was still easy to see.  
 
    “I mean the small unit action,” Cartwright continued. “From what I saw, you did everything you could with what you had; mostly out-of-date U.S. hardware dating back from before the revolution and antiquated Soviet shit. Every single video shows you out-matched and swept aside.” Shirazi’s eyes narrowed. Perhaps the American was just like all the other Americans and allowing him to land had been a mistake. “And still,” Cartwright continued, “you held this airbase, and you inflicted casualties.”  
 
    “And why are you looking for this information?” the colonel asked, not seeing where this was going. He was also conscious of the time he was wasting with the foreigners. 
 
    “Because we’re considering taking one of the mercenary contracts, and unlike the other American outfits, we don’t think the aliens will be a walkover just because they aren’t a regular military unit.”  
 
    “That is very intelligent of you,” Shirazi said, nodding. He considered what the American had said. He had heard about the contracts that were being offered by the aliens, but had thought they were looking for major army units, and he didn’t have the forces to spare. But if the American could put one together on his own, then maybe, just maybe, there would be something his forces could do, as well. Interesting. Anything that killed the aliens was worth considering. Still, he refused to give in without getting something back in return. “While this plan is admirable, I fail to see what it does for me.” 
 
    “Don’t you want to see us Humans get a little payback?” 
 
    “I care not who else might hurt the aliens,” Shirazi said with a small snort. The rest of the world might have forgotten whose honor the aliens had tarnished, but he hadn’t. “I want to be the one to hurt them, and I want to hurt them badly.”  
 
    The American smiled. “I’ll tell you what, Colonel Shirazi. Give me and my men access to your people who fought, show us any recordings you have, and we’ll share our conclusions with you.” 
 
    “And the supplies,” Shirazi said, with a nod toward the loaded plane. “Since you brought them this far, it would be a shame to have to carry them all the way back home again.” 
 
    “Of course,” the American said, bowing his head. 
 
    Shirazi smiled for the first time. The American wasn’t much of a bargainer, but perhaps he could help the Iranians get some revenge on the aliens. Or at least show them how to smuggle a nuclear bomb up to the aliens’ ship. Both were worth discussing. “Come out of the heat, my new American friend, and let’s have some tea while we discuss this further.”  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
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    A trooper led the group into the one undamaged room in the building—a conference room with a large table. The Americans sat on one side while the Iranians sat on the other. 
 
    “So,” Shirazi said, “why don’t you tell me again what your intentions were in coming here.” 
 
    “As I said, we’re interested in taking one of the off-world mercenary contracts,” the American said. “However, unlike most of my comrades, I don’t think the alien mercs are going to be pushovers, just because they’re mercenaries and not full-time national militaries. The galaxy doesn’t have full-time militaries, so I’m guessing the mercenaries have grown to fill this role, and will be very proficient in their duties.” 
 
    “That is a wise way to look at it,” Shirazi said. “It is easy to see if you use the Earth analogues.” 
 
    “I don’t understand what you’re saying.” 
 
    “Look at it this way. The mercenary companies are businesses. If they weren’t good at what they did, they would either go out of business or be killed, which, for mercenaries, is the same thing. They have had this system for hundreds, probably thousands of years. In this time, I suspect that a survival-of-the-fittest process would have weeded out the incompetents and the posers. Those that remain are the ones best suited to fighting and killing.” 
 
    “That was what I thought, too.” 
 
    “You are right to think that way. Having seen them in action, they are formidable. Each of their soldiers is almost like a tank—well armed and armored compared with our troopers. Also, their laser rifles are much more powerful than most of our weapons. I have fought many battles in my life, and I can tell you that they beat us, not because we didn’t have pretty weapons like the Americans, but because they fight on a different level of warfare than anyone on Earth. If they had landed in your New York City, the results would have been the same. You Americans might have killed a few more of them, but then they would have destroyed you. They are unbeatable in the air, and nearly so on the ground.” 
 
    “That’s what I was afraid of.” 
 
    “And yet, you still intend to go?” 
 
    “I do. This represents a challenge unlike any I’ve ever had before and a way of testing myself and my company against the best the galaxy has to offer. I don’t want to walk into this blindly, though; I want to know what I’m getting into ahead of time and have a plan for being successful in whatever contract we take.” 
 
    “I see,” Shirazi said. “We view contact with the Galactic Union somewhat differently from you. Where you have just seen it on television, we have lived it most intimately,” he gestured, indicating the destruction all around them. “I think, perhaps, it’s important for you to understand—to truly understand—our perspective on interstellar relations and what the aliens mean to us.”  
 
    “What do you mean?”  
 
    Shirazi stood and said something in Arabic to one of the junior troopers, who ran out of the room. “Come with me.” The colonel left the room and went back out onto the tarmac, where there was a staff car waiting. A junior enlisted held the door for them and Shirazi climbed into the back seat. He chuckled when the Americans appeared reluctant to get into the car. 
 
    “Do not worry,” he said, “I am not planning on kidnapping you. If I were, I could easily have taken you inside the building and then destroyed your aircraft.” His voice took on a sharper edge. “Get in. No harm will come to you; you have my word. I want to show you something.” 
 
    The two Americans entered the car, and it drove off down the aircraft taxiway to the last hangar. At the back of the hangar was a ramp down to an underground shelter. The Americans looked at each other, stunned that they were getting to see some of the areas of the airfield that would normally have been “off limits” to foreigners. The car pulled into a large, well-lit area, big enough to park a large fighter aircraft and conduct maintenance on it. Based on the tools and equipment in evidence, that’s exactly what was done there...on a normal day. 
 
    But not today. Klieg lights illuminated the far corner of the bay, and the Americans could see what looked like a jail cell had been set up, with a 15-foot high roof. Something blue moved within, and the Americans’ eyes widened in shock. Shirazi smiled as the car stopped in front of the cage. “Yes, we have one of them.” 
 
    The men got out of the car, and the two Americans approached the cage, being careful to stay outside the alien’s reach. “What are you doing with it? Cartwright asked. “Can it understand us?” 
 
    “Unfortunately, no,” Shirazi said, frowning. “It would have been nice to have one of the translation pendants they have, but this one didn’t have one when it was captured, and I didn’t want word of its capture to get out. That was unfortunate; I have many questions I would have liked to have asked it.” His tone indicated the questioning would not have been pleasant for the MinSha. 
 
    “To see one this close is almost overwhelming,” Cartwright said. “What are you going to do with it?” 
 
    “More importantly,” the gunnery sergeant said, speaking for the first time, “There’s been an awful lot of talking, but what I’d really like to know is if you’ve figured out how to kill them.” 
 
    “Is that so?” Shirazi asked, his eyes staring piercingly into Ted’s. In the American’s eyes, he saw someone who was not afraid of doing what it took to get the job done. Shirazi nodded almost imperceptibly, drew his pistol, and stepped slightly closer to the cage. “This doesn’t work,” he said. He fired a round, and it sparked off the shin of one of the alien’s legs and ricocheted off with a whine. Cartwright ducked subconsciously, but neither Shirazi nor the gunnery sergeant flinched. 
 
    “What does?” Ted asked. 
 
    “This.” Shirazi holstered the pistol, and walked over to a set of shelves, returning with an AK-47. He aimed and fired once, and the MinSha dropped to the floor where it lay twitching. “You have to shoot it through the eyes if you want to kill it with a normal rifle,” Shirazi noted. “Especially if they have armor on.” 
 
    He walked back to the shelves, set down the rifle, and came back with several chunks of what looked like hard blue plastic. Plastic that was colored the same as the prisoner, whose twitching had almost stopped. He handed them to Cartwright. 
 
    “Is this what I think it is?” he asked. 
 
    “It is,” Shirazi said. “That is part of the carapace of one of the ones we killed. For five million dollars, American, you can have them to do with as you please, as long as you do not tell anyone where you got them.” 
 
      
 
    * * * 
 
      
 
    The Ilyushin-76 trundled down the runway. Without any cargo, it picked up speed quickly and was airborne by mid-field.  
 
    “Good riddance,” the staff car driver said. 
 
    “Indeed,” Colonel Shirazi said. “I hope to never see them across from me on the field of battle.” 
 
    “Why is that, sir? He’s an American. Don’t you want to kill him?” 
 
    “Wanting someone dead is very different than actually wanting to try to kill them. I have a feeling those men would be very hard to kill. The leader is both smart and wise, and would be a dangerous enemy. The soldier with him is also a dangerous man, and would be hard to get past to even have a chance at killing the leader.” He paused as a tractor went by, bringing in one of the pallets of aid the Americans had left, and then added, “No, I am happy if he goes off to space and kills many aliens before they ultimately do the same to him.” 
 
    “Do you think he told the truth about what they were doing?” 
 
    “He definitely told pieces of the truth, as much as we would need to verify who he was and what he was doing, but I strongly doubt he told us everything.” 
 
    “Why is that?” 
 
    “Because I didn’t tell him everything we knew, either.”  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
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    Colonel Shirazi sighed inwardly as the imam walked into the presentation room. Although he had prayed most fervently that the cleric would cancel, he hadn’t. 
 
    “Here is the current status,” Shirazi said, bring up the first slide with a mental grimace. “As I’ve noted previously, we hold an area of about 10,000 square kilometers. Although the radiation levels have been dying down, allowing us to reclaim some of the land to the north, most of the land we’ve recovered so far isn’t very valuable; it isn’t good for either farming or animal husbandry, and the area will need to be cleansed of fallout before people can live there again. We are mostly left with the same area we started with, which goes from the Konarak air base on the other side of Chabahar Bay east to the Pakistani border, and then north for just over 100 kilometers to the town of Pishin.  
 
    “To hold this area, we have a battalion of 60 tanks and a battalion of mechanized infantry, which is just over 500 personnel. We also have a special forces company of about 75 additional men, but they are generally not frontline fighters.” 
 
    “They are spread pretty thin,” the imam noted. “Five hundred personnel to guard a 100-kilometer border?” 
 
    “While it might seem so at first glance,” the general replied, “it’s important to note that there are only two roads that cross into Pakistan. Any attack of note would have to come down one of those. If it didn’t, we could reposition our troops to block any incursion, assuming we had sufficient notice of it happening.” 
 
    “What is ‘sufficient notice?’” 
 
    “We have squads patrolling up and down the border, augmented by a number of unmanned aerial vehicles. If we see any forces starting to build on the Pakistani side, we can move the bulk of our forces to oppose them.” 
 
    “Okay,” the cleric said, seeming mollified.  
 
    “Even once the airborne radiation clears to the north, the Pakistanis will have a hard time getting their forces in-country,” Shirazi added. “The road network primarily goes through the major cities, and they are all slagged. It will be hard to move significant forces down from the north, especially since they will have to deal with surface-based radiation for quite some time.” 
 
    “So the situation is grim, but not untenable,” Imam Turhani said. 
 
    “That is correct,” Colonel Shirazi replied. “We can also use some of the police to help patrol the border, as well as call up the militia, at least for a while. I also have to note that the northern part of Pakistan that shares a border with us received a large dose of fallout, and they will have to work to recover from that, too.” 
 
    He flipped the slide. “I’ve had my logistics personnel look at the food supply, and we are okay in this area, as well. We have a lot of land under cultivation, and will be able to continue to feed our people with what we grow, what we can fish out of the Gulf of Oman, and what we can import.” He flipped the slide. 
 
    “Where we are going to be deficient is in oil and industrial products. Until we can get some of the pipelines back into service, oil and gas are going to be in short supply as we will have to import all that we use. Similarly, there isn’t a large industrial base in Chabahar, so any of those products will have to be brought in by either air or sea. While we have increased the port facilities recently, with the help of India, it will be difficult to import everything we need to continue our normal way of life.” 
 
    “I have been approached by the Indian foreign minister,” the imam said. “He asked where the nation of India can help us best.” 
 
    “We need to be careful with accepting too much aid from India,” the general said. “If Pakistan starts to see us as too big of an Indian surrogate state, they might very well attack us. I would advise caution before we become too dependent on Indian support.” 
 
    “What if they were to send us some of their military forces to help defend us?” the imam asked. 
 
    “No!” both the general and Colonel Shirazi exclaimed simultaneously. “Sorry,” Colonel Shirazi said to the general. “Please, go ahead, sir.” 
 
    “Having Indian forces would definitely make us a target,” the general said. “India and Pakistan have border skirmishes all the time. All it would take is one small provocation and the Pakistanis would come across the border and wipe us out. I would strongly advise not accepting any Indian military aid.” 
 
    “Getting back to the problem at hand,” Colonel Shirazi said, flipping to the next slide, “as you can see, we are low on capital, and we have a large number of infrastructure demands that will have to be satisfied if we are to be successful long-term. We need major improvements to Konarak Airport and the road network to get there. It’s 30 kilometers to the airport, half of which is on secondary roads. All of our port facilities will have to be substantially upgraded. All of this will also require fuel, and lots of it. 
 
    “And all of this is going to require even more money. While we have a number of tourist facilities that will bring in some capital, it is nowhere near the infusion of cash that we need, right now, if we are to continue—” 
 
    “Colonel, you have very adequately detailed our deficiencies,” the imam said. “I hope you have a plan, because the only solution to me appears to be Indian assistance, and you have already explained why that is infeasible. Where do we look for these large amounts of cash? The western world would be happy if we failed, and they could come in and take us over. They might even provide money, so that we would be indebted to them, and they could control us that way.” 
 
    “I would sooner take a loan from a MinSha than I would the United States,” Colonel Shirazi replied. “With the rest of the western world, it would be about equal odds.” 
 
    “What about our Saudi brothers or fellow Sunni Muslim nations?” the imam asked. “Can we look to them for aid?” 
 
    “They might provide aid,” Colonel Shirazi replied, “and I would be far more likely to accept it from them. The problem with that is it also leaves us beholden to foreigners, rather than masters of our own destiny. All things being equal, I would rather we control what we do, rather than having foreign bankers—even Sunni ones—telling us what we should do with our country.” 
 
    “You have already explained we don’t have many resources of our own,” the imam noted. “How do you intend for us to pay for all of the improvements you say we need, if we don’t have the resources, and we don’t whore ourselves out to foreigners to get it?” 
 
    “We do have one resource I haven’t covered yet…” the colonel replied. His voice trailed off, and he sighed. “I haven’t had a chance to brief the general yet, but I have come up with a potential solution, which will, I think, solve all of our problems.” 
 
    The general raised his eyebrows. “I have always known you to be an honest and hardworking man,” he said. “Go ahead and present your solution.” 
 
    Colonel Shirazi turned off the projector and stepped in front of the podium to stand in front of the military and civil leaders. “Imam Jomeh Turhani, General Pahlavi, we have one other resource I haven’t mentioned. It is this—we have people who are willing to fight and die for our country, this new country we are building. I, for one, volunteer my services, as I am sure the majority of my forces will.” 
 
    The imam’s eyebrows knit. “I’m not sure I understand,” he said after a moment. “You are already in the military. What services are you talking about?” 
 
    The general seemed no less confused, in spite of his military background. “I don’t know what you’re talking about,” he said. “It seems like you are talking about perhaps providing mercenary services to bring in additional revenue, but I cannot afford to let you go—it would weaken the border too much—nor would it bring in that much money. Mercenaries just don’t get paid that much.” 
 
    “In the past, no,” Colonel Shirazi agreed. He turned on the television and pressed play on the recorder.  
 
    “Jim Salazar here,” the announcer said. “I’m here at the World Government offices, where Ambassador Thales just gave a presentation on a surprising new opportunity that the Galactic Union has offered Earth’s military forces. The Mercenary Guild of the Galactic Union will be sending representatives with mercenary contracts that will be available for us to bid on. Although the retainer to acquire them is expected to be high, the payoffs for successfully completing them are in the millions of Galactic credits, or billions of U.S. dollars. The national armies of many former countries are already lining up for them, as well as many prominent mercenary organizations.” 
 
    Shirazi turned off the television. “I believe this would solve our problems, if we are bold enough to pursue it. I propose to form a mercenary unit from one of our companies, as well as the special forces platoon.” The special forces company had been sent north to recover Iran’s nuclear weapons from a number of sites. Some of their protective suits had proven…inadequate for the task, and a number of casualties had ensued, leaving the army with only a platoon. 
 
    “I saw a little more of that speech,” the general said. “Even if we decided to let you go—which I don’t recommend—we still don’t have a formal government. Don’t the units need some sort of governmental sponsorship?”  
 
    “They do,” Shirazi said with a nod. “That is what I meant by being bold. It is time to put the past government behind us and stop arguing with the other pockets of former Iran over who has primacy. I say, let them have it. I propose we break with the rest of the country and form our own country, with our own government. I would organize a mercenary unit of our troops under the auspices of the nation of New Persia, as led by President Turhani and Vice President Pahlavi. If we use those titles, and say that we will hold new elections to confirm them, the west will see us as a democracy and will stand in line to throw money at our feet. Money that we can use to buy one of these contracts and to start making the infrastructure upgrades we will need to stay relevant in the world. When we complete our mercenary contracts, we will have enough money to be self-sufficient—to make the upgrades we need to be a functioning nation that is nobody’s lackey.” 
 
    “But what if you are unsuccessful?” the general asked. “How do you know you can beat the enemy? We have not done so well against them in the past.” 
 
    “We learned a lot from our captive on how to kill the MinSha, and it is time to begin taking our revenge on them. I believe, if we are smart about what contracts we take, we can be successful. After all, who knows more about fighting the MinSha than we do? And if we are unsuccessful, we will be dead, but you will still have the majority of your forces, and you will still have the other nations trying to help you. You stand to lose little, but the potential for gain is huge.” 
 
    The general still seemed unconvinced, and turned to Imam Turhani, to find a thoughtful look on his face. “President Turhani,” the imam jomeh said. “I like the sound of that. I think there are some potential opportunities there…Yes, I believe there are. And I believe many of the other parts of what used to be Iran will rally to our new banner…under our leadership. What do you say, Mr. Vice President?” 
 
    The pensive look faded from the general’s face, and a small smile took its place. “You’re right, Mr. President. There are plenty of opportunities here.” 
 
    “Outstanding,” Shirazi said. He handed a paper to the general, along with a pen. “If you would sign this, General.” 
 
    “What is this?” the general asked, his eyes narrowing as the smile disappeared. 
 
    “Those are the release papers for myself and my troops, so that we can start Asbaran Solutions.”  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
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    “The general has approved my retirement from the army, effective immediately, so I can start a new mercenary unit.” Colonel Shirazi’s announcement was met with gasps from his assembled troops, and he hid a small smile; it was heartening to know his men respected him enough to care about his departure. It also would make his mission easier. 
 
    “The purpose of this unit is two-fold. First, it will go to the stars and earn money to help support our new country.” A murmur of approval swept through the assembled troops. Word of ‘New Persia’ had spread like wildfire and was universally celebrated. “Second, it is my intention to take every contract we can that involves killing as many MinSha as possible.” That earned a roar of approval. 
 
    “I say ‘we,’ because the general has authorized me to take 100 troops with me, and I will be taking volunteers after this formation to fill out the ranks of the new company. 
 
    “The new organization is to be called ‘Asbaran Solutions.’ The ‘Asbaran’ is a call to our past, and it pays tribute to our ancestors, the Asbarani knights, who were the leaders of the Sassanid Army during the last period of the Persian Empire. The Asbaran was a military force that formed the backbone of the army of the Sasanian Empire. One of my ancestors was an asbaran sardar—a high-level leader of the Asbaran. After the Muslim conquest of Persia, my ancestor came over to the Arab side to preserve his status and wealth, and he settled his knights in the newly established Muslim territory of Chabahar. My family’s estate here was established by him and has been handed down through the generations—we have been rulers or leaders in this area ever since. That is why I tell you, Persia was great in the past, and I know it will be great again in the future!” 
 
    The assembled troops cheered, and a broad smile crossed his face. When they became silent again, he continued, “The second half of the name, ‘Solutions,’ is forward-looking. Nominally, it shows that we will be a company focused on solving our clients’ problems. Whatever difficulties they have, we will find an answer. It has a second meaning, though, that is much closer to home. The biggest problem I intend to solve is the MinSha one. They took our honor, and I mean to get it back! We will find and kill the MinSha, wherever we can, until there are no more of them left alive. The MinSha are the problem…and we are the solution!” 
 
    The troops cheered, longer and louder this time, until the colonel had to wave for quiet. Everyone had lost family in the MinSha attacks; the need for retribution was a constant discussion at all levels of society. 
 
    “If you are interested in being part of this new unit, there will be a sign-up in the barracks when you are dismissed. If more than 100 volunteer, we will take the people who best fit our needs, with an eye to filling out our ranks in the future. If you are not initially selected, keep heart; more people will be hired when we return. 
 
    “Additional information will be provided to those who are selected. Regardless of whether you choose to participate or not, please know that it has been an honor to serve with you. That is all. Battalion, dismissed!” 
 
    There was a pause, and then the entire battalion turned and sprinted toward the barracks. 
 
    All of the soldiers, that is, except for the senior enlisted man in the battalion, Sergeant Major Turan Kazemi. He approached Shirazi and saluted. The colonel returned the salute and smiled. “That isn’t necessary,” Shirazi said. “I am no longer in the army.” 
 
    “No you are not,” Kazemi said, “but you are an officer with dignity and courage, and I will salute you until the day I die.” He paused and then added, “I also hope to continue saluting you in this new unit you’re forming. I no longer feel the need to race everyone else to sign up for things; I’m hoping you’ll need a senior enlisted, and that you’ll consider me for the position.” 
 
    “I wouldn’t dream of going to the stars without you, Kazemi; in fact, the only worry I had is that you wouldn’t want to participate in the unit. With you at my side, I can already feel the MinSha beginning to tremble at our approach.” 
 
    “After the last time they were here, I doubt that very much,” Kazemi replied, his tone grim. “However, I look forward to killing as many of them as possible, so we can take their weapons and kill more of them.”  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
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    “We have docked with GS Ghistel,” a voice said over the intercom. “You may disembark. Assistants will be inside to help you.”  
 
    Shirazi looked at his XO, Captain Soroush Abbasi, who had taken himself off the ambassadorial staff to join Asbaran Solutions. “Ready?” he asked. 
 
    “If I say, ‘No?’” 
 
    “Then I will leave you behind. Our country needs this, and I will perform my duty.” 
 
    Abbasi unlatched his seatbelt. “Good thing I’m ready, then,” he muttered. 
 
    Shirazi smiled as he moved toward the hatch, knowing Abbasi liked to grumble. It appeared very few of the people in the shuttle had ever been in space before, and the disembarkation was ‘confused,’ to say the least. Several people lost contact with their reference points and floated up to the ceiling and had to be rescued by alien spacers; happily, he wasn’t one of them. 
 
    As he crossed into the other ship, he saw a line of large, vaguely rodent-looking beings waiting for them. Each of them held a tablet they continued to reference as the Humans came through from the shuttle.  
 
    “Those are Veetanho,” Abbasi stage-whispered. “They are great generals, and many are actively engaged in running the Merc Guild.” 
 
    As the Persians approached the group, a Veetanho wearing a red and blue scarf pulled itself forward to ‘stand’ in front of them.  
 
    “Are you Kuru Shirazi?” the being asked through its two-way translation pendant. 
 
    “Yes, I am, and this is my executive officer, Captain Soroush Abbasi.” 
 
    “Excellent. My name is Steemo, and I will be your escort. I have been assigned to aid you in the contract negotiation process. Do either of you require medical assistance after the flight to space?” 
 
    “No, we’re both okay.”  
 
    “Please follow me, then,” the Veetanho said. It turned and pulled itself down the passageway using handholds provided for that purpose.  
 
    After following the alien for a couple of minutes, they arrived at a rotating cylindrical room that led them to a large room on the gravity deck, where the gravity was set for about half of Earth-normal. “There are refreshments over there,” Steemo said, pointing to a table. “I must log your presence in with the Guild Master, but I will be right back.” 
 
    “Want something to eat?” Shirazi asked. 
 
    “Not if the ride back down is anything like the ride up,” Captain Abbasi replied. “I was okay, but I don’t think I want to test my endurance.” 
 
    “Me either.” He looked around the room and saw there were several people who went for the snacks and drinks. He nodded to them. “They must have done this before.” 
 
    “Yeah,” Abbasi replied. His eyes scanned the room like a hawk looking for prey. “Looks like a good showing. There must be 15 different nations here.” 
 
    Shirazi nodded. “And several countries have sent multiple groups. I see a couple of groups from the U.S. Army, as well as groups from their navy, air force, and marines, too.” He smiled. “And there’s someone I know.” He crossed the room. 
 
    “Welcome to space, my American friend,” Shirazi said, stepping up alongside Jim Cartwright.  
 
    Cartwright jumped, then turned and shook his head when he saw who was talking to him. “Thank you,” he said, offering his hand. Kuru shook it. “What is Asbaran Solutions?” the American asked. 
 
    “The name of the mercenary unit I have formed with our new country. It has…historical significance to both me and my countrymen.” 
 
    “Nice uniform. I wish you luck in the negotiations and hope we won’t be enemies.” 
 
    “There isn’t much chance of that,” Kuru said with a predatory look at one of the Veetanho going by. “Although I have nothing against killing Americans, we’re here to kill aliens.”  
 
    Cartwright nodded and took his leave, looking somewhat put out at Shirazi’s comment. Too bad for him. The New Persians would get to the Americans eventually, but first they had other insults to redress.  
 
    Shirazi wandered the room with Abbasi in tow, trying to get a feel for the competition. If words could be put into action, there were going to be a lot of dead aliens in the future. Based on his experience, though, it was going to be a lot harder than most of the mercenaries thought, but he was fine with letting them find out for themselves. His country needed all the advantages they could get just to survive; if some of the other countries wanted to kill off their best people in useless shows of bravado, so be it.  
 
    He had completed a lap around the room when he noticed a display screen above the food table that he was sure hadn’t been there before. “Welcome, mercenaries from Earth,” it said in a dozen languages.  
 
    “Gentle beings,” a voice spoke. “If you will please move to the outside by the windows, we are about to begin.” Steemo appeared and indicated where he was supposed to be. “Thank you. Now, please, welcome Guild Master Cheshk of Veetanho.”  
 
    Shirazi turned to find a Veetanho standing in the center of the room. Unlike the other Veetanho who were dark gray or brown, her fur was a light gray. Cheshk was probably old, which made sense—you probably needed to have an awful lot of experience to get to be the head of a galaxy-wide guild.  
 
    “Welcome, Humans, to your first contract bids,” Cheshk said. “You’ve all read the briefings provided prior to being accepted as bidders on the 149 contracts selected for your race’s first entry. You may realize that many of these contracts are below prime. You must understand your race is unproven, and this is the natural result.”  
 
    Shirazi had guessed that would be the case, based on information Abbasi had provided from Ambassador Thales, so he wasn’t surprised. That wasn’t the case with everyone present—he heard several snorts from the American special forces guys in the room. Of course they considered themselves the best. Hopefully, they’d sign up for something that would get them all wiped out. It would make his job easier in the long run. He smiled. Maybe they’d get killed by Tortantulas or shot down by their Flatar riders. That would be nice.  
 
    “Please be observant of the potential payouts,” Guild Master Cheshk continued, “as well as the requirements. Your briefings explained that contracts can be incredibly complicated, and I strongly advise you to have a Guild-trained intermediary review it before signing. If you cancel a contract after it is signed, you will not only lose your guild rating for five years, but you will lose your bond as well.”  
 
    Shirazi nodded to Abbasi. “We must be careful. New Persia doesn’t have the funds to pay for another bond, or to replace our people or gear.” Abbasi nodded slowly; he’d been the one to hand over the check for $45 million, so he knew what the price to participate had been.  
 
    “The bidding is now open,” Cheshk said gesturing at the holographic display.  
 
    Colonel Shirazi scanned the room, looking at his competition, as the screen began to fill with contracts. His tiny company could never compete man-to-man (or woman?) with the size of most of the organizations represented. He had no idea how many groups the U.S. Army had sent alone, and all of them were bigger than his single unit. He couldn’t hope to compete in most of the areas up for bidding. Heavy assault? He had seen what happened when his ancient tanks went up against the MinSha. He would never get the screams of his men as they were pulled bodily from the tanks out of his ears. 
 
    Similarly, he didn’t have the troops for a static defense—most were looking at battalion-sized forces, or larger—or the ships to conduct a highguard operation. He’d heard several of the Americans wondering what a highguard operation was, and he had smiled. Typical Americans, overconfident as always. He had contacted Ambassador Thales through New Persia’s diplomatic envoy and had asked for all the information available on mercenary organizations and the guild. Much of it had been eye-opening. He expected many of the Earthlings in the room would be dead within the next six months. Especially the Asian man who looked like Genghis Khan…if the legendary warlord came back as a drug lord. Who wore that much gold to go to an alien spaceship? 
 
    He shook his head and went back to reading the contract list, looking for a small mission that played to his unit’s strengths. He wasn’t sure exactly what those strengths were, yet, but he knew he’d recognize the mission when he saw it. 
 
    He finally saw it at the bottom of the list. The penultimate entry, a mining consortium was looking for a light assault unit to be the diversion for a much larger force to attack a walled mining facility on a high plateau. The terrain around the mine only allowed for easy access from the south, up a sloping hill to the gates of the base. There was no cover along the approach, and any attackers proceeding up the slope would be easy targets for the facility’s defenders. To the east and west, there were large ravines, which were considered un-scalable. To the north, a large desert stretched out across the plateau for 100 miles. There was nothing on the plateau except for sand, which covered the entire plateau. Nothing grew or lived on it.  
 
    The light assault force was to land 25 miles away from the facility on the desert side and approach it in such a manner as to make the defenders believe the attack was coming from that side so the defenders would concentrate their fire there. Once the defenders were engaged, the heavy assault force would sweep in from the south on hovercraft, using the distraction of the light force to buy them the time needed to get to the gate. 
 
    “Why hasn’t anyone bid on this contract?” Shirazi asked Steemo. 
 
    “I would not go there for all the credits in the galaxy,” a being that looked like a giant snail with three eye stalks interrupted before the Veetanho could reply.  
 
    “A Bakulu,” Abbasi whispered under his breath. “They’re good ship drivers.” 
 
    Shirazi gave a quick nod to Abbasi over his shoulder to indicate he’d heard, then turned to the alien. “What’s wrong with that world?” Shirazi asked. 
 
    “It is a desert world. Not only would the heat suck the moisture from my shell, but the sand gets into places it shouldn’t, and it rubs something fierce!” 
 
    “I do not have those issues. Although I have places that sand can get into and make me uncomfortable, it is relatively easy for me to get it back out again.” 
 
    “In addition to the conditions, it would take someone who is a little crazy to take that contract. You are a diversion, and you have to attack in such a manner as to make the defenders believe the main attack is coming from the north. Also, you have to hold their attention long enough for the other force to engage the defenders. You are sure to lose some of your people, and you may potentially lose many, if not all, of them. Also, you’re trusting the other force to attack on time and relieve you. If they are late, or do not come at all, your force will be slaughtered—that’s why there is such a big bonus on it. Aside from the sand dunes, there is no cover for you to shelter behind, either. The MinSha would be firing at you the whole time.” 
 
    “The MinSha are defending the position?” 
 
    “Yes, and they are very formidable on the defensive. No, I would not take that contract. Not for all the credits in the galaxy.” 
 
    “You’re absolutely right,” Shirazi said. “It is awful.” He looked back to Steemo. “We’ll take it.”  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
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    “So, what did you get for us?” Sergeant Major Turan Kazemi asked. 
 
    “Always to the point, eh, Sergeant Major?” Shirazi asked, his eyes scanning the table to look at the nine members of his command staff. His staff met his eyes, and most looked eager to find out what they’d be doing ‘up in the stars.’ Some only looked angry, but if that was what sustained them, he would take it. Hopefully, they could nurse it all the way through the mission until it was needed. For himself, there was no doubt—he knew his anger would last that long. 
 
    Shirazi nodded to his senior enlisted. “That’s what I always liked about you. I will tell you about our mission. All I ask is that you hear me out until the end; please do not pass judgment until you hear the whole plan.” 
 
    “Must be dangerous,” Kazemi said; “I like it already.”  
 
    Shirazi heard several chuckles from down the table and smiled at Kazemi. He always knew how to break the ice. “It is dangerous, but at least the environment is something we’re familiar with—it is desert, along the lines of the Great Salt Desert east of what used to be Tehran. We’ve all done training there; we all know how badly it sucks.” 
 
    Kazemi shrugged. “Yeah, it’s hot. At least it makes for a soft bed at night. You get to my age, you start to appreciate things like that.” Several more chuckles around the table. 
 
    “It’s like the Great Salt Desert, I said,” Shirazi clarified. “The only difference is that it’s about 15 degrees Celsius hotter, on average. It’s hot, and travel by day there will not be possible.” 
 
    “Okay, sir, we’ve all seen desert, and you’ve told us it’s hot. We get that. Stop beating around the bush—what are we going to be doing?” 
 
    “We’re going to be a diversion for another assault that is going to go in and capture a walled town.” 
 
    “Diversion, eh? Those are normally the people who are getting shot at while the other group gets to do the sneaky shit. Generally, I like to be the one doing the sneaky shit; getting shot at really doesn’t thrill me that much. Once you hear the first bullet go by you, all the fun is pretty much gone.” 
 
    “Are you done?” Shirazi asked. 
 
    “Have I made my point?” 
 
    “That you don’t like getting shot at?” Kazemi nodded. “Eminently clear.” 
 
    “Then yes sir, I’m done.” 
 
    Shirazi gave him a wry look and continued, “As I was saying, we are providing a diversion so that local forces can recapture a town that insurgents have taken.”  
 
    He laid a map and several overhead images on the table, and everyone stood up to get a better view. 
 
    “The town is here,” Shirazi said, pointing to a spot on the map. The walled town was wedged in the highlands between two enormous crevasses. On the north side was a large plateau that was desert. The terrain gave way fairly steeply down the south side, which was all open terrain for several miles. The southern approach was also guarded by— 
 
    “Fuck!” 
 
    “Is that a freaking gun?!” 
 
    “Holy shit! 
 
     “Yes, that’s a gun,” Shirazi said, “and if you’d all sit down, I’ll tell you why I took this mission.” 
 
    With a lot of muttering and headshaking, the staff returned to their seats. A gun big enough to be seen by the small-scale satellite imagery was nothing short of immense. 
 
    “So, yes, that is a gun pointed downslope from the town. Two of them, in fact, like a double-barreled shotgun. And anyone that tries to come up that slope is going to get absolutely slaughtered.” 
 
    “Please tell me that isn’t us charging up that hill,” Captain Samir Rajavi, the Alpha Company Commander, said. 
 
    “No, that isn’t us,” Shirazi said. The staff gave a common sigh. “If you remember, I said we’d be in the desert. See that?” He pointed to the north of the town. “That’s where we’ll be landing. I do have to tell you, however, that the guns are on a revolving tracked system mounted to the interior of the fortress wall.” 
 
    “What does that mean?” asked Staff Sergeant Parsi, one of the squad leaders. 
 
    “It means the gun can move around to face into the desert.” 
 
    The headshaking began again.  
 
    “Why doesn’t the main assault force just land in the center of the town?” Rajavi asked. “Why land to the side and then need a diversion? It just seems like an awful lot of moving parts when you could just do a massive invasion and not have to face those guns.” 
 
    “I’m glad you asked,” Shirazi replied. He threw a couple of overhead imagery photos on the table. “See here?” he asked, pointing. “And here, here, here, and here? Those are anti-aircraft missile systems. They can reach out to orbit; however, by galactic law, you can’t shoot at them outside of 10 miles.” 
 
    “Why the hell not?” Rajavi asked. “That’s stupid. Just drop some big rocks on the missile systems, land in the town square, declare victory, and go home. Job done.” 
 
    “Apparently there was a big war in the past where lots of planets were destroyed from orbit. It scared everyone so much they swore never to do it again, and they made all these laws to ensure it never would. The bottom line is we can’t do it—I asked—or other mercs could come here and do it to Earth.” 
 
    “Like they haven’t already done that to us,” Staff Sergeant Mohsen muttered. 
 
    “As much as it galls me to say, they’ve followed their laws—such as they are—in what they’ve done to us. That said, we need to become more conversant with the new laws we will be living under. We must know them, so we can use them against the aliens.” 
 
    “Damn right, sir,” Mohsen said, nodding. 
 
    “Our mission,” Shirazi said, pressing on, “is to land in the desert north of the city and pretend like we are going to assault the town from the north. The big guns will rotate around to take us under fire, and while we’re occupying their attention, a big force of Besquith will charge up the hill and attack the town.” 
 
    “And what happens if the Besquith don’t show up to do their part?” Kazemi asked. 
 
    “Then there will probably be a lot fewer of us when we’re done retreating.” 
 
    “What happens if we attack, and they don’t rotate the gun?”  
 
    “Then we do our best to get inside the wall, disable the gun, and open the gates for the Besquith to attack.” 
 
    “Will the defenders be shooting at us as we approach the walls?” 
 
    “Presumably.” 
 
    “And how high are the walls?” 
 
    “Twenty feet.” 
 
    “And how many defenders?” 
 
    “At least a company of MinSha, as well as an unknown number of insurgents.” 
 
    “So if everything goes right, we probably only lose a few people, but if it goes bad…” 
 
    “It could be nightmarish,” Shirazi finished. 
 
    “Out of curiosity,” Kazemi said, “why did you happen to pick this one, out of all of the contracts that were offered?” 
 
    “Two reasons. First, if we successfully get the gun to rotate to the north, we get paid our fee of five million credits, even if the assault fails.” 
 
    “That’s all we make?” Captain Rajavi asked. “Five million?”  
 
    “Well, considering that a single credit is trading for 45,000 U.S. dollars on the New York Stock Exchange today, that means our five million galactic credits is actually worth 225 billion U.S. dollars.” 
 
    Several people whistled. 
 
    “Correct. There are also other bonuses that we’ll get paid for completing various other tasks. If the town is successfully recaptured because of our assistance, our fee is doubled.” 
 
    “Holy shit!” one of the squad leaders whispered.  
 
    “You said two reasons,” Kazemi reminded. 
 
    “The other reason is that the insurgents had assistance when they captured the town. Along with the armed insurgents, like I said, there is a company of MinSha there.” 
 
    “And we get to kill them?” 
 
    “As many as we can.” 
 
    “Screw the rest of that shit,” Kazemi said. “I get to kill MinSha? I’m in.” 
 
    “Me, too.” 
 
    “And me.” 
 
    “I’m in.” 
 
    It was unanimous. The assault was on.  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
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    “So, we get to kill the MinSha,” Sergeant Major Kazemi said. “How exactly are we going to do that?” 
 
    “Asymmetric warfare,” Colonel Shirazi said. 
 
    “What?” 
 
    “Asymmetric warfare,” Colonel Shirazi repeated. “It was something the American said while he was here. At the time, it annoyed the piss out of me, but now I see what he meant. How many MinSha did we kill when they attacked Chabahar?” 
 
    “Five,” said Captain Abbasi. 
 
    “And how were they killed?” 
 
    “Two with a thermobaric RPG round from behind, one with grenades as the MinSha tried to search a soldier’s body, and two of the crazy Qud fuckers jumping on them with suicide vests.” He realized the Second Squad leader was a former member of the Qud company. “No offense,” he said, looking at the soldier. 
 
    “None taken,” Staff Sergeant Avesta replied. “We did, after all, kill two of them.” 
 
    “Yes, you did,” Shirazi said. “So we killed five, total. We also captured one when a crane operator at the port dropped an open conex box on top of it. It hit its head and the alien got knocked out, and the crane operator shut the door before it came to. The steel in the box must have cut its comms, because they never came looking for it. What do all of these things have in common? They are asymmetric.” 
 
    “I’m sorry, sir, but I still don’t understand what you mean by that,” Staff Sergeant Parsi said. 
 
    “When we went force-on-force with them, we lost,” Shirazi said. “It was only when we did sneaky things that we had any success. They are prepared to fight big stand-up battles, but are less prepared for guerrilla warfare.” 
 
    “So we get to be sneaky,” Kazemi said. “I like that.” 
 
    “We also know a lot more about them now than we did before they landed,” Shirazi continued. “Having analyzed the one we captured, we know where their weak points are. For example, if you can get above them, their carapace is significantly weaker on top where their wings are than in the front. Not only that, we also have three of their laser rifles. Admittedly, their batteries are low and we only have a few replacements that we scavenged from their dead, but they will not expect us to have those, and they may be used to our advantage to force an opening where we might not have had one before.” 
 
    He looked around the table and could see the men start to believe the mission could be completed. Good. That was the first step. “This mission is possible, and we can complete it—and survive it as well—or I wouldn’t have taken it. Are there any other questions?” 
 
    “What’s next?” asked Abbasi. 
 
    “We have three weeks before our transport arrives to pick us up. First we plan, then we train, then we go kill aliens.” 
 
    “And get paid, right, Colonel?” Kazemi asked. “We’re mercs now, so we get paid, too? 
 
    “Absolutely,” Shirazi said. “Kill aliens and get paid. That’s our new lifestyle.” 
 
    “I like it.” Kazemi nodded. “Where do I sign?” 
 
      
 
    * * * 
 
      
 
    The dropship swayed as it lifted from the docking bay, turned, and accelerated into space. Shirazi looked down the rows of his troops in the cargo hold. Veterans of numerous wars and battles in Iraq, Afghanistan, and Syria, his men looked like all veterans prior to combat—resigned to their fate. Sure there were some who were praying—he had put in a few prayers before they launched, too—but most appeared to be going over the parts they were supposed to play in their heads. Several had their eyes closed and were visualizing it, their hands moving of their own accord and fingers pulling an invisible trigger from time to time. Several of the longest-serving were sleeping. 
 
    “How long until we’re on the ground?” he asked on the command channel. 
 
    “Fifteen minutes,” the pilot, a SleSha, said. He had seen the flight crew when they boarded—giant flightless wasps, they were another of the merc races. Their appearance hadn’t filled him with confidence, but one of the Jeha ground crew for the dropship said they were two of the best pilots he’d ever seen, and that they always brought the dropship back—usually without too many holes in it. 
 
    Shirazi hoped that was Truth. 
 
    His eyes swept the troops again, and Shirazi smiled back at all the ones who met his eyes, giving them his best ‘Hunter’s Grin.’ He then closed his eyes, preparing himself with the litany he’d learned in his childhood. Good Thoughts, Good Words, Good Deeds. He repeated it several times, focusing on the meaning of the words with the hope that he would be worthy in the upcoming hours. In the end it was all the preparation he needed for meeting the MinSha again. His good deeds would be to send them to hell. 
 
    “Five minutes!” the pilot called, and then, “Entropy! Missiles! What the—?” His voice changed to the intercom, so everyone could hear. “Hold on! Maneuvering!” 
 
    The ship went through a number of radical maneuvers, where up became down and then down became up. Alternately, they were slammed into their seats with six to seven gravities of force, and then pulled the other way, where the only thing holding them down was their straps. 
 
    Private Hashemi either hadn’t done up his straps right, or they had failed, because he was launched out of his seat and crashed into the roof of the craft. As the shuttle continued to maneuver, he became a giant pinball inside the dropship, slamming into all of the bulkheads as his comrades tried to grab and hold him down. At first, he tried to curl into a ball to protect himself, but after slamming into a piece of the dropship’s machinery during a particularly violent maneuver, he lost consciousness and stopped defending himself. Blood trickled out of his mouth as he bounced several more times. Two of the troopers finally got hold of him and threw a couple of straps over him, but it looked to Shirazi like it was too late. 
 
    All of a sudden, something slammed into the side of the ship and the craft went into a long, sustained yaw, where the troops were all pinned to the left as the craft seemed to spiral out of control. Shirazi desperately wanted to know their altitude—were they going to crash? Someone screamed.  
 
    “Hang on everyone!” a new voice said on the intercom. “Crash positions!” 
 
    Shirazi leaned forward and put his head between his knees with his arms over his head. 
 
    The dropship hit with a jolt, although it was far less than a full-fledged ‘crash.’ The jolt was followed by several seconds of flying and then another jolt as the dropship came back to earth, this time to stay, and skidded along for several seconds. Shirazi could feel the craft skidding along through the soles of his boots, and it was the best feeling in the world—they were down! He didn’t care how. Maybe the sand had helped cushion the blow. Maybe the pilots were as good as he’d been told. It didn’t matter—he was down! 
 
    The lights went out, but then the emergency lanterns kicked on, providing a minimal amount of light. When the motion stopped, he popped the quick release on his harness. “Get everyone organized, Sergeant Major,” Shirazi ordered. “I want to be able to move out in five minutes. They’ll probably come looking for us, and we need to be gone!” 
 
    Shirazi grabbed his rifle and pack and went forward. When he reached the cockpit, he found the canopy shattered, with a hole on the pilot’s side. The pilot was leaning forward in his straps, a large piece of canopy protruding from his chest carapace. He wouldn’t be bringing the shuttle back, after all. 
 
    The copilot flipped a few more switches, shutting down the craft, then turned to face Shirazi. 
 
    “What happened?” the colonel asked. 
 
    “We thought we were outside their sensor and missile range,” the copilot replied. “We weren’t. Apparently they got better equipment than what we were briefed on.” 
 
    “Where are we? Did we make it to our landing zone?”  
 
    The copilot gave what was translated as a bitter laugh. “We aren’t close.” He pointed out the window. “It’s about 50 miles in that direction.” 
 
    “The target?” Shirazi asked. He did some mental calculations. The increased distance would add a day of travel. Water would be tight. 
 
    “No,” the copilot said. He gave another bitter laugh. “It’s 50 miles to where we were supposed to land. The target is another 25 miles on the far side of that.” 
 
    Shit. An extra two days of hard travel. They wouldn’t have enough water, even if they conserved it. “What’s the chances of getting another dropship down here for retrieval or resupply?” 
 
    “Exactly zero,” the copilot replied. “The other dropships got bagged at the same time we did, including the ones the Besquith were on, but they got bagged hard. They’re all dead. I got out an encrypted message that we were going in, but I thought I could land it, so I expect them to be back to take a look. The problem is that all of the dropships got shot down, so the transport will have to go back to our home planet and pick up more ships and pilots before they can come get us. Rescue is at least two weeks away.” 
 
    Great. Not only were they going to run out of water before they got to the target, the main assault force they were supposed to be supporting wasn’t going to show up. Shirazi shook his head. It didn’t really matter—they wouldn’t have been there in time to support it, anyway. 
 
    “Well, c’mon,” Shirazi said. “We need to get the hell out of here.” 
 
    “What do you mean?” the copilot asked. “I’m staying with the ship.” 
 
    “If you want to cook inside it, that’s fine with me, but we’re going to torch the ship. I want it to look like we all died on impact. You can either come with us or burn up with him.” He jerked a thumb toward the pilot. 
 
    “I’ll come with you.” 
 
    “Good choice.” 
 
    Shirazi led the copilot to the back. “Rajavi!” 
 
    “Here sir!” 
 
    “We’re taking the copilot with us. He can have Private Hashemi’s gear. Also, get him to show you what we can strip from the ship. Anything useful like water or medical supplies, bring it along. Also, get him to show you where the fuel dumps are. I want to blow this ship into about a million pieces, so the MinSha are sure we’re all dead. You’ve got about four minutes to get all that done, so get on it!”  
 
    “Yes, sir!” 
 
    “Abbasi! Kazemi!” 
 
    “Yes, Colonel?”  
 
    “Come with me.” He let the two men a little way further into the craft to talk privately. “Here’s the deal. We’re a long way from where we’re supposed to be.” 
 
    “How far?” Kazemi asked. 
 
    “Fifty miles. I don’t know how much water this ship has, but we’re probably going to be low on water. We don’t have to worry about the timing for the attack—all the forces we were supposed to support are dead. We’ve got two choices: surrender to the MinSha or take the fight to them.” 
 
    “I’d rather die in the desert than surrender to those goat fuckers,” Kazemi said immediately. 
 
    “Me, too.” Abbasi agreed. 
 
    “My thoughts as well. So, we need to get out of here, because I expect they’ll come looking to confirm our deaths. I want to be a long way away from here when they do.” 
 
    “We don’t want to go toward them and help them find us,” Kazemi said. “East or west?” 
 
    “East. It’s a little closer to the ravine that way. Maybe we can find some harder ground than this damn sand so we can speed up our pace. Otherwise, we’ll run out of water and die before we get there.” 
 
    “Works for me,” Kazemi said. “I’ll get the men organized.” He turned and went to the back of the ship. 
 
    Shirazi turned to Captain Abbasi. “We’ll have to watch the men—water is going to be tight. We’ll conserve sweat, not water, so keep them drinking. Remember, people are often found dead in the desert with water still in their canteens. We will travel at night and sleep during the day. When we get closer to the city, we’ll use our UAVs to surveil the defenses and figure out how we’re going to proceed. The only way we can win is if we kick their asses, so that’s what we’re going to do. Any questions?” 
 
    “None.” 
 
    “Good, let’s go.” 
 
    He got to the back and walked out into the night, only to find a disturbance, centered on the copilot. Several red-lensed flashlights were being held on him. “What the hell’s going on?” 
 
    “He doesn’t want to do what we tell him,” Staff Sergeant Avesta replied. “He says he wants to surrender.” 
 
    “Is that so?” Shirazi asked, turning to the SleSha. 
 
    “They are all tying themselves together,” the copilot replied. “I don’t want to be tied up.”  
 
    “Did they tell you why they’re doing that?” 
 
    “No.” 
 
    “Oh, for fuck’s sake, we don’t have time for this. There’s such a thing as dry quicksand. If you fall into it, or a sinkhole, or anything, you’re gone. If you don’t give a shit about that, fine; they won’t tie you into one of the squads. But you’ll be on your own—if you fall or can’t keep up, we’re not stopping for you.” 
 
    “That’s fine; I want to come, but I won’t be tied up.” 
 
    “Fine.” 
 
    Sergeant Major Kazemi approached. “I’m glad that worked out, sir. I didn’t want to, but I was about to shoot the little bastard and throw him into the ship.” 
 
    “Me, too,” Shirazi said with a nod. “We ready to go?” 
 
    “Yes, sir. We scavenged a bunch of water from the ship and have as much as the men are able to carry. It will be close, but we ought to have enough water for three days. If we have to go a fourth, it’ll be tight.” 
 
    “Move out then. We need to be as far as we can from the dropship by daybreak. I’ll address the men when we stop.” 
 
    “Yes, sir.” He turned to the lines of men, roped together. “First Squad, head east. Second, follow them, followed by Third and Fourth. We’re trying to cover as much ground as we can before daylight. Move out!” 
 
    “Who’s torching the ship?” Shirazi asked as First Squad started moving, the 10 men of the squad roped together moving in a single file, with Captain Abbasi tied in at the end of the stick. Captain Rajavi was at the end of Second, Shirazi would go at the end of Third, and Kazemi at the end of Fourth. It wasn’t your typical march through the desert—the men carried more RPG rounds than was usual for a squad. It was a gamble how much they could carry and still make it to the target, but they also needed the ammo if they were to be successful when they got to the city…everything was now up to them. 
 
    “I am,” Kazemi said, “and then I will catch up to Fourth Squad. How could I pass it up? How many Humans have ever gotten to blow up a spaceship before?” 
 
    “Not many,” Shirazi replied. “Be careful.” 
 
    Third Squad began moving in a single file, following the path First Squad left, with one light at the front. It became much easier to see two minutes later when the dropship blew up in an enormous fireball. 
 
      
 
    * * * 
 
      
 
    The sky began to lighten in front of them, and the copilot came to walk alongside Shirazi. “Why are we going east?” 
 
    “Because we’re trying to evade capture. The MinSha will look for us on a line to the south from the crash first, thinking we’ll be headed toward the closest civilization. We either needed to go east or west, and the ravine is closer to the east, so we went east. It adds time, but hopefully there will be harder ground by the ravine and we’ll be able to walk faster and make up some of it. We’ll be more visible by the ravine, but we have to make time.” He paused and then added, “You’ll want to be extra careful there.”  
 
    “Why’s that?” 
 
    “If you’re not going to be tied in, you better watch your step. The map shows a 3,000-feet drop-off. How well can you fly?” 
 
    “SleSha can’t fly.” 
 
    “Well, if you step off that edge you will…for about 15 seconds, anyway.” 
 
    Shirazi signaled and the group came to a halt. Within seconds, everyone began digging or assembling boxes from the metal poles they’d been carrying. 
 
    “What are they doing?” the copilot asked. 
 
    Shirazi snapped two of his poles together and looked up. “We’re building our day shelters. The frame makes a rectangle and the cloth covers it and keeps out the sand. You bury it in the sand and cover it with sand, leaving one end open as a ramp to get down into it. It will keep the sun off you during the day and it will be a little cooler than it is outside. It will also be darker, so you can sleep. If you do it right, it is nearly invisible from the air.” 
 
    “But what about the paths we’ve been making all night? They will point right to where we are.” 
 
    “No, we have only been making one path all night—we have followed in each other’s footsteps. Whichever squad was last also had the job of erasing our tracks. If they don’t find us today, we ought to be okay for the next day or two. We’ll be harder to track on the harder ground by the ravine.” 
 
    “How much farther do we have to go to get to the ravine?” 
 
    Shirazi laughed. “I guess you weren’t paying attention. It’s only about 200 yards to the edge. If you sleepwalk, be careful where you go.”  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
 
      
 
    


 
   
  
 

 Asbaran Solutions - 11 
 
      
 
    The company travelled for two more nights in that manner. Although there were some close calls in the dark, no one went over the edge of the ravine. The water supply continued to dwindle. While it was good in that the troops had less weight to carry, it was bad in that they needed water in order to function. Shirazi knew they didn’t have enough water to make it the extra day they needed, so on the second day they had recycled the water they drank, catching their urine to drink it later. Although repulsive, you did what you had to do to survive in the desert. 
 
    The next night, Shirazi and Kazemi agreed that the color and odor of their urine showed it was too highly concentrated with dangerous waste products to drink. They would have to make do with what remaining water they had. As they bedded down for the third day after traveling the ravine—and fourth overall—they finished the last of their water and hydration salts. They still had about five miles to go the next night, but they would have to push through. Shirazi could already see that many of the troops were starting to show symptoms of mild dehydration; nearly everyone had a headache, and they were showing signs of irritability. He knew they would have to hit the city the next night, regardless of what they found, or they would begin losing people. 
 
    The target was already in view—five miles away across the sand dunes. The lights of the city had been glowing on the horizon all night, and they finally had to abandon the precipice route—it made them easy to see as they traveled—so they returned to the open sand and zig-zagged their way through the dunes. Although it slowed them down to go back and forth, it cost less energy than going over the tops of the dunes and kept them from being highlighted. They stopped traveling early when Shirazi deemed they were close enough to assault the town the next night, and they built their holes behind the largest dune they could find. 
 
      
 
    * * * 
 
      
 
    “Let’s see what there is to see,” Captain Rajavi whispered as he piloted the little drone toward the walls of the city. Asbaran Solutions had come as far as they could without exposing themselves. The last 500 yards of desert prior to the walls of the city had been mechanically smoothed; if there was someone on the wall, they’d be able to see the company if it moved any further. 
 
    Operating on four small fans, the drone reached the wall in just a couple of minutes. Thirty feet above it, the sentries didn’t see or hear it. Asbaran had brought along several types of drones—the one currently in use was the spy drone, which made almost no noise and was the hardest to see. On a dark night, like tonight, it was nearly invisible.  
 
    “One…two…two indigs on the wall. They look bored, and it’s not even late yet. Hmmm…what’s that? Oooh, it’s a sentry station. And look what’s inside—it’s a MinSha. Shit. Nothing else for a ways down the wall. Three targets. Two are easy. One’s going to be harder if the bastard doesn’t ever come out of the sensor station.” 
 
    “Can you see his monitors?” Shirazi asked. 
 
    “Just a second.” Although Rajavi wasn’t the best officer in Asbaran, he was by far the best drone pilot; if he couldn’t do it, no one could. “Yeah, I can just see the monitors. It looks like thermal screens looking out into the desert from the wall. Wait…he just got a call, I think.” 
 
    “It’s probably a check-in from the central monitoring station,” Shirazi said. “How long can you hold that position? I’d love to know how often they check in with him.” 
 
    “Battery shows about 50 percent; I can hold it here for another couple of hours if I don’t fuck it up.” 
 
    “Do so, please.” 
 
    Thirty-seven minutes later, the MinSha went through the same check-in procedure.  
 
    “Okay,” Shirazi said. “We have a 37-minute window. Go back to the indigs on the wall.” He watched as the view shifted. The indigenous life forms were reptilian and looked like five-foot-long bearded dragons. Both were looking out over the desert with some form of night vision or infrared googles. The wall was about four feet high and crenellated. As they watched, first one of the indigs, then the other, crawled up onto the wall’s crenellations. Although they both maintained their watch, it was much less effective, and Shirazi figured they would both be asleep shortly.  
 
    “Is Drone 2 ready?” Shirazi asked. 
 
    “It’s in a holding pattern, just waiting to be called in.” 
 
    “Sergeant Major, alert the troops. We move in about 30 minutes.” He turned back to Rajavi. “Go back to the MinSha please.” 
 
    Shirazi watched his timepiece. Right on time, the MinSha got the call. “Bring in Drone Two,” he ordered. “I want one shot through the indig on the right’s head.” 
 
    Rajavi put the smaller drone into a holding pattern and switched the controller to the second drone. A bigger drone, he had parked it over the ravine. He brought it in over the city at 200 feet. At that height, it was high enough not to be heard, but low enough to not show up on the anti-aircraft missiles’ radar. Unlike the first drone, this one was armed, and he looked through the targeting crosshairs as he slid it into position. 
 
    The indig never knew what hit him. The MinSha laser mounted to the UAV fired, and the bolt hit the drowsy reptilian in the head. With barely a sound, it rolled over and off the wall. 
 
    The targeting crosshairs slid over to the second indig as it jumped up and peered down at his comrade, then turned and gestured to the MinSha. 
 
    “Be ready,” Shirazi warned. “I want one through the head of the MinSha first, and then one through the indig.” 
 
    “Yes sir.” 
 
    Rajavi pulled back on the zoom to get the whole scene in the viewfinder. Sure enough, after a couple of seconds, the MinSha came out of the monitoring station and walked to the wall to see what the indig was motioning him about. Rajavi zoomed back in and tracked the MinSha as it approached the wall and looked over.  
 
    “Now,” whispered Shirazi.  
 
    The laser fired as the alien looked over the edge, and the beam speared through the alien’s head. The MinSha fell forward and flipped over the edge. The other indig watched the alien fall from the crenellation it was standing in, then turned back toward the monitoring station, its mouth wide open. Rajavi fired again, and the bolt speared through its open mouth. The lizard pitched backward over the edge. 
 
    “Showoff,” Shirazi said. “Now find and kill the rest.” He looked up. “Kazemi! Go! Go! Go!” 
 
    As silent as ghosts, 42 soldiers sprinted forward, all thoughts of water forgotten.  
 
    Reaching the wall, the leaders made way for the ladder bearers, covering the wall above them with their weapons. Made from the same metal poles that had formed their sleeping boxes, the three ladders each extended 25 feet and were easily high enough to breach the wall. The bearers put the ladders in place and started up, with the next person in line holding it until they reached the top, then they started up and the next in line held the ladder. 
 
    Shirazi was the second person up on the middle ladder. He reached the top and stepped off, pulling the laser rifle off his back. A little too big originally, his armorer had modified it for Humans to carry and fire more easily, just like the one Sergeant Major Kazemi was carrying.  
 
    Reaching the ground on the other side, the company split up into eight-man fire teams. One went to each of the anti-aircraft missile batteries, two went to the MinSha barracks, and one team took up a blocking position on the main road between the barracks and the south gate. One by one, the groups checked in over their sub-vocal radios. Some were slowed by the indigs, but all of the locals had been dealt with by the members of the teams with their suppressed weapons. 
 
    Finally, the teams were in place, with but two minutes to spare. “Fire!” Shirazi ordered, and the two teams with him fired thermobaric RPG rockets into the MinSha barracks. The city lit up as additional RPG rounds detonated at the anti-aircraft missile sites, setting them ablaze with numerous secondary explosions. 
 
    Each of the teams at the barracks fired another round into the barracks, just to be sure, even though the building was already burning fiercely. 
 
    “Let’s go!” Shirazi urged as he turned toward the headquarters building behind him, and three members of his group detached to go with him, leaving the RPG crew to guard the front doors of the building.  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
 
      
 
    


 
   
  
 

 Asbaran Solutions - Epilogue 
 
      
 
    Colonel Shirazi and Sergeant Major Kazemi watched as the rescue dropship came down to land just outside the town’s walls. “There’s our ride,” Kazemi said. 
 
    Shirazi looked at his watch. “And right on time.” 
 
    “Fire in the hole!” someone yelled from further down the wall, and the MinSha funeral pyre was lit. Only five of the MinSha had survived the initial assault. Two more had been shot down by the drone Rajavi controlled as he searched for more of the aliens, one had been at the front gate and was killed by an RPG round as he returned to the headquarters building, and the last two had been in the headquarters building itself. They had barricaded themselves in the command bunker, and, rather than take any unnecessary casualties, Shirazi had blown up the building and dropped it on them. Problem solved. 
 
    “So what did we end up making on this contract?” Kazemi asked.  
 
    “About three-quarters of a trillion dollars, U.S.” Shirazi said. “That will buy us some better equipment for the next time, since most of the MinSha gear I wanted to capture was destroyed. Even better than the money, though, is that we killed 40 MinSha.” 
 
    “Hey, sir, you know what you call 40 dead MinSha in a fire?” 
 
    “A good start?” 
 
    “You took the words right out of my mouth. How soon can we come back and do this again?” 
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
 
    


 
   
  
 

 Avenging Angels - 2 
 
      
 
    Message Initially Received: Taloco System 
 
    For Forwarding To: Earth System 
 
      
 
    Message Begins: 
 
    Dearest Dianne, 
 
      
 
    It’s with great sadness I have to tell you we won’t be home as soon as I had hoped. Not only aren’t we any closer to you than when I last wrote, unfortunately, we’re now even further away. We’re so far away, even I’m having a hard time comprehending where we are now, and I’m one of the best astrogators we have. 
 
    All I can tell you is we’re somewhere in the Praf region of the Jesc Arm. Jesc is one of the lesser arms of the galaxy—it’s the one that is trailward of the one Earth is in (the Tolo Arm.) The Praf region is the region closest to the galactic core where the stars are densest. Our commanding officer thought if we came here, the relative abundance of star systems close to the core would mean we could find work easier. Unfortunately, that didn’t work out quite as well as he had hoped. While there are more systems, with more races of aliens and lots more conflicts going on—and contracts to be had—there is also a relative abundance of merc races here to fill them. 
 
    Worse, we just found out the MinSha Series 3 dropships we got are giant pieces of crap, just like the ones we got for our original issue. We were told they were much better, but saying the Series 3s are “much better” than our original craft is like saying the Sherman tank of World War II is “much better” at fighting a war with contemporary Russian or Chinese forces than a World War I tank would be. Yes, it would be better, but it would still suck and wouldn’t last long before it was destroyed. 
 
    Everyone here seems to have heard what our equipment is like, and because there are so many other merc forces available, it’s hard to undercut them on price. It seems like no matter how low we go, there is always another merc race willing to do it for less, with equipment that is much better than ours, which makes it far more likely that they will be successful. Hell, I’d pick them too, if I were a potential hiring authority. 
 
    The only thing we were offered is a combat salvage, search, and rescue (CSSAR) mission for a war going on at a nearby system. I know, that probably seems a lot like what we normally do, which is combat search and rescue (CSAR); however, it’s a lot different. Back home, if there’s a battle going on and someone gets shot down, we will do a CSAR to get them back before the enemy snatches them up. Dash in while firing anti-missile missiles, grab the aircrew guy or gal, and dash back out. Easy peasy. Okay, it’s not really that easy, but it can be done if you have a good plan and good intel on the enemy. It’s what we do, and we’re good at it. 
 
    Unfortunately, we’re still having to figure out the whole “mercenary thing” as we go along. Not only are mercenaries worried about people like militaries are, they are also worried about the bottom line for their business. In many cases, merc outfits are actually a lot more worried about the equipment than they are the people. What I mean is that a dropship costs a heck of a lot more to replace than a pilot; therefore, they are considered more valuable than the pilots flying them. Sure, you can add in the costs of training a new pilot…but many times, companies will just hire new pilots away from other outfits and save themselves the costs of training. Sure, it costs more to hire an experienced pilot than a newbie, but even an experienced pilot still costs orders of magnitude less than the equipment he or she flies (and they’re more likely to survive the mission than a newbie, which also makes financial sense).  
 
    I’m happy to say that our CO is old-school enough that he doesn’t think that way, which is why we didn’t take the CSSAR mission. A merc company that one of the warring parties had contracted wanted to hire us to go to the planet and stand by to recover any of their dropships that were downed behind enemy lines, with a bonus for snatching up any of the enemy’s dropships, tanks, or missile systems we could get our hands on while we were there. The more the enemy’s stuff was worth on the open market, the more they promised to pay us. They were also going to give us a bonus for bringing back any new technology they didn’t have. Basically, they were paying us to be horse thieves—if something got loose from the herd, they wanted us to go in and steal it for its technology or resale value. When our CO asked how much we would get for each of their troops we brought back, the alien looked at him funny and asked, “Why would we pay for that? People are cheap—we can always make more.” 
 
    It was the darnedest thing I’ve ever seen—please go get my equipment, but don’t bother with my troops. Sure, it was a reptilian race that lays lots of eggs and can have an entire new generation of troopers within a couple of years…but the CO said “no, thanks,” and we were all in agreement with him. If they didn’t value their own troops, they were even less likely to value the lives of our forces, and to send us in on a mission that we were unlikely to come back from, just to try to get something valuable they could sell. Good riddance to them! 
 
    On another note, we did finally see some fellow Humans. There was a group of folks calling themselves, “The Golden Horde” here last week. The reason I say “group of folks” and not “unit” is they were the weirdest military outfit I’ve ever seen. They had just come from their first contract and were heading home. Unfortunately, the ship taking them back to Earth didn’t have enough room for us to ride along, or we’d have come back with them. It’s probably better that we didn’t ride with them—they looked like a bunch of druggies you’d see on the streets of New York or some other big city. Even though most of them appeared to be Mongols (which is where they got the “Horde” from, I guess), they were all covered in gold and other types of gems and jewelry. I will say one thing for them, though—they got a hold of a bunch of copies of a new Tri-V game and left us a few, so at least we have something to do to kill the time here while we wait for a contract we can do without getting ourselves killed doing it. Corporal Stevens is already ranked in the top 10% of all players, galaxy-wide. When you think about how many people are playing it, that’s pretty impressive. 
 
    Well, I’ve got to close for now. The CO wants me to go with him to the merc pit to help him look for a new contract. The nature of mercs being what it is, there’s safety in numbers, and it makes sense to travel in a group. Kind of like when we were traveling overseas, I guess. 
 
      
 
    Looking forward to coming home to you as soon as I can. 
 
    I love you! 
 
      
 
    Captain John Pike,  
 
    Avenging Angels 
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
 
      
 
    


 
   
  
 

 Letter Home from Sandy - 2 
 
      
 
      
 
    Message Initially Received: Taloco System 
 
    For Forwarding To: Earth System 
 
      
 
    Dear Patricia, 
 
      
 
    I really hoped I’d be home by now, but we’re on the far side of the galaxy. Somewhere called the Jesc arm. All I know it’s a long damned way from Earth. It’s weird, all these aliens we’ve never seen, they treat us like exhibits in a zoo. They’ve seen each other, but most have never seen a Human.  
 
    I’m learning how to speak elSha now. Think of that lizard that sells insurance. They’re not mercs; they’re mechanics. Damned good ones. The boss hired a team to work on the shitty MinSha dropships we bought, and they had ‘em fixed up in no time. They did it pretty cheaply too, because money’s getting tight. We still can’t get more than little jobs. While they keep the food coming in, it’s only just.  
 
    I know you’ll think I’m crazy, but I fell for a guy in our unit. You never met him. Richard Taylor, a dropship pilot. Sigh, he’s nice. It’d be good to have someone to hold. I’ve been spending as much time as possible learning medicine. I’ve volunteered at a clinic here in the Taloco system. They’re pretty primitive by Union standards, but they view Earth medicine like we’d look at Civil War-era medical technology. I got to sit in on a couple nano-therapy sessions. It’s the stuff they used to save Ambassador Thales’ life—microscopic robots! Some mercs are so rich they have little med kits they use. The boss is trying to buy some, but we’re already nearly broke.  
 
    We’re looking at another contract. This one might be a winner. The boss passed on one a short time ago because the aliens offering it were only interested in the hardware, not the troopers. We all agreed we wouldn’t ignore injured just to save a tank, or something. MREs again for a while, I guess. Pretty glad we brought them now.  
 
    I hope you’re getting all these letters. They cost me a couple credits each! I paid extra for this one to include an image. It’s both a JPG and a Tri-V. I hope there is a Tri-V player in town by now, it’s pretty cool! Richard is on the left, bottom row. 
 
      
 
    XXOO - Sandy 
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
 
      
 
    


 
   
  
 

 Winged Hussars - 1 
 
      
 
      
 
    The ORP Wilk was unique in many ways. Originally part of the Polska Zegluga Morska, the Polish Steamship Company, it was a bulk hauler first built in 1952, then refitted in 1966, 1979, and most recently in 1991. Its name, Wilk, was taken from a WWII Polish submarine, which was ironic since the Wilk had the misfortune of having sunk, twice. Unfortunately for the current owners, neither of those times had been the ship’s final chapter.  
 
    “I hope my father is nice and warm in hell,” Lech Kosmalski grumbled as he watched the master controls on the bridge. The last refit, after her second sinking, hadn’t done the Wilk any great service. Sure, they’d added another 20 meters to her keel (known as a stretch job) and a rather rare on-board bulk material moving system. Those had been good moves. However, they’d also tried to bring the ship’s 1950’s era control systems up to date by installing computer controllers on all its vital systems, digital monitoring meters on its steam and water lines, and computers on the bridge. Nothing was wrong with that, on the surface. However most of the ship’s electrical cable runs had been installed when she was originally built, and they were welded into the superstructure. The wire was old, and the insulation was brittle and largely unreplaceable.  
 
    Lech touched an icon on the screen that should have altered their course 5 degrees to starboard. The big old brass and hardwood wheel, one of the only things still original on the bridge, stubbornly refused to move. “Screw you, you motherless whore,” he cursed, using English for effect. Of course, since the entire bridge crew was Polish, most of them except Lawrence Kosmalski didn’t understand a word. “Cousin,” he asked, “what is wrong?”  
 
    Half the bridge crew were his cousins, and all were at least distantly related. Lawrence knew the curse had been directed at him, as he was the ship’s one and only IT specialist.  
 
    “I will look at it, Captain,” Lawrence said. Despite being two years older than Lech, and having played with him innumerable times as children, Lech insisted he be called “Captain.”  
 
    Lawrence accessed the navigation station’s computer, basically a Microsoft Surface Pro 7, via Bluetooth, logged into the command buffer, and found the last command still sitting there with the icon indicating “unable to communicate.” Crap, he mentally cursed. There were three electrical channels to the helm servos in the bowels of the ship’s stern. Accessing the communications channels, he saw two of them were red. Only one had been red yesterday, a backup. The new dead pathway was his main channel. That was bad. While he watched, his personal tablet flashed the warning that only one channel was left. Timely, he thought with a programmer’s black humor.  
 
    The system hadn’t switched over automatically because he didn’t want it to. The final channel was already used for four other command circuits. Sure, you could multiplex the hell out of an old, thick copper wire, if it wasn’t corroded halfway through in a dozen places. He scowled at his choices in the menu, glancing up at Lech, who was staring at him with obvious malice. This wasn’t his fault—the marine contractor should have been more honest from the beginning. Lawrence had already spent hundreds of hours with electrical testing probes, sensing signal strength and looking for broken lines. 
 
    He gritted his teeth, touched and dragged the steering command to the 3rd channel, and waited. The buffer flashed again for a moment, and the wheel slowly began to move in response to the rudder. Several bridge crewmen applauded, and Lech gave him a nod. Lawrence resisted the urge to flip them all the bird. He was just grateful this hadn’t happened on third watch when he was in his bunk fast asleep.  
 
    Just to be safe, he stayed on the bridge an hour, watching the various crewmen move around, doing their tasks. He’d only been doing this for a year now, a last-ditch attempt by his grandfather to save the Wilk from the scrap yard. Luckily, or unluckily depending on your point of view, bringing on Lawrence with his three degrees in computer science worked. But now, after that long year, the loss of another command wire pathway aft may well have signaled the ship’s doom. 
 
    Midday approached, and Lawrence could discern a line across the horizon. The coast was finally approaching. He left the bridge quietly, returning to his cabin just one deck down. In better days, it had been an officer’s mess. After he’d come on board, Lawrence had appropriated it, and the space had become a sort of IT mad scientist’s laboratory. There he waged battle daily with the forces of obsolescence and the final death of a ship 40 years past its expected life span.  
 
    He plopped the Surface Pro onto his desk. It automatically linked with the workstation there and dumped vital data. He spent a few hours staring at scanned copies of the ship’s schematics, tracing the cable pathways of the now defunct main line. He was hoping against hope he could diagnose the location. He wasn’t a marine architect, though, so it wasn’t much more than a dream.  
 
    “Cousin!” Lech’s voice yelled over the PA. Lawrence reached over and pushed the button.  
 
    “Yes, Lech.” 
 
    “Yes, Captain,” the man growled. Lawrence just waited. “The helm is too slow.” 
 
    “It’s going to get slower.”  
 
    “What does that mean?” Lawrence debated explaining how the multiplexed signals would start stumbling over each other as they got closer to port, and other systems needed to use the pathway in preparation for docking. Instead, he said the systems were deteriorating, and he couldn’t stop it this time.  
 
    “I don’t believe you,” Lech said finally.  
 
    “I don’t care what you do or don’t believe,” Lawrence replied with a sigh. “I’ll email grandfather and explain.” Ironically, the 92-year-old man understood computers better than the captain of the ship.  
 
    “You do that,” Lech said, “and I will as well.”  
 
    “Of course you will,” Lawrence agreed and stabbed the button to cut off the communicator. He’d applied to the European Space Agency a year ago, and his application was at the second step of five. He’d taken the job on the Wilk only because his grandfather had asked him to as a personal favor. He was dearly hoping the ESA would have some good news for him when they reached port. He’d be happy to leave the Wilk forever and fly home.  
 
    As he’d feared, the signals got more and more muddled as they approached the channel between Russky Island and the spit of land where Vladivostok was located. As they cleared the headland the delay became minutes between signal and response. Lech repeatedly tried to call him, but Lawrence stayed in his IT cabin, shepherding the struggling system as much as he could.  
 
    It seemed like days, but it was only six hours after spotting the shore when ORP Wilk was taken in tow and gently pushed up against a dock almost as ancient as it was, to be tied securely in place. Only minutes later, the fire alarm sounded. The fire in the cable paths was the last hurrah of the ORP Wilk. Lawrence passed a pair of hurrying Russia shore-side fire fighters. He moved to the side of the gangway, and they brushed past. Smoke was curling from the nearest below-decks funnel. Lawrence shrugged and continued on.  
 
    Night was falling when he finally got to the little apartment the company rented for him just off the port at the edge of the downtown area. When he opened the door, the phone was flashing that a message was waiting. He took out his cellphone and immediately noted there was no service. In Vladivostok, that was no surprise, so he picked up the phone and called for his voice mail. His temporary amusement on the Wilk’s fate was washed away with the news that his grandfather had died two days ago. The second message was from his cousin, Lech, telling him the buyer cancelled the purchase because they were so late. Lech blamed it all on him. Lawrence went out for a beer. Life goes on.  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
 
      
 
    


 
   
  
 

 Winged Hussars - 2 
 
      
 
    Lawrence Kosmalski watched the skyline of Warsaw pass as the plane banked on final approach to Warsaw Chopin Airport. When they’d built the airport back in 1934, it was miles from the city center. Now modern high-rise apartments were a mere 500 meters away to the east, with skyscrapers another 500 past that. The approach routes had to thread a mountain range of developments. He wondered if any planes had ever punched holes through any of those buildings like the crazy Islamists did in New York back in 2001.  
 
    Though he’d been born in Warsaw, Lawrence retained no memory of the city. When his father was killed in a drunken brawl, Lawrence was three years old. He remembered the funeral only slightly, but the move to his grandfather’s estate in Gdynia quite well. The seaside city was near Gdańsk, where their family’s maritime interest prospered, so he’d grown up there. Edward Kosmalski took Lawrence under his wing, teaching him everything he knew about logistics and trading. The old man was shrewd beyond measure.  
 
    In the 1990s, shipping made a sudden and inexplicable shift from bulk haulers and what had been called tramp freighters to all containerized. Edward was unconvinced it would be a global move, because the infrastructure to handle the CONEX containers was expensive and difficult to maintain. That turned out to be the worst call he’d made in a long, prosperous career. And it nearly destroyed Kosmalski Shipping. Nearly, but not quite.  
 
    The plane’s wheels screamed in protest as the multi-hundred-ton plane settled to the runway and began braking. Welcome home, he thought somberly. A few minutes later, the plane had taxied over to the international terminal and parked.  
 
    Lawrence didn’t intend to stay in Warsaw very long. After he’d passed through customs, he took a cab directly to Wojskowy Cemetery on the north east side of town and arrived at the gravesite an hour before the funeral procession would arrive. The grave was waiting for his grandfather, empty with the dirt covered by a tasteful green piece of astroturf. Fifty or more folding chairs were set up with a temporary canopy in case the early spring weather proved uncooperative for the laying to rest of an icon. So far, the day was overcast and chilly.  
 
    He sat for a time on a chair at the front of the group set aside for family. The tombstone listed his grandfather’s name, dates of birth and death, and the simple eulogy, “Strident defender of those in peril on the seas.” The monument was carved in the shape of an old fashioned ship’s helm. He was still staring at the ornately-carved tombstone when the long procession of limousines arrived, led by a hearse.  
 
    After the vehicles stopped, people began moving toward the seats. A few saw him. Most went by, but a couple family members came close and whispered condolences. He didn’t look up at any of them, merely nodded in acknowledgement. Finally someone stopped in front of him.  
 
    “You weren’t at the service.” It was Lech.  
 
    “No,” Lawrence said.  
 
    “It was disrespectful.” Lawrence looked up at his former boss and fixed him with a glare that would freeze oxygen.  
 
    “So is causing a scene at a funeral.” Lech’s eyes narrowed, but Lawrence recognized the look of consideration. “Sit down, Lech.” The other man opened his mouth as if he were about to correct Lawrence, like he’d done a hundred times on the Wilk. But he remembered where he was and sat down instead, choosing a seat far from Lawrence. The casket was removed from the hearse, and the pallbearers slowly moved toward the grave.  
 
      
 
    * * * 
 
      
 
    The office building was located in the ultra-modern business center of Warsaw. Standing by the window, Lawrence could see the small area of the ancient Jewish ghetto which had been preserved, even as the prices of real estate around it skyrocketed. The Jews still had enormous political power in Poland. He knew many of his fellow Poles resented the Jews, but Lawrence didn’t care one way or another. He’d gone to school with several, and they seemed no different from the other kids.  
 
    “Where is the damned lawyer?” Lech asked with a growl. The office held all the members of the Kosmalskis named in Edward Kosmalski’s will. Lawrence could see most of them reflected in the lawyer’s office window. The last time he’d seen that many of his family in one place was a reunion when he was 12 years old. That was now 15 years in the past, and he could see many in the room would rather not have been there. Typical dysfunctional Polish family—lacking the unifying figure of their grandfather, self-destruction was well under way.  
 
    Unlike Lech, the others were content to wait. The dissection of the Kosmalski dynasty was worth waiting for. Even with the downturns of the recent decades, Edward Kosmalski had still died with a net worth over a billion euros. Lawrence did his best to ignore Lech. He knew his grandfather had favored him over Lech and wasn’t worried about what would happen. In a short time, his obnoxious cousin would be working for him. He smiled a little, thinking of how he might just fire the other man. Problem solved!  
 
    The office door opened, and a bevy of lawyers entered. The oldest among them sat behind the desk and, after unlocking the desk, removed an official looking folder. Everyone waited while he examined the paperwork. Two of his assistants, or maybe junior partners, were women. Lawrence caught one’s attention and winked. She narrowed her eyes in response, and he smiled.  
 
    “Gentlemen and ladies,” the older lawyer said, “we have permission from the court to proceed with the accelerated disposition of the estate of the late Mr. Edward Fran Kosmalski. This is contingent on the fact that all of you signed the advance agreement not to contest the will.” He removed a sheaf of papers. They’d all signed without knowing what was in the will, knowing if they contested, there was a clause where they would get nothing. 
 
    He read more details while Lawrence sat remembering his childhood in Gdynia. Grandfather’s estate overlooked the Gulf of Danzig, and they’d often sat and watched the ships go by. “See that ship,” his grandfather had said one day, pointing at a freighter going slowly by the headland, making way for the Baltic Sea, “that will be yours one day. It and many more like it!”  
 
    The lawyer had continued to ramble on about legalities as Lawrence wandered through his memories, finally coming to the point.  
 
    “And thus, we have the last will and testament of Edward Fran Kosmalski.”  
 
    “About time,” Lech grumbled. For once, Lawrence found himself agreeing with his cousin.  
 
    “First there are a number of great grandchildren,” the lawyer said. He named them off one at a time. “Each are to receive 20,000 euros toward their educations.” He went on to list various younger relatives, nephews, and a few personal friends and longtime employees, giving out amount from 5,000 euros to as much as 100,000 euros to a personal secretary. “There are several people named in the will who predeceased Mr. Kosmalski; the amount bequeathed to them will go to their estates.” He shuffled some papers. “There are a few dozen other minor bequests that I will make available, but none add up to more than 50,000 euros total.”  
 
    He set aside the small stack of papers and picked up the last set.  
 
    “The last three items represent the majority of the remaining assets. There is a set-aside for his wife’s sister, Amelia Burowitz, in the amount of 1,000,000 euros, to take care of her for the rest of her life.” He put that page down. “‘Then to my grandson, whom I hope I have given all the vital skills necessary to succeed, Lawrence Kosmalski, I leave the sum of 10,000,000 euros, hoping he will use them to get the start he needs. The remainder of my estate goes to Lech Kosmalski, including all properties and vessels.’”  
 
    It took a full minute for Lawrence to understand what he’d heard. Only when the cute lawyer he’d been flirting with said his name did he realize she was holding out a folder to him. There was a check paper-clipped to the front of it, and he could see it was in his name for 10,000,000 euros, just like the will had said. There must be some mistake, he heard himself thinking.  
 
    “Please take this, sir,” the lady said. Her Polish was strangely accented.  
 
    “It’s not right,” he said. Over to one side, Lech was shaking hands with the other family members. He looked like the cat which had just eaten the proverbial canary.  
 
    “I assure you it is,” she said. “There’s a complete legal copy of the will inside with the other necessary tax paperwork.”  
 
    “That’s not what I meant,” he mumbled, taking the folder and standing up. In a split second, his future was gone. From the company his grandfather had promised him to a check for a few million euros. What was he supposed to do now? The school, the training, the promises. Lech was suddenly in front of him, ridiculous smile on his face, holding his hand out to shake. “You knew,” Lawrence said, his voice full of accusation. 
 
    “Of course I knew!” his cousin laughed. “After all the whining and complaining you did before coming aboard the Wilk, I convinced grandfather you needed to be watched carefully. It took some time to convince him that you really didn’t have the mentality to run a company like mine.” Like mine, Lawrence heard repeated in the back of his mind. “Still, ten million euros is more than I would have given you.” He shrugged and laughed. “Better luck next time?”  
 
    Lawrence didn’t know how he ended up on top of Lech, his fists pounding the sanctimonious smile off his face. Lawrence hadn’t struck another person in anger since he was eight years old. He was surprised at how good it felt, even as he felt the bones in his hands break against Lech’s face, the blood splashing onto his suit, and the screaming of the people in the office.  
 
    Then he was being dragged off his cousin, and he was the one screaming. Screaming in uncontrollable rage. He was still screaming when the police arrived to haul him away.  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
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    “Lawrence Kosmalski, number 88990-1,” he said mechanically when the guard arrived at his door.  
 
    “Wrist,” the man said. Lawrence pushed his wrist through the slot in the door, automatically pulling the sleeve up to reveal both the tough plastic ID bracelet, and the line of tattoos that went all the way to his shoulder. All in all, there were more than 40 tattoos on his body. He had 10 piercings too.  
 
    “You are to report to the warden’s office.”  
 
    “I’m not up for parole for another six months,” Lawrence replied.  
 
    “I don’t care; report as ordered.”  
 
    “Fine. Are you going to unlock the door, or do I have to crawl through the slot?” 
 
    “Smartass convict.” The cell door buzzed and slid open. The guard took a couple steps back against the railing and watched Lawrence with a wary eye. He had a reputation for being unpredictable.  
 
    For his part, Lawrence didn’t make any sudden moves. Being told to report to the warden’s office when he wasn’t up for parole was strange enough to be interesting, so he went along with it. You didn’t visit the warden for simple punishment. 
 
    Early afternoon in Rakowiecka Prison, the cavernous old brick building rang with the sounds of voices and the smell of confinement. Lawrence had called it home for two years, and according to the sentence, would continue to do so for another five. The prison dated back to the Soviet Union, and despite every attempt, it smelled like it.  
 
    He walked along the open second floor catwalk, where his cell was, to the spiral metal staircase, and continued down it. The guard there scanned his bracelet again to let him through. After that it was a short walk to the main administration building, another scan, and he was up to the warden’s office. The secretary winked when she saw him, and Lawrence winked back. She had a sweet spot for him, and he’d found her sweet spot many times. It was an equitable arrangement.  
 
    “Warden Lebowski is waiting for you, Lawrence.”  
 
    “Do you know why?”  
 
    “I can’t say,” she said. He tried to gauge her response and failed. He made a face, and she shrugged as she reached under her desk and pressed the buzzer at the same time she pressed the intercom.  
 
    “Prisoner Kosmalski, Lawrence, here to see you.”  
 
    “Send him in,” the voice called back. Lawrence went in.  
 
    The office wasn’t spartan, but it was plainer than you’d expect when visiting a man with his responsibilities. A few pictures and two chairs in the front of a metallic desk where the warden, a tall and lean former officer in the Polish Army, sat. Lawrence walked in and stood in the little white square painted on the floor directly in front of the desk, and waited. Warden Lebowski ignored Lawrence for a good 5 minutes, looking at papers on his desk and taking sips of tea. Lawrence waited, arms behind his back, eyes straight ahead. He knew the drill. Finally, Lebowski looked up and examined the man before him.  
 
    “Mr. Kosmalski,” he said, “Lawrence Kosmalski, 88990-1. One of my more famous guests.” Lawrence didn’t reply. “Nearly beat your brother to death.” 
 
    “Cousin.” 
 
    “Excuse me, inmate?” 
 
    “Lech is my cousin, sir.” Lebowski frowned and looked down at his paperwork. He ran a finger down the sheet then stopped.  
 
    “Oh, yes, I see. Huh,” he said and shook his head. “I always thought it was your brother. Well, regardless, here you are.” 
 
    “May I ask why, sir?”  
 
    Lebowski looked back down at the papers and frowned. Lawrence risked a look as well. It had a seal on it, an official seal. Despite himself, he felt his heart begin to race.  
 
    “Your…cousin, has had a change of heart.” 
 
    “I find that hard to believe, sir,” Lawrence said.  
 
    “Considering how badly you beat him, that doesn’t surprise me.” Lebowski flipped the page and there was a picture of Lech, face bloody and swollen, multiple stiches over his eye, and a broken nose. It took everything Lawrence had not to smile. “But regardless, he has approved your parole.” Lawrence did smile now. “On one condition.” The smile died.  
 
    “What is that, sir?” When the warden looked up, he was smiling.  
 
      
 
    * * * 
 
      
 
    Lawrence walked through the doors of Kosmalski Shipping, which was something he hadn’t thought he’d ever do again. The building looked unchanged except that over the door it now said “Lech Kosmalski, President and CEO.” It was a sign of the two years that had gone by that he didn’t pick up a rock and put it through the writing on the glass.  
 
    The receptionist looked up from her computer when he entered the outer office. Her look instantly went from curious to alarmed as she took in the large, strong man who had just entered her office wearing worn out jeans and a flannel shirt with the sleeves torn off to expose his prodigious tattoos. He grinned, and she swallowed.  
 
    “We’re not hiring,” she said, clearly hoping that would be enough to make him go away.  
 
    “I already have a job,” he said. Her eyes got even wider. Lawrence sighed and ran a hand through his mohawk. He’d gotten the haircut on the way to the office, including a purple dye job. “Tell my cousin that Lawrence Kosmalski is here.” He saw the light go on behind her eyes, then flicker a couple times. Clearly the name meant something, and she struggled to connect the mental image with it. After a moment’s hesitation, she picked up her phone and dialed a number.  
 
    “Mr. Kosmalski, there’s a man claiming to be Lawrence Kosmalski here to see you?” Lawrence gave her his best, ‘I’m going to follow you home and kill you’ look. Her eyes got wider. Prison time had its benefits, he guessed. She had to ask Lech to repeat himself, she’d been so distracted. If anything, she looked even more surprised as she put the phone down. “Go right in, please.” He winked at her and opened the door.  
 
    “Welcome cousin,” Lech said. He hadn’t changed in two years, except his dress. Instead of the cheap suit or work clothes from the Wilk, he now wore a 1,000 euro suit and an equally expensive haircut. It didn’t do anything to complement the scars from reconstructing his nose, though. Seeing Lech sitting in the chair that should have been his didn’t help, and Lawrence felt a flicker of the flame that put him in prison. He violently crushed it.  
 
    “Why do you want me to work for you? Ego? Punishment?”  
 
    “Necessity,” Lech said. Lawrence had nothing to say. “I like the new look, kind of like punk rock meets that American movie, Mad Max.” 
 
    “Mad Max was Australian.” Lech shrugged. “And I’ve been in prison the last two years,” he said and waved his arms over himself in a flourish, “so this is all you.” 
 
    “After you tried to kill me,” Lech said, “so it’s all you.” 
 
    “After you stole my inheritance.”  
 
    “Considering your response, it looks like I did the right thing.” 
 
    “Fine,” Lawrence said, unable to stop the rage, “fuck you, I’m going back to jail.” He was halfway across the reception area, with the secretary looking doubly alarmed at all the yelling, when Lech yelled after him. 
 
    “I need your help to save the company!”  
 
    Lawrence faltered. “Why should I care? You took it from me, and then you took all the money grandfather left me in the civil case.” He looked over his shoulder, and Lech held up a check. 
 
    “Here’s double—20,000,000 euros. And I’ll drop the initial charges and confirm a full pardon.” Lawrence was both alarmed and deeply curious. 
 
    “50,000,000 euros and half the company.” Lech blanched, but didn’t say no. A tiny smile crossed Lawrence’s face, but then it died as he realized just how dire the situation must be for Lech to not just throw him out of his office after that.  
 
    “I’ll give you 1,000,000 euros and stock options.” Poles loved to haggle. Some would say they lived for it. Lawrence spent a half an hour arguing with Lech until they finally agreed on 5,000,000 euros and 22% of the company. It was far less than Lawrence would have gotten before Lech had torpedoed him, but far more than he’d had just hours ago.  
 
    “Deal,” Lawrence said. 
 
    “Good, now let’s get to work.”  
 
    “No so fast,” Lawrence said, “I want it on paper.”  
 
    “How dare you!” 
 
    “What?” Lawrence asked. “That I think you’d try to rob me? You are goddamned right I do. There are two lawyers on the next floor—you should know that, you pay their retainers. Get them down here to write up a contract.” Lech wouldn’t look him in the eye. “They are still here, right?” 
 
    “No,” he admitted. Lawrence sighed. “We are bleeding money! And they were both a year from being able to draw retirement. It was an easy way to save money.” He shrugged. 
 
    “And now let me guess, you can’t get any lawyer to work for you?” 
 
    “How did you know that?” Lech demanded.  
 
    “Because those two old men went to their friends and spread the word like wildfire, that’s why! You damned fool, we’re toxic to the legal community now.” Lawrence’s mind was spinning, trying to imagine what other damage had been done in his absence. He just couldn’t start without something. “Okay, fine,” he said and snatched a note pad and pen from his cousin’s desk. In a minute he’d written out the contract as best as he could. It would have to do. He slid the pad over to Lech.  
 
    The other man read it, then read it again. He started to read it a third time.  
 
    “For God’s sake, what’s the problem?” Lawrence demanded.  
 
    “I don’t see anything about salary beyond the five million euros we agreed upon.”  
 
    “That’s because it isn’t there. If things are as bad as you say, we need to limit the losses.” Lech gave Lawrence an appraising look, making him wonder if the other man was reconsidering, then he grabbed a pen and signed. Lawrence signed as well, then called the secretary in to witness as they signed it a second time. About as good as I can do in this situation, Lawrence thought as the woman signed the paper while simultaneously trying to watch the scary guy.  
 
    Lawrence took the signed document and asked the secretary to make three copies. He gave her a real smile which she didn’t return. He hadn’t been laid in two years and was now regretting the level of evil he’d laid on her. She wasn’t half bad.  
 
    “Alright,” Lawrence said, keeping the original and a copy, “I’m going to get to work.” He turned to leave.  
 
    “Where are you going?” Lech demanded of his retreating back. 
 
    “I need an office, and since you fired the lawyers, I’m taking one of those.”  
 
    An hour later he’d appropriated almost everything he needed, including Lech’s beleaguered secretary named Moisha. “Take her, I can find another one.” Stacks of files sat on the desk, contracts and financials. Moisha wheeled in a cart with a plasma screen on it. Lawrence didn’t look up as she plugged it in and efficiently added the device to his desk’s computer system, then left. He nodded; she was good at her job. Lech shouldn’t have been quite so quick to give her up. He used the computer to find a news channel and send the video to the new monitor. He wanted to watch a show on stocks coming on soon. Lech had allowed their portfolio to languish.  
 
    He had to wait, though; first, there was some news story about happenings in the United States. Lawrence watched with only part of his attention as a strange ship fell out of the sky and landed on a barge. “I hope those don’t replace ocean going ships,” he mumbled to himself, and went back to reviewing files.  
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    It had taken Lawrence almost two months to stop the hemorrhaging, mostly, and next month they might actually see a tiny profit. The two items killing them were Lech’s doing. One was a ship he’d ordered to be constructed, new, from the CSSC, the China State Shipbuilding Corporation. It was to be the replacement for the Wilk, but the problem was there wasn’t any work for the Wilk even if they replaced it. Thus, they were bleeding 2 million euros a week as the ship was built. It was due to be completed in six months, at which point they’d owe CSSC another 98 million euros.  
 
    The other big red line was the original Wilk, which still sat at pier in Vladivostok. That one was another 500,000 euros a week. It wasn’t the moorage so much as permits and port-side assistance. The ship had lost all internal power and was only staying afloat thanks to a Russian engineering crew rigging pumps and monitoring the condition of the ship to make sure it didn’t sink.  
 
    Lawrence sent yet another email to Lech reminding him of the hemorrhage. Their buyer was out of business, and there were surprisingly few customers for promethium in the Russian Republic. Plenty of them thousands of kilometers away, of course. Towing the crippled transport to them, though, would likely be impossible. The aging ship’s structure was probably compromised from sitting for two years. There was a breaker right there in Vladivostok which would buy the ship for almost one million euros, and Lawrence had stopped him from just walking away several times. Even now, the promethium ore was valued at more than 10,000 euros per ton in the quality they possessed. Adding 650 million euros to their bottom line would save the company over night. 
 
    Lawrence used his large media monitor, a benefit of the former lawyer’s setup, to pull up a news feed and let it run in the background. While the talking heads droned on in Yiddish, a language most Poles were at least partially fluent in, he ran through long lists of contracts pending approval. As a senior partner, one of the things he’d clarified in the formal contract was his approval on contracts worth more than one million euros. Lech had pitched a right good fit over that one, but Lawrence had dug in his heels and eventually won. It was a damned good thing, too, because, while his cousin was good at ship management and day-to-day operations, he was shitty on long-term contracts. It had taken Lawrence most of the last two months to rid them of contracts that cost more than they made. He’d gotten a lot of angry calls from customers who’d been screwing the company for some time while Lawrence rotted in prison.  
 
    “Mr. Kosmalski?” Lawrence looked up as his secretary’s head poked through the door.  
 
    “Yes, Moisha?”  
 
    “Admiral Kaczynski is here to see you.”  
 
    “Send him in,” he said, and gave her a sly wink. The woman’s incredibly pale cheeks flushed slightly. After she’d gotten over his roguish appearance, Lawrence had stolen her from Lech, and had taken her to bed shortly after that. Russian girls had always been his favorite. He muted the TV and set the remote aside.  
 
    The admiral entered, his dark navy uniform immaculate down to the polish on his shoes and the plethora of ribbons decorating his chest. As he entered the office he removed his hat, and nodded to Olga as she closed the door. Lawrence rose to come around his desk, a hand held out. The navy man only looked mildly surprised before taking the tattooed hand, and he seemed to eye the purple mohawk and piercings with some interest.  
 
    “Kids these days,” Lawrence said with a smile. Kaczynski seemed to regard those words for a moment, holding Lawrence’s hand, before giving it a squeeze and laughing. Lawrence matched the grip perfectly and the admiral gave an approving nod. “Good to meet you in person, Admiral,” Lawrence added. 
 
    “You as well, Mr. Kosmalski. Your brother seemed only too willing to have you handle this matter.” 
 
    “Cousin,” Lawrence said, gesturing the other man to a chair. “It’s a common mistake. Can I offer you a drink?” The admiral glanced at his wristwatch before giving a shrug.  
 
    “Why not? Scotch and soda on the rocks, please.” Lawrence went to the bar and mixed the requested drink, pouring himself two fingers of Kentucky bourbon.  
 
    “You will please forgive my cousin,” Lawrence said, handing over the tumbler, “these sorts of contracts are not his specialty.” 
 
    “Your grandfather had been negotiating this for some time before he passed. It was a setback when it happened so suddenly.” 
 
    “Yes,” Lawrence said, sitting behind the desk and removing a green folder from a drawer. “It is quite complicated.” He opened the file and started summarizing. “Kosmalski Shipping is to provide at least 20 billets for officer candidates in the Polish Navy, with as many as 50 per year. These are in a six-month rotation, with transportation to and from potential ports of call to be provided by the Naval Department. Proposed compensation is to be in the form of a 40% subsidy for staffing these crew members, in essence making the billets a net profit. A premium of one million euros is to be paid at the initiation of the training contract and another 150,000 euros at its completion.” He hummed and read to himself for a minute. “All in all, it’s a pretty good deal,” he said finally. The admiral nodded and sipped his drink.  
 
    “Excellent, than we can proceed?”  
 
    “I have a couple questions,” Lawrence said, raising a hand. “Why are you interested in training your future officers on merchant vessels?” 
 
    “It’s merely cross-training,” the admiral said, waving a hand dismissively.  
 
    “I don’t buy that,” Lawrence said. “You’ve been training your officers for a century without needing civilian instruction.” The admiral eyed him with a considering gaze. “No, I suspect the Polish Navy is interested in expanding beyond the Baltic and into a blue water navy. Russia’s renewed global interests, as well as the growing rivalry with the USA, suggests Poland is getting nervous and wishes to expand its military.” He fished out a piece of paper. “There are two orders for guided missile cruisers that are going to be made later this year, as well as for a pair of destroyers and six new frigates. The Polish Navy is already one of the most powerful navies in the Baltic; this suggests a reach beyond.” 
 
    The admiral locked eyes with Lawrence for a long moment before reaching to take his glass. He drained it with several swallows and carefully returning it to the desk, never losing eye contact the whole time.  
 
    “I see several things,” he told Lawrence, glancing at his hair and tattoos. “The first is that looks can be deceiving.” 
 
    “And the other?” 
 
    “That your grandfather chose his successor well.” Lawrence inclined his head toward the admiral in respect. “What more do you want to make this deal?”  
 
    “I would wish for a number of Kosmalski Shipping officers to be trained as naval reserve officers as well.” The admiral look turned from appraising to curiosity.  
 
    “I will admit,” he said, “that was not what I expected. In which case, I am inclined to disapprove.”  
 
    “I expected that would be your reply, which is why I’m offering to waive the one million euro premium in exchange for what I’ve requested.” The admiral shook his head. Not in denial of the request, but in amazement. They both knew what they wanted. The admiral wanted men trained in blue water maritime operations, and Lawrence wanted his captains and officers as reserve naval officers, so that if war did ever come, and his ships were pressed into service, it would be his own people retaining command. They spoke about the details for several more minutes before coming to an agreement.  
 
    Lawrence mixed another drink, and they clinked glasses and drank while shaking hands. Olga brought in the finalized contract, and they both signed. It was a done deal. When the admiral was gone, Lawrence sighed and sat back down.  
 
    “Olga,” he said as she came back in, “tell Amelia well done.” The lawyer he’d hired had the office next door. She hadn’t come cheap, but what did anymore? The damage Lech had done to their standing with the legal community had been almost impossible to overcome.  
 
    “I will,” she said and dropped into his lap. They kissed, and he let his hands wander until he saw something interesting on the TV. Olga pouted as he stretched out to tap the remote, and the audio came back up. An announcer was speaking in Polish about aliens in the United States. The Reuters News Service logo was scrolling across the bottom of the screen. 
 
    “Is this real?” he asked, knowing the girl watched more TV than he from the weekends she spent in his Warsaw condo. 
 
    “You didn’t hear about the spaceships out past the moon?” He shook his head. “You honestly need to watch more than the financial news sometimes.” He watched as the sleek, shiny ships descended from the sky past the Manhattan skyline.  
 
    “I guess you’re right,” he said. He switched off the TV, and turned his attention back to her.  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
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    Lawrence never wasted his time on the political goings on in Warsaw, and especially not on the ones in New York City. The company didn’t do a lot of trans-Atlantic business, instead keeping to the Baltic, Mediterranean, and certain Middle Eastern trade routes. If cargo needed to move to eastern United States ports, he’d usually arrange for transshipping. However, when the vote suddenly came up to join the Galactic Union, he was interested enough to watch. It was carried live on TV, though late in the Warsaw evening, and he watched as the terrorist set off the bomb and killed half the UN representatives, the Galactic Union envoy, and her MinSha guards.  
 
    The Arabian Peninsula had been a problem for a long, long time. A combination of toxic religious fervor and massive wealth added up to a never-ending series of cataclysmic atrocities. Lawrence wasn’t surprised to see a good part of it end the same way. He was in the company-owned bunker when the alien ship began its bombardment of Iran. Earth’s new unified government had been assured the attack would be precise and without collateral damage. Over a century of modern warfare argued against that assurance, but it proved true. The MinSha ship’s weaponry was accurate and lethal.  
 
    After the country was burned from space, ships dropped from orbit carrying MinSha soldiers who then finished off any remaining resistance and looted everything they could find of value. They explained this was to compensate them for the losses in exacting retribution. Lawrence thought it was like billing the condemned for their own execution. But the MinSha were the ones with the space-based weapons, so Earth didn’t get a say.  
 
    When it was over, the planet was in shock. General Thales, who’d been the U.S. facilitator and aide to the appointed U.S. ambassador to the Union, had nearly been killed in the UN attack. The Union’s advanced medical technology saved his life, and he was appointed as the U.S.’s new ambassador to the Union. To hear him explain the attack against Iran, the world got off easy, and they were better off to let the subject drop. 
 
    Of course, the countries that hadn’t voted to join the Union protested the attack. The UN, for once, was mute. Lawrence found that amusing. The feckless world government had been carefully subverted by a galactic government. It was, simply put, hilarious. Any Pole would have seen such a move coming, especially with the Americans pulling the strings.  
 
    Now, with the Iranian incident several months past, other news was dominating the cycle. The aliens were impressed with how Humans could fight. It turned out most of the aliens (and there were thousands of races out there) couldn’t fight, or wouldn’t. Everyone knew Humans loved to fight. The aliens should have dropped by a Polish holiday celebration, and they could have seen that in action.  
 
    The new representative from the Union was supposed to be from the Mercenary Guild, one of many that actually handled the day-to-day governance of the Galactic Union. As the 37th race that would fight for a living, Humanity now had value in the galaxy.  
 
    “Stinking mercenaries,” Lawrence said, shaking his head as he watched the Polish news program talking about the happenings. No one respected mercenaries. It was all background noise compared to saving the family business. Contracts to go off-world, into the unknown, and get shot at were just about the last things on his mind. At least until his cousin struck. 
 
    He had spent the previous day completing negotiations with the bank to advance their repayment of loans. Things had been going well for the company, and the deal with the Polish Navy helped. That is, until Lawrence came in that morning to see the majority of the company’s liquid assets gone overnight.  
 
    “Lech!” Lawrence yelled as he barged into his cousin’s office. He immediately stopped when he saw the man wasn’t alone. There were dozens in the office, all with computers set on long tables and temporary monitors set up to display pictures of a building.  
 
    “Hello, cousin,” Lech said with his infuriating smile. A smile somewhat bent, thanks to Lawrence. “So you noticed the deal last night?”  
 
    “Damn it, you spent almost every euro we had! And for what, some building?” He looked at all the displays around him. He also noted the people were from the marine engineering division. “We already have a building we can barely afford.” 
 
    “Building?” Lech asked and gestured at the displays. “Look closer.” Lawrence looked closer and realized what it was. 
 
    “A spaceship? You bought a spaceship?” 
 
    “The future is in space,” Lech said, shrugging, either not noticing or not caring about the tone in Lawrence’s voice. “There will be ships going back and forth from Earth very soon. To our own colonies maybe? But if not, to alien worlds to buy and trade.” 
 
    “We don’t have anything they want, you idiot.” Lawrence said. “You spent all our cash on a dead end.” 
 
    “I didn’t just spend our cash,” Lech said, the barest hint of regret in his voice. Lawrence slowly looked from the displays to his cousin. “It wasn’t enough. No one thing was enough to buy the ship. Luckily, there was a large quantity of something they did want, just rotting in Vladivostok.”  
 
    “Jesus,” Lawrence moaned, “you traded them the promethium?!” Lech nodded. “What have you done?”  
 
    “Secured the future.” It took every bit of Lawrence’s will not to pound Lech into a bloody pulp again. “Mark my words, with that freighter, we’ll make back the investment 1,000 times over!” Lawrence massaged his temples with his left hand, the right one balled into a fist. He had a clear and distinct memory of agreeing to the contingency that Lech could approve cash transactions, but not service contracts. He’d been certain this would limit Lech’s shenanigans, but he’d been sorely mistaken. Lech had merely waited until Lawrence got a large amount of money into their account, then he’d cleaned it out in one fell swoop. 
 
    “And what if you’re wrong?” Lech’s face darkened slightly. “We have three loan payments we’ll barely make now,” Lawrence said, ticking off points on his fingers. “We can barely make this month’s payroll, and if anything goes wrong, we’re completely screwed with no reserves. Kosmalski Shipping will be dead. Dead and buried.”  
 
    “I understand,” Lech said, his face a mask of careful control. He had never liked having the light of reality shined on his dreams.  
 
    “Where is this spaceship, then?”  
 
    “We bought it through an organization known as the Wathayat. It will be delivered in a few days.” Lech looked at an alien-made tablet computer on his desk, called a slate. Kosmalski Shipping had purchased a dozen of them at a cost of better than 100,000 euros each. The devices were almost as powerful as the best Human-made supercomputer. More than a few had been purchased by the likes of IBM, Intel, and AMD with the unspoken hopes of reproducing the incredibly-powerful machines. “It’s a Schleect-class, whatever that means. Made by the Bakulu race. The name isn’t pronounceable. “ 
 
    Lawrence went around the room examining the displays. The ship did kind of look like a skyscraper; it was not at all what he’d expected a spaceship to look like after watching shows like Star Trek and Star Wars. It seemed so…utilitarian. More importantly, it didn’t look like what he thought a freighter ought to look like. How much cargo could such a thing hold?  
 
    “How big is that thing?” Lawrence asked.  
 
    “It’s 120 meters long, 39 meters wide, and weighs around 8,000 tons,” Lech said with a huge smile.  
 
    Lawrence digested the numbers and applied them to a commercial ship he would be familiar with. It was tiny by comparison. A Panamax freighter would be 294 meters long and 32 wide. Most were more than 80,000 tons. That ship would have a cargo capacity of 65,000 tons. But those ships didn’t have to climb into space! He remembered the huge Saturn V rockets the Americans designed, 99 percent of which was just to get a couple tons into space!  
 
    “How much cargo can it hold?” Lech looked at the technical details and opened his mouth to speak, then stopped. He looked some more before shrugging.  
 
    “The Wathayat representative assured us it was a capable ship.”  
 
    “Jesus cousin, did you even watch the videos of the ships the alien arrived in last year? The ones they brought to make the stargate were big fat things. This looks like a needle by comparison.” Lech scowled and looked at the data again. “Give me a copy of the ship’s details, and I’ll get the answers myself,” he said and held out a hand. Lech glared at him for a moment, clearly considering to simply refuse. “I’m not trying to cause trouble; I just can’t operate without enough information. Please, let me have it.” Lech finally nodded and one of the others in the room handed Lawrence one of the precious slates. “Thanks, I’ll get back to you tomorrow.” 
 
    “What are you so interested in?” 
 
    “At least partly what kind of crew we’ll need,” Lawrence explained, “and general capacities.”  
 
    “Fine,” Lech said, “if you’ll let us work, then indulge yourself.”  
 
    In the end, it took Lawrence a week to finish his analysis of the data on their new ship. A week of spending more money they didn’t have. He was forced to approve a contract for a node to the galaxy’s equivalent to the internet, called the GalNet. He made the decision after spending more than a day trying vainly to chase data that didn’t exist on Earth. Thus far the only ones with a GalNet node were a few shrewd internet businesses that charged a premium for access (upwards of one thousand euros per search).  
 
    Used to nearly free internet access and unlimited searches, the fees were an unpleasant surprise, and he quickly realized it was cheaper at two million euros to just buy the node. The representative of the Information Guild, a barely one-meter tall elSha that looked like a gecko, was most pleased to make the transaction. It was the first of many times Lawrence would feel that he’d been screwed by an alien.  
 
    With all the access he needed, Lawrence could research things like fusion drives, energy shields, and an enigmatic material known as F11. Slowly the details of their new ‘freighter’ emerged, and much was exactly as he’d expected. Lech was in the middle of a meeting with the recently assembled Space Division of Kosmalski Shipping. Lawrence bulled his way past the secretary and entered the board room.  
 
    Lech had been speaking. “Ever the subtle one, cousin?” Lech asked. 
 
    Lawrence looked around the boardroom at the assembled people, the huge flat-panel monitors showing the new ship now in orbit, and laughed.  
 
    “I finally finished the last of the analysis,” he said.  
 
    “Oh? Are you prepared to admit I was right?”  
 
    Lawrence sighed. He’d hoped with all these people, they would have figured out what he had. “Did you know the ship cannot land on a planet?” 
 
    “We found that out yesterday,” Lech admitted, “but it has several orbital-capable shuttles with which we can move cargo.” 
 
    “At about five tons per trip,” Lawrence said. “Each flight from planetside to orbit will consume 100 tons of reaction mass, usually purified hydrogen, and several hours of life on the shuttle’s fusion plant.” Lech looked confused. Lawrence cursed and pulled out the slate, using one of its features he’d discovered to commandeer a monitor to show his information. “Union ships use a type of fusion power. It’s advanced by our understanding. It consumes something on the order of a kilogram of mass per megawatt.” Several of those assembled exclaimed in amazement.  
 
    “We’ve only figured out how to get a sustained fusion reaction for a little more than a minute,” one man said. 
 
    “And it still hasn’t yielded a net power gain,” another added.  
 
    “That’s just the start,” Lawrence said and tapped the slate, showing several outlines of ships on the display. “The top is a freighter of the size you purchased. The closest analogy we have would be a tramp freighter prior to World War II. They can land, because they’re designed to trade with outlying worlds in the galaxy, away from civilized planets. Note the shape, a wide flattened sphere. It’s to support all the lifting engines, tankage, and cargo spaces.” Numerous eyes looked from the design to their ship, and noted the differences. Lawrence continued.  
 
    “The second one is a deep space freighter. It’s never intended to land, but plies its trade between larger worlds and is serviced by ground-to-orbit shuttles. Those shuttles are lofted into orbit via ground based lasers.” 
 
    “What?” Lech asked incredulously. “Lasers?” 
 
    “Firing at ablative plates on the ship?” someone asked, and Lawrence nodded. “They’ve studied that idea here,” the man said to Lech, “but we don’t have the power ratio for our lasers.” 
 
    “The Union does,” Lawrence said, “and then some. These deep space freighters are huge, some a mile across. They’re all relatively slow, with no more than 1G or so of acceleration provided by one or maybe two fusion torches driven directly off the reactors. It’s a technology our scientists and science fiction writers proposed decades ago.” More nods from some of the assembled people. “Due to the inverse square law of hyperspace—” 
 
    “The what?” Lech demanded. Several more people shifted in their chairs. Lawrence suspected a lot of what he was about to explain was going to be discussed today. 
 
    “The stargates only push you into hyperspace,” Lawrence said, “after you’re there, the ship uses hyperspatial generators fed by fusion generators to keep you there. The smaller the ship, the more power it takes. The Union calls this the Inverse Hyperspace Equation, but it’s basically an inverse square law of power. The ship you bought is about twice as big as the smallest vessel that would be practical to have its own hyperspace generator.” 
 
    “Then how do smaller ships do it?” Lech asked. 
 
    “They latch onto bigger ships, usually for a fee. Since the larger mass merely makes it cheaper to operate in hyperspace, the big ships get something for nothing.” He pointed to the big round deep space freighter. “Those usually make a fair sum of money carrying smaller craft, many of which are actually capable of hyperspace, but conserving F11.” Lech opened his mouth but Lawrence cut him off. “I’m getting to that.” Lech gave him a mulish look but shut up.  
 
    “All of these ships, even the ones not capable of hyperspace, use fusion power. And the key to that is an element called F11, an isotope of fluorine we have yet to discover. According to the GalNet, it’s one of the rarest elements in the galaxy. It’s also the reason the galaxy’s economy functions the way it does. You can’t have intergalactic trade without hyperspace travel. You can’t have hyperspace travel without fusion power. And you can’t have fusion power without F11. The element is an energy retarder, it absorbs most kinds of radiation, from neutrons to thermal radiation. It’s the reason our fusion research on Earth has been at a standstill for decades.” 
 
    “There were three kinds of ships in your example,” the man who’d first commented on laser lifting said. Lawrence nodded and pointed to their ship.  
 
    “The ship we bought has a name in Bakulu that roughly translates as Shallow Waters. Unlike the freighters, it has three fusion generators, and three fusion torches. It should be capable of about 10Gs of acceleration. Far more than any freighter I was able to access.” 
 
    “It has space for about a thousand tons of cargo,” Lech complained, pointing at one of the schematics which showed four cargo holds detailed around the center of the ship. Lawrence put up his own schematic showing storage racks inside those same spaces, and handling equipment. 
 
    “Magazines,” he said, and pointed again, “launchers,” again, “shield generators,” and a final time, “redundant fusion plants to power the hyperspace generator, shields, and fusion torches,” again, “a central command and control, CIC, buried in the middle of the ship.” 
 
    “What does all this mean?” Lech yelled finally.  
 
    “Your freighter is an old Bakulu missile escort frigate, obsolete, and nearly scrap. It’s F11 is probably spent, it doesn’t have any missiles, and it was likely built before Christopher Columbus discovered the Americas.” Lawrence tossed the slate onto the polished conference table where it bounced twice and slid up to Lech before falling to the floor. All eyes followed the alien computer until it came to a rest. By the time they looked up, Lawrence was gone.  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
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    Lawrence rolled over and stared at the door. Someone was pounding on it, though the pounding didn’t quite match his head. The two women in his bed didn’t stir. They’d only fallen asleep three hours ago. As he raised up on an elbow he cringed at a sweep of pain, glancing down he remembered there was a new tattoo there, but for the life of him he couldn’t recall of what.  
 
    “It’s the middle of the night!” he yelled at the door. “Go the fuck away!” 
 
    “It’s 11:00 a.m.,” a feminine voice he recognized replied. Lawrence rolled onto his feet and managed to stay on them as he padded across to the door, released all the locks, retracted both bolts, and pulled it open. The company lawyer he’d hired, Amelia, stood there regarding him balefully.  
 
    “What do you want?” he asked.  
 
    “First could you put on some clothes?” she asked, then looked over his shoulder. “And maybe get the bimbos a cab?”  
 
    “If it has to do with work, I don’t care. My cousin has ruined us, and I have no interest in watching the remnants burn.”  
 
    “The Tadia sank in a typhoon off Hawaii yesterday.”  
 
    Lawrence sobered. “How bad?” 
 
    “All hands were lost.”  
 
    He cursed in Polish. Eleven men dead. “Is Lech responsible?”  
 
    “Not directly. The crew was trying to skirt the storm to save fuel, and it turned into them. He’s been offering bonuses for savings in bunker fuel and early contract completion. By the time the United States Coast Guard arrived, they found no survivors.”  
 
    Lawrence went over and shook the bed until the two girls woke up. He’d thought they were twins, but found out differently. Mother and daughter. Warsaw, what a town. Amelia called a cab, then went to the kitchen to brew tea while Lawrence said goodbye to his bed warmers. They were so hung over, they didn’t even care when he didn’t pay for the cab. 
 
    When he entered the kitchenette, drawn by the smell of brewing tea, Amelia glanced at him and nodded in satisfaction to find him wearing pajama bottoms. Then she glanced at his tattoos as he added some milk and a lump of sugar to his cup.  
 
    “You really like tattoos,” she noted.  
 
    Lawrence nodded, then shrugged. “I got into them when my cousin put me in jail. They give you jailhouse cred, so most of them tend to leave you alone.” He gave a quarter turn, and she could see a long line of pink scar tissue under his left arm. “The worst weren’t impressed, though.” He sipped the tea and felt the caffeine do its magic. “Look, I appreciate you giving me this news, but what do you want me to do about it? Lech made it apparent he had his own goals. He’s turning that piece of shit ship into a freighter, or something.” Amelia speared him with one of her typical British looks of appraising displeasure.  
 
    “You’re still part owner,” she said, sipping her own tea, “and the papers say he can’t sign a contract without you.”  
 
    “Fine, then I’ll sign it. I don’t care.” She reached into her coat pocket and handed him a sheaf of papers. Compared to a typical commercial carriage contract, it was huge. There were a pair of little stick-on arrows where he was to sign. Despite himself, he started glancing at clauses.  
 
    24-C – Space Piracy Interruption of Service 
 
    84-A-II – Non-interference with aligned aggressors. What the hell? He thought. The paper didn’t feel like paper either, more like very thin metal. But the edges weren’t sharp enough to cut. Then he saw the other signatories besides Lech.  
 
    Mercenary Guild Represented – Seedo P998-11-Zeta-One 
 
    Earth Controlling Authority – General Emmanuel Thales, Ambassador, U.S. Army – Retired.  
 
    “Holy shit,” Lawrence spat out some of the tea. “This is for one of those mercenary gigs.” 
 
    “Very perceptive of you,” Amelia said, “must be that tattoo of Minerva on your left pectoral.” Lawrence glanced down at it and scowled, returning to the contract.  
 
    “It says here that a retainer and bond in the amount of 10,000 GCU,” he looked up at her, “galactic credits?” She nodded, and he continued. “That this retainer must be paid. But credits are trading like 50,000 to one, aren’t they?” 
 
    “Down to 29,000 to one,” she said, “the Russians have been trading a lot of their rare earths.” 
 
    “Fine, that’s still 290 million euros! We’re broke.” 
 
    “The insurance settlement for the Tadia covers it, with about 50 million euros left over. He’s using that to get the John III Sobieski up and running.” 
 
    “Wait, the what?” 
 
    “The warship the company bought. He renamed it the EMS John III Sobieski.” She saw his strange look. “EMS is a designation assigned by Ambassador Thales; it means Earth Mercenary Ship.” He gave a slow nod.  
 
    “I didn’t know any of those contracts were for ships?” 
 
    “We own the only functional warship. After your little performance last week, Lech began to think it through. No government on the planet would pay half of what we did, so he talked to some contacts in the Polish government, who had access to the mercenary contracts. There were several for starships. He tried to get one for transport, but they refused because the ship wasn’t a freighter.” 
 
    “Like I told him.”  
 
    She nodded, then continued. “There were three combat contracts; assault, defensive highguard, and escort. I understand the assault paid the most, then highguard. That’s when you guard a stargate or emergence point. The escort paid the least.” He snorted and looked at all the paperwork. It would take him all afternoon to read through it. 
 
    “Smallest, eh? How much is that?” 
 
    “Ten million credits upon completion of primary objective. Ten percent bonus for combat actions, up to 40 percent additional pay. Total potential payout 14 million credits.” Lawrence blanched.  
 
    “F-fourteen million?” His eyes went back and forth as he tried to calculate.  
 
    “That’s 406 billion euros,” she said to save him the computing cycles. “Even if the exchange rate continues to fall, it probably won’t for much longer, and even if you don’t have any combat, that’s still around 300 billion euros.” He was back to looking at the contract.  
 
    “It says the duration is the length of time some operation takes, expected six months, with additional hold over for another two months with ten percent bonus per month.” She nodded. “Half a trillion euro for six to eight months?” 
 
    “Yes,” she said. He did the mental math. His share would probably be in the billions. Holy shit. “There’s just one catch,” she said, pulling back the pen as he made a grab for it. 
 
    “And what would that be?” 
 
    “You have to be on the crew.”  
 
    “Pieprzyc moja matke,” he said, and Amelia blushed crimson.  
 
      
 
    * * * 
 
      
 
    “It looks like a big dildo,” Lawrence said as he floated behind the pilot. The man chuckled, a 3rd cousin by the looks of him.  
 
    “Yes sir,” the man said, “but a dildo with lasers and missiles!”  
 
    Prior to taking one of the John III Sobieski’s two shuttles to orbit, he’d gotten a much better rundown from the first Human crew who’d taken possession. The magazines weren’t empty, but they were only half-full. They reported the F11 was only about half expended, and all the primary systems worked. They got that much from the Bakulu crew who turned it over. The problem was the Bakulu were basically big snails. The ship didn’t have a single Human-made interface or system, and smelled like the Gulf of Danzig at low tide.  
 
    “How are the transfers of consumables coming?” he asked the shuttle pilot. Lawrence had started the job by converting the shuttles to Human pilot use. It only cost them a total of four of their precious slates. It was a workaround, but at least now they could travel back and forth to orbit. Luckily, if the shuttles weren’t overloaded, they’d be good for almost 100 trips apiece to orbit before their reactors needed new F11. The price for the rare gas was currently quoted by the Trade Guild at 6,221 GCU per liter. Each shuttle took 11 liters. That was only 68,400 GCU, or almost 2 billion euros for one shuttle. Everything depended on them completing the contract before they needed to replenish either the John III Sobieski or either of the shuttles. The John III Sobieski would need 223 liters to replenish her F11, a staggering 1,387,000 GCU or over 40 billion euros!  
 
    “It’s coming along well,” the pilot said. “We’ve refilled her reaction tanks and brought the first of the retooled missiles up from Warsaw.” The deal he’d signed months ago with the Poland Navy was paying dividends. Not only were the ship’s officers trained Polish Navy reservists, but the Warsaw government was providing them with a variant of their Rapier missiles. Lawrence shipped down some of the John III Sobieski’s Union-manufactured electronics repair parts and the Warsaw Navy hired a tech firm to do the upgrades. Of course, now the Polish Government officially owned 5% of Kosmalski Shipping. It was a small price to pay, in Lawrence’s opinion.  
 
    Lech hadn’t agreed. “You’re giving away all our profits!” he’d raged.  
 
    “So you’d rather get in a fight and run out of missiles?” Lawrence had asked.  
 
    “We have almost a hundred missiles left.” 
 
    “Yes, out of 220 with full magazines. These escort frigates are useless without missiles. Its lasers are only rated at a nominal 5 megawatts. They aren’t even powerful enough to hurt another ship of her class.” 
 
    “Then what good are they? Maybe we can strip them and sell them on Earth?” 
 
    “Lech, what do you think will happen if we get hit by a few missiles ourselves?” Lech’s eyes had narrowed. “Those explosive charges are scary powerful, cousin. My numbers indicate three could take our shields down. The next one blows us in half. Those lasers are what the navy called point defense, for shooting down other missiles. So, if we take them out…” 
 
    “Fine.” Lech had relented. Lawrence only wished he’d relented about being in command of the ship. Outside, the shuttle was nosing into one of the two docking bays.  
 
    “Those squids who sold us the ship were very phallic,” he observed. The shuttle slid into the bay in just such a way.  
 
    “They’re more like snails,” the pilot observed. The hull reverberated as it was clamped into place. A moment later the hatch hissed and swung inward, and half a dozen men swarmed in and began taking crates off the ship. Two weeks in space, and freefall was home to them. Lawrence’s stomach gave a gurgle as he watched them spin and jump in all different attitudes and directions. The slight odor of ripe seafood drifting in didn’t help in the least. “You know the way to the CIC?” 
 
    “Yes,” Lawrence said. After weeks of working with diagrams and schematics, he knew every square centimeter of the ship. “Thanks for the ride.”  
 
    “No problem, sir.”  
 
    He maneuvered around the working men and out into the main trunk that cross-connected the two docking bays. In the middle, a companionway ran the length of the ship. It wasn’t a very big ship, and it was crowded. He’d watched a video of the first missiles being delivered. Phallic indeed; only those organ-shaped missiles had 100 kilogram, high-explosive warheads. He worked his way to the CIC, which was abuzz with a dozen men working on various systems, and the captain arguing with someone.  
 
    “About time!” he yelled to Lawrence.  
 
    “Lech,” he replied.  
 
    “Captain Kosmalski!” Lech snapped.  
 
    “Captain,” Lawrence conceded, just managing to not make it sound like a joke.  
 
    “I’ve been telling you for days you needed to get up here and supervise the computer project.” 
 
    “You also wanted more missiles; I needed to oversee that first.” 
 
    “And, how is it?”  
 
    “The contractor is convinced the refit Rapiers will be serviceable anti-missile missiles. They don’t think they’ll make decent anti-ship missiles. They don’t have those fancy warheads or the fancy fuel.” 
 
    “We’ll try and buy some after we finish the first contract,” Lech said.  
 
    “After you take me back. That’s the deal. One contract, and I go home.” 
 
    “As long as everything is working satisfactorily,” Lech said and pointed a finger at him. “You promised.” 
 
    “Don’t worry about it.”  
 
    Lech grunted and went back to haranguing the hapless crew member. The man had yellow tabs, which meant supply. Lawrence couldn’t help the man, so he floated over to the computer section of the CIC. The woman in charge there was a former U.S. Navy computer specialist named Denise Wojcik. Her family had immigrated to the U.S. when she was a child, but she spoke fluent Polish and Yiddish, and she had ties to the Kosmalski family. “How’s it going, Lieutenant?” he asked as he grabbed a handhold. They’d had a crew working non-stop welding and gluing them everywhere. The Bakulu didn’t need handholds, and the ship reflected that.  
 
    “Like I said yesterday,” she said, her frustration obvious, “every time we upload the bios change, it resets when we lose power. If we never shut them down, it’s all good.”  
 
    “But the Union naval tactics book provided by the Mercenary Guild said EMP attacks are common,” he finished for her. An EMP attack wouldn’t ruin the ship’s electronics, but it might cause the main power breakers to reset. Just flip a switch and everything came back online…in Bakulu.  
 
     “Let’s go into the computer room,” he said.  
 
    She unstrapped from the chair—also brought up in the shuttles—and followed him to a hatch on the side of the CIC. The main computer room was about twice the size of an old fashioned phone booth, and held more computing power than half the IT companies of Earth combined. It was also as ancient as he’d suspected. The former Bakulu Mercenary Ship Shallow Waters was 425 standard years old, had more than 100,000 hours in hyperspace, and several thousand hours in combat. She’d been refitted three times, and heavily damaged twice. Yet she was still alive, so that was something.  
 
    Lawrence had a slate in the extra-large thigh pocket of his jumpsuit. On his breast, he had a name tag showing he was “Commander Lawrence Kosmalski,” head of damage control, computers, and 4th in command. It was the highest rank he’d accepted. He had five people under him, Denise in the CIC, and four damage control people who were being trained by a pair of former EU astronauts and Polish Naval engineers. The second and third in command were both reserve Polish Naval officers who’d commanded Kosmalski ships. He wasn’t worried about having to make decisions on the contract. He’d sit in a seat in CIC and keep everything running. Six months later, he’d be home and a billionaire. He smiled at his situation. Years ago, he’d tried to join the European Space Agency. The felony assault charge had ended that. Now he was going to go a trillion times further than any ESA astronaut had ever gone.  
 
    He took the slate and touched a control point on the main computer frame, instantly linking the two. The Union computers were super redundant, and that was part of the problem. They were manufactured as Bakulu computers. He could reprogram them to pretend to be Human, easy enough. However, when they were reset, the redundancy kicked in, and they became Bakulu again. Handy…and frustrating as fuck. Data flowed into the slate, and he watched it carefully. The log showed the reset, as well as his commands not to reset. Great.  
 
    “I think we’re over thinking this,” he said. She was just a few inches away in the cramped space, and he was all too aware she was a darned good-looking lady. Zero gravity did fascinating things to breasts. “How many of those little mini slates do we have in storage? They had already been in stock on the ship when they took possession. A few had been traded for needed provisions, but not all. She took out her own slate and made an inquiry. Part of the harried provisions man’s job had been to inventory everything from meals to nuts and bolts.  
 
    “Seventy-two remaining,” she said. Lawrence looked over the computer setup. There were eleven discreet computers designed to work together and compensate for each other depending on the task.  
 
    “Okay, lets pull eleven and start setting them up as bios writers. We’ll hook one to every computer in here. Their own internal power should run them for…” he looked for the number, “six weeks of continuous operation?” She nodded.  
 
    “We’ll have to recharge them manually,” she said with a grin, “but they’re invulnerable to EMP.”  
 
    “We’ll program them to monitor for power disruption, and in that event to automatically override the mainframe computers’ bios. That will take less than a second.” The alien computers were not only fast at doing their job, they were also fast at transferring data. The wire communication rate of even the smallest slate was measured in terabytes a second.  
 
    She considered then nodded. “Less than a second, actually. And we can add a line of code that if one goes down, and we get an odd computer out that still wants to be Bakulu, then it’ll be down checked and taken out of the loop.” 
 
    “Excellent,” he said. “Let’s get to work!  
 
      
 
    * * * 
 
      
 
    “Captain Kosmalski,” Lawrence called over the intercom, trying to not heap on as much scorn as he wanted to, and failing.  
 
    “Yes?” came the terse reply.  
 
    “We need to cut main power for a second, then bring it right back online.” 
 
    “I assume there is a good reason for this?” 
 
    “Yes,” he said with an equally terse reply. Lawrence smiled at the sigh that was carried over the intercom. Then his cousin’s voice came over the all hands.  
 
    “Attention, this is the Captain. We will be powering down the mains for one second. Test commences in one minute. Stand ready.”  
 
    Lawrence spun in the tight space and winked at Denise, who grinned back. In the back of his mind he worried a bit that he might be undermining Lech’s authority as captain. Most seemed to follow his orders out of fear, rather than loyalty. They’d been hired on percentages of the contract net value. The fear of losing that potentially massive payday was very real to them.  
 
    As the time counted down, the lights and air circulation fans cut out. Absolute darkness encircled them in the tiny computer space. It was a form of fear Lawrence had never felt before. All the light in the universe was gone, and he floated in the weightlessness. He could have been in deep space, for all his senses told him. He felt his breathing increasing of its own accord, then his heart rate as well. Wasn’t the power supposed to be back on by now? What if there was a malfunction in the reactors, and it didn’t come back on?  
 
    There was a snapping sound as breakers reset, and the lights came back up, quickly followed by the whirling of fans and beeping of computers.  
 
    “You can let go of my hand now,” Denise said. Lawrence was surprised to see he was indeed holding the woman’s hand, and he quickly released it. A few weeks ago, he might not have and made a play. Now… 
 
    “Look!” she said and pointed at the operator’s terminal. He turned and looked. The terminal was displaying in English, the language the programmers had used. It was a good thing they were all fluent in it.  
 
    “Excellent,” he said. “Run checks on all the processors.” They went through them one at a time, confirming that everything had gone as planned. Everything checked out perfectly. “Okay,” he said, “on to the next issue.” 
 
    Lawrence floated into his stateroom for the first time untold hours later. He didn’t bounce off surfaces or make mad grasps at handholds nearly as much as he had when he’d first come aboard. He amazed himself at how fast he was adapting to zero gravity. Once he got to work and stopped thinking about how he felt like throwing up, the sensations went away. He didn’t notice the fishy smell anymore, either, though his cabin did kind of look like the inside of a seashell.  
 
    In his tiny stateroom was a newly installed mat on one ‘wall,’ the aft bulkhead of the ship where he’d sleep when they were under acceleration, and a green nylon net attached at three points around the mat. He understood this was to hook himself into place while sleeping, so zero gravity wouldn’t make him float around. Less and less like Star Trek, he thought with a grin. There was also a bag floating in the middle of the room with a handwritten note on it.  
 
    “Thought you’d be hungry when you got done. Lech.”  
 
    “I’ll be damned,” he said, shaking his head, the man had a heart after all. He opened the bag and found a NASA-issue meal bar, some kind of meat sandwich, and a squeeze tube of orange drink. He had heard Lech was trading for a small food robot that could cook in zero gravity, but it might not make it before they left. He ripped off the cover and bit into the cold sandwich and sighed with pleasure. It was meaty and tasted like the best steak he’d ever eaten, even though his mind knew otherwise. The orange drink was slightly glutinous, a measure to keep it from damaging vital circuitry if the drinker got careless. Even that tasted wonderful.  
 
    Lawrence devoured the meal and floated over to the wall where his communications terminal was. He hooked an arm through a strap there, also installed by the retrofitting crew, and touched the screen to bring it to life. He was happy to see the English interface working just fine. He activated the comms system and placed a call to Earth. It rang for a moment before an answer.  
 
    “Hello?” the woman said in accented English.  
 
    “Hi dear,” he said, smiling even though she wouldn’t see it.  
 
    “Lawrence! How are you doing?” 
 
    “Fine,” he said, “just tired.”  
 
    “No surprise, you lifted off 29 hours ago!”  
 
    “Has it been that long? Gowno!” 
 
    “What was that?”  
 
    “Oh, nothing,” he said with a sly grin. Amelia’s Polish was pretty good, but it was tuned for legalese. No surprise she wouldn’t know the word for shit. Their being together had been a complete accident. He’d had no idea she felt anything for him, and had since they first met when he’d tried to kill Lech. Or that she’d sent a plea to the Polish courts to get him released on probation even before Lawrence hired her. After they’d ended up together a week ago, her willingness to leave her partnership made more sense. She was as brilliant with the law as he was with computers. They just fit together. The fact she was British would probably have chagrined his grandfather to no end.  
 
    “How are you managing in orbit?” she asked.  
 
    “Well enough; I’ve been so busy I haven’t worried about it. How about down there?”  
 
    “Everyone is holding their breath that you can get the ship ready. The Mercenary Guild rep says you only have a week left before you won’t make the departure window.” 
 
    “Tell everyone not to worry; we’ll be ready for a shakedown cruise in twenty-four hours.” 
 
    “Wow!” she said. “You sure about that?”  
 
    “Completely,” he assured her. “I’ve already got the operating system sorted out, and we spent quite a while working on an interface between the local control system and our home grown one.” 
 
    “The one you wrote down here?” 
 
    “Yeah, the thing I needed to finish before flying up, despite what Lech thought I needed to be doing. I knew I couldn’t get it done while trying to learn how to fly, so to speak.” She laughed, and he could hear her stifle a yawn. He suddenly realized he’d called in the middle of the night, as he’d left in the afternoon the day before. “But right now, I think you need some sleep.” She yawned again then laughed.  
 
    “You’re right. You get some rest too?” 
 
    “I will,” he said, then after a moment added, “I miss you.”  
 
    “Yeah? I miss you too.” The terminal flashed, indicating the call had ended. Lawrence floated over and slid into the bed netting. It took a little work, but he figured he’d get better as time went by. He messed with it a bit, and after a time, it felt a little like a waterbed. Pretty comforting, actually. He set an alarm for six hours and fell asleep in just a few minutes, thinking about the next day’s work.  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
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    “Reactors two and three nominal! Reactor one on standby.” 
 
    “Telemetry and guidance is good!” 
 
    “All stations report secured for maneuvering.” 
 
    “Computers up and running,” Lawrence called out his status.  
 
    “Very good,” Lech said. They were all strapped into chairs on what would have been the rear wall of the CIC, if the ship had been sitting on the ground. Instead they were orbing 1,000 kilometers above the Earth. “Communications, inform Earth traffic control we are preparing to depart orbit.” The comms officer nodded and spoke into his headset.  
 
    “ETC, this is EMS John III Sobieski preparing to depart orbit for the stargate.” 
 
    “EMS John III Sobieski, this is ETC, we have your departure flight plan. There is no inbound traffic; you are cleared to leave. Good hunting, and come home safe.”  
 
    “Okay,” Lech said and nodded his head twice. Lawrence glanced at him and saw the sweat beading on the man’s forehead. In zero gravity, it would just continue to build until it was a layer of water. “Okay,” he said again, straightened in his chair, and spoke. “Helm, engage the engines, one-half-G of thrust. Break orbit.” 
 
    “Aye-aye, Captain,” the helmsman said, a Polish Navy reserve commander, “one-half-G it is.” He tapped an input into the controls Lawrence had retrofitted, and the hull began to vibrate. An alarm claxon sounded, three horns, a signal to the crew that they were preparing to move. On board, 95 men and women braced themselves. Sixty meters astern, fuel was fed into the fusion reactor and routed through a nozzle directed out the aft. The old warship began to move, and the command crew felt themselves settle into their seats. “We’re underway, sir.”  
 
    Gradually the thrust built up until they all weighed about half of what they’d weighed on Earth. Those who’d struggled with zero gravity sighed with relief; those who liked zero gravity shrugged, knowing it would return before long. Everyone on board had been on the shakedown cruise four days ago. EMS John III Sobieski had left Earth orbit for a quick trip around the moon at speeds from half of a G up to 3Gs. What had taken the Americans more than two days to do—reach Lunar orbit—had taken them a mere 90 minutes. Now they were going much, much further. Eight thousand light years, to be precise.  
 
    “ETA to stargate?” Lech asked.  
 
    “ETA four hours,” helm answered, “mid-course rollover in 98 minutes.”  
 
    “Understood.” He consulted the slate mounted to his captain’s chair, then he nodded. “Next time the stargate opens is in nine hours. We’ll have a few hours to go over systems checks before leaving home.” 
 
    Lawrence let his eyes roam over the computer boards, making sure everything was running well. It was, as he expected. LT Wojcik and he had gone over them 100 times. She sat next to him, a further redundancy. This was the military way, as he had been told. Just like there was a small command station back in engineering that could run the ship as well. Of course, if the CIC was gone, the computer room was gone as well, so Lawrence doubted the engineers would be able to do much of anything.  
 
    On one of the two three-dimensional monitors located on the bridge, Tri-V as the aliens called them, the aft view was visible. Earth, hazy through the fusion torch’s Cherenkov distortion, was already growing visibly smaller. He felt a pang of regret. He’d only spoken twice with Amelia before they broke orbit. It had never hurt to leave a girl behind before. He was beginning to wonder if he was in love with her. Now that would be a new experience.  
 
    As planned, they braked to a stop a few hundred kilometers from the massive stargate. It looked like a hundred boxcars linked by cables slowly spinning in space, an array of gossamer solar collectors reaching away from each segment. The fact that this device could hurtle you into another dimension seemed utterly ludicrous. Nine other ships were already waiting there, all transports taking mercenary companies out on contracts. Along with the John III Sobieski, they were the last of the 100 companies to leave Earth. Lawrence knew they were the only ones with their own ship, though, and the only space navy to enter into a contract.  
 
    Once again, Lech had acted impulsively just before signing and had renamed their company. “Kosmalski just didn’t fit the name of a combat unit,” he told Lawrence after showing him the contract.  
 
    “But cousin, Winged Hussars? They were cavalry, not navy!”  
 
    “It sounds impressive, no?”  
 
    Lawrence just shook his head. Of course, he should have expected this after Lech named the ship John III Sobieski. In the battle of Vienna in 1683, John III Sobieski led the charge of 3,000 Polish Winged Hussars against the Turks. It had also been an awesome metal song by Sabaton back in 2016.  
 
    “We’re going to be only the second Human ship to leave the solar system,” Lech told them four hours later as the clock ran down. It was synchronized with the computer that controlled the stargate, an automated system operated by the Cartography Guild. “Only the Mirai Maru, a Japanese trading ship, has gone before us. And we are going much further and into harm’s way. The pride of our family, and of Poland, rides with the Winged Hussars.” 
 
    “Stargate opening in one minute,” the comms officer called.  
 
    “Ahead slow,” Lech ordered. A small thrust, just enough to settle them into their seats, moved the ship forward.  
 
    “We go into history now,” Lech continued. On the forward Tri-V, the space within the circle of the stargate began to shimmer as it did its alien magic. “Do not fear, because God is with us!” 
 
    Shut the fuck up, Lawrence willed his cousin as the shimmer became a swirling distortion of visible light.  
 
    “The stargate is open,” comms reported. On the Tri-V, one of the other ships touched the distortion and was devoured by it.  
 
    “Reactors one and two are at one hundred percent,” engineering confirmed, “hyperspace generator is at power. We are ready.”  
 
    Lawrence watched the distortion grow closer, his eyes wide in growing terror. Then it was there. Ridiculously, he took a deep breath as if they were about to go underwater. Then, the world was unmade.  
 
    An unknown time later, he was himself again. The CIC was a cacophony of yells, gasps, and more than a few cries of terror. The reports from the Mirai Maru had been read by everyone, of course. The Japanese had reported making transition into hyperspace as the most transcendental meditation imaginable. None of them said it was like being destroyed and reformed!  
 
    “Lying Japanese bastards!” Lawrence gasped, feeling his body to be sure it was still his body.  
 
    “A-all stations, report,” Lech barked, his voice as shaky as Lawrence felt. One at a time, they called out.  
 
    “Computers nominal,” Lawrence said when it was his turn. He glanced at Denise; her face was ashen, and she was visibly shaken. “Are you okay?” he asked.  
 
    “I think so,” she replied, “but I’m afraid to touch myself in case I’m not there.”  
 
    The rest of the command crew were following the checklist provided by the previous ship’s owners. One reactor ran at full power to run the ship and hyperspace generator, another at ten percent as ready backup. The last was on standby to conserve fuel and F11. All departments ran multiple checks to be sure the ship was okay; engineering ran more than any other. They’d all been told that a failure of the hyperdrive meant no return.  
 
    “Everything worked,” Lech finally said. “Great job!” A little cheer went up on the bridge. “Now we have 170 hours to run drills and keep everything running.” The thrill was dead. The rules of hyperspace said it took a little less than seven days to travel between departure and destination in hyperspace, regardless of how far that was. This trip took them 5,400 light years, where they would meet up with the other ships going on their contract. “But for now, stand down the watch and get some rest.”  
 
    Lawrence handed off to Denise and went to his quarters where he wrote a brief email to send to Amelia back on Earth. Private messages of less than one megabyte were free if sent through the stargates. However, the free message service sometimes meant it could take a long time to reach its destination, since there was no promise of the route they’d take. For a mere 100 GCU, you could get one there quicker. Lawrence didn’t have 100 GCU, so he would send his free mail through the Cartographers Guild, bundled with all the other crew’s messages.  
 
    Amelia, we just made our first transition to hyperspace. It was…interesting. I’ll have to explain it in person when I get home. I don’t want you to worry too much; this contract should be easy. The money will not only save the company, but make us all rich. I might just buy a house in the Alps, or something? Maybe a space yacht and fly around the solar system. This flying in space is kind of fun, minus hyperspace anyway. Well, I’ll write again when I have time.  
 
    I miss you, Lawrence. 
 
    He logged it into the ships comms buffer for transmission, noticing that a dozen others were already there. That was good, he thought. Crew members who were talking with home were less likely to get stir crazy in deep space. He had eight hours before his next watch, so he called up the ship’s library and watched a movie. He settled on Star Wars. Somehow, it wasn’t quite as entertaining as he’d hoped it would be.  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
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    The transition clock was down to under five minutes when Lech called battle stations. Lawrence ground his teeth in frustration and engaged the computer protocols that isolated several of the main processors to avoid catastrophic failure in case of damage. Once again, his cousin had fucked up. When they’d rendezvoused with the aliens who held their contract, they’d been informed that the contracting party was exercising a sub-lease clause and delegating EMS John III Sobieski to another operation. While Lech screamed at the Cochkala commander of the other ship, who looked like a big bipedal badger, Lawrence pulled up the contract and read under ‘secondary contingencies’ as fast as he could.  
 
    “Lech,” Lawrence said.  
 
    “…no intention whatsoever of letting you do this to us,” Lech was snarling at the Tri-V display of the Cochkala.  
 
    “I’m afraid you have little choice,” the alien replied, “unless you are forfeiting your bond.” 
 
    “Lech,” Lawrence said again. His cousin held up a hand toward him then spoke at the alien again.  
 
    “Small cost to pay for forcing us into doing something we didn’t sign up for.”  
 
    “Lech!” Lawrence shouted this time. 
 
    “What?” the other man demanded. Lawrence made an across the throat at the comms officer, and their end was muted.  
 
    “According to the contract they can do this.” 
 
    “Then we cancel the contract. The retainer isn’t that big.” 
 
    “Sure, Lech, and if you do that we lose our mercenary status as a company. It states in the bylaws that if a new company cancels their contract as the result of a dispute, it loses its mercenary status and cannot reapply again for nine years.” Lech blanched. “Yeah, I didn’t realize what that meant until the badger started talking about bond forfeiture.” 
 
    “Motherless whore,” Lech swore.  
 
    “The upside is this gives us another ten percent bonus upon completion.” 
 
    The CIC was silent for a time as Lech glared at the opposite bulkhead, and the Cochkala waited. It didn’t look bothered, because it knew it had them right where it wanted them. Finally, Lech gestured at the comms officer. “It seems you have us at a disadvantage,” he said to the Cochkala. “Please, send over the new orders.”  
 
    That had been three weeks and two transitions ago. They met up with a small fleet of combat transports after the second transition. Lech had kept the operation to himself until then, which was a mistake, as it had allowed rumors to run freely through the crew the entire time. The only advantage of his not talking about it was that most of the imagined operations were worse than what it really was. They were to be one of eight warships providing combat escort for a multi-mercenary company assault on some race’s manufacturing operation, which was part of a growing brush war. It didn’t matter whose war, or why, only that their old contract to escort transports through potentially dangerous territory was a sham, and now they would be in the mix for real.  
 
    “Transition in one minute.” 
 
    After they met the rest of their fleet, details of command and scrambled channels were worked out, and the entire fleet accelerated toward the stargate to transition as a single unit, travelling at several hundred kilometers per second. That had been a little nerve wracking. Apparently, it would let them arrive at speed, because you left hyperspace with the same velocity you entered it with. Lawrence had spent a lot of the last three weeks studying Union space tactics manuals. Most of them were written by a race known as the Izlian, which looked like squids that floated in the air. The manuals were also thousands of years old. He’d been taking notes.  
 
    “Transition in ten seconds.” 
 
    “All stations, prepare for battle!” Lech called on the PA. At the count of ten, they transitioned into normal space. Lawrence had been thrilled to learn that returning to normal space was nothing like entering hyperspace. Just a quick sensation of falling, which was a bit disconcerting since they were already in zero G, and you were back in the real world. Hyperspace was just pure white nothing—pretty strange really. “Sensor sweep,” Lech ordered. “Comms, link us with the rest of the fleet.” 
 
    “Comms established.” 
 
    “Contact!” the sensor officer exclaimed. “Two unidentified ships!” He gave the bearing and distance. The forward Tri-V came alive, and a map was assembled of the near space, friendly ships in red, enemy in blue. Because the tactical computer was Bakulu, Lawrence hadn’t been able to change that color scheme, much to his and Lech’s annoyance. Currently two blue ships were flashing several thousand kilometers away.  
 
    “Fleet has identified them as enemy highguard,” comms reported, meaning they were there to guard the emergence point. Yet another rule of hyperspace stated that when you set up a stargate at one Lagrange point, the emergence location would settle at a different Lagrange point. No one seemed to know why, but it was handy so ships didn’t run into each other. As long as you cleared the emergence point as soon as possible.  
 
    “I have missiles away from the bogies,” sensors declared. “Eleven missiles targeting the fleet.” 
 
    “Oh shit,” someone in the CIC whispered.  
 
    “Stow that,” Lech ordered. Their job was escort, which meant they dealt with these kinds of missile attacks. They and the other two frigates in the combat detachment. There were three close escorts who would follow the transports most of the way down to the planet, and two light cruisers to provide the real firepower. “Helm, bring us about for anti-missile missile launch.” 
 
    “Coming about,” helm said, and the alarm sounded over the battle stations claxon. The John III Sobieski groaned slightly as her attitude thrusters spun the ship on its central axis, which was where the CIC was, so the command crew felt little of it. The sound of thumps and thuds reverberated through the ship as the untested interceptor missiles were fed from the magazines into two of the ship’s four launchers.  
 
    “Two missiles are locked on us,” the sensor officer updated. 
 
    “Stand by missiles,” Lech ordered. The tactical display showed them coming around. “Load tubes three and four with anti-ship missiles.”  
 
    “Missile impact in 39 seconds,” the sensor officer announced. The CIC was so quiet Lawrence could hear the air circulation fans. He glanced at Denise and saw her watching the slate that monitored the alien computers, her eyes wide in terror.  
 
    “Bearings matched,” the helm said. 
 
    “Fire!”  
 
    The ship shifted slightly as the air charges blasted the missiles clear; their rocket motors ignited a split second later to send them away at an incredible speed.  
 
    “They’re away, good track,” the weapons officer confirmed. The weapons officers and armorers were the only ones on the ship who’d been active duty in the Polish Navy; they were on loan for a piece of the prize. They were also the only crew to have fired weapons in anger before that day. “Intercept in ten seconds…five, four, three, two, detonation.” There was a second while sensors monitored the results.  
 
    “Both missiles intercepted,” the sensor officer confirmed. A cheer went up; the new missiles had worked. “I have two more targeting the transport in our lane.” 
 
    “We are in range for lasers,” weapons reported.  
 
    “Roll to target,” Lech ordered. Clustered around the middle of the ship in two groups, the lasers were out of position when missiles were fired on that bearing. The ship spun.  
 
    “Increasing power from the reactors,” engineering said.  
 
    “Firing lasers,” weapons said. Only the thrum of the distant fusion plants was any indication of the megawatts of laser energy flashing out from EMS John III Sobieski’s emitters. “Bogies intercepted.” Another cheer.  
 
    “Status on the rest of the fleet?” Lech asked.  
 
    “Escort Tobriea took a single missile hit,” comms said; “their shields handled most of it, but they have some damage. Fleet command is ordering us and O’llo to engage the enemy highguard.” 
 
    “Confirmed,” Lech said, “match bearings on the other tubes and fire on Bogie One. Inform O’llo and Tobriea of our target selection.” A few seconds later, two more bumps announced the departure of another pair of missiles. These were the alien-manufactured weapons, and it was easy to see on the tactical board because they shot away several times faster than their Human-derived counterparts.  
 
    “Good track,” weapons confirmed. On the board, six more missiles left friendly ships, two from the damaged Tobriea and four from O’llo. The enemy ships began to maneuver and fire their own defensive lasers, but under a bombardment of eight missiles, it wasn’t enough. Both were hit several times and were gone. “Both ships are down.” Lawrence wondered if they’d just killed a ship full of living beings.  
 
    “Fleet command sends their regards and says well done,” comms said.  
 
    “We just earned an extra million credits,” Lech said, rubbing his hands together. There were a few appreciative murmurs around the CIC. Lawrence glanced around and could see that a lot of them were thinking the same as he was. The million credits were at the cost of a lot of lives.  
 
    “Fleet is assigning us a new lane for the approach to target,” comms reported. 
 
    “Very well,” Lech said, “helm take the bearing and bring us into formation, optimal thrust.” The ship began to maneuver, and Lech was all smiles. “We’re as good as home.”  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
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    Lawrence soared down the central trunk of EMS John III Sobieski with a specialized slate that traced data pathways. They’d been orbiting Z’tha for nine days as the assault below bogged down. They’d taken fire from an orbital defensive platform and a seemingly stray laser shot, which had punched clean through EMS John III Sobieski from ventral port to dorsal starboard with frightening ease. There were no casualties except for one of the missile tube controls, which he was still trying to diagnose.  
 
    “Maybe we’re doing this all wrong,” Denise suggested a short distance away. She floated perpendicular to him, her uniform blouse bulging from her breasts. Lawrence wrenched his gaze away from the delightful view and forced himself to think about Amelia, and not how many thousands of light years she was from him.  
 
    “What do you mean?” he asked.  
 
    “Well, we’re thinking the laser caused an overload somewhere down the line. Maybe that’s not what happened. Maybe the laser took out some sort of supporting system to the data trunk.” 
 
    “That’s…” He’d been about to say that was crazy, then changed his mind in mid-stream. “That’s a damn interesting idea.” Once they’d taken the ship out of their solar system, Lawrence began to really feel the effects of not having a planet of computing power behind him. The deeper they got into systems diagnostics, the more difficult translation became. The interpretive system he’d designed was straight forward and meant for control. Damage analysis got into deeper functions, and some of the equipment wasn’t made by the Bakulu.  
 
    He reoriented with Denise, and they both used a slate to examine the layout of the ship’s communications systems. Human-designed electrical and computer components followed a more or less uniform architecture. Lawrence knew enough of that side of computers to handle most situations…on Earth. Alien-made equipment didn’t seem to follow the same rules. They shared common communications and power protocols, so the equipment could talk to and power each other, sure. But how it got from A to B didn’t seem to stick to any one method.  
 
    “We should have spent months studying how this ship worked before we ever left the Solar System,” he admitted after they’d consumed an hour examining the diagrams.  
 
    “It’s confusing to say the least,” Denise agreed. She reached out a finger and pointed at part of the schematic where the details were written in an unidentified alien language. “Look at this. Does it look like a power distribution panel?” Lawrence looked at the notes and symbols, then called up some of the systems schematics they had which were translated. He quickly found a match. 
 
    “Bingo,” he said; “you nailed it.” She grinned and leaned in to kiss him before he could react. He responded without thinking.  
 
    “Well that was amusing,” Denise said sometime later, slipping back into her uniform. “I always wondered what it would be like in zero gravity. Not at all like movies made it out to be—it took a lot of work.” She glanced at Lawrence who was sullenly putting his clothes back on. “What’s wrong?” 
 
    “I’m in a relationship,” he said, realizing he could have said that anytime in the last half hour of zero-gravity aerobics, but hadn’t.  
 
    Denise pulled her hair back and secured it with an elastic band, then shrugged. “So am I,” she admitted. He looked at her askance. She gave him a devilish grin. 
 
    “Then what was that all about?” 
 
    “Sex,” she said. “I seem to remember you being there…”  
 
    “Lawrence,” echoed from his headset as he slipped it on, “what’s the status on that missile launcher?” 
 
    “Shit,” he said and tapped transmit. “I think we have it figured out, Lech.” 
 
    “Captain Lech,” his cousin instantly corrected. “I was beginning to wonder what you two were up to in that tunnel. Aleksander in engineering said you’d been in there for a couple hours. Fraternizing between officers is against the rules.” 
 
    “Fuck off Lech, we’re working.” He turned off the radio just as Denise started laughing. “I’m glad you find this funny. Now can we finish fixing the turret?”  
 
    “All turrets operational,” weapons announced an hour later. 
 
    “Hull integrity is down five percent,” Aleksander reminded from engineering.  
 
    “What do we need to do for repairs?” Lech asked.  
 
    “I’m not sure.” Lech glanced over to where Lawrence was strapped into his workstation and gave him a ‘help me’ look. Lawrence shrugged.  
 
    “We can’t do anything about it now. At least we’re fully operational—” 
 
    “Contact from fleet,” comms said. “Monitors at the emergence point have picked up several ships arriving at speed. No determination of type prior to the monitors’ destruction.” 
 
    “Battle stations,” Lech said. “Prepare to break orbit!”  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
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    “The ship is lost, sir.” Lawrence looked up from the slate detailing the ship’s damage to see the head of the only surviving damage control detail floating at the hatch to the CIC. Ensign Biggs was maybe 20, and he was wearing an environmental suit with a helmet clipped to his belt. He was one of the few crewmembers not in the family. The suit was scuffed and battered, with obvious electrical charring in several places. Lawrence wondered if it even held pressure anymore. He’d taken over from the head of damage control when a power panel the previous chief had been working on suddenly exploded, killing the other man instantly. Since then Biggs had fought a valiant, but apparently fruitless battle to keep the ship’s fusion plant functioning.  
 
    “How long?” Lawrence asked.  
 
    “I can give you another six hours of power from number two reactor,” Biggs said, taking a slate from his belt holder and examining it. “After that, we risk containment loss.” Lawrence sighed. That was it, then.  
 
    “Do the best you can,” he told him, and the other man spun to float back out. “And Ensign?” Biggs turned his head back to look. “Good job.” Biggs nodded his thanks and was gone.  
 
    The CIC looked like the rest of the ship, as if someone had taken a tube full of Lego building blocks and shaken it for an hour. The force that arrived in Z’tha was simply too large to oppose. Seven ships, including a battlecruiser and a drone carrier. John III Sobieski had been managing an orderly retreat until a 100-megawatt laser from an enemy cruiser had punched though the already failing shields and then gone diagonally through the ship. The shot neatly bisected the CIC as well. The one-meter wide beam of coherent light lanced through the armored hull, the main weapons console, the weapons officer, across the CIC, and out the other side through the secondary computer station, and Denise. As luck would have it, Captain Lech Kosmalski was also in the beam’s path.  
 
    The crew had all been in their combat uniforms, light environmental suits, and strapped into their work stations when the beam hulled the ship and took their captain. Even so, two assistants and the second in command were sucked out the hole in the bomb-like explosive decompression. With the chief engineer, Aleksander Kosmalski, already dead from an earlier hit, Commander Lawrence Kosmalski, 4th officer, had suddenly found himself in command of EMS John III Sobieski and her surviving 67 souls.  
 
    When the beam carved through John III Sobieski, killing her senior commanders and temporarily crippling its command and control, the Schleect-class frigate had lost all control and begun an uncontrolled rolling and yawing spin through space. The crew were thrown around and panicked. For all intents and purposes, the ship looked dead. The remainder of their fleet didn’t wait for them; they continued their mad flight toward the stargate. And that had saved their lives. The enemy cruiser immediately went after the higher priority targets, giving John III Sobieski an agonizing 20 minutes to regain reaction control. Still moving at several dozen kilometers per second, it had drifted far out of the combat zone.  
 
    Damage control managed to slap patches on the bulkheads and restore atmospheric pressure to the ship. Lawrence helped repair vital systems, all the while trying to forget how many had just died. He couldn’t get the memory of those moments with Denise out of his mind, and the guilt about Amelia back on Earth burned right alongside. Now, despite all their work, the only functional fusion plant was a loss. Six hours was no more useful than six minutes.  
 
    They could probably reach the system’s stargate in well under that time, even with a single fusion torch. But even if he could fight their way through the enemy highguard which would no doubt be waiting for them and survive to make a transition to hyperspace, he couldn’t power the hyperspace generators for the 170 hours required. He tapped at his slate, linked with the ship’s main computer, which was remarkably untouched, and it informed him the batteries were 70% intact, and could provide power to the hyperspace generators for a maximum of fourteen hours. That was only about 150 hours short. He let the computer go, and it floated next to him.  
 
    “Sensors are coming back online!”  
 
    Lawrence perked up, at least that was some good news. “Let’s have a situation report,” he said. For the last hour, they’d been almost blind. Several crewmembers were manning antiquated telescopes taking visual readings on the stars trying to get a fix on their location, direction of travel, or even velocity. With sensors back up, it only took the junior surviving navigator a minute to fix their position.  
 
    “We’re just under two light minutes from the stargate,” the female officer announced. The CIC’s only remaining operational Tri-V came alive with a flickering image of the star system. The primary star was in the center, with each planet and its orbit around said star lit up in blue lines. A glowing white ring represented the stargate in its LaGrange point. Then a tiny green arrow appeared, and the view zoomed in closer. Their direction of travel and path behind them came alive with a dotted blue line, followed close behind by a series of red dots ahead.  
 
    “What are those?” he asked the sensor tech. “Ships?”  
 
    “No sir,” the sensor tech replied, “asteroids. I’m not picking up any other friendlies in the system. We’re approaching an asteroid field.” 
 
    “Any danger of collision?” 
 
    “We have a high probability of hitting one,” the navigator confirmed. The computer extrapolated their path. The flashing blue line intersected with one of the red dots. Not good. 
 
    “Ensign Biggs,” he called over the radio, “I’m going to need propulsion!”  
 
    “I can give you maneuvering engines only,” Biggs replied right away. “There is no way I can light the fusion torch. With the condition the power plant is in, it would blow for sure.”  
 
    “That will have to do,” Lawrence said, “ASAP Mr. Biggs.” The damage control coordinator said he’d have it in five minutes. Lawrence turned to the navigator. “Can you get us out of that rock’s path?” 
 
    “Yes sir,” the navigator confirmed. “But avoiding it any direction puts us into conflict with other rocks. It’s a surprisingly dense field.” Lawrence grunted. The asteroid belt back in Earth’s system was so dispersed that most of the rocks were thousands of miles apart. What kind of crazy field was this? It sounded like a bad Sci-Fi movie.  
 
    “I need options,” he told her, “and with what we have available.” 
 
    “I’m working it, sir,” she said, and her fingers danced on the touch plate controls. After a moment, she spoke again. “I have a plan,” she announced. 
 
    “Power in one minute,” Biggs said.  
 
    “Prepare for thrust,” Lawrence informed his helmsman, then told the navigator to explain.  
 
    “Well, we can give it a push first this way,” the screen showed the ship in larger scale. The miniature John III Sobieski looked perfect—nothing like it surely appeared now. Its tail flashed and the course altered to just barely miss the asteroid in their path. “And then we push this way.” As the John III Sobieski slid by the first asteroid, it flipped and thrust in a different direction. It looked like they were going to hit a second rock.  
 
    “This doesn’t seem like a solution,” Lawrence said.  
 
    “Wait for it, sir.” The simulation continued until John III Sobieski was only a few hundred miles from the second asteroid, at which point it thrust again. The John III Sobieski skimmed the surface of the second asteroid, and whipped around it in a tight elliptical orbit. The John III Sobieski thrust again, and the orbit settled in. The tiny graphical representation of their ship was swirling benignly around the asteroid over and over.  
 
    “Well I’ll be damned,” Lawrence said. The navigator beamed. “You sure about this?” 
 
    “Yes sir, if the readings on the asteroid mass and composition are good. We’ll have to fine tune it once we reach the last rock, but no problem.” 
 
    “Maneuvering drive is hot!” Biggs called. “But for the love of Jesus, don’t push it too hard!” 
 
    Seconds ticked by as Lawrence watched the plot, all the while grinding his teeth together. Home, he thought; was that even possible now? Putting them into orbit around the asteroid effectively marooned them. They’d give up their precious velocity and have no chance of reaching the stargate. But in their current condition, that wasn’t going to happen anyway. At least they’d have a temporary safe harbor and could maybe affect some repairs. He decided.  
 
    “Okay, let’s do it.”  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
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    Lawrence floated in the CIC and took one last look around. Biggs said he’d be cutting power from the reactor in five minutes. Although he’d originally said the reactor would only be good for six hours, he’d managed to nurse it for two days. That was enough time to ready the shuttles for use as lifeboats. It was lucky that neither of the shuttles had been damaged in combat. He plucked the headset from where it was floating and put it on.  
 
    “Attention all hands,” he said, “this is the captain.” It still didn’t sound right coming out of his mouth. “Main power will be cut in five minutes. Report to your assigned shuttle immediately.” He paused for a moment, reaching out and touching the scarred and blood-splattered wall of the CIC. “Abandon ship. I repeat, abandon ship.” He took off the headset and left the EMS John III Sobieski’s CIC forever.  
 
    The shuttles were multipurpose vehicles, made for cargo, crew, or both. They only had twenty seats in addition to two for pilot and copilot. Thirty-three were allocated to each shuttle. One of the injured had died since they’d fallen into orbit around the asteroid someone had nicknamed Anchorage. With eleven people having nowhere to strap in, and every square inch of the vessels crammed with anything useful, the pilots were going to have to maneuver extremely carefully to avoid injuring anyone.  
 
    Lawrence floated by the door to shuttle #1 and waited. After a few moments, the lights went out in the docking collar, indicating power was cut. They had decided to let the reactors go cold because, if they had been allowed to overload and explode, or even flash, it might have sent a signal to any remaining enemy ships in the system. Stealth was their only defense. That and some firearms from the ship’s tiny weapons locker. Biggs floated into the docking collar.  
 
    “The ship is secure, sir,” the man said. Lawrence nodded and gestured to the shuttle.  
 
    “Get aboard,” he said, and the other man floated past without comment, leaving Lawrence alone to pull the hatch closed, ceiling it as if a tomb. Inside the shuttle he found the navigator. “You’ve confirmed the orbit?”  
 
    “Yes captain,” he said, “EMS John III Sobieski will impact Anchorage in eleven days, maybe twelve.” Lawrence nodded and went to his seat, just behind the cockpit. With the ship powered down, it would be a mostly quiet death for EMS John III Sobieski. 
 
    “Pilot, let’s go,” he ordered. “Rendezvous with shuttle #2.” It gave him some time to think. They had enough food and life support in the shuttles for a month. Two months, if they stretched it. There just wasn’t anywhere to go. The Z’tha star system had exactly one planet that could support Human life, and it was now occupied by non-friendly forces. Lawrence knew from studying the manuals on warfare that mercenary units didn’t have much concern for slaughtering other units, unless there was the potential of ransom payments. The Winged Hussars, now bereft of even a ship, had nothing with which to pay ransom.  
 
    Ever since they’d made orbit around Anchorage, Lawrence had been mulling over his options for the crew. They could make the stargate without a problem, but the shuttles weren’t capable of hyperspace travel. They could wait for a civilian transport to come through the system and try to get a ride. The problem would be making contact without tipping their hand. Subtle sensor sweeps showed there were ships in highguard at the stargate and a defensive screen at the planet. However, no one seemed to be watching the emergence point. Since ships had arrived in-system several times to bolster the defenses, that didn’t surprise Lawrence. It would take an overwhelming force to retake the Z’tha system at this point.  
 
    Eventually, they matched orbits with shuttle #2, and he had to decide. Since surrendering was liable to be a less-than-viable option, especially since he had no clue what race controlled the system now, and many weren’t known to be gentle, he decided that waiting and hoping for a private ride was the best option.  
 
    “Pilot,” he said through the cockpit door. The man glanced back at him, and the copilot looked back as well, concern in her eyes. “Set course for the vicinity of the system’s emergence point. Tell shuttle #2 to follow a parallel course more than 100 kilometers away from us. Once you have us up to a decent speed, coast to reduce the chance of being spotted.”  
 
    “Understood,” the pilot said. He nodded to the copilot, and they began relaying the orders to the other shuttle.  
 
      
 
    * * * 
 
      
 
    The flightpath was a leisurely one. It would take nine days to get clear of the asteroid field. Anyone looking in their direction would think the two shuttles were just asteroids moving about. Sensors showed a lot of the asteroids had a high iron content, and that worked in the survivors’ favor.  
 
    They were four days into the flight when the pilot came back to see Lawrence in the passenger compartment. They’d put up some blankets, stringing them like trampolines to give a few areas of privacy for crew when then needed it. It wasn’t easy cramming 33 people into less than 800 cubic meters, especially for weeks on end. Add low rations and little real hope of ever going home, and the stress levels were high. Lawrence was using elastic straps to work out against a bulkhead. Extended time in zero gravity was hard on the Human body.  
 
    “Captain, I have something interesting.” The pilot came to a stop and held out a slate.  
 
    Lawrence carefully unfolded himself from the straps and toweled sweat from his face with his shirt before reaching for the computer. He examined the data, moving pages back and forth with a finger on the touch sensitive plastic, then looked up at the pilot who was grinning.  
 
    “Are you certain of these readings?”  
 
    “Yes sir,” the man said. “They were confirmed by shuttle #2 via laser link.”  
 
    Lawrence looked down again. If what this said was true, there was another ship in their path. They’d thought it was just an asteroid, but as they got closer and could use low power radar mapping, it had proven to be a non-organic shape. Nature didn’t make elongated cigars two hundred meters long that returned crisp images.  
 
    “It’s not an ambush?” 
 
    “We don’t think so,” the man said. “It’s tumbling. If it’s an ambush, its crew is going to get the award for the best maskirovka ever.” Lawrence grinned; the pilot’s Russian side was showing.  
 
    “Any energy readings?” The man reached over and touched an icon on the slate. Another series of readings appeared. Yes, there was energy, a very tiny amount that could have been from anything…except a fusion plant, unless it was masked incredibly well. It didn’t take more than a few seconds to make up his mind.  
 
    “Plan an intercept course.”  
 
    Lawrence took advantage of command privilege and assumed the copilot’s seat as they approached the ship. The low power radar gradually built a better image as they neared. It was big alright. At first, he’d thought the sensor data was wrong. It wasn’t. Nearly two hundred meters long, twenty-five meters wide, and shaped like a cigar. It had to weigh 80,000 tons! There continued to be a tiny amount of energy leakage. If you weren’t looking right at it, you’d never notice.  
 
    The time to either pass by or slow came, and Lawrence gave the order to slow. The shuttle flipped over so its exhaust was facing the slowly spinning ship and fired its engines. If it wasn’t a derelict, now would be when they found out. The seconds ticked by, and nothing happened except their velocity fell off relative to the ship. Lawrence breathed again.  
 
    The two shuttles came to a stop only a few meters away from the ship. The pilot opened the shutters on the viewscreens and, with the aid of a pair of spotlights, they were able to see the ship for the first time. It looked both old and magnificent. Its lines spoke of a grace the EMS John III Sobieski hadn’t possessed, and yet somehow, it also said it meant business.  
 
    “Look at its nose,” he said to the pilot and pointed. The pilot aimed the camera at it, and an enhanced image appeared. The nose didn’t come to a point, or even a rounded end. It looked like it had an iris-leafed doorway of some kind. “Docking ring?” he asked.  
 
    “That’s got to be three meters across,” the pilot said. “That’s one huge door!”  
 
    They floated for a time and examined the huge ship. The welds along its hull were solid, and the material looked substantial. The flight crew noted damage here and there. Burns along the hull, melted hull plates, and even places where repairs had been made.  
 
    “That’s a warship,” Lawrence said, pointing. They’d gotten close enough to the cruisers in their squadron to see their heavier armaments. Those included laser arrays and directional missile launchers. EMS John III Sobieski’s missiles were launched directly from tubes along her hull, which was common in small ships. The vessel they were alongside had directional launchers and numerous laser arrays.  
 
    “I think you’re right, captain,” the pilot agreed. “What do we do?”  
 
    “It looks intact,” the copilot said, floating in the doorway of the cockpit. Lawrence looked back at the other man and thought, I wonder if we can get aboard? 
 
    “We could try and board,” the pilot suggested, echoing Lawrence’s thoughts. “We have a dozen space suits between the two shuttles.”  
 
    “I need to consider the crew’s safety,” Lawrence said. “That’s a pretty easy ship to spot if someone is looking.”  
 
    “It’s been here a long time,” the pilot said. As if to emphasize his point, one of the shuttle’s maneuvering jets fired to maintain stability and the defused gas blew a halo of dust off the big ship’s side. “A really long time.” Lawrence looked back into the rear where 33 crew waited for him to decide what to do. Getting people into suits and through the tiny shuttle airlock would be difficult.  
 
    Ultimately, it was the realization that getting home was going to be even more difficult.  
 
    “Let’s see if we can get aboard.”  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
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    “It’s messy, but nothing is ruined that I can tell!” Lawrence had to listen to the radio carefully. Biggs was transmitting from over 100 meters aft, through many steel decks and equipment. The transmission was weak, but intelligible. “It looks like it has three fusion reactors. We’re evaluating the engineering control systems. Give us another hour.” 
 
    “Roger that,” Lawrence said and turned back to the three men who were with him. They’d reached the center of the ship and found what had to be the CIC, a huge steel chamber with rotating, lockable blast doors. Unfortunately, they were rotated and locked. “Any luck?” he asked the men.  
 
    “No sir,” replied the pilot from his shuttle. Lawrence thought his name was Kochek.  
 
    “It’s got to weigh a ton, sir,” Kochek replied. Lawrence could just see his head shaking back and forth inside his spacesuit helmet.  
 
    “Captain!” another man called. “I found another one.” Lawrence floated over to the side passage. The man’s suit lights illuminated a dead alien. It had four arms, was humanoid, and was over two meters tall. It was desiccated, and its limbs were contorted in death. Probably died in vacuum, Lawrence thought. There was damage to some of the doors and hallways. Maybe a battle inside? Suddenly the lights came on. 
 
    “Son of a bitch!” Lawrence swore, reaching up to slide his visor down over his face. “Biggs, was that you?”  
 
    “Yes sir!” he replied. “You’re not going to believe this, but one of the fusion reactors is coming online.” 
 
    “Why did you do that?”  
 
    “I didn’t,” he complained. “We found a computer in standby, and just turned it on. Everything else started happening by itself.”  
 
    “How visible will that reactor be?”  
 
    “Not too visible,” Biggs reported. “This thing has serious hull plating down here. If someone is within a few light minutes, maybe. But they’d spot the shuttles’ fusion plants just as far.” Lawrence’s suit beeped, letting him know that it was picking up atmospheric pressure beginning to build. “Oh, and life support is coming on line.”  
 
    “I noticed,” he said. “Just be careful turning anything else on, okay? We don’t want to have this thing deorbit into that asteroid, or start shooting missiles.”  
 
    “Right boss,” Biggs said.  
 
    “Captain!” Kochek yelled. Lawrence spun around to see the CIC’s armored door rotating open.  
 
    “Guns!” Lawrence said, and the four of them scrambled to ready what weapons they had. There was no need; there was nothing alive inside. Dim, greenish light was cast by several monitors. Lawrence gave a low whistle; the CIC was as big as John III Sobieski’s shuttle bay had been! There were at least a dozen duty stations, and the whole thing was at an odd angle. “Why’s it cocked like that?” he wondered aloud. 
 
    “The entire thing is on gimbals,” one of the other men said, and pointed at the space between the inside and outside walls. “They can move it to whatever orientation they want.” 
 
    “Wow,” Lawrence said, realizing he’d been saying that a lot. Together the four of them floated into the combat center to investigate. There were two more of the four-armed humanoids, but in the central chair was another being. Lawrence floated close to examine it. The creature looked like a squirrel, or maybe a monkey. It had a tail and a funny nose. He thought maybe a Flatar or XenSha? He’d seen pictures of both, only this one was a dried out mummy. His suit beeped. Atmosphere was sufficient to breathe, and there was plenty of oxygen.  
 
    He was a little worried with all the dead things that it would smell bad, but when he opened his suit helmet a crack, the air just smelled cold and musty. Kochek must have been right; these creatures had been dead a very long time. Salvage, he thought. He’d read enough Union law to know that this ship, with none of the owners alive, was legal salvage. It was his! Then he laughed at himself. You have to get it home to keep it. What chance would 60-odd Humans have of getting a behemoth like this back to Earth? 
 
    “Captain, it’s Skoval in shuttle #2.”  
 
    “Go ahead,” Lawrence said.  
 
    “We’ve got company.” Lawrence felt a stab of terror.  
 
    “Warships?” 
 
    “No,” the other pilot said, “I think they’re castaways just like us. I have them on frequency 11.” Lawrence looked down at his suit controls and changed frequencies.  
 
    “This is Captain Lawrence Kosmalski of EMS John III Sobieski,” he transmitted. He heard a series of pops and hisses which the translator he had hooked to his suit’s radio translated. 
 
    “Captain, this is engineer Eto from the Tobriea. We are glad to find you. We had thought John III Sobieski destroyed in the battle.” 
 
    “We thought the same of you, Eto. How many are you?” 
 
    “Forty-nine,” the alien said. “Tobriea was cut in half by a battleship. Most of the crew in the other half were killed. We took the engineering launch and abandoned ship.” 
 
    “What of the O’llo?” he asked.  
 
    “Five of our number are from one of the O’llo’s escape craft. They are the only survivors.”  
 
    “I understand,” he said.  
 
    “We were drifting through the asteroid belt when we detected the fusion power signature of this derelict you have found. Is it functional?”  
 
    “It appears to be,” he said, “at least we have life support running.”  
 
    “Captain,” Eto said, “I know we were not part of the same merc company, but our life support is severely stressed. We have twice as many in here as the ship is rated for. May we beg safe harbor? We can pay what we have.”  
 
    “You may certainly come aboard,” Lawrence said. “Skoval?” 
 
    “Yes, captain?”  
 
    “Give the Tobriea’s shuttle directions to dock. Come aboard yourself so we have our entire crew. Just in case.” 
 
    “Aye-aye, sir.”  
 
    An hour later the alien shuttle was docked to the derelict, and the hatch opened. Twenty crewman from the former EMS John III Sobieski were waiting as Eto floated through the lock. Eto was from the race known as elSha, lizards almost a meter long and well known for their prowess with machines. As the castaways came aboard, they eyed the Humans warily. Most of them were also elSha, though there were a number of other races as well. Several badger-like Cochkala, a horse-like Equiri, a trio of MinSha, and even a pair of huge purple bears known as Oogar. That explained their life support problem.  
 
    “What are your terms, Captain?” Eto asked. “I was the chief engineer and 4th officer of Tobriea, so I am the ranking surviving officer.” 
 
    “Terms?” he wondered. “Oh, pay? Nothing, Eto. You are welcome on board.” The elSha looked at him skeptically.  
 
    “Why would you do this?”  
 
    “We’re all in this together,” Lawrence explained. “Besides, it’s the Human thing to do.” The aliens looked amazed, but none of them complained. The smell coming out of the lifeboat was several orders of funky rankness. “Are there any engineers?” he asked 
 
    “Yes,” Eto said, “most of these are my engineering staff.” He indicated the Oogar and MinSha. “They were from the O’llo and served as marines.”  
 
    “We too are grateful,” one of the MinSha said. Lawrence bowed slightly to the Oogar and MinSha, then turned back to Eto. 
 
    “If you help us get this tub moving, we’ll take you anywhere you want to go.” Eto glanced around the hallway, glancing with his eye turrets in two directions at once. He floated over and examined a display.  
 
    “This is very old technology,” he pointed out. “I don’t know what we can do.” 
 
    “Still, I’d like you to try. We don’t have many more crew members than you, and we lost more engineers. Would you try, please?” Eto looked at his crew. Those with heads nodded, others made gestures of assent appropriate for their own races. Eto looked around the group, gauging their responses before turning back to Lawrence.  
 
    “We will try, Captain.”  
 
      
 
    * * * 
 
      
 
     “It’s down to the computer,” Biggs explained, gesturing at the open armored door. Unlike EMS John III Sobieski, this ship had a large dedicated computer section, and it wasn’t anywhere near the CIC. Biggs, along with Eto, had worked for the last week to bring almost every system on the ship to life…except the computers.  
 
    “Explain it again,” Lawrence said.  
 
    “Okay,” Biggs began. “The physical processors are old, at least from what I’ve seen of Union tech. The two computer specialists Eto loaned me agree. They’re like the ancestors of the slates, only smaller and massively networked. The elSha techs explained that modern warships used processor blocks, not these little network banks of processors.” 
 
    “You said they’re not broken, right?” 
 
    “Right,” Biggs agreed, “they’re coming on and showing normal function indicators.” 
 
    “Then what’s wrong?” 
 
    “It’s the OS. There doesn’t seem to be an operating system.” 
 
    “But there has to be one, doesn’t there?” 
 
    “Exactly,” Biggs said. “Every computer we know of has to have at least a BIOS or it can’t run programs. It’s just a computer waiting for something to do, and you can’t tell it what to do if you don’t have a BIOS. Think of it as a toaster with no lever. Or a car without a driver.”  
 
    “So where is the BIOS?” Lawrence asked.  
 
    Biggs shrugged. “We’ve looked everywhere,” he admitted. “There isn’t any storage media we can find that would serve as the BIOS storage.” He shook his head in frustration. “Why would you do that anyway? If the computer goes down, someone has to run down here and reboot it? Insanity.” Lawrence glanced past him to the long racks of processors, all with glowing power indicators. It looked so straight forward.  
 
    “Were there any corpses in there?” 
 
    “Corpses?” Biggs asked, confused. 
 
    “Yeah, any bodies?” He’d found out the four-armed humanoids were a merc race known as the Lumar, but none of the castaway aliens knew what the little alien in the command chair was. Eto thought it looked a little bit like a Flatar, but found the idea of a Flatar in command of a spaceship ludicrous. In all, they’d cleared over 200 bodies from the ship, all but one a Lumar. Biggs glanced back at the computer room, thinking.  
 
    “No. Wait, kind of.”  
 
    “What does that mean?”  
 
    “We found a suit of armor in there.” 
 
    “Armor? Show me.”  
 
    Biggs led him to a door a MinSha was just shutting. “All of the gear is in here,” Biggs said. He looked to the MinSha. “Show the captain what we’ve got.” 
 
    The alien swung the door inward to show a storage room full of floating uniforms and various equipment. The MinSha gestured to the room full of spinning, moving, bouncing gear.  
 
    “We stripped all the bodies and threw anything not biological in there,” the marine explained. The other two MinSha came up behind her, grasping the wall of the corridor in various places. “Is that a problem, Captain?” 
 
    “No,” Lawrence said. He was a little nervous this close to the MinSha. Their race had destroyed Iran in retribution for the UN bombing last year. “We just need the suit of armor which was taken from the computer room.”  
 
    “Armor,” the MinSha said, her mouth parts moving to make the rasping sounds of her language. Her huge, multifaceted eyes regarded Lawrence. “There was a strange suit of combat armor which one of the Oogar took.” Lawrence perked up. “I believe they took it to their temporary quarters.” 
 
    Biggs and Lawrence arrived on the deck where the Oogar were making their home. The ship was comprised of 32 decks from bow to stern, all arrayed so that up faced the bow. The ship was obviously meant to spend a lot of time under acceleration. There were two elevators on either side of the ship to access the decks, and ramps on alternate sides so you could walk or float between decks, depending on what conditions the ship was under. As the Oogar were so large, they’d settled in a largely open area on Deck 30, near the stern but forward of engineering.  
 
    “Yes, Captain?” an Oogar asked when Lawrence floated in. The other alien wasn’t present.  
 
    “I understand you have a suit of armor that was found elsewhere on the ship?” The marine nodded. “Can we see it please?”  
 
    “We had hoped to salvage some of the protective plates,” the alien said, snatching the suit from a storage locker and floating over to Lawrence. “However none of it is suitable. It was a strange kind of powered armor, or EVA suit. You may have it, if you wish.”  
 
    “Thank you,” Lawrence said. “Since you claimed it, I will pay you for if, if you wish?” 
 
    “That is not necessary,” the Oogar said with a dismissive gesture. “You saved our lives. You may have whatever it is you wish.” Lawrence and Biggs caught the strange armor and began examining it while the Oogar watched. The giant purple ursoid’s earthy/musky smell mixed with the still somewhat stale odor of the ship.  
 
    “It’s got four arms,” Biggs noted immediately.  
 
    “So it’s for the Lumar,” Lawrence said. However the armor had been modified in numerous ways. The helmet was replaced with a sealing ring, the life-support pack had been extensively altered, and there were magnetic grapples in several places, not just at the feet and hands.  
 
    “What the hell?” Biggs wondered at the basic design. “Changed for some weird race?”  
 
    “How’s the interior?” 
 
    “Very strange,” the Oogar said. Biggs looked at him then the suit. With a shrug, he began breaking open the back, where a being would climb inside. When they got the panel open, it revealed a network of computer linkages, servos, and power supplies. There was no room for even a small child. “See? Is it not indeed strange?” 
 
    “It’s like a robot,” Biggs agreed. “Only an improvised one.”  
 
    Lawrence was looking at the backpack, now floating nearby. A single white light was pulsing on its side. He pulled it closer to him and examined it. There were no markings of any sort, or any text. Whoever built it hadn’t left any indications for what it was or how to use it. Just like the suit, it appeared built from scratch.  
 
    “Biggs, did we ever identify that power signal coming from this ship?” 
 
    “No,” he said, “we got distracted when we boarded. Then when the power plants came up, there was too much stray EM around.”  
 
    Lawrence turned the pack over to show the other man what he’d found. “Huh,” Biggs said and fished a detection device from the equipment he always wore. It came alive and data scrolled on the detector’s screen. “I bet this is it,” he said after a minute. 
 
    “What kind of power is it using?”  
 
    “Based on the little bit of neutron radiation it’s giving off, I’d say it’s a radio-isotopic thermoelectric generator. Pretty sophisticated. Can I crack it open?” 
 
    “How long would something like that last?” 
 
    “It could last thousands of years, depending on the isotope.”  
 
    Lawrence chewed his lip and looked around at the ancient ship, then back at the backpack. “Does this have any computer connections?” 
 
    “It’s just a life-support pack,” Biggs said.  
 
    “Humor me?” Biggs sighed and began examining the pack. He found several small data links that connected to other parts of the suit, then a pair of wide-bus connectors.  
 
    “What in the hell?” he muttered, examining them. They linked with data connectors in the suit, which he traced to other connectors on two of the lower hands. He looked at Lawrence, confused. “Why would the suit have those kinds of connectors? You only use them to move massive amounts of data.” 
 
    “How massive?” 
 
    “Like exabytes. You see them inside large computers connecting sub-processors. The Union’s narrow-bus connectors are more like our USB, but on steroids. Think of a USB as a two-lane highway and the narrow-bus connectors as a 10-lane interstate.” 
 
    “Then what’s a wide-bus connector?” Lawrence asked. “Several interstates?” 
 
    “More like every interstate in a large country.”  
 
    “Come on,” Lawrence said, grabbing the pack, “and bring the rest of the suit.”  
 
    “Where are we going?” he called after the captain, who was already gone. With a curse, he took the rest of the suit in tow and followed. He caught up to Lawrence two decks below the CIC, where the main computer room was located. Biggs floated inside, watching his captain looking around frantically. The other man looked more than a little disturbed, almost maniacal.  
 
    “Sir, what are we doing back here?”  
 
    “Don’t you get it?” Lawrence asked as he searched. “This is the key.”  
 
    “No I don’t. The key to what? What are you looking for?” 
 
    “An interface to the mainframe here.” 
 
    “There’s no OS, remember?”  
 
    Lawrence spun around and glared at him. Biggs sighed and went over to the processor rack and pulled out a cable. Lawrence snatched the cable from Biggs’ hand, found a connector on the backpack, and snapped it into place. A tiny light on the cable indicated a good connection. He flipped the pack over and saw the little white light was now blue. After a second, it started to blink.  
 
    “Yes,” Lawrence hissed and released the backpack to float tethered to the mainframe.  
 
    “Now can you tell me what you’re doing?” 
 
    “My specialty is software,” Lawrence explained. Biggs nodded. As an original member of the crew, he’d known that Lawrence was responsible for getting John III Sobieski’s operating system operational. “Well, when we saw this old suit and the backpack with the super-long life battery, it all came together.” Biggs waited patiently. “If I’m right, any second now we’ll see.” There was a flash of light as every processor in the computer room flashed white status lights and then all turned blue. The light on the backpack went out. “This is a computer lifeboat,” he said, indicating the suit and backpack. “For some reason they offloaded the computer’s memory into this. Maybe as a backup, maybe for safekeeping, I don’t know. But I remembered that the bigger holographic memory units the Union sometimes uses takes power.” 
 
    “Yeah, but not much,” Biggs said, pointing at the backpack. “Those generators make a lot more than it would need.”  
 
    “But if you use less power, they last longer, right?” Biggs first shrugged, then thought and slowly nodded. “This was a long-term lifeboat, an off-site backup for the computer. And whoever set it up designed it to last a very long time.”  
 
    Along one wall were a series of slate-style displays. None had ever shown so much as a status light. Now one came alive and began scrolling alien script. Biggs floated over to it and interfaced his slate, which translated. “DES Sk’lana – Main Computer Standing By.” 
 
    “The name Sk’lana has a tag in the GalNet,” Biggs said and followed it. An image of an alien, half horse, half eagle, appeared on the display. 
 
    “Looks like a—” Lawrence said.  
 
    “Captain!” his radio transmitted an urgent call.  
 
    “Go ahead.”  
 
    “This is Wisniewski in CIC, everything just came alive down here. And I mean everything!”  
 
    “We have helm control,” Kochek also transmitted. “Do you want me to stabilize?”  
 
    “Yes,” he said. “Just go easy.” They felt their orientation shift slightly, and both men grabbed at handholds as the slow spin of the ship stopped.  
 
    “We’re stable, Captain. Orders?”  
 
    “Meeting in 10 minutes,” he said. “Everyone in the hanger bay on Deck 21.” He turned and grinned at Biggs.  
 
    “How did you know?”  
 
    “I have no idea,” Lawrence admitted. His eyes lingered on the now apparently dead backpack for a long moment. “We can figure it out later. For now, let’s go consider our options.”  
 
      
 
    * * * 
 
      
 
    “Let’s summarize,” Lawrence said to the crew. They were all assembled in the ship’s central hangar deck. There were two on either side of the ship, with elevators leading to the deck below, where they’d found half a dozen shuttles and dozens of combat drones. The space was big enough for five times the 116 Humans and aliens, even taking in to account the two huge purple Oogar. “The ship is in pretty good shape, considering it’s been sitting here for probably thousands of years. Biggs and I got the computer running 20 minutes ago.” Biggs gave him a sideways look, but Lawrence had sworn him to secrecy about how they’d done it. He wanted to know more first. “So, let’s hear by department how we are doing.” He pointed at Eto first.  
 
    “I have two of the three fusion plants hot, running at one percent and five percent.” 
 
    “What about the third?” Lawrence asked.  
 
    “It has some damage. A beam weapon came through the hull and took out a few of the buffers. It’s fixable. However,” he said, holding up a pair of tiny hands. “The F11 is not in great shape. It’s about 90% saturated.” 
 
    “That’s not good.”  
 
    “No, it’s not. However, if you’re okay with it, I’ll transfer the F11 from your shuttles and ours and run a cleaning cycle. With that, we’ll be around 80%. It’s hard to tell how much power this beast uses, but it’s probably good for a thousand combined hours.” 
 
    “That’s several hyperspace trips,” Kochek said. There were mumbles of pleasure and heads nodding all around. Eto continued.  
 
    “There are a lot of age issues with decayed connectors, rotted pipes, and such. But there were also a lot of spares and redundancy. This ship was made as a very utilitarian warship. It’s rough, without a lot of the polish our old ship Tobriea had, but it was an Izlian design and very refined. This ship looks like it was fast. We need another 72 hours, and I believe we’ll be ready to maneuver. We’re also low on reaction mass, though enough for a few hundred hours at low G. I have to say, once all the reactors are at 100%, this ship will have incredible maneuverability and speed. I wouldn’t be surprised if it’s more than 10Gs.” 
 
    “Holy crap,” Lawrence said. The rest of the crew all exclaimed and talked to each other.  
 
    “Yes, Captain,” Edo repeated. “Whatever race built this had a very high thrust tolerance.” Lawrence nodded his thanks and pointed to Biggs.  
 
    “There are a thousand things that don’t work, like the bow-to-stern elevators and these hangar doors. Half the plumbing is out, and there’s no fresh water on board. That said, enough is working that I’m sure we can make it a few weeks underway, and there’s enough food and supplies on our combined survival ships that we won’t starve or die of thirst. Our life support is nominal. That said, the scrubbers need replacing, but they’ll probably last longer than the F11. For safety, I’ve asked everyone to bunk in the quarters we found on Deck 11. We’ve had to double up, and some of the cabins are tiny.”  
 
    “Good. Kochek, you mentioned our range, but can you fly this ship?” 
 
    “I ran a few commands through the system and found it more or less to Union standard. This is a major warship, and small craft were my specialty.” He looked over at the other pilot, and she nodded back to him. “Silvia and I are pretty sure we can manage it, and we’ll have time to learn on the fly.” Several people booed. “No pun intended. The diagnostics on the hyperdrive were difficult.” 
 
    “Why is that?”  
 
    “The interface and controls are different than on the Sobieski. I mean completely different. There seem to be two control interfaces and different parameter input protocols for each. Both systems’ diagnostics come back good, though.” 
 
    “Do you think it matters which one we use?”  
 
    “I don’t know,” Kochek admitted. “I’m going to advise we use the familiar one.” Lawrence nodded. “After the three days engineering needs, we’ll have the hyperdrive better figured out.”  
 
    “Good. That leaves tactical.” Lawrence turned to the last man with a report. “Lieutenant Wisniewski?”  
 
    “The ship has a lot of weapons,” the man explained. “It’s going to take some time to fully understand how a ship like this would use them.” 
 
    “How about the basics?” Lawrence asked.  
 
    “Okay,” Nowak replied. He took a deep breath to calm himself. He’d merely been a gunner on Sobieski, but then all of the tactical crew were killed on the bridge. Lawrence wasn’t sure, but he thought the man had operated weaponized drones for the Polish Army. “There are eight main offensive laser batteries in two groups of four, one forward and one aft. There are 20 defensive lasers mounted in four groups of five around the hull. We also have 10 missile launching ports.” 
 
    “Not turrets like the other capital ships we’ve seen?” Lawrence asked.  
 
    “No sir, just ports aimed straight out from whatever side they’re on. I agree with Mr. Eto; this ship was made quick and simple. She’s also got independent defensive shield generators—two of them—forward and aft. Either can cover the whole ship.” 
 
    “More redundancy,” Eto pointed out.  
 
    Wisniewski continued. “Both are in pretty good shape, but Eto informs me the capacitors have seen a lot of action. The missile magazines are next to each group of launchers. There’s one on Deck 29 and another on Deck 3, and they are marvelously engineered. They have blowout panels and are designed to feed from anywhere in the magazine in seconds. The only problem is those magazines are nearly dry. They must have had a hell of a fight!”  
 
    “How dry is nearly dry?” Lawrence asked.  
 
    Wisniewski consulted his slate. “We have 39 in the forward magazine and 11 in the aft. Stores says all the rear missiles are anti-missile missiles, and the forward missiles are 22 offensive and 17 defensive.”  
 
    Wisniewski consulted the slate again and started to speak, but the sensor operator interrupted him. “We just got confirmed sensor readings from the stargate,” the man said.  
 
    “What do you have?” 
 
    “Our sensor tech was able to identify their emissions. There are three ships by the stargate; it looks like two frigates and a cruiser.” The space echoed with the moans and conversation of a hundred people. 
 
    Lawrence called for quiet. “Lieutenant Wisniewski, can the shields hold on a run through that?”  
 
    “Not for long,” he said. Lawrence looked down at the deck. “But they don’t have to.”  
 
    “What do you mean?” Lawrence asked. 
 
    The man grinned from ear to ear. “I figured out what that hatch in the bow was for.” Lawrence nodded and gestured for him to go ahead. Everyone listened as Wisniewski explained. After a minute, Lawrence’s grin was just as big.  
 
    “Everyone back to work,” he said at the end of the meeting. “In 72 hours, we’re getting out of here.”  
 
      
 
    * * * 
 
      
 
    The three ships on highguard over the Z’tha stargate had been patiently waiting for almost two weeks for any sign of the surviving enemy merc ships. There were, at most, two frigates unaccounted for, so when their Bakulu commander had left two frigates and a cruiser behind, they were completely confident of being able to hold off any potential escape. Their orders were simple; capture or neutralize any aggressor who attempted to transition out-system from the stargate. Their contract was nearly up when their sensor drones picked up the approaching ship. 
 
    The small squadron came about and moved into formation, the two frigates on opposite sides and a thousand kilometers ahead of the cruiser to supply a missile screen for it. They would also provide targeting data to allow the much more heavily-gunned cruiser to hit targets at a greater distance. It was right out of the Izlian tactical manual.  
 
    The ship approaching them, however, was different than what they’d planned for—it wasn’t a frigate. Scans showed a ship much closer to a heavy cruiser in size, but it didn’t match any of the radar cross sections in the database. It was coming directly toward the stargate at a moderate speed, its fusion torch burning to slow it to a rendezvous.  
 
    A missile spread was ordered against the approaching ship. The two frigates released a total of 20 anti-ship missiles that raced out toward their target, accelerating at more than 100 Gs. As soon as the missiles were away, the approaching cruiser rolled to face the missile storm and unleashed a complicated pattern of defensive laser fire. All but three of the missiles were intercepted. The remaining were destroyed by anti-missile missiles.  
 
    The commander of the squadron, a well-trained officer in the Izlian doctrine of defense in depth, ordered his frigates to spread out further to allow them to engage the approaching ship from multiple fronts, and perhaps even get onto the enemy’s flank. The other ship unleashed pinpoint laser fire and one of the two frigates was hulled in less than a second. A spread of six ship-killer missiles flashed out at the second frigate. The second frigate only shot down two of the missiles, and it died in nuclear fire. 
 
    Realizing it was up against a deadly adversary, the cruiser, now alone, swung around to allow all of her side-mounted particle cannon to come to bear. The ship was aligned, defensive lasers ready, and waited for the other ship to reach optimal range. On the enemy ship, a series of doors opened over a three-meter-wide glowing aperture on its nose. The Bakulu squadron commander looked at the image on his display, curious as to what it was. The approaching cruiser fired its spinal-mounted 40-terawatt particle cannon, and the beam hit the Bakulu cruiser dead center, slicing the ship completely in two. Energy overloads caused multiple secondary explosions, turning the remains into brightly flashing, wildly spinning hulks.  
 
    The other ship spun back around tail first, and finished its deceleration burn to come abreast of the stargate, as planned. The entire engagement had taken less than five minutes.  
 
    “Mother of God,” Kochek said from his pilot’s station on the bridge. When each of the frigates had gone down, there had been cheers from the bridge crew, both alien and Human. They’d all come from ships of that class. There was a familiarity and scale of purpose. The destruction of the cruiser was a brutal act of near-slaughter. It never had a chance.  
 
    “I told you,” Wisniewski said as he safed the spinal mount and powered down the tactical systems. “It’s a game changer.”  
 
    There was very little conversation in the CIC as they flew through the debris cloud of the ship they’d killed. Kochek and Silvia made some minor course corrections to avoid a big, glowing piece of the dead cruiser. The quiet remained. Eventually, they stopped next to the stargate and Lawrence entered the company’s ID into the gate’s remote control and selected “At Leisure” for their departure window. Lacking any other nearby customers, the gate replied it would open in two hours.  
 
    “Well done,” he finally told his crew. They were still melancholy. “We need to remember they fired 20 ship-killer missiles at us. We didn’t shoot first.” He looked around at them and made a fist. “They tried making us their prey; we returned the favor. They died, we lived. It’s that simple.” There were nods of agreement around the CIC.  
 
    “We can’t keep calling this The Ship,” Kochek said a short time before the gate opened. The fusion plants were coming to full, and the ship’s hull vibrated with the power. The ship began to move forward slowly.  
 
    “No,” he agreed, “but I have the name. Whoever owned it before called it Sk’lana, which is a creature that looks like a winged horse.” He grinned. “I’m naming her Pegasus.” A minute later, they made the transition to hyperspace. 
 
      
 
    * * * 
 
      
 
    EMS Pegasus drifted a few kilometers off Karma Station. Two of her shuttles, now successfully operating off the flight deck, were moving people and supplies back and forth. Once they’d arrived, Lawrence registered the ship, reporting it as salvage, and assigned the new name under the merc company Winged Hussars. It was surprisingly easy. Next, he’d gone over to the merc guild office and completed their contract.  
 
    Even though the objective had been retaken, the Winged Hussars had participated in a successful capture of the target. They’d fought one battle on the way in, and another on the way out when they’d lost the Sobieski. Lawrence collected a total of 12 million credits. Eto, as the only survivor of his own company, collected his own sum.  
 
    “What’s your plan now?” he asked the engineer and leader of the survivors from Tobriea.  
 
    “We’re busted,” the elSha said. “We didn’t get a fraction of what we needed to buy another ship. At least one worthwhile, anyway. I guess we’ll split up and look for work.” 
 
    “I have a proposal for you,” Lawrence said. The two spent the afternoon talking, and in the end, their companies were merged. Lawrence gave Eto and his people 20% interest in the Hussars, in exchange for 10 million credits. Eto didn’t know it, but he’d made the deal of the millennia.  
 
    With the cash in his safe, Lawrence had his new chief engineer, Commander Eto, start laying in supplies and making repairs. He also named Biggs his second-in-command, much to the damage control specialist’s chagrin. Lawrence also did some hiring. There weren’t any Humans on Karma, so even more aliens were employed. By the end of the week at Karma, the ship had a much better complement, he had spent almost 5 million credits, and they were ready to go home. As they headed out toward Karma’s stargate, he was surprised to realize they’d been gone for six months. He was also surprised at how he was only really looking forward to going home for one reason. The last week in hyperspace passed quickly, and they were back in their home system.  
 
    “Earth traffic control, please identify,” a woman’s voice spoke shortly after they’d transitioned out of hyperspace.  
 
    “This is EMS Pegasus,” Lawrence said from the CIC.  
 
    “Pegasus, please identify further.” Lawrence looked confused, then suddenly laughed.  
 
    “Traffic control, this is Lawrence Kosmalski of the Winged Hussars, commanding our new ship EMS Pegasus.” 
 
    “Confirmed, Pegasus of the Hussars. Welcome home.” The ancient battlecruiser slowly thrust toward the bright blue ball of Earth. After everything that had happened, he was most looking forward to seeing his girlfriend again.  
 
    “I just might ask Amelia Cromwell to marry me,” he said quietly, then smiled.  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
 
      
 
    


 
   
  
 

 Avenging Angels - 3 
 
      
 
    Message Initially Received: A’Alledo System 
 
    For Forwarding To: Earth System 
 
      
 
    Message Begins: 
 
    Dearest Dianne, 
 
      
 
    Hopefully this will arrive ahead of the official notification as I wanted to be the one to tell you we took some losses in our last mission. I’m fine, but we lost the other dropship yesterday.  
 
    We finally got a contract out of the Taloco merc pit. It was supposed to be easy and didn’t require a lot of travel as it was on the planet below the space station. We were supposed to be helping the planetary government, which had just experienced a string of environmental disasters. Apparently, they had some really large storms (kind of like the hurricanes back home), and a bunch of their dams had failed. When I say dams, I mean real monsters—they were each over 500 feet above the riverbed. There were a large number of cities and towns downstream; when the dams failed, they wiped the cities clean out to sea. They needed lots of people to help sweep the oceans to look for people who needed rescuing. It’s what we do—rescue people—and it should have been easy, right? 
 
    They neglected to mention that the disasters had actually been caused by some sort of revolutionary movement who had blown the dams, and while we were helping out, the other dropship got hit by a surface-to-air missile. No one knows where the resistance got SAMs from, but the ones they had were pretty good and put the other dropship into the ocean. We didn’t hear about it for several hours, and by the time we could get there, the crew was spread all over the place. Although we recovered the two pilots, we lost several of the crew, as well as the head of our medical group, Dr. Ezekiel Avander, who was aboard the dropship when it went down. That’s a big loss, as he was a great surgeon. We do have two other medics, though, so we can still make do.  
 
    After that fiasco, we were able to hop on a transport that brought us halfway back to Earth. We’re now in the Tolo Arm of the galaxy, which is the same one Earth is in, so we’re getting closer. We’re currently in the Gresht Region, which is the part of the arm that is closest to the core. You’re in the Cresht Region, which is a little further out. 
 
    In other news, we saw another Human at one of the merc pits here the other night, a guy by the name of Alton Gage. Apparently his whole unit got wiped out except for him. Gage’s platoon thought they were safe and secure in a big redoubt full of rocket launchers and machine guns, and a platoon of Goka walked in and killed them all without taking a single casualty. The Gokas are some kind of damned big bug with a really hard shell. Gage said everything they fired at them just kind of bounced off. Can you believe it? I wouldn’t have, except I saw his eyes when he told the story—they were still haunted. Hopefully, we’ll never run into them!  
 
    Gage was wounded and passed out in the attack, but he wasn’t quite dead yet, so the alien in charge of the assault force that overran his position—a Veetanho—slapped a medkit on him, and he survived. I guess the Veetanho felt badly about how easily they took the position. She said Gage’s group reminded her of her first litter—they were furless and defenseless too, when they were born.  
 
    That’s the thing about dealing with aliens—you never know what you’re going to get. With Humans, we’re all generally wired the same way, and you almost always know how someone is going to act. Sure, someone may flip out and lose it on you, but that usually doesn’t happen. With aliens though…all bets are off.  
 
    Some are mostly rational, like the Veetanho and the MinSha. The Veetanho are excellent strategists and usually have positions on the military staff, and oftentimes are the overall commanders. The MinSha are usually pretty rational, too, although they’re usually more front-line troopers than staff. I heard they have some weird code of honor, too, but haven’t talked to any of them. After what they did to Iran, I’ve always kind of tried to avoid them. There are some, like the Flatar and Zuul, that are usually okay, but can sometimes do things where you just want to slap them. The Zuul, in particular, are very literal, and you have to be careful about what you say to them. If you’re not…watch out. A lot of times, what they do is funny, but in combat, it can be fatal. Finally, there are some alien races that just need to be put down like dogs. I think I mentioned the Besquith one time (which is funny, because they do sort of look dog-ish) and the Goka, mentioned above. They are good front-line troopers, because they just flat-out like mayhem and killing. It’s best to just avoid them when you can. 
 
    Speaking of avoiding, I’ve been rambling, just to avoid going back to the ship. We just got a new contract, and I know I’ll be so busy planning when I get back to the ship that I won’t be able to get back out again before we leave. Although I need to go, I just can’t pull myself away—it always seems like I’m closer to you when I’m writing. Give my love to the family, but save a special piece for yourself. 
 
      
 
    I love you! 
 
     
 
    Captain John Pike,  
 
    Avenging Angels 
 
      
 
      
 
    <No further messages received.>  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
 
      
 
    


 
   
  
 

 Letter Home from Sandy - 3 
 
      
 
      
 
    Message Initially Received: A’Alledo System 
 
    For Forwarding To: Earth System 
 
      
 
    Dear Patricia,  
 
      
 
    Richard asked me to marry him when we get home. We’ve only been together a month, but I said yes. Then we had a mission on the planet below us, a search and rescue after an environmental disaster. But it was terrorists, or something. Richard is dead. I wish I’d been on the boat with him. I wish we’d died together. We never got his body back, or Dr. Ezekiel Avander’s body either, who was our chief medical officer. He disappeared at the same time. 
 
    I can’t write anymore. I’m sorry. There’s more credits enclosed. I updated my will to be sure you get my death bonus. I have to go on; the other Avenging Angels need me. So alone.  
 
      
 
    Sandy 
 
      
 
    <No further messages received.>  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
 
      
 
    


 
   
  
 

 The Golden Horde - 1 
 
      
 
    “I’m sorry,” the heroin dealer whined in the old, abandoned warehouse in the poor section of Tashkent, Uzbekistan. He looked up from the floor where he knelt, his hands tied behind his back. A tear rolled down his left cheek. 
 
    “I know you are sorry,” Altan Enkh replied, his face a mask. “I’m sorry, too—you were one of the best producers the Gray Wolves had. But then you took my money and didn’t send the shipment you promised, and now I find out you were working for someone else. To hear all of this makes me very sad…you were one of my closest friends, and now I’m going to have to kill you.” 
 
    “It was the Red Hawks!” the man cried, a tear rolling from his right eye to make a matching streak on his grimy face. “They took my wife! They said they would kill her if I didn’t give it to them. Please! I’ll do anything! I can make this right!” 
 
    “I let you run all of the northern growing regions for the Gray Wolves, Mohsin,” Altan said, shaking his head. “There weren’t many people who were more valuable to me. You should have come to me—we would have taken her back for you.” 
 
    “There’s nothing you—sniff—there’s nothing you could have done! They sent me her finger in a box and told me they’d cut up the rest of her if I told either you or the police.”  
 
    The man fell over to the side and began to bawl. Altan shook his head again and leaned forward to look into the crying man’s eyes, his long, black hair nearly touching the man’s face. “You should have trusted me, Mohsin.” 
 
    “I know.” He saw the pistol lined up between his eyes and closed them, resigned to his fate. 
 
    Altan sighed and squeezed the trigger. The pistol’s report echoed in the empty warehouse. “Pity,” Altan said. “I really did like him.” 
 
    “What are we going to do about it?” Yisu asked. As head of production, the loss of Mohsin and Mohsin’s territory hit him the hardest. 
 
    “I have been working on an idea I need to go out of town to discuss,” Altan said. “It was an opportunity I saw on TV. We will all meet at my house in a week to discuss our future plans.” 
 
      
 
    * * * 
 
      
 
    “The loss of Mohsin’s territory is going to put a serious crimp in our operations,” Borte Enkh said as he looked around the table at Altan’s house the next week. Altan’s cousin and right-hand man, Borte had come up through the ranks to move beyond distribution and into operations. “More importantly, Boss, what are we going to do about it? That’s the third producer we’ve lost this month. The Red Hawks are making significant gains into our territory.” 
 
    “We still own Tashkent, though, right?” Altan asked. “They haven’t made gains into the city yet, have they?” 
 
    “They aren’t in the city yet, but they’re pushing in from the countryside,” Yisu Enkh replied. 
 
    “It’s the lasers, boss,” Borte said. “The Red Hawks have the backing of a faction from within the Russian army. Someone in the Hawks has a contact with the Russians and was able to get a couple of their new alien-made laser rifles. Those rifles make them far more powerful than we are.” 
 
    “Bah, what are a few rifles?” 
 
    “They’re game changers, Boss,” Yisu explained. “Anytime there’s a conflict, the Hawks bring them in, and they’re unbeatable. We’re being pushed back from the suburbs on all sides. They’ve taken over nearly all of Kazakhstan, and everything to the east in Kyrgyzstan. The loss of Mohsin’s territory is going to cripple our operations, as he was our biggest grower. Our warehouses are full, but as we sell it, it’s going to be hard to replace. We either need to take on the Red Hawks, or we need new territory, both to grow and to distribute our products. With their army connections, we probably can’t take the Red Hawks on; we’d be slaughtered. We need to move somewhere we can compete on an equal footing.” 
 
    Yisu looked to Altan for guidance, but the drug lord seemed distracted by something above Yisu’s shoulder. He turned around and saw that Altan was looking at the television. He coughed to get Altan’s attention. “Boss, what do you want us to do?” 
 
    “I’m sorry,” Altan said, his eyes moving down to meet Yisu’s. “What were you saying?” 
 
    “I was saying that we either need to declare war on the Red Hawks, which would be stupid since the Russian Army is arming them, or we need to find a new territory in which operate. We’re hemmed in on all sides, and the Red Hawks are gathering their forces for a final push to wipe us out.” 
 
    “I see…”Altan muttered, his eyes going back to the TV. Yisu turned to find a news show rerunning the footage of the alien first contact from a few months previously. Some sort of giant owl was walking down a boarding ladder from their spaceship in New York City. 
 
    Borte cleared his throat. “Boss, we’re in some real shit here. The Red Hawks are making the moves they are because they know everyone is focused on the aliens coming to the planet. While everyone’s attention is on New York, the Red Hawks are able to act with impunity. The aliens aren’t going to save us. If anything, they’re part of the problem.” 
 
    “Oh, but that’s where you’re wrong,” Altan said. “The aliens are going to help us; in fact, they are going to be our salvation.” 
 
    “How’s that?” Borte asked, sarcasm heavy in his voice. “Are you going to ask them to come relocate us to somewhere else?” 
 
    “Yes,” Altan replied. “That is exactly what I have done.” 
 
    “I don’t get it,” Borte replied. “What do you mean?” 
 
    “I mean that the aliens have begun offering military contracts, and I have decided to take one of them. As part of the contract, they will transport us to somewhere else—somewhere else on the other side of the galaxy!” 
 
    “That’s crazy, Boss!” Jochi, the lieutenant who ran foreign distribution, said. “Those contracts are for military troops! With weapons. I’ve been in the military—that ain’t us!” 
 
    Altan drew his pistol. “And what is this, if not a weapon?” 
 
    “I mean heavy weapons, Boss. Besides, what do we know about military tactics?” 
 
    “Not much,” Altan admitted. “But we don’t need to know much—I took a defensive contract.” 
 
    “What?” Borte asked. “You’ve already taken it?” 
 
    “Yes, I have,” Altan said, his voice smug. “I run this organization, and I didn’t need your permission to do so. I have already put down a retainer on the contract, and we have been chosen to complete it.” 
 
    “A retainer?”  
 
    “Yes, I had to put down a retainer as a sign of our intention to fulfill it. Our retainer was a fraction of the contract and was much lower than the retainers on the other contracts.” 
 
    “How much was it?” Torkan Enkh, the organization’s accountant, asked. 
 
    “All of our liquid funds,” Altan replied. “It’s nonrefundable; we have to complete the contract in order to get our money back.” 
 
    “Okay, so we have to do it,” Yisu said. He sighed and then asked, “What does it entail?” 
 
    “We defend a facility making some new, next-generation, augmented reality combat game,” Altan explained. “I think it’s called, ‘Galactic Guardians 2,’ or something like that. The company is worried their competitors are going to try to steal it or get some of the cheat codes. We don’t have to do anything except protect the plant.” 
 
    “That’s it?” Borte asked. The suspicious tone was still present. 
 
    “Hey, I’ve played the first game in that series!” Jochi exclaimed. “It’s really good!” 
 
    “Still,” Borte said. “It seems too easy. Is there something else?” 
 
    “No, that’s it,” Altan replied. “All we have to do is guard the plant for two months, and we get 10 million credits. That’s nothing compared to the expected revenue of the game, which is supposed to be in the trillions of credits. Oh, we also all get licensed, individual copies of the game upon release, too.” 
 
    “That sounds easy enough,” Borte said. “We could probably do it. I would say, though, we’d still probably want heavier weapons than just the light stuff we have.” Altan started to say something and Borte raised a hand, stopping him. “I do, however, have one more question.” 
 
    Altan raised an eyebrow and waved for him to continue. 
 
    “How did we get it over all of the other, real military units?” 
 
    “Easy,” Altan said with a smile. “The military units were all focused on the contracts that involved combat operations. They wanted to test their capabilities against the aliens’ forces. Those contracts all paid better, of course, so the big nations were trying to gobble them up so they could get the big payoffs.” 
 
    “I understand why we couldn’t get the big ones—not that we would have wanted them anyway,” Borte said. “But certainly, there had to have been smaller units who would have wanted this contract, too. Something that looks easy and has a decent payout? There had to have been at least some interest in it.” 
 
    “Of course there was,” Altan said, his smile growing even wider. “I waited until the alien that was recruiting for this contract—a Zuparti—stepped away from the table and approached him one-on-one.” 
 
    Altan paused, delighted in the enraptured looks on the faces around the table. 
 
    “Then what?” Borte finally asked. 
 
    “I waited until he went to the bathroom and approached him there. I offered him a five percent kickback on the contract if we won it, and he pulled it from consideration when he went back to the table. There were several generals who were unhappy with the news, but he turned off his translation pendant and refused to listen to them. Eventually, they went away, and I signed the contract. What the little weasel didn’t know was that I wasn’t as worried about the size of the kickback—I’d have given him a lot more—as we have another way of making a profit on this contract. Gentlemen, we are going to take our drug trade to the stars!”  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
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    “The Red Hawks killed another of our growers, Boss,” Borte announced at the next meeting. 
 
    “Did we reply in kind?” Altan asked. 
 
    “Yes, but they seem to have an unlimited supply of people. We kill one, and two more step up to fill his place. They are going to recruit us out of business. Also, we are now down to where we almost don’t have enough men to fill the alien contract you signed us up for. As a family business, there’s only so fast we can breed.” 
 
    “Family is important. They are the people you can trust.” Altan said. He smiled. “I will take another wife if that is what we need.” He sighed theatrically. “Ah, the things I must do to help the business.” 
 
    “That’s not funny, Boss,” Borte replied. “We need more people, and we need them on a recurring basis. If we don’t find some, we won’t have enough men to fulfill the off-world contract you signed us up for. Additionally, who is going to manage the business while we are gone?” 
 
    Altan smiled. “More men can be acquired. I have already been giving this some thought, and I believe I have a solution. Is there anything else, while you are making demands?” 
 
    “Sure, Boss, if you could have them come already trained, that would be even better.” 
 
    “Done,” Altan said with a nod. “I know just the place; I have had my eye on it for a while.” He smiled broadly. “I think it’s time we expanded our operations.” 
 
    “What do you have in mind?” 
 
    “Let’s go take a drive,” Altan said. “Trust me.” 
 
      
 
    * * * 
 
      
 
    “Sister Mary Margaret’s Orphanage and School for Wayward Children?” Borte asked with a raised eyebrow. He nodded at the 10-foot-high fence surrounding the complex of six dilapidated buildings. “The razor wire at the top is a nice touch and looks new. Do you suppose that is to keep the kids in or other people out?” 
 
    “Maybe both,” Altan replied, getting out of the car. “You wanted more family, and you wanted them trained, right? Here is a place we can get more family, and since this is a school, they will come trained, too.” He walked up to the camera next to the gate and pushed the button. 
 
    “That’s not what I meant,” Borte said. “Especially the training part. They’re not trained in the skills we need them to have.” 
 
    “No, they aren’t,” Altan said, suddenly serious. “Not yet, anyway.” 
 
    A bored female voice came over the intercom system. “Dropping off or picking up?” 
 
    “Picking up.” 
 
    “Do you have an appointment?” 
 
    “No, I was hoping to speak with Sister Mary Margaret.” 
 
    “Well, you’re too late for that. She died 10 years ago, and the rest of the sisters got pulled back to their nunnery about five years ago.” 
 
    “So who do I talk to about adopting children?” 
 
    “You talk to me, but neither you nor your friend look like the child-rearing types.” 
 
    “I assure you; I am here to adopt.” 
 
    “You said ‘children,’” the voice said. “How many are you looking to adopt?” 
 
    “At the moment, I’m not sure, but ultimately, I think I’d like to adopt all the ones you have.” 
 
    There was a long pause. Altan couldn’t see the woman’s face, but he would have bet money it looked like Borte’s—shocked, with both mouth and eyes wide open. 
 
    The gate unlocked with a metallic click, and a new, more businesslike voice came over the speaker. “Perhaps you men should come inside,” the voice said. “My name is Chagan; you can meet me in the Administration building.” 
 
      
 
    * * * 
 
      
 
    The two men drove into the compound, parked at the small building marked “Administration,” and walked in to find a secretary sitting at a desk. “Please go in,” the woman said, waving to a door behind her. Her voice marked her as the first person Altan had spoken to. “The school’s administrator, Chagan Arasen, will see you now.” 
 
    Altan proceeded through the door to find a large office on the other side, with windows that looked out onto the play yard. A small, harried-looking woman sat behind a desk made for someone far larger. The woman rose and stepped forward to greet them. 
 
    “So, how can I help you?” the woman asked after introductions had been made. 
 
    “Before I tell you why I’m here,” Altan said, “why don’t you tell me about the school?” 
 
    “What’s to tell? It used to be a great place for children who’d lost their parents. Then Sister Mary Margaret died, the rest of the sisters left, and the government has cut our funding every year since. See that ball out there?” She pointed to a soccer ball sitting at the end of the yard, sitting between two large sticks that marked the goal. Even from the office, Altan could tell the ball was flat. He nodded. “That’s the extent of our physical education equipment. If it weren’t for donations from the local farmers, we wouldn’t be able to feed the children. They only provide it because we promised to keep the children out of their fields—they were so hungry they were breaking out at night to steal food. The few teachers we have can barely control the students. They break out nearly every night to cause mischief. The more children you take, the more supplies will be left for those who remain, and the more likely we’ll be able to control the remainder.”  
 
    When Altan didn’t say anything, the woman sighed. “We’re hanging on by a thread here,” she finally added. “Every morning I expect to find the students have gone and not come back.” She sighed again. “Maybe that would even be best. We don’t have the staff to control them. It is impossible to teach them after a certain age, and when they are old enough to leave here, they don’t have any skills besides those necessary for a life of crime.” 
 
    “I will be the judge of that,” Altan said. “I would like to see the classrooms.” 
 
    “You won’t like them.” 
 
    “Maybe we’ll both be surprised.” 
 
    The woman led them to a two-story brick building marked “Classrooms.” Halfway across the parking lot, Altan could hear the sounds of shouting and laughter. The voices sounded young. 
 
    Chagan threw open the door and stepped back, allowing the men to enter. The noise level went up exponentially as Altan walked into the building, and he pursed his lips. “Where is the classroom with your oldest children?” he asked. 
 
    “It is the first door to the right.” 
 
    Altan and Borte walked into the room and found an adult reading a book in the corner while 45 students generally appeared to be doing whatever they wanted. “Get their attention,” Altan said. 
 
    “Students!” Chagan yelled. Her shrill voice was ignored, except for a few who answered her with various comments about her parentage, or lack thereof. 
 
    “Get their attention,” Altan repeated, looking at Borte. “Show them who is in charge.” 
 
    “Shut the fuck up!” Borte roared. 
 
    There was a moment of silence, then individual voices began yelling abuse at the men. One of the students, who appeared to be about 15, sauntered toward the group of adults. “And just who the fuck do you think you are?” 
 
    Borte backhanded the boy, kicked his legs out from under him, and drove him to the floor. A pistol appeared in Borte’s hand, and he rammed the barrel into the boy’s mouth, loosening several of his front teeth. The room went silent. 
 
    “He’s the Boss,” Borte growled, “and no one talks to the Boss that way.” 
 
    The boy stared up at Borte, his eyes wide. 
 
    “Do you understand me, you ignorant bastard?” Borte asked. 
 
    The boy tried to nod, but it was hard for him, as far into his mouth as Borte had the pistol. The boy gagged, and Borte looked up at Altan. “He says he understand, Boss.” 
 
    “Good. Let him up.” 
 
    Borte removed the pistol and stood up. The boy crab-walked backward several steps, before getting to his feet and returning to the safety of his comrades. 
 
    “This is how it is going to be,” Altan said, his voice low and dangerous. “The school is open under new management, and discipline has been restored. You will either do as you are told, and learn what you’re told, or you’ll be gone. Permanently. Examples will be made of students until those who remain do what they’re told. Do you understand me?” 
 
    His voice was so low, many of the students missed the question, while others just nodded or replied with variety of responses. 
 
    “The Boss asked if you understood!” Borte roared. “The answer is ‘Yes, sir!’” 
 
    “Yes, sir!” the students said, almost in unison. 
 
    “Good,” Altan said with a nod. He turned to the teacher. “The class is yours; please teach.” He started to leave but then turned around to address the students. “Don’t make me give you another demonstration of who’s in charge. You won’t like it.” 
 
    Altan walked out the door, with Borte close behind him. Chagan caught up with the men as they left the building. “What did you mean, ‘open under new management?’” 
 
    “Simple. You lack the discipline and resources to run this school. I have both, and will provide whatever it takes to turn this into a functioning school. Order will be restored, and both you and your staff will be rewarded for your efforts going forward.” 
 
    “Thank you!” the woman exclaimed breathlessly. 
 
    “In return, though, I will be the one to set the curriculum. You mentioned that when the students here graduated, they were only fit for a life of crime? I will show you how that’s really done.”  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
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    “We have one month prior to when we are supposed to depart for our mission,” Altan announced. “How are our preparations proceeding?” 
 
     Torkan Enkh looked up from the papers he was holding. “I think we will have enough manning with the first wave of graduates from the school. I also think we will have enough product to take with us to introduce ourselves to the aliens and start a new base of operations on the planet we’re going to, as well as any other stations we might stop at along the way.”  
 
    “That’s good,” Yisu said. 
 
    “The one area in which we’re lacking is weapons,” Torkan continued. “While nearly everyone has a pistol of some variety, it’s impossible to plan for the right amount of ammunition to bring, since I don’t know what calibers they all are.” 
 
    “How do you know what is the right amount of ammunition to bring?” Borte asked. “Do we even know what we’re going to be doing?” 
 
    Torkan picked up a thick stack of paper. “This monstrosity is the Mercenary Guild rules on what is expected when someone hires a guild-standard battalion of troops. That’s two companies of two platoons of two squads of ten men each, plus leaders, staff, and a medical unit. All of them are supposed to be armed in accordance with a generic load plan, although some variation is allowed based on the requirements of the mission.” 
 
    “What type of requirements?” Yisu asked. 
 
    “Well, normally we would either have four armored personnel carriers, some airborne assets, or something else to take us around. Because this is a defensive contract, with a—” he looked down, “‘single objective that must be defended,’ mobility assets are not required.” He looked back up. “I’m glad we don’t need them, because I have no idea where we’d buy or steal four APCs. It’s going to be hard enough just acquiring the weapons and uniforms we need.” 
 
    “Uniforms?” Borte asked. 
 
    “Yes, we all have to have uniforms, and they all have to be the same. Of course, if they weren’t, they wouldn’t be ‘uniform.’” He looked down. “‘Each combat unit must have a uniform worn by all personnel that is sufficiently dissimilar to differentiate the unit from local non-combatants and other combatant forces in the area of operations. If a unit’s uniform is similar to non-combatants or other combatants already in place upon arrival, the later-arriving units must have their uniforms altered sufficiently to be easily distinguishable from the pre-existing forces.’” 
 
    “So we need uniforms and weapons,” Yisu said.  
 
    “That is correct,” Torkan said. “While we have money coming in, we don’t have enough to purchase all the equipment needed.” 
 
    “Jochi, I understand you have a solution?” Altan asked. 
 
    “Yes, Boss,” the head of foreign distribution said. “It will take some daring, but I think it can be done. I’ve been talking with some of my contacts, and here is what I suggest. We will take three trucks to Bekdash, Turkmenistan and ferry them over to Bilgah, Azerbaijan. From there, we drive to Gudauta, Georgia.” He paused. 
 
    “And once we’re there?” Yisu asked. 
 
    “Then we hit the Russian military base at Bombora Military Airport.” 
 
    “That’s crazy!” Yisu exclaimed. “There’s got to be a better way.” 
 
    “I thought it crazy, too, when Jochi first suggested it to me,” Altan said, “but I think it can be done.” 
 
    “For the sake of argument, Jochi,” Borte interrupted, waving Yisu to silence, “tell us all why you think this can be done.” 
 
    “I wouldn’t want to hit a Russian base in Russia,” Jochi said; “I agree, that would be foolish. Not only would we have a hard time getting into the base, we’d have a bitch of a time getting back out of the country. Not so with the base in Bombora—the Georgians don’t want the Russians there, and I think they will be more than happy to overlook something that gives the Russians a black eye, especially if we have a little money to pay them off. If we can get even an hour down the road from the base, the Russians will never find us. We then cross back into Azerbaijan and ferry over to Turkmenistan again. In both of those countries, I have contacts that can get us through any checkpoints their governments have set up. There won’t be any Russians—the Russians don’t have jurisdiction in those countries.” 
 
    “Okay, I see how we may be able to get there and back,” Borte allowed, “but what about getting onto the base? Surely, since the Russians are in a foreign country, they will be guarding the base pretty closely.” 
 
    “Actually, a large portion of the heroin we send to Georgia is used by the Russians on base there. They are a forward garrison that never does anything. They’re bored, and their security is lax. My contact can show us how to get onto base without being seen.” 
 
    “You’re going to get three trucks onto base without being seen?” Torkan asked. 
 
    Jochi nodded. “My contact says it can be done. The Russians only have authority on the base, too. Once we get off base, they have to go through the local Georgian police.” 
 
    “The question is,” Altan said, “can you do all of this in the time we have remaining?” 
 
    “We can. It will be close, and we will have to leave within the next few days, but I think the mission is possible.” 
 
    “Do it,” Altan said. “Leave in two days. Let me know how many men you need.” 
 
    “I will,” Jochi said with a small smile. 
 
    “Anything else?” Altan asked. 
 
    “Yes,” Torkan said. “We also need patches to identify ourselves. I’ve taken the liberty of arranging them.” He picked up a bag and dumped it onto the table. Dozens of round emblems poured from the bag into a small pile. 
 
    Borte picked one up. It had the picture of a woman shooting a small bow from horseback. He held it up to Altan. “What is this, exactly? Are we to become women?” 
 
    “No,” Altan said. “We are to become the Golden Horde.” 
 
    “Why is that, Boss? Why not just stay the Gray Wolves?” 
 
    “I want to have a public name different from the Gray Wolves, something that will allow us to separate the different branches of our enterprise. The Golden Horde namesake calls back to our ancient history, from when we ruled all of Asia…back when people respected us. They feared the Golden Horde then, just like the aliens will fear us in the future. With a dual-pronged business model, we will be able to go where other organizations can’t, using one side to get a foothold for the other. We can’t…no, we won’t be stopped!” 
 
    “The Golden Horde name works really well, too,” Torkan added. “I needed a motto for the patches, so I used the one from our fence of the same name—the Golden Horde Pawn Shop. Its motto is ‘We Hold What You’ve Got,’ which works just as well for a merc company in the facility defense industry as it does for our money laundering operation. It serves as an advertisement for the merc unit, as well as an advertisement for our…other services.”  
 
    “It’s done, then,” Altan said with a smile. “Gentlemen, welcome to ‘The Golden Horde!’”  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
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    Borte waited as the rest of the men filed out.  
 
    “Is there something you needed to say in private?” Altan asked. “You look worried.” 
 
    “I am worried, Boss,” Borte said. “I don’t understand how we’re going to pay for all of this. Where is all this extra cash coming from? Do you have a reserve I don’t know about?” 
 
    “It’s coming from a place you never thought to look, my cousin. It’s coming from America.” 
 
    “America? How can this be so?” 
 
    “I need to go check in with the operation and ensure everything is running as it is supposed to. Come along, Borte, and I will show you how we make money in this new era.” 
 
      
 
    * * * 
 
      
 
    Altan pushed the remote control button, and the gate to Sister Mary Margaret’s swung open. “It’s almost as if you owned the place,” Borte said with a chuckle. 
 
    “That’s one way to look at it.” Altan smiled. “I believe you will find much has changed in the month since you were last here.”  
 
    A group of children was playing soccer in the play yard. The ball looked new, and there were goals at both ends of the field. He indicated the classroom building, and Borte pulled up to the building and parked the car. The men got out and were joined by the school’s administrator, Chagan Arasen. She seemed less harried and more confident. She was also wearing jewelry—a large golden locket was suspended on a heavy golden chain.  
 
    “How are things progressing?” Altan asked. 
 
    “Very well,” she replied. “The men you sent have restored order in the classrooms, and education is once again progressing. Can we discuss what you are having them taught?” 
 
    “No,” Altan said, his tone indicating the subject was closed. He pointed to the locket. “I see you got my gift. There is more where that came from if you continue to do a good job running the school. It is important to my plans going forward.” He reached out and took her jaw in his hand so he could turn her head and meet her eyes. “Let there be no doubt, though; I am in charge of the organization of which this school is now a part. You work for me, and I expect the same level of discipline from you as I do the children. As I told them, examples will be made if required.” 
 
    Chagan shivered, both at the tone of his words and the implication. “That won’t be necessary,” she whispered. 
 
    “Good,” Altan replied, his tone more friendly. “I foresee this operation making us both a lot of money, and I reward excellent performance excellently. You toiled here unrewarded for years; those years are at an end.” He smiled. “Now, why don’t you give us a tour and show us how things are progressing.” 
 
    “Certainly.” Chagan led them into the building. It was as silent inside as it had been outside, and Borte raised an eyebrow. 
 
    “As I said,” Altan repeated, “I think you will find much has changed.” 
 
    A large white man met them as they entered the building. “This is John,” Chagan said. “John is our senior technology and networking instructor.”  
 
    “Hi John,” Altan said. 
 
    “Hello, Boss,” the man replied in broken Uzbek.  
 
    Altan smiled. “John was the best hacker my contacts could find. He has cheerfully accepted my proposal to teach at the school, and we are lucky to have him.” 
 
    “Cheerfully?” Borte asked.  
 
    “Yes,” Altan agreed. “I offered him 10% of the take. I’m sure it sounded like a good deal.” 
 
    “It wasn’t all about the money,” John said in English, with Chagan translating. “I had millions of dollars in several offshore accounts from some of my previous ‘deals’; coming here is more a matter of pride and getting to see what I could accomplish with some sponsorship and protection from governmental interference.” 
 
    “It also didn’t hurt that I said I could find him, no matter where he tried to hide,” Altan said with a shrug. Borte laughed. 
 
    “How are things progressing?” Altan asked.  
 
    “Very well,” the hacker replied. “All the computers and networking equipment arrived a couple of weeks ago. We’ve had classes underway for about a week.” John led them up to the second floor and into the first classroom they came to, where 20 children between 12-14 years old were seated at computers, typing away. A thin, nerdy-looking individual stood at the front of the classroom, while one of Altan’s enforcer’s hulked in the back of the room. The silence in the room was broken only by the clatter of the keyboard buttons being depressed. 
 
    “I don’t get it,” Borte said under his breath. “How will this help with our operations?” 
 
    “Let’s find out,” Altan said with a smile. He leaned over the closest student, a 13-year-old blonde girl, and asked, “What are you working on, my dear?” 
 
    “I’m doing the standard Nigerian Prince scheme, Father,” the girl replied. She pointed to her screen. “I’ve had two successes so far this week, and I think two more are hooked.” 
 
    “And how much have you brought in?” 
 
    “I’m sorry, Father, neither of them were big; it’s only about five thousand American dollars.” 
 
    “What do you mean?” Borte asked, “That’s great! With 20 of them here, we must be making millions of dollars a month.” 
 
    John moved over to pat the girl on the shoulder. “Marina is actually a new student,” he said. “That is why she is on the Prince scheme; she’s still learning. The other students in this room are also working on scams like the Prince or, “You’ve just won the lottery.” They don’t pay out as frequently, so it isn’t worth wasting our best students on them, but sometimes they have big victories. When they do, the students get additional treats for their successes. The students next door are working on a variety of identity-theft cons through which people transfer their entire credit lines into our unmarked accounts. All nice and easy.” John smiled when Chagan finished translating. 
 
    “Boss, I love what you’ve done with the place,” Borte said. 
 
    Altan smiled. “This is just the funding side. Wait till you see some of the other skills the students are learning.” 
 
    “I can’t wait!” Borte exclaimed. 
 
    Altan turned to Chagan. “Perhaps we could visit the indoor firing range next?” 
 
    “Indoor firing range?” Borte asked. 
 
    “Absolutely,” Chagan said. “It has been in operation for a week. If you will follow me, I will take you there.” 
 
    The two men followed her out of the building and across the courtyard to the biggest building in the complex. They entered the structure on one end and went into a 10-foot by 20-foot room stocked with shooting supplies. Ammunition was on a short wall, a variety of targets on the longer wall, and glasses and big plastic ear muffs on the other short wall next to a door that led further into the building.  
 
    Borte could hear firing from inside the building. “Are they using real firearms?” Borte asked. “Or is the building soundproofed? I would have thought the shots would be louder.” 
 
    “The building was soundproofed to the best of our abilities with the materials the Boss sent. If we’d had more, we could have done a little better. While firing pistols is not too bad, any rifles that are fired inside can be heard for a short distance outside.” 
 
    “We shall see what is in the realm of the possible,” Altan said. “We may not have time to do much more before our trip to the stars. We also have to go arrange an…equipment pickup, overseas, before we go, which will take some time, but I will let my people know what is needed.” 
 
    He put on a pair of the ear muffs, handed a pair to Borte and Chagan, and went through the interior door. Inside was a small room to help with soundproofing. Once they were in the room with the door shut, Chagan opened the other door, and they entered the range. 
 
    The gym had been walled off into a smaller area about 50 feet wide and 100 feet long, with 10 shooter’s rests at the end closest to them. About 25 feet downrange, targets were hung from a number of movable wooden posts, and five students were firing pistols at the silhouettes of armed men while an adult supervised. Borte’s eyes widened—it was Jochi. 
 
    “How is it going?” Altan asked as he walked over to his lieutenant.  
 
    “Good,” Jochi replied. “We have several students in this class who are natural shots. I will be recommending that several come with us to Georgia, as well as on our contract.” 
 
    “So this is where you’ve been sneaking off to,” Borte said. 
 
    “I try to get here once a week,” Jochi said, nodding. “I’m one of the few who has military training, so I like to help out here and teach the kids the right way to hold and shoot their weapons. If they learn to do it right from the start, it means I have fewer things to correct once they get to us.” 
 
    Altan moved to stand behind one of the boys on the range. The boy looked familiar…and then it came to him. It was the boy Borte had beaten up on their first trip to the school. The boy turned around and jumped when he saw Altan and Borte. 
 
    Setting his pistol on the shooter’s rest, he bowed toward Altan. “Good afternoon, Father,” he said. 
 
    “Good afternoon,” Altan replied. “You seem to have had a change of attitude since the last time I saw you.” 
 
    “I thought I understood the way of the world,” the boy said, “but I was wrong. Since you took over the school and adopted us, I see that I now have opportunities available that I didn’t have before, and I am trying to make something of myself.” 
 
    “Really?” 
 
    “Very much so.” 
 
    “He wants to be a merc and go to the stars,” Jochi said. “Most of the young boys do. Before you came here, they had nothing to look forward to in life. You’ve given them the most precious gift there is—hope.” 
 
    Altan turned back to the boy and smiled. “Well, boy,” he said. “Can you shoot?” 
 
    “Yes, Father.” The boy turned back to the bench, ejected the empty magazine, and slapped in a new one. He allowed the slide to slam shut and focused on the target. 
 
    “Easy,” Jochi said. “Just like you’ve practiced. Don’t think about anyone else being here—focus on the target.” 
 
    The boy nodded once and took a deep breath, allowing it to come out slowly. He focused on the target, slow-fired five rounds, then set the pistol back on the rest. 
 
    “Well done,” Altan said. All five rounds were in the black at the center of the target. “I’ll look forward to taking you out on the next mission, if you’re ready. Keep working and practicing.” 
 
    “Yes, Father,” the boy replied with a smile almost from ear to ear. “I will.”  
 
    Altan looked at his watch then up at Borte. “That will have to conclude our tour here—we’ve got several things to do before you leave for Georgia.”  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
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    “That one,” Borte said, looking at a Russian soldier standing at the bar. The trip to Georgia had gone smoothly; Jochi had greased all of the appropriate palms ahead of time, and their identification cards had been given the smallest of cursory glances when they passed through border checkpoints. As poorly as most conscripts were paid in central Asia, a little money went a long way. For the senior noncommissioned officers at the guard posts, a little bit of product went even further. As the Golden Horde trucks traveled toward Georgia, they left a string of parties in their wake. They had also probably made a few new customers, too, which never hurt. 
 
    Arriving in Gudauta, Georgia, they had found a bar just off the Tblisi-Senaki-Leselidze Highway in between Bombora Military Airport and the town of Gudauta. It was late afternoon when they had made it into town, and Borte, Jochi, and Tuya Enkh had taken a table in the back of the bar, where it was darkest, to nurse a couple of drinks and wait. It hadn’t taken long before Russian soldiers had started dropping in for drinks on their way home from the base. Although they entered in ones and twos, they had generally formed into groups, and Borte had started to worry they wouldn’t be able to find a target in the time they had available. 
 
    But then the young conscript private had walked into the bar. He hadn’t looked to see if friends were around; he had walked straight to the bar, his eyes laser-focused on the cheap vodka bottle behind the bartender. He was there for one reason. He wasn’t looking for friends; he was looking to get drunk.  
 
    Perfect. 
 
    “I think that one will do nicely,” Borte said. “Are you sure you know what you’re doing?” 
 
    Tuya smiled at her brother. “Nothing could be easier,” she said. “Watch and learn.” 
 
    She walked over to the door and slipped out quietly, counted to 20, and then re-entered the bar, allowing the door to slam behind her. Walking up to the bar, she sniffed loudly and asked for the same vodka the soldier had picked. The private said something to her, and when she turned to look at him, Borte could see a tear running down her face. 
 
    Borte couldn’t hear the conversation—they both kept their voices low—but after a couple more rounds, his sister seemed happier, and the soldier only had eyes for her. If she’d asked the private to buy her a car, he probably would have tried. She wasn’t interested in a car, though, and after a few minutes, she nodded to the door with a raised eyebrow. Borte was pretty sure the man could have won a 10-meter dash, as quickly as he raced to the door.  
 
    Tuya danced lightly across the floor, smiling at the private as she followed him, the top two buttons of her blouse undone. As she went out the door, she casually flashed a middle finger at her older brother.  
 
    Borte flipped a 50-lari bill onto the table to cover his tab, then the two men followed Tuya and her mark into the parking lot. 
 
      
 
    * * * 
 
      
 
    “Is there anything else you want to tell us?” Borte asked. 
 
    The Russian soldier looked from face to face, finally settling on Tuya Enkh’s face with an imploring look. Borte smiled his predator’s smile—he could tell the soldier was wondering where he’d gone wrong. He’d taken Tuya to a nearby motel and had gone into the bathroom to relieve himself. When he came out, he found two men waiting for him with pistols. They had tied him to the bed and questioned him at gun point. He was pretty sure the Enkhs were Chechnyans, and that he was going to die. 
 
    “That’s all I know,” the conscript finally forced out. A tear rolled down his cheek. 
 
    Borte nodded once and said, “Thank you for your assistance.” He turned to Yisu. “Go ahead.” 
 
    Yisu stepped forward with a needle and a strip of rubber tubing. 
 
    “Wha—, what are you doing?” the conscript asked as Yisu wrapped the tubing around his upper arm and pulled it tight. 
 
    “Do not worry,” Yisu said. “I am just going to give you something so you sleep long enough for us to get away.” 
 
    “Really?” the Russian asked, hope in his eyes. 
 
    “Absolutely.” Yisu inserted the needle into the conscript’s arm and pushed the plunger. He stood up and nodded to Borte, who had put on the Russian’s uniform and was just hooking the last fastener. 
 
    “Let’s go,” Borte said, turning away from the soldier as he began to thrash. He looked back at Yisu as he reached the door. “Is there any reason to stay and watch?” 
 
    “None,” Yisu replied, holding up the man’s wallet. “I gave him enough to kill three people, plus it was laced with strychnine. It will look like a good time gone bad, and then the whore fled when he overdosed.” 
 
     “Well done.” Borte opened the door, and the group left. The soldier had already gone still. 
 
      
 
    * * * 
 
      
 
    “Interrogating the soldier was worth the time it took,” Jochi noted as the patrol went past in front of them. “My contact didn’t know about this patrol.” 
 
    “Either that or he was trying to get us to run into them,” Yisu replied. 
 
    Jochi thought about why his contact might have wanted that to occur. He didn’t like the implications. “I think I will have to have a conversation with him, once this is all over.” He waited until the patrol had gone around the next turn. “Okay, follow me.” He led the way to the tree line, where they could see the first guard tower. It looked just the way it had on the imagery he had found on the internet. 
 
    Located at the north end of Bombora Military Airport, the munitions depot of the 10th Independent Peacekeeping Airborne Regiment was protected by a five-sided berm that ran all the way around the ammo dump, and it had five guard towers spread around the perimeter. The berm was about ten feet high and there was about 600 feet in between each of the guard towers. Although the primary focus was defense against seaborne incursion from the Black Sea, which lay on the southwestern edge of the base, two of the towers protected against attack from the landward side and would have to be taken out so the trucks could drive into the depot. 
 
    Jochi turned to Borte. “No pressure, but you’re on.”  
 
    Borte nodded and pulled the brim of the Russian uniform hat down over his eyes, then he stepped out into the light of the well-lit ammo dump. Keeping his head down, he fiddled with the closure of his pants as if coming back from urinating in the forest and went directly to the closest guard toward. 
 
    “It’ll work. It’ll work. It’ll work,” one of the younger members said from the back of the group in a whisper, mirroring everyone else’s thoughts. If it didn’t, they were in a world of shit—they were in a foreign country and on a foreign government’s base. Jochi smiled at the irony; at least he wasn’t the one wearing the Russian uniform; that made Borte a spy, and he could be shot for that…not that the Russians wouldn’t shoot the rest of them, too, if they were seen. Or worse. He suppressed a shudder. 
 
    Two quick flashes from the guard tower and then a wave a few seconds later. Borte had killed the guard in the tower with his suppressed pistol. Jochi waved the rest of his force forward, and he sprinted toward the berm that surrounded the dump. There was a cleared area that was supposed to be for a minefield, but the Russian conscript had informed them the mines had been deactivated about a year previously; the forest was full of big game, and the deer had been setting them off periodically. 
 
    The first guard tower was the hardest; with one neutralized, the men could make it into the depot area and approach the others from the interior of the base, which would—theoretically—raise fewer suspicions. Two of the men peeled off to take down other towers, and Borte would take out a fourth. They didn’t need to hit the fifth tower to the south as it was too far away from where they would be to see what they were doing.  
 
    Jochi led the other seven men to the administration building and sprinted to the back of it. The key to the assault was to neutralize the admin section first, in case the attack on one of the towers didn’t go as planned. He peeked around the corner. Three men were walking toward the front door. 
 
    “Damn it,” he muttered, ducking back. “The patrol is returning.” 
 
    “Should we attack them?” Yisu whispered. “We don’t have time to waste, do we?” 
 
    “No, we don’t,” Jochi answered, “however, they are not only armed, they’re wearing their armored combat vests. We don’t have the ability to take them out for sure unless we can get close…very close. We need to give them time to get into the building and take off the armor.” 
 
    Jochi leaned around the corner and then moved along the south side of the building, waving the rest of the strike group up. He leaned around the next corner and watched as the three men walked into the building. 
 
    A rifle fired to the north. 
 
    “Fuck!” Jochi exclaimed under his breath. One of the towers must have gotten a shot off. They would have to hurry. “Follow me!” he ordered, running to the front of the building.  
 
    He was halfway to the front door when it burst open, and the three men raced out of it, turning to the north. Sensing motion behind them, they swung around and Jochi shot the leader in the face from four feet away. The bullet went through an eye, and the soldier fell backward. The second soldier was lifting his rifle when Jochi shot him, hitting him in the forehead, just below the brim of his helmet. 
 
    Jochi turned to the third soldier, but saw his rifle was almost in line with him; the Russian would beat him to the shot. As the rifle was nestling into the soldier’s shoulder, his head snapped back as Yisu shot him in the temple from the side. 
 
    Jochi released the breath he’d been holding. That had been close. “Hurry,” he said racing to the front door. He threw it open and entered a ten-foot-square anteroom, with a small guard station at the back of it. A Russian sat behind a glass window. 
 
    His eyes widened as Jochi burst into the anteroom, and he grabbed a microphone off the desk in front of him. He was just raising it to his lips when Jochi shot him through the glass. 
 
    “Good thing that wasn’t bulletproof,” Yisu said, running past him.  
 
    “Yeah,” Jochi agreed. The thought hadn’t even crossed his mind. If the glass had been bulletproof, the Russian would have been raising the alarm by that point. A voice came from the guard station; someone was calling in. 
 
    “Jasur, quickly!” he exclaimed to their only Russian-speaker. “Get the radio!”  
 
    One of the men ran forward to the window as the rest of the strike group spread though the building. Reaching through the small hole at the bottom of the glass, he picked up the microphone the Russian had dropped and spoke to someone over the link, laughing during several of the exchanges.  
 
    After a couple of exchanges, he turned away from the window. “We’re all set,” he said. “It was the base security personnel calling. I told them that one of the guards had ‘accidentally’ shot a deer that wandered out of the forest. They didn’t believe it was an accident, and they asked for part of it, saying it would be better than what was in the mess hall. I finally had to admit that we killed a deer, and they could come over tomorrow once we had dressed it and get a portion for themselves.” 
 
    “Great,” Jochi said. He turned to the only woman on the strike force as the men began returning from searching the admin building. One of the recent graduates from Sister Mary Margaret’s, the girl was noted as being a fast runner. “Odval, run and get the trucks.”  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
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    Six members of the strike force were waiting at the short tunnel down to the underground armaments bunker when Borte arrived. A dark stain covered the upper part of his right arm.  
 
    “Are you okay?” Yisu asked. “What happened?” 
 
    “I thought the soldier was dead,” Borte replied. “Next time, I will make sure. He only winged me; I will be all right.” He had stopped the bleeding, but his arm hurt like hell. 
 
    One of the recently-graduated 16-year-old boys came running up from the direction of the admin building holding a key, which he gave to Borte. “Here,” Borte said, handing it to Yisu. “You can do this better with two arms.” 
 
    Yisu stuck the key in the lock and turned it, then drew his pistol. “It was already unlocked,” he said. Lights illuminated the door as one of the trucks turned onto the ramp above them, and he waved at it to get the driver to turn off the lights so they wouldn’t be highlighted. 
 
    “Be ready,” Yisu said. The rest of their group drew their weapons, then Yisu pulled open the massive blast door. It creaked loudly on rusted hinges as it opened. The lights were on inside. 
 
    “Quietly,” Yisu whispered as he led the group into the tunnel. Five men followed him, with Borte and the boy bringing up the rear. They reached the bottom of the tunnel, where branching passages went off to the left and right, while the main passage continued on. All three tunnels were stacked floor to ceiling with shelves containing various munitions. The passage to the left appeared to be mines, the passage to the right appeared to be grenades, and the shelves on the main passage held a variety of launchers, although Yisu didn’t have time to stop and look at them. Only the main passage was lit. 
 
    Yisu motioned for two men to check out the dark passages with the flashlights on their cell phones, and he led the rest of the men down the passageway, staying to the left side. He reached a “T” intersection, and he eased out to look down the left and then the right tunnels, before pulling back away from the intersection and creeping over to Borte. 
 
    “What is Russian for ‘don’t move!’” he asked. 
 
    “Stop! Ne dvigaytes!” Borte said. “I think.” 
 
    Yisu tiptoed back to the intersection and spun into the connecting corridor to the left, pointing his pistol down the hallway. “Stop! Ne dvigaytes!” he yelled. 
 
    Borte came around the corner and found a Russian soldier. He had both hands in the air, one of which was holding a clipboard. 
 
    The man said something, but Borte couldn’t understand him. None of the rest of the men spoke Russian, either. “Quickly,” he said to the boy, whose name he didn’t know. “Go get Jasur.” 
 
      
 
    * * * 
 
      
 
    Borte had just started having the men load the truck with the mines and grenades when the boy returned with Jasur. 
 
    “What do you need?” Jasur asked. “Jochi needs me to stay at the admin building to listen to the radio.” 
 
    Borte nodded to the Russian soldier, then gestured at the shelves containing a variety of launchers. None of them were the venerable RPG-7 he was familiar with. “I need you to ask him if they have any of the RPG-7 launchers and grenades here. Tell him that if he helps us and answers our questions, we will give him a painless death.” 
 
    The man seemed to wilt as Jasur translated, and all the color left his face. Jasur replied, “He says they don’t have those any more. They only have the newer RPG-32 model.” 
 
    “What kind of rockets does it shoot?” 
 
    “The launcher shoots both thermobaric and anti-tank munitions,” Jasur replied. “He wants to know what we are trying to kill with it.” 
 
    “The fuck if I know,” Borte said. “Tell him aliens—we don’t know what type.” 
 
    The translation process took longer this time as Jasur went back and forth with the soldier several times. “What is he saying?” Borte finally asked. “This is taking too long.” 
 
    “He said it will depend on the alien. If it is a hard shell, then the anti-tank rocket. If it is something squishy, use the thermobaric round.” The Russian said something else. “I told him we were going to space and were fighting on another planet. He said that he’ll train us how to use them if we will bring him along.” 
 
    “Will he show us what to bring?” 
 
    “Absolutely.” 
 
    “What’s his name?” 
 
    “Senior Sergeant Alexander Sokolov.” 
 
    “Tell him we’re working for a merc company, and he’s just been hired.” 
 
    The color returned, and a smile grew across the Russian’s face. “He said to bring what he points at.” 
 
    With the Russian showing them what they needed, the loading process went much faster. In no time, the large truck was full of RPG launchers in their boxes and dozens of rockets for them, additional non-rocket grenades—both handheld and for the 40mm rifle-mounted launchers—and a number of mines. 
 
    As the men started buttoning up the truck, the Russian came and tapped Borte on the shoulder—the non-injured side—and gestured frantically to some of the other large boxes on the shelves in the main passage. “Igla!” he said, over and over, pointing at the box and then at the truck. 
 
    “What the hell’s an Igla?” Borte asked, holding up both hands and shrugging his shoulders.  
 
    The soldier pantomimed an airplane with one hand and something coming from below to blow it up. 
 
    “Surface-to-air missiles?” Borte asked. The man’s face was blank—he didn’t understand Uzbek. “Sky above! Yes, I want some of those!” Borte exclaimed, nodding. He turned to his loaders. “Get some of those things on the damn truck, too!”  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
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    “I don’t know what our rank structure is going to be,” Borte said to the combined group in Altan’s house once the group made it back, “but I’m glad we picked up the Russian. I know he’s not one of our original members, but we will need his skills to operate the weaponry we picked up. We need to put him into the command structure somewhere…especially since he’s the only one with any real military experience.” 
 
    “Do you think he is trustworthy?” Altan asked.  
 
    “Absolutely,” Borte replied. “When he found out we were going to the stars, he got excited and asked to join us. Apparently, he was a big science fiction nut, and this was his dream come true. One thing is certain; we wouldn’t have come out of there as well-equipped without him.” 
 
    “Oh?” 
 
    “Not only did he help us load explosives, but he showed us where the rest of the stuff we needed was. For example, I knew we were supposed to find uniforms to meet the contract, but aside from the guards we killed, we couldn’t find any. He showed us where the warehouse holding them was.” 
 
    “So you got them?” 
 
    “Not only did we get them,” Borte said, “we got much, much more! Did you know there was more to a combat uniform than just a uniform?” 
 
    “No, I didn’t,” Altan admitted. 
 
    “There is so much more,” Borte gushed, “and we’ve got it! There is a whole battle suit—Sokolov called it the ‘Ratnik’ system. There’s a whole pile of gear that goes into it. There’s a helmet with an infrared eyepiece, body armor with webbing, and a load bearing vest with a ton of pouches, and every soldier has their own telephone-sized tactical computer they can send info back and forth on. The system also comes with a survival knife and an AK-12, which is an improved AK-74. We also picked up some machine guns, a few sniper rifles, and a bunch of under-barrel grenade launchers for our AK-12s.” 
 
    “In that case,” Altan said, “rather than making him part of the command structure, I think I will put him outside of it completely and make him our ‘military advisor.’ That way, he can act more freely to train everyone.” 
 
    “Can you tell us what the command structure is?” Borte asked. 
 
    “Torkan?” 
 
    Torkan adjusted his glasses as he flipped through the mercenary guild contract rules. “We’ve been contracted for two companies, so the overall force has to be led by no less than a major and no more than a colonel, with a designated executive officer to run the force when the commander is indisposed or outside of communications.” 
 
    “That would be me as commander,” Altan said. “And I think I like the title of ‘Colonel.’ Yes, Colonel Altan Enkh. And Borte will be my executive officer. While we are on mission, you can refer to him as Lieutenant Colonel Borte Enkh. What else?” 
 
    “Each company needs a commander, each platoon needs a leader, and each squad needs a leader.” 
 
    “Torkan and Yisu are the company commanders; they will both be captains.” 
 
    “Wait!” Rashid Karimov said. “Boss, I have been in the organization longer than anyone. Don’t you think it would be a good idea to have someone in the command structure whose last name isn’t Enkh? That way, other people we recruit can see that they have a chance of moving up in the organization?” 
 
    “That’s fine with me,” Torkan said. “I really don’t know much about military things, besides what I’ve read in all of this mess.” He held up the Merc Guild rules. “All things considered, I’d rather just be part of your staff, Boss. There are some provisions for that.” 
 
    “Fine,” Altan said. “You are now my staff advisor, and Rashid is the Alpha Company commander. Rashid and Yisu, you can pick the members of your respective companies and place them where needed. If you have any disagreements, bring them to Borte, and he will decide who goes to which group.” He turned to Torkan. “What else do we need to do?”  
 
    “We need to get all of our equipment and supplies out to the starport—we’re being picked up in two days. Getting all of the things we stole from the Russians there will be easy since it’s all still in the trucks. We can just run it out to the starport, drop it off, and then come get more. It’s going to take several trips to get all of our things and people to the starport, though; we will need people to stay with it at the starport so no one tries to steal it.” 
 
    “That makes sense.” Altan turned to Borte. “XO, I have packing and other things to take care of. Please see to it that everything gets out to where it needs to go.” 
 
      
 
    * * * 
 
      
 
    “They’re late,” Borte said, looking at his watch. He stood alongside Altan at the edge of Tashkent Starport’s Pad #5, with the rest of the Golden Horde spread out behind them. Their gear waited in piles just off the pad. 
 
    “No, they’re not,” Altan replied, looking at his own golden timepiece. “They still have five minutes.” 
 
    “Well, they said they’d be here at 3:00, and I don’t see them.” 
 
    Altan clucked his tongue. “This is not an airplane we are waiting for,” he chided; “it’s a spaceship. When they want it to be here, it will be. It doesn’t have to land and taxi; it will just land.” 
 
    “Four minutes now,” Borte grumbled. 
 
    “Look!” someone shouted from behind them. “They’re coming!” 
 
    Altan turned around and looked where the man was pointing. After a few seconds, he saw a speck in the sky that was rapidly growing in size. “See?” he asked. “Nothing to worry about.” 
 
    Borte cleared his throat, and Altan wondered what his subordinate would complain about next, knowing that was his method of dealing with stress.  
 
    “Well, should we…I don’t know…line up in some sort of formation?” Borte finally asked.  
 
    “What do you mean?” 
 
    “Like a military formation,” Borte replied. “Our employers may be onboard, and we will want to impress them.” 
 
    “Good point,” Altan said. “Bring the company to…attention, I think it is called.” 
 
    Borte turned to face the assembled group of career criminals. “Attention,” he said in a voice lacking authority. 
 
    Several of the recent graduates from Sister Mary Margaret’s school looked at him curiously, but the rest continued what they were doing—mostly smoking and bullshitting with each other. “Perhaps we need to institute some military training in the school,” Altan noted. 
 
    “Attention!” Borte yelled louder. The greater volume and authority had an immediate effect—one of the men turned and gave him the finger. 
 
    The Russian trooper ambled over. “You’re doing it all wrong,” he said, the translation pendants around Borte’s and Altan’s necks easily rendering his speech into Uzbek.  
 
    “What do you suggest?” Borte asked. 
 
    Unfortunately, the pendant was only one-way, and the Russian looked confused as he tried to figure out what Borte had said. Borte hunched his shoulders and pointed at the group.  
 
    “Are you asking what I’d do?” Senior Sergeant Sokolov asked. 
 
    “Yes,” Borte agreed, nodding his head for emphasis. 
 
    Sokolov glanced quickly up at the shuttle; it was nearly to them. “Do I have your permission to break some heads, if necessary?” 
 
    Borte looked at Altan, who nodded. “Yes,” Borte repeated, again nodding his head. 
 
    The Russian pulled his pistol from his holster. Unlike the others, his was in full sight, not hidden in a pocket or waistband as was customary for the rest of the group. He fired the pistol into the air, aiming somewhere over the plains, and when the group stopped and looked at him, he yelled something in Russian and pointed to a spot next to him. 
 
    “He says the Alpha Company commander is to stand here,” Jasur translated. 
 
    “Tell him to fuck off,” Rashid said. He took another puff on his cigarette and blew out the smoke. “I’m busy.” 
 
    Jasur translated what had been said and Sokolov marched over to Rashid, his face turning bright red as he screamed at the company commander.  
 
    “What’s he saying,” Rashid asked, his tone bored. 
 
    “Mostly comments on your parentage,” Jasur replied, “and several things you’d have to be pretty flexible to accomplish.” 
 
    Most of the assembled criminals laughed, which only served to make Sokolov’s face turn purple. He stopped in front of Rashid and yelled a question at the squad leader while pointing at where he had said for him to stand. Rashid responded by flicking his cigarette at the trooper. “Did you tell him to fuck off yet?” Rashid asked. 
 
    Before Jasur could reply, Sokolov kicked him in the shin, hard, and Altan could hear the bone crack from 50 feet away. Rashid went down in a heap, screaming. His right hand went into a pocket and came out with a pistol. Sokolov kicked it out of his hand and then stepped on Rashid’s fingers as he tried to retrieve it, grinding them under his heel. More bones snapped, and Rashid screamed again. 
 
    Sokolov looked at the crowd. No one moved to help Rashid; most of them appeared stunned. Sokolov asked a question. 
 
    “He wants to know who is willing to take over the company commander’s position vacated by the worthless sack of shit lying on the ground.” 
 
    Rashid screamed again, but it was a more feral scream of anger this time. With his left hand, he reached for his boot.  
 
    “Look out!” Jochi yelled. 
 
    Sokolov’s Makarov pistol seemed to leap into his hand of its own accord, and he shot Rashid through the left eye before the hideout pistol cleared his boot. 
 
    Sokolov looked at Jochi and said something, then pointed back to the company commander’s position. “He says thanks for the warning,” Jasur translated, “and that you are now the Alpha Company commander. He asks whether you will take the position, or if another example must be made.” 
 
    “I think we’ve had enough examples today,” Jochi said with a nod. “I’m probably the best person for it, anyway.” He walked over to the spot Sokolov had indicated and assumed a position of almost-attention. 
 
    The Russian followed Jochi to his post, then pointed at another member of the group and a spot behind Jochi, and said something brief.  
 
    “First Squad leader stands here,” Jasur said.  
 
    The man Sokolov pointed at pursed his lips as if going to say something, and Sokolov’s hand went back his holster. “I’m coming,” the man said, holding up a hand to forestall any further action on the Russian’s part. The rest of First Squad was filled out in a similar manner.  
 
    By the time Sokolov got to Second Squad, everyone just did what they were told. Bravo Company was placed even faster than Alpha Company had been. 
 
    Sokolov marched up to stand two paces behind Altan and waved Jasur over to stand next to him. He asked the young man something, then about-faced to look at the men in ranks. “Attention!” he yelled in Uzbek. Everyone stiffened somewhat. Sokolov scanned the ranks and sighed, appearing to accept the disorder in front of him, at least for now. He about-faced back to Altan and saluted. 
 
    “The battalion is formed,” Sokolov reported. “One malcontent was disciplined, and the rest of the force is ready to continue on-mission.” Sokolov force-whispered “Attention” to Jasur and he stiffened. 
 
    Sokolov continued speaking. “You need a senior enlisted leader to instill some discipline into this band of cutthroats and thieves,” he said, “or it is likely we will all die nasty deaths. With your permission, I just promoted myself to First Sergeant.” 
 
    Altan eyebrows went up. “That was discipline?” he asked for Jasur to translate. 
 
    “Yes,” Sokolov said with a minute nod. “Unfortunately, an example had to be made, or they would never have listened.” He paused a second and then added, “I believe I have made my point.” 
 
    Any further conversation was cut off as the dropship landed in a massive cloud of dust that caused the assembled members of the Golden Horde to turn their heads and protect their eyes. 
 
    “Attention!” Borte commanded as the dust settled. Those that didn’t do it at Borte’s command stiffened when Sokolov looked back at them over his shoulder.  
 
    The dust cleared, the engines shut down, and the dropship’s back ramp came down. Altan could feel Borte stiffen next to him—riding it down was a giant millipede that stood almost four feet tall. “What in the Blue Sky is that?” Borte asked under his breath. 
 
    “That’s a Jeha,” Altan said. “It must be a part of the ship’s crew; their race isn’t a merc race.” 
 
    The creature’s eyes scanned the formation, several of its claws opening and shutting, and then it yelled back into the craft, “You’ve got to see this!” 
 
    A few moments later, it was joined by two large aliens who looked like oversize ants. 
 
    “I don’t know whether to salute or get a can of insecticide,” someone stage-whispered from Bravo Company, and several people laughed. Altan turned to tell them to shut up, but Sokolov had already turned to glare at them, and they froze back into their positions of almost-attention. 
 
    The three aliens talked among themselves, periodically pointing toward the Humans, but they weren’t close enough for Altan’s pendant to pick it up. Whatever the Jeha said at the end of the conversation must have been funny, though, because the pendant translated the outburst that followed as laughter. Altan could feel Borte bristle alongside him, and he felt similarly. The aliens are going to come to our planet and make fun of us? 
 
    Before Altan could decide on a course of action that didn’t involve killing his employers and voiding his contract, the joke ended, and the giant ants—Altar, if he remembered correctly—turned around and went back into the shuttle, while the Jeha approached the formation. 
 
    “I’m looking for Colonel Altan Enkh of the Golden Horde,” the alien said. 
 
    “That’s me,” Altan said, saluting as he had seen military personnel do in the movies. 
 
    “I am unfamiliar with Human communication,” the Jeha said. “Is that hand gesture significant to your communication?” 
 
    “Yes, I am saluting.” 
 
    The alien laughed. “You don’t need to salute me,” it said. “First of all, I’m not even military. I’m just a hired engineer onboard the Altar ship. The pilot had something wrong with his dropship he wanted me to check out. Second, you’re a colonel, so most of the military forces ought to be saluting you, not the other way around. It does confirm one thing, though.” 
 
    “What’s that?” 
 
    “It confirms that you guys are the worst mercenaries ever.” 
 
    “What?” Borte asked. Altan also heard several, more pithy, comments from both companies behind him. 
 
    “Why do you say that?” Altan asked in the low voice he used when he was really angry. 
 
    “You have to be the worst mercenaries ever for a number of reasons. One, you have no standards. Although you are dressed the same, even I can tell you don’t look like a military group just from the way you stand and hold yourselves. There is no discipline in your formation. It also doesn’t look like most of you have any weapons with you for deployment—most mercenaries would go on deployment armed to the teeth. And finally—and this is what we find to be the funniest thing we’ve ever seen—you appear to have had a casualty before you were even picked up for movement to your contract site.” It started laughing again. 
 
    Sokolov stalked past Altan. “I’ve got this,” he growled. A half-second later, Jasur joined him. The Russian stopped in front of the Jeha and stared into the depths of the alien’s eyes for several seconds, until it flinched back away from him. “Colonel,” Sokolov said over his shoulder without breaking eye contact with the Jeha, “would you like me to teach this off-world piece of shit some manners? We may not be the best mercenaries, yet, but this fuckhead is greatly mistaken if he thinks that means we aren’t good killers.” His hand went to his holster with enough movement to attract the Jeha’s eyes to where his hand rested. 
 
    The alien’s laughs ceased, and its eyes met Sokolov’s again. Whatever it saw in the Russian caused it to drop its flippant attitude. “That won’t be necessary,” the giant millipede said. “Come, Colonel, and show me what you are transporting up, while your troops begin loading aboard.” It gestured with a pincer for Sokolov to go to the dropship. 
 
    “Perhaps I should stay with you, Colonel,” the Russian said, “in case the alien needs another attitude adjustment.” 
 
    “No,” Altan said. “I don’t think that will be necessary. Why don’t you begin loading the troops aboard?” 
 
    Sokolov left and began shouting and gesturing at the troops, with Jasur translating when necessary. Altan led the alien to where the gear had been piled, just off the pad, taking a wide detour to avoid the pool of scarlet surrounding Rashid. 
 
    “—worst mercenaries, ever,” the Jeha muttered as they reached the first pile, the translation pendant catching just the end of what he said. The first pile was in some disorder; several large boxes of rations had been stacked too high and had blown over onto a number of ammo cans when the dropship landed. 
 
    “What did you say?” Altan asked.  
 
    “Nothing,” the alien replied, turning to look back to where Sokolov was yelling at a trooper moving too slowly. “What I meant to say was that you are the most unprepared mercenaries I’ve ever seen.” He pointed at several of the piles simultaneously. “These aren’t ready to go. They aren’t on pallets. They don’t have netting over them to keep the stores and equipment in place. I can’t read your writing, but it wouldn’t surprise me if your ammo and explosives are mixed in with your sundries.” 
 
    “What’s a sundry?” Altan asked. 
 
    “Your food and other stores.” 
 
    “Well,” Altan said, “at least the last one would never happen.” He looked at Borte. “No one would ever be dumb enough to do that, right?” 
 
    “We will take your people up to the transport,” the Jeha said, turning to go back to the dropship, “but you will need to secure all of this before we can load it.” As he walked out of range, Altan caught a fragment of the last thing he said. 
 
    “…worst mercs ever…” 
 
      
 
    * * * 
 
      
 
    Altan closed his eyes and tried to tighten the straps holding him to the bulkhead. If he could make them secure enough, he thought, it would be enough like gravity that his stomach would settle. He’d had that hope for several days—ever since the thrust cut off—but it had yet to occur. 
 
    There was a respectful knock on the door, and a voice said, “Excuse me, sir.”  
 
    “Come—” he started to yell, but then had to catch himself as his stomach threatened to empty. “Come in,” he said less forcefully, which helped keep his stomach in the right place. 
 
    First Sergeant Sokolov entered his cabin, wearing a translation pendant. “Sorry to have to bother you, sir,” he said, “but we’re losing a lot of time in transit that could be better spent training our forces.” 
 
    “What do you mean?” 
 
    “I mean we are supposed to be a mercenary unit, sir, but most of the force doesn’t know jack shit about being in the military or fighting together. I want to fix that.” 
 
    “But we’re not going into combat. The Merc Guild guy that arranged our contract said it’s highly unlikely there will be any fighting.” 
 
    “Sir, I’ve been in the military 15 years, and if there’s one thing I know, it’s that there’s always fighting when you aren’t expecting it. The men need training in what to do and how to do it, or we’re going to be dead. If not on this contract, then the next one or the one after it. At some point, they’ll need to know how to act like a merc unit, and they’ll need to know how to do it right.” 
 
    “Can you do it without killing anyone else? Most of the people here are related to me in one way or another; if you start killing them all, I won’t have any choice but to kill you.” 
 
    “I will certainly try, although if it comes down to self-defense, I won’t have any option.” 
 
    “Well, try not to let it get to that extent then, please. We need you to show us what we’re doing wrong. I mean, pallets and nets for the cargo? You mentioned that before the aliens arrived to pick us up, but I didn’t listen. Obviously, there’s a lot you can teach us that we need to know.” 
 
    “I will do my best,” Sokolov said. “I can’t make them into a military unit in the time remaining, but maybe there’s enough time left to teach them which end of the gun the bullet comes out.”  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
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    Altan chewed his lip, trying not to think about the various forces on his body that were unsettling his stomach. He wasn’t sure which was worse—not having gravity, like on the transport, or the wildly-fluctuating forces he was being subjected to on the dropship. Probably the dropship, he mused, as it swayed violently to the left. 
 
    “One minute!” the dropship pilot advised over the intercom system.  
 
    “Finally!” Borte exclaimed. “I’m looking forward to solid ground under my feet again.” 
 
    Altan nodded, not wanting to think about zero gravity any more. He spent the last bit of the flight counting down the seconds. Either the pilot had miscalculated, or he was counting too fast—the ship didn’t touch down until he reached “83.” 
 
    He opened his eyes to find Borte staring at him with a peculiar look on his face. “Are you okay, Boss?” he asked. “You don’t look very good.” 
 
    “I’m fine,” Altan said, trying to shrug off his lingering stomach issues. “Let’s go see this new world.” He started to order his ‘troops’ to deploy, but found Sokolov already had it under control. 
 
    “Move it, you maggots!” the Russian yelled, pulling troops from their seats and throwing them bodily out the door when they moved too slowly. 
 
    “Impressive,” Borte noted, watching Sokolov single-handedly deploying the troops. “He really put his time aboard the transport to good use.” 
 
    “He did say we needed a senior enlisted to run things,” Altan replied. “I guess he was right.” 
 
    “That’s not what I meant,” Borte said, his eyes on the Russian. “I meant I’m impressed how many swear words he was able to learn in Uzbek on the transit.” 
 
    “That too.” 
 
    Faster than Altan would have thought possible, the Russian had the dropship unloaded, and Altan and Borte strode off the craft to find the troops mostly deployed in the formation Sokolov had briefed him on—a defensive perimeter. It was funny how quickly words like “briefed” and “defensive perimeter” had crept into his vocabulary. Was he in danger of becoming an actual mercenary and going legit? 
 
    Perish the thought! 
 
    A group of Zuparti awaited them, watching the troops deploy. Altan wasn’t a xenobiologist, nor was he acquainted with their body language, but he could tell they didn’t look happy. Altan surveyed his troops. Most of them were where they were supposed to be, and Sokolov was fixing the ones who weren’t—what did the Zuparti expect? Perfection? 
 
    He let his gaze wander as he walked toward the Zuparti, enjoying the moment and feeling like a conquering hero as he took in the vista of the new planet. The gravity was slightly less than Earth-normal, and he felt like he was walking on clouds. One hundred yards beyond the Zuparti, he could see the factory the Horde was there to defend. At least five stories tall, the building was a massive square at least two city blocks on a side. Several miles beyond it, he could see the nearby city through the early afternoon haze. 
 
    He turned as the dropship lifted off behind him. The grassy valley they had landed in extended for several miles away from the factory before it went into a blue-tinted forest. It was rather scenic and bucolic. Shrugging, he turned and continued toward the Zuparti. 
 
    “It’s about time you got here,” the weasel in front of the group said. “You’re late.” 
 
    Altan looked at the galactic timepiece he’d purchased at the last port they’d hit. “What do you mean? We’re right on time.” 
 
    The Zuparti stared at him for a moment and then said, “You were over two minutes late—two minutes and seven seconds to be exact—what if we’d been attacked?” 
 
    “Then you’d have had every reason to be upset,” Altan replied. “As has happened, though, you weren’t, so the point is moot. Besides, the Altar were the ones who brought us down—they controlled our arrival time. If you have an issue, I suggest you take it up with them.” 
 
    “Not true,” one of the other Zuparti said. He handed a small slate to the weasel in the front of the group, who held it out to Altan while pointing at something on the screen. “See?” it asked. “The Prime Contractor—which is you—is ultimately responsible for the performance of all subcontractors. As the Altar work for you, they are your responsibility.” 
 
    Altan sighed and shrugged. “Okay; they’re our responsibility. I’m sorry we were late.” 
 
    “Sorry? Sorry isn’t good enough, although I’m happy you admitted it in front of all these witnesses. We’re docking your first day’s pay.” 
 
    “Fine,” Altan said as Sokolov came over to stand next to him. He just wanted the conversation to be over. The weasel’s attitude was ruining the moment for him. 
 
    “Also,” the Zuparti continued, “that is the worst combat deployment we’ve ever seen. The contract specifically states that you are to use professional troops. These do not look like professional soldiers.” 
 
    “That is where you are wrong,” Altan said. “I have paid all of my troops for their mercenary duties. Therefore, by definition, they are all ‘professionals.’” 
 
    “They are the worst-looking soldiers we have ever seen.” 
 
    “So?” 
 
    “What do you mean?” 
 
    “The contract doesn’t say they have to be the best you’ve ever seen—it just says that they have to be professionals. As you’ve already agreed in front of all these witnesses, my men are professionals, so it doesn’t matter how they look to you; they meet the specifications of the contract.” 
 
    “Well, we will be watching them,” the lead Zuparti said. “If they don’t carry out their duties professionally, you can expect us to lodge a complaint with the Merc Guild.” 
 
    “As is your right.” Altan was happy to concede the point, having just won one of his own. “Is there anything else, or can we get back to our duties?” 
 
    “There is something else,” the lead weasel said. “Since you mention it, we’d like to know how you are going to defend the factory.” 
 
    “We’re going to guard it, of course.” 
 
    “We know that, silly Human—we wrote the contract. What we want to know is how you intend to fulfill that duty. You’re at least going to put up defensive works in the area, correct? So that nothing hits the building where we’re working?” 
 
    “Uh, well, maybe…” Altan said. 
 
    “Yes, we are,” Sokolov said. “We just need a bulldozer or something like that, and we’ll get right on it.” 
 
    “You don’t have the equipment to do what you need to?” 
 
    “Uh, no,” Altan replied. “It…uh…it wouldn’t fit in the ship. Do you have one we can use?” 
 
    “Yes, we do, but I am making a complaint to the Merc Guild that you showed up without all of the equipment you needed.” 
 
    “That’s fine,” Altan said. “Perhaps we can trade for its usage.” 
 
    “What do you have to trade?” the Zuparti asked, sounding suspicious. 
 
    “I have a large amount of heroin and other opium-based products you might like to try.” 
 
    “Try how? What does it do?” 
 
    “It’s a drug. It makes you feel good.” 
 
    “Oh, Entropy! No, I wouldn’t want anything like that! On second thought, perhaps we will leave you alone and watch what you do, instead. That way, we have a better opportunity to see how badly you perform, without giving you any hints that might help you figure out what you are supposed to be doing.”  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
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    “Quick, Boss!” Borte yelled. “I mean, Colonel, come outside!” 
 
    Altan dropped his spoon and sprinted out of the tent. He ran over to where Borte was standing, looking toward the mountain range 13 miles to the west. “What is it?” he asked. 
 
    “Dropships. I think I saw five.” 
 
    “What were they doing?” 
 
    “Landing. I suspect this is the attack our employers were worried about.” 
 
    “Really? To get some video games?” Altan shook his head. “I thought the Zuparti were just over-reacting. It’s what they do.” 
 
    “It appears they weren’t,” Borte said. He paused and then asked, “What are we going to do about it?” 
 
    “Do we have anything that can shoot that far?” 
 
    “No.” 
 
    “Then I guess we do nothing for now.” 
 
    “We’ve got to do something!” Borte exclaimed, exasperation in his voice. “They’re going to attack us!” 
 
    “Not immediately,” Altan said, “or they’d have done it already. No, they are too far away to attack immediately. I suspect they will organize tonight and attack tomorrow.” 
 
    “But how do you know that?” Borte asked. “At what point did you become the alien expert?” 
 
    Altan shrugged. “Standard assault practice versus a target with no air defenses,” he said. “I had one of the boys research assault tactics on the GalNet. Technology is a wonderful thing, just like back home.” 
 
    Borte stared at him, dumbfounded.  
 
    “Okay,” Altan said. “Let’s go find out who they are; that way, we can research them and find out their weaknesses.” 
 
    “Go talk to them? Just like that?” 
 
    “Of course,” Altan replied. “They’re mercenaries, not ravening hordes. Well, as long as they aren’t Besquith, anyway. Bring along some of our product samples, too. Maybe we can do some business while we’re there.” 
 
      
 
    * * * 
 
      
 
    Altan, Borte, and one of the boys approached the enemy encampment in a hover car their employers had loaned them. Their pay was going to be docked again. “Stop,” Altan ordered as an armed road block came into view. “Let’s walk from here; that way, they won’t feel the need to shoot first and ask questions later.” 
 
    Borte pulled the car over, and the group got out. 
 
    “They’re KzSha,” Sukh said, looking back and forth between the figures at the checkpoint and his slate. A recent graduate of Sister Mary Margaret’s school, he had a knack for finding info on the internet that had translated well to the GalNet.  
 
    “Who are what?” Borte asked. 
 
    “The aliens are KzSha,” Sukh said, looking down at his slate again. “Basically, they look like giant wasps that are more massive than a Human, they wear unenhanced combat armor, can fly in low to medium gravity, and have two bladed middle arms tough enough to cut steel or punch through carbon-ceramic armor.” He paused and looked up. “Apparently, they are also really hard to kill.”  
 
    “Thanks,” Altan said, somewhat sarcastically. “Anything else we need to know?” 
 
    “They are also known for conducting less-than-legal enterprises when they think they can get away with it.” 
 
    “Hunh,” Altan replied. “They’re my kind of people, after all.” 
 
    “So, um, Boss, how do we do this?” 
 
    “What?” 
 
    “Go talk to them without getting shot.” 
 
    “I read that most mercs recognize holding your rifle above your head as a sign of peaceful intent.” 
 
    “Most?” 
 
    “Yeah, most.” Altan shrugged. “Life is a gamble. If you don’t want to come, stay here.” 
 
    “No. If you’re going, I am, too.” 
 
    The group proceeded toward the checkpoint and could see two of the giant wasp-like figures behind a barricade. Altan and Borte flinched as something started flashing at them. 
 
    “Sorry, I forgot to mention,” Sukh said; “they communicate with light pulses from their antenna.” 
 
    “That would have been helpful to know ahead of time,” Altan growled, trying to control the adrenaline rush. 
 
    “Halt,” the translation pendant on his chest said. “Who—no, what are you?” 
 
    “We are Humans,” Altan yelled. “We are part of the merc contingent at the factory.” 
 
    “Keep your appendages up and approach.” 
 
    The Humans walked up to the checkpoint and were liberated of their weapons. “I will take you to the captain,” one of the KzSha said. The giant wasp led them into the camp, where it looked like at least four companies of KzSha were setting up camp and buzzing around. Wherever the Humans went, numerous eyes followed them while the aliens continued working. 
 
    After a couple of minutes, they came to a prefab building with a guard at the door. “Watch them while I go talk to the captain,” their guide said. The guard unlimbered its weapon to point in their general direction as their guide went into the building. 
 
     “Why don’t you stay out here and talk to some of the troopers?” Borte suggested to Sukh while they waited, handing his translation pendant to the boy. “Maybe some of the aliens might be interested in partying a bit.” 
 
    “What do I tell them the price is?” 
 
    “With this group? I’ll bet they have connections. Tell them it’s free—the first taste is always free.” 
 
    The KzSha sentry came back out and motioned them into the building, and Altan and Borte turned and entered. The light was dimmer, and it took a few seconds for their eyes to adjust. The sentry led them into a room with a large table in the center, covered with a tarp. Based on the bumps under the cover, Altan suspected it was a model of the area. 
 
    “What is it you want?” asked a large KzSha as it entered the room. “I am not familiar with your species—I thought the Zuparti owned the factory.” 
 
    “They do,” Altan said. “We were hired to protect it. We saw your ships land and thought we would come by and see if we could work out a deal.” 
 
    “A deal? What kind of a deal?” 
 
    “Well, this is our first contract as mercenaries, so we’re hoping it will be successful. We’d be willing to trade our opiates if you will hold off attacking until all of the factory’s product is shipped.” 
 
    “Hold off attacking? Are you serious? If we didn’t perform to the specifications of our contract, we would be in breach of it and would have to pay reparations. Not only that, our standing in the Guild would drop; it would be harder to find new contracts, and we would get paid less for them. The answer is ‘no.’” 
 
    “Are you sure? We’ve got some really good shit with us.” 
 
    “You want us to give up our contract…for your defecation?” 
 
    “No, that didn’t translate well. I meant that the drugs we brought are really pure; they are some of the best you’re going to find.” 
 
    “Unacceptable. We are on contract. Tomorrow, in accordance with the verbiage in our contract, we will roll over your defenses and capture all of the games you are defending. Until that time, that is our focus, and any other diversions are not to be tolerated. Perhaps, tomorrow evening, a deal could be reached…assuming any of you are still alive to deal with. Odds are, we’ll just pick up your ‘shit’ off your dead bodies—you seem squishy; hopefully, you won’t get too much of your blood on it when we kill you.” 
 
    Gunfire erupted not too far away. 
 
    “What’s that? Altan asked. 
 
    “I suspect that some of my troops wanted to see what your weapons could do,” the captain replied. 
 
    “You suspect?” 
 
    “I can’t know for sure, since I’m not there, but since I ordered them to do it, I suspect that’s what they did.” Had the wasps used sound instead of light to communicate, Altan was sure it would have come across as irony. He shrugged, knowing the gesture was probably lost on the KzSha. “You did hand them over to us, so we thought we’d try them out.” 
 
    The gunfire continued for long enough to fire off the magazines of all three rifles.  
 
    “Was there anything else you wanted to discuss?” the KzSha leader asked. 
 
    “So there’s no chance of getting you to delay your attack?” 
 
    “None. Regardless of what you offer.” 
 
    A KzSha entered the room holding the Humans’ rifles. “What is the verdict?” the captain asked. 
 
    “They are non-remarkable slug-throwers,” the KzSha flashed. “Our assault will go through them like jelly through an Oogar.” 
 
    The captain motioned toward Altan. “Go ahead and give them back,” he said. “We don’t have much to worry about from them.” The trooper handed the rifles back to Altan and Borte. “You may go now,” the captain said. “You have wasted enough of my time.” 
 
    Altan and Borte turned to leave, but the captain added, “I hope one of you survives our assault tomorrow so I can try some of the drugs you mentioned. Armed as you are, though, I doubt any of you will.”  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
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    “Well, shit,” Borte said as they walked back to their vehicle. “That could have gone better.” 
 
    “What happened?” Sukh asked. 
 
    “They said they were being paid to get the games,” Altan said, “and they weren’t interested in negotiating. If we try to defend the factory, they’ll kill us all.” 
 
    “Well, on the good side,” Sukh said, with youthful exuberance, “I found someone who is interested in doing business with us. One of their cooks is part of a network back on their home planet. He said he’d take whatever we want to give him. We’ve arranged a meeting later this afternoon.” 
 
    “Excellent,” Altan muttered. “Why don’t you take them four kilos tonight?” 
 
    “Four kilos?” Sukh said. “Isn’t that all of our sample merchandise?” 
 
    “It is. Depending on how things go tomorrow, though, it may be our only chance to deal with them. Give it all to them and let them distribute it among their people; that way, if we aren’t dead, they will be ready to deal with us.” 
 
    They walked the rest of the way to the vehicle in silence. 
 
    “About the attack tomorrow, Boss,” Borte said, breaking the silence as they got back into the hover car, “we’re hopelessly outclassed. What are we going to?” 
 
    Altan looked at the floor of the vehicle, his head down. “I honestly never expected another merc company would attack,” he replied. “When I got the contract, the Merc Guild representative there said there was almost a zero percent chance that anyone would come. I thought we’d show up and collect our fee.” 
 
    “So, now that the damn bugs are here, what are we going to do?” 
 
    “I don’t know,” Altan said. “I guess we’ll go back and try to ship all the games they have ready. With our people loading, hopefully, we can get 50% out the door. Then, when they attack in the morning, we’ll shoot back a little, and then we’ll run. If we get at least half of the games shipped and put up a token resistance, we’ll get a partial payment, which will at least be enough to get us home.” 
 
    “That’s not going to set a great precedent for us as a merc company,” Borte said. “Running on our first contract.” 
 
    “It’s better to be alive than dead. It’s hard to improve your reputation if you’re dead.”  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
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    Sukh made it back to the vicinity of the alien camp just prior to darkness falling. Rogo, the chef he had spoken to, had been very firm about meeting before dark, and Sukh hadn’t understood why at first. He realized, after thinking about it, though, that it would be hard to keep the meeting a secret at night, since the KzSha communicated with flashes of light. Although Sukh could whisper, it was impossible for the alien to mute his light, and the flashes could be seen a long way away. 
 
    That was also probably why they were waiting for the morning to attack—at night, the defenders would see the lights as they communicated and could probably translate what they were saying. It would almost be like talking on the radio without encrypting the signal—the enemy would know everything you were going to do at the same time your own forces did. Sukh hadn’t had a lot of military training, but even he could see the disadvantages of that. 
 
    This wasn’t night, though; this was daylight, and he was the noisier one, although he tried to creep along to the place the alien had said to meet him. Every place he stepped seemed to have a stick or something that snapped or scuffled when he put a foot down. He realized the alien wouldn’t have that problem as the KzSha could fly. 
 
    “Hold, Human,” his translation pendant said suddenly. The flashes of light had come from the side. He had missed them, but the pendant hadn’t. The alien came around from the tree he’d been hiding behind. It carried a large rifle build for its claws, which it pointed at Sukh. “Are you alone?” 
 
    “I am,” Sukh replied, holding up his hands. 
 
    “So what is it that you have?” the alien asked. “Sparkle?” 
 
    “No, that’s not it. I’ve heard of Sparkle, but we deal in opium-based products. Although most of our business is heroin and morphine, I can also get my hands on codeine and some of the semi-synthetics like methadone or hydrocodone.” 
 
    “So heroin is your most popular drug? Tell me about it.” 
 
    “We grow all of our opiates ourselves, so you never have to worry about quality control. We make sure you only get the best. Heroin is processed from morphine and is pretty versatile—it can be injected, snorted, or smoked—whatever works best for you. Since we don’t know how it will affect you, you may want to try it in a variety of ways to see what works best. I just wouldn’t try too much at first; we wouldn’t want you to OD.” 
 
    “OD?” 
 
    “Overdose. That’s when you take too much of it. Very infrequently, it can have some minor side effects on Humans that overdose. I’m sure the KzSha won’t have that problem, though, since you are so much stronger than us. You’ll probably have all the benefits and none of the side effects.” 
 
    “As you say, we are much stronger than you, which is why we will crush you tomorrow. Hopefully, if this product is good, some of you will be left alive at the end of our assault so we can purchase more. I doubt that is likely, but we can always hope, right? Maybe if you run away soon enough, our leaders won’t feel like chasing you.” Its lights started flashing; it was laughing at Sukh. 
 
    “Would you like to try it?” Sukh asked, taking off his backpack. “I brought some trial sizes.” 
 
    The rifle had moved away, but it snapped back to pointing at Sukh as he reached into his bag. “Slowly, Human. Whatever you pull from that bag, do it slowly, or I will kill you.” 
 
    Sukh licked his lips. “Sure,” he said, a shiver running down his spine. He veeery slowly withdrew a half-kilo block of heroin from the bag and held it up so Rogo could see it. “See?” he asked as he started to unwrap the plastic covering. “It’s heroin, not a weapon. You can point the gun away from me now.”  
 
    “Okay, but don’t try anything foolish.” The KzSha moved the barrel of the weapon marginally to the side. Not far, but at least it wasn’t pointing exactly at Sukh anymore. Cautiously, Sukh moved closer and held out the block of heroin. “What am I supposed to do with it?” the alien asked. 
 
    “Like I said, I don’t know what’s going to work best for you,” Sukh replied. “Why don’t you take a taste of it and see what that does. I have some other equipment with me; we can try injecting it or snorting it, too.” 
 
    Rogo leaned over and stuck a claw into the heroin where Sukh had opened the plastic wrap and placed it into his mouth. It didn’t take long for Sukh to see the drug had an effect on the alien—Rogo started vibrating, and his lights flashed like fireworks and gunfire on Independence Day. 
 
    “I feel warm,” the alien said. “Warm and oh-so-good!” His wings buzzed, twitching back and forth. “Must. Have. More…” The alien shook himself, seeming to get better control of his muscles, but his speech still seemed absent, as if talking with himself. “Can’t now,” he said. “Must cook dinner first. But after…yes. After…”  
 
    “So, it is good?” Sukh asked. 
 
    “Yesss. It is very good. How much for that block you are holding?” 
 
    “This little thing?” Sukh asked, knowing it had a street value of about a quarter of a million U.S. dollars back home. “This is free—it is my gift to you.”  
 
    “Free?” Rogo asked. “How can that be? How can something that good be free?” 
 
    “We have a saying where I’m from,” Sukh replied. “You have to remember, we are a very generous people, and are always very giving. That’s why we like to say, ‘The first taste is always free.’” 
 
    “Well, thank you,” Rogo said. “If I see you on the battlefield tomorrow, I will try to capture you instead of killing you, so that you can get us more of this…heroin.” 
 
    He turned to go, but Sukh said, “Wait!” 
 
    Rogo turned around to find Sukh digging in his back. “I’m sure you have friends,” Sukh said, pulling out seven more half-kilo bags. “Please give them these gifts, from our people to yours. Maybe they’ll find someone to save tomorrow, too.” 
 
    “How very thoughtful of you,” Rogo said. “Maybe you will make a good slave race for us. We shall see. I will talk to some friends about capturing some of you instead of completely wiping you out. You will, however, have to throw down your weapons. Anyone we see with weapons in their hands will be killed.” 
 
    “I understand,” Sukh said, backing away. “Just enjoy our presents. Hopefully, we will have the opportunity to talk with you again, soon.”
  
 
    * * * 
 
      
 
    Corporal Rogo returned to the field kitchen as quickly as he could. The Human had been a few minutes late, which had put him slightly behind schedule, but when he tried the heroin the Human had brought…wow! The instant high had almost blown his wings off, and it had taken him a few minutes to recover, putting him further behind his timeline. But it had been worth it—he now was the sole supplier of heroin to the KzSha, and he was going to make a fortune! Even better, the Human was either a terrible negotiator or didn’t know the value of a credit. He had given away his sample, for Entropy’s sake, without even asking for payment. What kind of a moron did that?  
 
    Happily, no one had seemed to notice his absence, and he checked the giant iron stew pot. The soup was at a slow boil. The extra time didn’t appear to have affected it—it should be ready shortly.  
 
    He thought about the instant high he had gotten from the heroin again, and he shivered. He might have to keep some of it for himself…he already wanted another hit. Without consciously thinking about it, he had unwrapped the eight bricks of the drug, and he looked at them longingly. He couldn’t sample it again, though. Not while they were on a mission—he’d be fired, or worse, if caught. No, sampling it again wouldn’t be possible for a few more days…or would it?  
 
    Maybe he could have just a little— 
 
    “Rogo!” his staff sergeant flashed, the pulses tinged with annoyance. “You’re late! When is dinner going to be ready? And what is that in your hands?” 
 
    Shit. He couldn’t get caught with the drugs—as a distributor, he’d be put to death! A thought raced through his head, and his hands put it to action before he could stop himself. He dumped the bricks into the soup. “They are flavoring bars, Staff Sergeant!” he flashed. He sighed internally at the loss, but it was better to dump them than be tortured to death.  
 
    “Flavoring bars?” the staff sergeant asked, suspiciously. “I’ve never heard of such a thing.” 
 
    “They are,” Rogo flashed, his pulses strong and confident. “Call the men; it is ready.” 
 
    “Good! It’s about time—they are starving.” The staff sergeant turned to leave, and Rogo looked longingly at the pot. Oh, well; at least he’d get a few more samples. He grabbed a bowl and ladled himself a portion. If he hurried, he could finish it before the troops got there…and maybe one more.  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
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    “Something’s wrong with the troops, Captain,” the staff sergeant replied. 
 
    “What do you mean?” 
 
    “They’re are all slow and lethargic this morning, sir. I’ve had to lash several to get them moving.” 
 
    “It does not matter. The Humans are completely outclassed. Their weapons look like they were stolen from a museum—they’re ancient technology. It is unlikely they can hit us, and even more unlikely they will seriously harm us if they do. We attack in ten minutes; have the troops line up now.” 
 
      
 
    * * * 
 
      
 
    The Golden Horde had worked through the night, loading all the finished games into the available trucks. And cars. And any other conveyance they could find with space to haul them. As dawn approached, though, they had only shipped 43% of the contracted amount, and they were down to the last two vehicles. Even if they could have found more transportation, they had emptied the warehouse complex; there were only a few copies left to ship, although the production line continued to pump them out at a staggering rate. There were still two trucks, but they wouldn’t have made the difference, and the Horde needed them for their escape. 
 
    Spent from a hard night of labor, the soldiers took their places on the back side of the berm as the sky began to lighten, and they aimed their weapons toward the swarm of KzSha that had assembled across the open valley. The wasps appeared to be foregoing any sort of envelopment strategy; all their forces were massed for a single assault and had been milling about for the last 30 minutes. 
 
    “Remember the plan,” Altan said, trying to encourage his troopers as he walked along the firing line at the base of the berm. “We will fire until they get halfway across the valley, and then we will run for the trucks. Watch for the signal or get left behind!” 
 
    With an array of flashing lights, the giant wasps started forward. 
 
    “Here they come!” Borte yelled. “Prepare to fire!” 
 
    “What are they doing?” Altan asked. 
 
    Borte paused a moment, watching the oncoming assault waves. “I...I don’t really know,” he finally said. “They look like a bunch of zombies.” 
 
    Altan climbed up onto Borte’s firing step and looked across the valley. Although the wasps were generally headed toward the lines of the Golden Horde, that was where all similarity to an “assault” ended. Some were going faster than others, some were stumbling around in a random pattern, and some had stopped completely, and it looked like they were lying down to take naps. It was nothing like what he had expected. They looked like he felt after a night of serious partying. 
 
    “The drugs!” Altan exclaimed. “Sukh, how much did you take them last night?” 
 
    “Four kilos,” the boy replied from several firing steps away. “But I only gave it to one of the aliens. I don’t know why they’re all messed up.” 
 
    Altan looked back across the field. Sukh was wrong, though; they weren’t all messed up. Two appeared to be unaffected, and they were flying across the field at top speed. They looked like they intended to take on the Horde, all by themselves. Still...it was an opportunity... 
 
    “We can do this!” Altan cried. “Grab the RPGs and thermobaric rounds!” 
 
    “Wait,” Borte said. “They aren’t ready. They were too awkward to run with so we put them aside.” 
 
    “Get them! Quickly!” 
 
    “I’ve got the first one,” First Sergeant Sokolov called from the last firing platform. Altan looked over to see the engineer sighting on the lead KzSha with a surface-to-air missile. “I had it ready in case they tried to bring their troops over in their dropships.” The engineer worked the controls of the SAM, squeezed the trigger, and the missile leapt from the tube. 
 
    The lead wasp was dodging from side to side and up and down as it approached the Humans’ lines. Although its maneuvering had been successful in avoiding the Horde’s rifle fire, it was completely ineffective against the missile traveling at 1.5 times the speed of sound. The missile crushed the alien’s chest exoskeleton as it drove the giant wasp backward, before ripping a hole through it and exploding on the other side. The damage done to the KzSha in the missile’s passing would easily have killed it; the shrapnel puncturing the alien’s head from behind was simply overkill. 
 
    The death of the lead KzSha didn’t deter the other wasp speeding toward them; if anything, it spurred the alien to go faster. 
 
    Altan looked down the firing line. None of his troops had gone for their RPGs; all of them continued firing their rifles, but if they were hitting the KzSha, the alien didn’t give any indication. 
 
    With a rising sense of desperation, he turned back to Sokolov. The Russian had thrown down the empty launcher and picked up an RPG launcher. Altan recognized the bulbous shape of the grenade affixed to it—a thermobaric round—and his head snapped back to the KzSha, his eyes wide. The alien was only about 25 meters from the right end of the Horde’s firing line...inside the area of effect of the warhead. 
 
    “Down!” he yelled, throwing himself behind the berm as Sokolov fired. 
 
    Even behind the earthwork, he could still feel the heat of the fireball as the fuel-air explosive ignited with a blast similar to a 122mm artillery round, and he saw the flash through his closed eyelids. The blast also tried to suck the air from his lungs, but he was far enough away to not be seriously affected by it. 
 
    Pulling himself back up, he saw that several of his troops on the right end of the wall were down, but the KzSha was down, too, and it lay feebly twitching in front of the berm as it died. “Medic!” Altan cried, pointing at the downed troopers, and two of the young girls by the trucks came running forward with alien medkits. 
 
    With the alien leaders down, Altan’s fighters turned their rifles on the remaining troopers, concentrating on the ones coming in their direction. The KzSha seemed confused about where the rounds hitting them were coming from. They were far enough away and had tough enough exoskeletons that the majority of the rounds didn’t penetrate; still, the rounds hurt, and Altan could see some of the aliens turning to flash at each other. 
 
    Without warning, one of the KzSha shot the KzSha next to it with its laser rifle, and rifle fire immediately broke out across the entire formation as the aliens shot each other. 
 
    Within 30 seconds, it was over, and all of the alien troopers lay on the ground—dead, wounded, or sleeping. 
 
    “What in the Sky Above just happened?” Borte asked. 
 
    “I don’t know,” Altan replied, climbing over the berm, “but we better go take care of the rest before they come to their senses.” 
 
    “You mean, just go over and kill them where they’re laying?” Borte asked. “Don’t you think they’ll be worth something as hostages?” 
 
    “Do you know how to restrain giant wasps?” Altan asked. 
 
    “No,” Borte replied. 
 
    “They’re going to be awfully pissed off when they wake up,” Altan noted. “And the hangover…” 
 
    “Got it, Boss,” Borte said. “Killing the aliens.” He raised his voice as he began climbing over the berm and ordered, “Let’s go, Golden Horde! Time to put some aliens out of our misery!” 
 
    “Careful you don’t destroy their equipment,” Altan added. “I want that for us!”  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
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    “I don’t know how you did it,” the Zuparti factory manager said as the last of the initial run of video games were taken by truck out of the warehouse, “but I can’t argue with the results. When I saw the KzSha dropships land, I was sure you were all going to be killed…or worse.” 
 
    “What’s worse than being killed?” Altan asked. 
 
    The Zuparti looked around, as if looking to see if anyone was listening, and he lowered his voice. “It’s said that the KzSha have been known to enslave people they capture in combat. Sometimes they’ll trade for ransom, but usually the price is so high, the captured mercenaries are sold into slavery instead.” 
 
    “Well, I don’t think any of the KzSha that came to the planet will be selling anyone into slavery. Additionally, the troop transport that came to pick them up has left the system, so I think the word will be getting around that we are not a group to be trifled with.” 
 
    “Perhaps so, perhaps so,” the factory manager agreed. 
 
    “The bottom line, though,” Altan said, “is that you will be paying us our full fee, and giving us a good recommendation to the Mercenary Guild, correct?” 
 
    “Yes, yes, we will be paying your entire fee—less the cost of using our earthmover and our hover cars—and will be giving you a positive rating at the Guild and on the GalNet.” The boss made a noise the translation pendant rendered as a chuckle. “I’m just happy you didn’t ask for a combat bonus in your contract,” the manager added. 
 
    “A what?” Altan asked. 
 
    “A combat bonus,” the manager repeated. “Most mercenary organizations put a combat bonus in their contracts, where they have to be paid a special upcharge if there is combat. You didn’t have one in your contract, which I was excited to see, as it means I don’t have to pay any more, even though there was combat.” 
 
    “You’re funny,” Altan said. “Perhaps you shouldn’t antagonize the people with the weapons.” 
 
    “Oh, yes, yes, that would probably be wise,” the manager said. “By the way, see that box over there?” he asked, pointing to a large crate. Altan nodded. “That is for you. There is a copy of our latest game in there for all of your personnel.” 
 
    “There is?” 
 
    “Yes, in accordance with the contract you signed. There is, of course, an account activation fee that will have to be paid when you sign up, as well as monthly access fees that users will have to pay to use the gaming portal, but you can pay those as a yearly fee and save a lot of money…” The Zuparti stopped and cocked its head. “I haven’t been exposed to any Humans before,” it added. “Is what you’re doing with your face supposed to convey something to me?” 
 
    “Yes, it is supposed to let you know that you are within a few seconds of having me shoot you where you stand. Perhaps you should stop talking and go find someone else to annoy.” 
 
    “Yes, yes, that is probably a good idea,” the manager said, before turning and scampering off in the other direction. 
 
    “Where is he running off to?” Borte asked as he approached. 
 
    “Somewhere far away from me,” Altan replied. “As it turns out, we could have asked for a combat bonus in our contract, and we would have gotten paid more for having battled them. I wonder what other things we don’t know.” 
 
    “Lots of things, probably,” Borte replied. “I do have something that will cheer you up, though.” 
 
    “What’s that?” 
 
    “Remember how the little rat manager said there aren’t any drugs here?” Altan nodded. “Well, as it turns out, he lied. There is a drug, and it’s called ‘Sparkle.’ Even better, it appears to work on Humans, so we can take some of our hard-earned credits and purchase a bunch of it, and then we’ll be the sole-source provider back on Earth for it. Get in early, get in fast, as you always say.” 
 
    “Well, that’s something, anyway,” Altan said. 
 
    “Yeah, it’s too bad we didn’t have any more heroin. It would have been nice to see if it worked for any of the other species, besides the KzSha.” 
 
    “Yes, it would have,” Altan said. He shrugged. “Don’t worry, though. We need to get home and deal with the Red Hawks and establish the pipeline between here and there.” 
 
    “And then?” 
 
    “After that it’s easy. We’ll be back.”  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
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    Borte leaned around the corner as the back door to the warehouse shut. He’d been waiting five minutes for the two men smoking to go back inside. 
 
    “You sure this is the place?” he asked. 
 
    “Yeah,” Kadan replied. “All of their computer networks lead to this building.” 
 
    “Just like we practiced it, then,” Borte said. He leapt forward, waving for the people behind him to follow. Little more than shadows in their black combat armor, the platoon raced across the street and gathered at the door. 
 
    Kadan stepped forward, handed Borte his rifle, and pulled out his lockpicks. Within seconds, the door was open. He pocketed the picks, took back his rifle, and held the door open. The platoon entered the building, spreading out as they proceeded into the interior. 
 
    Red Hawks began dying, with little more than quiet snapping noises to mark their demise. Sometimes there was a grunt to accompany the snap, but not very often. 
 
    Borte led his fire team along the pre-planned route and was standing in front of the leader’s door in less than two minutes, having left a trail of five bodies behind him. Based on the sub-vocal radio calls he had received, the total was probably over 20. 
 
    “Building secure,” First Sergeant Sokolov said over the radio, and Borte nodded to one of his men, who kicked in the door to the office. 
 
    Although they had surprised the Red Hawk leader, he had excellent reflexes, and was in motion as soon as the door crashed open. He grabbed a pistol from his desk and threw himself to the floor behind his desk. 
 
    Borte fired at an exposed leg, and the man screamed in pain. He scooted forward and came around the side of the desk, leading with his gun and ready to fire on the intruders. Borte fired at the first sign of movement and shot the man’s pistol from his hand. 
 
    The man pulled back, grabbing his damaged fingers with his other hand, and swore. 
 
    Borte nodded, and Kadan moved forward and kicked the pistol out of reach, while Borte continued to cover the Red Hawk leader with his laser rifle. The pistol was partially melted—it probably wouldn’t have worked—but Borte didn’t want to take the chance. 
 
    “Well, now, what have we here?” Borte asked. “It looks like the head hawk has had his wings clipped.” 
 
    “Fuck you,” the man growled. “Kill me if you’re going to; otherwise, get the hell out of here.” 
 
    “Don’t worry,” Borte said, “I intend to kill you. Altan Enkh sends his regards. He is most displeased with you over what you did while we were away.” He aimed a little lower and shot the man in the groin. 
 
    The leader screamed, and he curled into a ball, holding himself. 
 
    “In addition to raping some of our women,” Borte said, firing his rifle into the man’s leg, “you mutilated others under our protection.” He fired into the other leg. “You killed our people.” He fired into an arm. “You took our customers.” He fired into the other arm. “And you were generally an asshole to everyone we left behind.” He paused for a second and then added, “You know what, though? In spite of all that, I’ve changed my mind. I think I’m going to let you live, after all.” 
 
    The man’s head came up, tears streaming down his face. “Really?” he asked, a glimmer of hope in his eyes. 
 
    “No,” Borte said. “I lied. You’re a bastard and you need to die.” He fired one more time, through the man’s temple, and his head dropped to the floor. 
 
    Kadan kicked the leader’s body once. His other knee didn’t work like it should; he was a victim of a Red Hawk beating while the Golden Horde had been on-contract. He spit on the corpse and turned to Borte. 
 
    “Better now?” Borte asked. 
 
    “What that pig did will never be better,” Kadan said. “But wiping out the Red Hawks will be a good start.” 
 
    “That’s so.” Borte looked at his watch. “Grab his computer. We’ll take it back and hack it so we can find out more about his network.” Kadan started disassembling it. “Let’s go,” Borte said over the radio. “Strip the place of anything valuable and kill any of the Red Hawks you find, then meet back at the trucks. We still have two more cells to wipe out. After tonight, people will forget they ever existed. We may have been the worst mercs ever when we started, but we’re getting better…and we’re going to be the best damned drug runners and hackers this galaxy has ever seen. Long live the Gray Wolves and the Golden Horde!”  
 
      
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
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    Jim walked into the merc pit on Karma, his new high-tech uniform still rather uncomfortable, although it had built-in cooling circuits and a little armor. It was the blue color he wasn’t fond of, but it was distinctive, as was the damned red beret. The days of simple BDUs were gone. Ted was a few feet behind, as was a pair of escorts. They peeled off after he passed security and headed for the table he’d reserved days ago.  
 
    “You okay?” Ted asked.  
 
    “Fine,” Jim assured him. Ted and the other two men found a good place to keep an eye on things. Jim wasn’t really worried; he knew merc law better than most Humans. You didn’t start shit in a pit, unless you wanted to get ended, or worse. Besides, the Union laser pistol on his hip would equalize the game. 
 
    The Veetanho behind the bar, Peepo, gave him a nod. She was apparently a merc herself, but he wasn’t sure how that worked. There were a lot of Veetanho in the merc guild.  
 
    He almost went to the bar instead; the table looked empty. Then he saw Shirazi. Jim had forgotten how short the Iranian was. He was sitting at the table, reading a slate and drinking something. He wore a sand-colored uniform. Jim scowled. It looked better than his blue. The man looked up and gave Jim a nod, so he headed over.  
 
    “Colonel,” Jim said as he approached.  
 
    “Colonel,” Shirazi replied.  
 
    “Is the Chinese guy here?” 
 
    “Mongolian,” Shirazi corrected, then pointed. There was a rowdy group in a private room off to the side, just visible. Jesus Christ, they looked like fucking Mongolian gang-bangers! Several had bandoliers of ammo and carried fucking AK-47s. One was looking at him with an intense stare. That one was the leader; he had to be. He had a huge gold necklace, and a Union laser rifle over his shoulder. Jim nodded and the man returned the gesture, so Jim gestured to a chair at the table. The other man nodded, spoke to one of his people, and left them behind. They stopped partying for a second to all look at Jim and Shirazi, before going back to their celebration.  
 
    “So you are this Jim Cartwright?” Jim’s pendant translated. “Commander of the Cavaliers.”  
 
    “I am,” Jim said. He offered his hand, and the man took it in a powerful grip.  
 
    “Cartwright,” Shirazi said, standing, “this is Colonel Enkh, commander of the Golden Horde.”  
 
    “Colonel?” Jim asked, a slight laugh in his voice. “Okay, sure.”  
 
    “We all came back alive,” Enkh said, ignoring the slight. “We came back when none of the others did.”  
 
    “That we did,” Jim agreed.  
 
    “Yes,” Shirazi agreed. “Three out of one hundred.” They all regarded each other. The West Point graduate, the former Iranian commander, and the man who looked like a Mongolian drug lord.  
 
    “We all are rich, now,” Enkh said, “but we can be much richer.”  
 
    “This is true,” Shirazi agreed. “But what about the other mercs?” 
 
    “What others?” Jim asked. 
 
    “More merc companies are forming,” Shirazi said.  
 
    “Good luck to them,” Enkh said with a laugh.  
 
    “We need to come up with ways to help them survive,” Jim said.  
 
    “That won’t be easy,” Shirazi said. 
 
    “And yet we must,” a new person said. They all turned, a little surprised. A man stood a few feet away. Tall and lean, he was dressed in a European navy camouflage Jim recognized. A logo on one shoulder had a winged helmet on it, and the name “Kosmalski” was stitched on his breast.  
 
    “Winged Hussars,” Jim said, eyes wide. “You survived?”  
 
    “We did,” the man agreed. Jim shook his head in amazement. The man had a purple mohawk and more tattoos than Jim had ever seen. Were some of them moving?!  
 
    “What do you mean we must?” Enkh asked. “We must do nothing.”  
 
    “No, we must help Earth.” 
 
    “Why?” Shirazi asked. “What do we owe Earth?”  
 
    “Survival,” Kosmalski said. He had their attention. “I’ve travelled further than any of you, and I have aliens in my company now.”  
 
    “What kind of betrayal is this?” Shirazi snarled. He spat on the floor.  
 
    “It was survival!” Kosmalski yelled, slamming a fist down on the table. “I lost my ship and most of my crew. Many were family. We allied with aliens who were dying, and we all survived.”  
 
    “How?” Jim asked.  
 
    “We found a derelict alien ship. Old, but powerful. I’ve learned a lot about the aliens, enough to know they’ll kick our asses if we don’t learn to beat them.”  
 
    “We won,” Enkh laughed, but it was bluster, not confidence.  
 
    “We did, as well,” Shirazi said, though he was listening.  
 
    “What do you propose?” Jim asked.  
 
    “That we cooperate, at least for the time being, and help each other figure out better ways to defeat the aliens.”  
 
    This time Shirazi was nodding. “I like that,” he agreed.  
 
    “I could go along with that,” Enkh agreed. Jim had been looking at their logos and thinking. He had an idea.  
 
    “Four of us made it,” he said, “four out of one hundred. Have you all heard of the Four Horsemen?” He explained. In a minute, they were all smiling.  
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    Excerpt from “A Fiery Sunset:” 
 
      
 
      
 
    Avander Pharmaceuticals, Chattanooga, Tennessee, Earth 
 
    “Dr. Avander will see you now,” said the Veetch. The alien obviously thought he was stupid, Major Good decided, as it flipped one of its left hands to indicate the enormous mahogany door behind it that sported the nameplate, “Dr. Ezekiel Avander, CEO.” As it was the only door beside the one he came in, Good really didn’t need a lot of decision-making skill to figure that out. 
 
    Apparently, showing in visitors wasn’t part of the alien’s job description, as it went back to what it was doing without getting up. Nice. 
 
    Major Good walked to the door and turned the handle. The solid mahogany door was every bit the feature-piece it appeared to be and required a decent portion of his augmented strength to open. It probably was meant to overawe visitors. Good, however, found it slightly annoying. 
 
    “Dr. Avander?” he asked as he entered the room. The office was as ostentatious on the inside as he had guessed it would be from looking at the exterior. Luxuriously-appointed furnishings were tastefully positioned throughout the room, with bookcases artfully filled with a variety of works, from classical masterpieces to the latest treatises on the art and practice of war. It was a tribute to an extremely wealthy man who had equally eclectic tastes. 
 
    The other feature of the room was a massive desk that matched the entrance door, on which sat a forest of slates and monitors, to the extent that the man behind them was only glimpsed in portions and slices. From what Good could see, the man appeared in constant motion, working on a great portion of the devices in front of him, nearly simultaneously. 
 
    “Yes?” came a distant voice from behind the monitors. 
 
    “I’m Major Good,” the intel officer replied. “I’m here to talk with you about why you haven’t returned our calls.” 
 
    The motion behind the monitors ceased, and a hand slid a number of the monitors out of the way so Good could see the man behind them. Whatever Good had expected from the merc-turned-CEO, this wasn’t it. The man wore a faded leather jacket, and a giant stogie hung from the corner of his mouth. Lines from his implants trailed off to four of the slates. Although the man was closing in on 150 years old, he looked no older than 55, and appeared in top physical shape. The piercing blue eyes stared at Good for a moment as if looking into his soul, then the man smiled and waved him to one of the two chairs in front of the desk. 
 
    “Please sit,” the man said, “and call me Zeke.” 
 
    “Hi, Zeke,” Major Good replied; “we’ve called you a bunch, and you haven’t returned any of our calls.” 
 
    “There’s a damned good reason why, too.” 
 
    “What’s that?” 
 
    “I’m not interested,” Zeke said, and he started to pull the monitors back into their earlier positions. 
 
    “One second,” Good said. “Can I ask why you’re not interested? Your planet has been assaulted by aliens, and all you want to do is to sit here and run your empire? Trying to milk a few more credits from old men and women in search of the Fountain of Youth?” 
 
    “Look,” Zeke said, “I enjoyed my time with The Golden Horde, and I think I did very well for you. Certainly, my service helped garner some extra credits for the company. Now, I may not have the intelligence facilities the Horde does, but my network runs pretty deep, and I’m kept passingly familiar with anything important going on, anywhere on this planet, that might affect business. I am well aware of the aliens on Earth and their intentions. I’m not, however, interested in coming back to work for the Horde; I have enough to do here.” 
 
    “What could be more important than joining the resistance?” 
 
    Zeke cocked his head and looked piercingly at the major again. “Do you know what we do here?” he finally asked. 
 
    “You help old people live another day through a variety of treatments and enhancements.” 
 
    “I help people live longer,” Zeke said. “I help them beat diseases that are untreatable anywhere else on this planet. I do this by working at the cellular level, fixing things that have previously been unfixable by mankind. I give people life!” 
 
    Zeke turned one of the monitors so Good could see the image of a virus on it. “I can also take life,” he continued, his voice quiet, “just as easily as I can give it. You are running around recruiting people for a war that is already underway, a war that I am already fighting. Only my company can tailor viruses to do the things we want. To attack the creatures I want. Why am I not interested in coming back to the Horde? Because I’m far more valuable here.” 
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
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    Excerpt from “Minds of Men:” 
 
      
 
    “Look sharp, everyone,” Carl said after a while. Evelyn couldn’t have said whether they’d been droning for minutes or hours in the cold, dense white of the cloud cover. “We should be overhead the French coast in about thirty seconds.” 
 
    The men all reacted to this announcement with varying degrees of excitement and terror. Sean got up from his seat and came back to her, holding an awkward looking arrangement of fabric and straps.  
 
    Put this on, he thought to her. It’s your flak jacket. And your parachute is just there, he said, pointing. If the captain gives the order to bail out, you go, clip this piece into your ‘chute, and jump out the biggest hole you can find. Do you understand? You do, don’t you. This psychic thing certainly makes explaining things easier, he finished with a grin.  
 
    Evelyn gave him what she hoped was a brave smile and took the flak jacket from him. It was deceptively heavy, and she struggled a bit with getting it on. Sean gave her a smile and a thumbs up, and then headed back to his station.  
 
    The other men were checking in and charging their weapons. A short time later, Evelyn saw through Rico’s eyes as the tail gunner watched their fighter escort waggle their wings at the formation and depart. They didn’t have the long-range fuel capability to continue all the way to the target.  
 
    Someday, that long-range fighter escort we were promised will materialize, Carl thought. His mind felt determinedly positive, like he was trying to be strong for the crew and not let them see his fear. That, of course, was an impossibility, but the crew took it well. After all, they were afraid, too. Especially as the formation had begun its descent to the attack altitude of 20,000 feet. Evelyn became gradually aware of the way the men’s collective tension ratcheted up with every hundred feet of descent. They were entering enemy fighter territory.  
 
    Yeah, and someday Veronica Lake will...ah. Never mind. Sorry, Evie. That was Les. Evelyn could feel the waist gunner’s not-quite-repentant grin. She had to suppress a grin of her own, but Les’ irreverence was the perfect tension breaker.  
 
    Boys will be boys, she sent, projecting a sense of tolerance. But real men keep their private lives private. She added this last with a bit of smug superiority and felt the rest of the crew’s appreciative flare of humor at her jab. Even Les laughed, shaking his head. A warmth that had nothing to do with her electric suit enfolded Evelyn, and she started to feel like, maybe, she just might become part of the crew yet.  
 
    Fighters! Twelve o’clock high!  
 
    The call came from Alice. If she craned her neck to look around Sean’s body, Evelyn could just see the terrifying rain of tracer fire coming from the dark, diving silhouette of an enemy fighter. She let the call echo down her own channels and felt her men respond, turning their own weapons to cover Teacher’s Pet’s flanks. Adrenaline surges spiked through all of them, causing Evelyn’s heart to race in turn. She took a deep breath and reached out to tie her crew in closer to the Forts around them.  
 
    She looked through Sean’s eyes as he fired from the top turret, tracking his line of bullets just in front of the attacking aircraft. His mind was oddly calm and terribly focused...as, indeed, they all were. Even young Lieutenant Bob was zeroed in on his task of keeping a tight position and making it that much harder to penetrate the deadly crossing fire of the Flying Fortress.  
 
    Fighters! Three o’clock low!  
 
    That was Logan in the ball turret. Evelyn felt him as he spun his turret around and began to fire the twin Browning AN/M2 .50 caliber machine guns at the sinister dark shapes rising up to meet them with fire.  
 
    Got ‘em, Bobby Fritsche replied, from his position in the right waist. He, too, opened up with his own .50 caliber machine gun, tracking the barrel forward of the nose of the fighter formation, in order to “lead” their flight and not shoot behind them.  
 
    Evelyn blinked, then hastily relayed the call to the other girls in the formation net. She felt their acknowledgement, though it was almost an absentminded thing as each of the girls were focusing mostly on the communication between the men in their individual crews.  
 
    Got you, you Kraut sonofabitch! Logan exulted. Evelyn looked through his eyes and couldn’t help but feel a twist of pity for the pilot of the German fighter as he spiraled toward the ground, one wing completely gone. She carefully kept that emotion from Logan, however, as he was concentrating on trying to take out the other three fighters who’d been in the initial attacking wedge. One fell victim to Bobby’s relentless fire as he threw out a curtain of lead that couldn’t be avoided.  
 
    Two back to you, tail, Bobby said, his mind carrying an even calm, devoid of Logan’s adrenaline-fueled exultation.  
 
    Yup, Rico Martinez answered as he visually acquired the two remaining targets and opened fire. He was aided by fire from the aircraft flying off their right wing, the Nagging Natasha. She fired from her left waist and tail, and the two remaining fighters faltered and tumbled through the resulting crossfire. Evelyn watched through Rico’s eyes as the ugly black smoke trailed the wreckage down.  
 
    Fighters! Twelve high! 
 
    Fighters! Two high!  
 
    The calls were simultaneous, coming from Sean in his top turret and Les on the left side. Evelyn took a deep breath and did her best to split her attention between the two of them, keeping the net strong and open. Sean and Les opened fire, their respective weapons adding a cacophony of pops to the ever-present thrum of the engines.  
 
    Flak! That was Carl, up front. Evelyn felt him take hold of the controls, helping the lieutenant to maintain his position in the formation as the Nazi anti-aircraft guns began to send up 20mm shells that blossomed into dark clouds that pocked the sky. One exploded right in front of Pretty Cass’ nose. Evelyn felt the bottom drop out of her stomach as the aircraft heaved first up and then down. She held on grimly and passed on the wordless knowledge the pilots had no choice but to fly through the debris and shrapnel that resulted.  
 
    In the meantime, the gunners continued their rapid fire response to the enemy fighters’ attempt to break up the formation. Evelyn took that knowledge—that the Luftwaffe was trying to isolate one of the Forts, make her vulnerable—and passed it along the looser formation net.  
 
    Shit! They got Liberty Belle! Logan called out then, from his view in the ball turret. Evelyn looked through his angry eyes, feeling his sudden spike of despair as they watched the crippled Fort fall back, two of her four engines smoking. Instantly, the enemy fighters swarmed like so many insects, and Evelyn watched as the aircraft yawed over and began to spin down and out of control.  
 
    A few agonizing heartbeats later, first one, then three more parachutes fluttered open far below. Evelyn felt Logan’s bitter knowledge that there had been six other men on board that aircraft. Liberty Belle was one of the few birds flying without a psychic on board, and Evelyn suppressed a small, wicked feeling of relief that she hadn’t just lost one of her friends.  
 
    Fighters! Twelve o’clock level! 
 
      
 
    * * * * * 
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